

This course has been developed by Failure & Damage Analysis, Inc. www.DiscountPDH.com



EARTHQUAKE HAZARDS REDUCTION SERIES 41

FEMA Foreword

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is pleased to present the second edition of the widely used Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook, and its companion, Supporting *Documentation*. The policy of improving reports and manuals that deal with the seismic safety of existing buildings as soon as new information and adequate resources are available is thus being reaffirmed. Users should take note of some major differences between the two editions of the *Handbook*. The technical content of the new edition is based more on experiential data and less on expert judgment than was the case in the earlier edition, as is explained in the Supporting Documentation. From the presentational point of view, the *Handbook* retains much of the material of the earlier edition, but the material has been rather thoroughly rearranged to further facilitate the step-by-step process of conducting the rapid visual screening of a building. By far the most significant difference between the two editions,

however, is the need for a higher level of engineering understanding and expertise on the part of the users of the second edition. This shift has been caused primarily by the difficulty experienced by users of the first edition in identifying the lateral-force-resisting system of a building without entry—a critical decision of the rapid visual screening process. The contents of the *Supporting Documentation* volume have also been enriched to reflect the technical advances in the *Handbook*.

FEMA and the Project Officer wish to express their gratitude to the members of the Project Advisory Panel, to the technical and workshop consultants, to the project management, and to the report production and editing staff for their expertise and dedication in the upgrading of these two volumes.

The Federal Emergency Management Agency

Preface

In August 1999 the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) awarded the Applied Technology Council (ATC) a two-year contract to update the FEMA 154 report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook*, and the companion FEMA-155 report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation*, both of which were originally published in 1988.

The impetus for the project stemmed in part from the general recommendation in the FEMA 315 report, Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings: Strategic Plan 2005, to update periodically all existing reports in the FEMA-developed series on the seismic evaluation and rehabilitation of existing buildings. In addition, a vast amount of information had been developed since 1988, including: (1) new knowledge about the performance of buildings during damaging earthquakes, including the 1989 Loma Prieta and 1994 Northridge earthquakes; (2) new knowledge about seismic hazards, including updated national seismic hazard maps published by the U.S. Geological Survey in 1996; (3) other new seismic evaluation and damage prediction tools, such as the FEMA 310 report, Handbook for the Seismic *Evaluation of Buildings – a Prestandard*, (an updated version of FEMA 178, NEHRP Handbook for the Seismic Evaluation of Existing Buildings), and HAZUS, FEMA's tool for estimating potential losses from natural disasters; and (4) experience from the widespread use of the original FEMA 154 Handbook by federal, state and municipal agencies, and others.

The project included the following tasks: (1) an effort to obtain users feedback, which was executed through the distribution of a voluntary FEMA 154 Users Feedback Form to organizations that had ordered or were known to have used FEMA 154 (the Feedback Form was also posted on ATC's web site); (2) a review of available information on the seismic performance of buildings, including a detailed review of the HAZUS fragility curves and an effort to correlate the relationship between results from the use of both the FEMA 154 rapid visual screening procedure and the FEMA 178 detailed seismic evaluation procedures on the same buildings; (3) a Users Workshop midway in the project to learn first hand the problems and successes of organizations that had used the rapid visual screening procedure on buildings under their jurisdiction; (4) updating of the original FEMA 154 *Handbook* to create the second edition; and
(5) updating of the original FEMA 155 *Supporting Documentation* report to create the second edition.

This second edition of the FEMA 154 *Handbook* provides a standard rapid visual screening procedure to identify, inventory, and rank buildings that are potentially seismically hazardous. The scoring system has been revised, based on new information, and the *Handbook* has been shortened and focused to facilitate implementation. The technical basis for the rapid visual screening procedure, including a summary of results from the efforts to solicit user feedback, is documented in the companion second edition of the FEMA 155 report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation.*

ATC gratefully acknowledges the personnel involved in developing the second editions of the FEMA 154 and FEMA 155 reports. Charles Scawthorn served as Co-Principal Investigator and Project Director. He was assisted by Kent David, Vincent Prabis, Richard A. Ranous, and Nilesh Shome, who served as Technical Consultants. Members of the Project Advisory Panel, who provided overall review and guidance for the project, were: Thalia Anagnos, John Baals, James R. Cagley (ATC Board Representative), Melvyn Green, Terry Hughes, Anne S. Kiremidjian, Joan MacQuarrie, Chris D. Poland, Lawrence D. Reaveley, Doug Smits, and Ted Winstead. William T. Holmes served as facilitator for the Users Workshop, and Keith Porter served as recorder. Stephanie A. King verified the Basic Structural Hazard Scores and the Score Modifiers. A. Gerald Brady, Peter N. Mork, and Michelle Schwartzbach provided report editing and production services. The affiliations of these individuals are provided in the list of project participants.

ATC also gratefully acknowledges the valuable assistance, support, and cooperation provided by Ugo Morelli, FEMA Project Officer. In addition, ATC acknowledges participants in the FEMA 154 Users Workshop, which included, in addition to the project personnel listed above, the following individuals: Al Berstein, U. S. Bureau of Reclamation; Amitabha Datta, General Services Administration; Ben Emam, Amazon.com; Richard K. Eisner, California Office of Emergency Services; Ali Fattah, City of San Diego; Brian Kehoe, Wiss Janney Elstner Associates, Inc.; David Leung, City and County of San Francisco; Douglas McCall, Marx/Okubo; Richard Silva, National Park Service; Howard Simpson, Simpson Gumpertz & Heger Inc.; Steven Sweeney, U. S. Army Civil Engineering Research Laboratory; Christine Theodooropoulos, University of Oregon; and Zan Turner, City and County of San Francisco. Those persons who responded to ATC's request to complete the voluntary FEMA 154 Users Feedback form are also gratefully acknowledged.

Christopher Rojahn, Principal Investigator ATC Executive Director

Summary and Application

This FEMA 154 Report, *Rapid Visual Screening* of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook, is the first of a two-volume publication on a recommended methodology for rapid visual screening of buildings for potential seismic hazards. The technical basis for the methodology, including the scoring system and its development, are contained in the companion FEMA 155 report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation.* Both this document and the companion document are second editions of similar documents published by FEMA in 1988.

The rapid visual screening procedure (RVS) has been developed for a broad audience, including building officials and inspectors, and government agency and private-sector building owners (hereinafter, the "RVS authority"), to identify, inventory, and rank buildings that are potentially seismically hazardous. Although RVS is applicable to all buildings, its principal purpose is to identify (1) older buildings designed and constructed before the adoption of adequate seismic design and detailing requirements, (2) buildings on soft or poor soils, or (3) buildings having performance characteristics that negatively influence their seismic response. Once identified as potentially hazardous, such buildings should be further evaluated by a design professional experienced in seismic design to determine if, in fact, they are seismically hazardous.

The RVS uses a methodology based on a "sidewalk survey" of a building and a Data Collection Form, which the person conducting the survey (hereafter referred to as the screener) completes, based on visual observation of the building from the exterior, and if possible, the interior. The Data Collection Form includes space for documenting building identification information, including its use and size, a photograph of the building, sketches, and documentation of pertinent data related to seismic performance, including the development of a numeric seismic hazard score.

Once the decision to conduct rapid visual screening for a community or group of buildings has been made by the RVS authority, the screening effort can be expedited by pre-planning, including the training of screeners, and careful overall management of the process.

Completion of the Data Collection Form in the field begins with identifying the primary structural lateral-load-resisting system and structural materials of the building. Basic Structural Hazard Scores for various building types are provided on the form, and the screener circles the appropriate one. For many buildings, viewed only from the exterior, this important decision requires the screener to be trained and experienced in building construction. The screener modifies the Basic Structural Hazard Score by identifying and circling Score Modifiers, which are related to observed performance attributes, and which are then added (or subtracted) to the Basic Structural Hazard Score to arrive at a final Structural Score. S. The Basic Structural Hazard Score, Score Modifiers, and final Structural Score, S, all relate to the probability of building collapse, should severe ground shaking occur (that is, a ground shaking level equivalent to that currently used in the seismic design of new buildings). Final S scores typically range from 0 to 7, with higher S scores corresponding to better expected seismic performance.

Use of the RVS on a community-wide basis enables the RVS authority to divide screened buildings into two categories: those that are expected to have acceptable seismic performance, and those that may be seismically hazardous and should be studied further. An *S* score of 2 is suggested as a "cut-off", based on present seismic design criteria. Using this cut-off level, buildings having an *S* score of 2 or less should be investigated by a design professional experienced in seismic design.

The procedure presented in this *Handbook* is meant to be the preliminary screening phase of a multi-phase procedure for identifying potentially hazardous buildings. Buildings identified by this procedure must be analyzed in more detail by an experienced seismic design professional. Because rapid visual screening is designed to be performed from the street, with interior inspection not always possible, hazardous details will not always be visible, and seismically hazardous buildings may not be identified as such. Conversely, buildings initially identified as potentially hazardous by RVS may prove to be adequate.

Contents

FE	MA F	oreword	iii
Pre	face .		v
Su	mmar	y and Application	vii
Lis	t of F	igures	xiii
Lis	t of T	ables	viv
L/10			XIX
Illu	istrati	on Credits	XX1
1.	Intro 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.6	duction Background Screening Procedure Purpose, Overview, and Scope Companion FEMA 155 Report. Relationship of FEMA 154 to Other Documents in the FEMA Existing Building Series Uses of RVS Survey Results How to Use this Handbook.	1 1 2 3 4 4 4
2.	Plan 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4	ning and Managing Rapid Visual Screening Screening Implementation Sequence Budget Development and Cost Estimation Pre-Field Planning Selection and Review of the Data Collection Form 2.4.1 Determination of Seismicity Region 2.4.2 Determination of Key Seismic Code Adoption Dates and Other Considerations 2.4.3 Determination of Cut-Off Score	5 5 6 6 7 8 8 8 8
	2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9	Qualifications and Training for Screeners Acquisition and Review of Pre-Field Data 2.6.1 Assessor's Files 2.6.2 Building Department Files 2.6.3 Sanborn Maps 2.6.4 Municipal Databases 2.6.5 Previous Studies 2.6.6 Soils Information Review of Construction Documents Field Screening of Buildings Checking the Quality and Filing the Field Data in the Record-Keeping System	11 11 11 12 12 12 15 15 15 15 17 18 18
3.	Com 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	pleting the Data Collection Form Introduction Verifying and Updating the Building Identification Information 3.2.1 Number of Stories 3.2.2 Year Built 3.2.3 Screener Identification 3.2.4 Total Floor Area Sketching the Plan and Elevation Views Determining Soil Type Determining and Documenting Occupancy	
		3.5.2 Occupancy Load	

	3.6	Identifying Potential Nonstructural Falling Hazards	23
	3.1	Structural Score	24
		3.7.1 Fifteen Building Types Considered by the RVS Procedure and Related Basic	
		Structural Scores	24
		3.7.2 Identifying the Lateral-Force-Resisting System	25
		3.7.3 Interior Inspections	
		3.7.4 Screening Buildings with More Than One Lateral-Force Resisting System	
	3.8	Identifying Seismic Performance Attributes and Recording Score Modifiers	
		3.8.1 Mid-Rise Buildings	
		3.8.2 High-Rise Buildings	
		3.8.3 Vertical Irregularity	
		3.8.4 Plan Irregularity	40
		3.8.5 Pre-Code	40
		3.8.6 Post-Benchmark	
	2 0	3.8.7 Soil Type C, D, or E	
	3.9	Determining the Final Score	
	3.10	Photographing the Building	
	3.11	Comments Section	42
Δ	Usino	the RVS Procedure Results	43
ч.		Interpretation of RVS Score	
	4.1	Selection of RVS "Cut-Off" Score	
	43	Prior Uses of the RVS Procedure	13
	44	Other Possible Uses of the RVS Procedure	45
		4.4.1 Using RVS Scores as a Basis for Hazardous Building Mitigation Programs	
		4.4.2 Using RVS Data in Community Building Inventory Development	
		4.4.3 Using RVS Data to Plan Postearthquake Building-Safety-Evaluation Efforts	
		4.4.4 Resources Needed for the Various Uses of the RVS Procedure	46
5	Fxam	nle Application of Rapid Visual Screening	49
5.	5 1	Step 1. Budget and Cost Estimation	49
	5.2	Step 2. Pre-Field Planning	50
	53	Step 3. Selection and Review of the Data Collection Form	50
	5.4	Step 4: Qualifications and Training for Screeners	
	5.5	Step 5: Acquisition and Review of Pre-Field Data	
	5.6	Step 6: Review of Construction Documents	
	5.7	Step 7: Field Screening of Buildings	
	5.8	Step 8: Transferring the RVS Field Data to the Electronic Building RVS Database	64
Ap	pendix	A: Maps Showing Seismicity Regions	65
Ap	pendix	B: Data Collection Forms and Quick Reference Guide	77
An	nondiv	C: Review of Decign and Construction Drawings	83
лр	pendix		
Ap	pendix	D: Exterior Screening for Seismic System and Age	85
	D.1	Introduction	
	D.2	What to Look for and How to Find It	
	D.3	Identification of Building Age	
	D.4	Identification of Structural Type	
	D.5	Characteristics of Exposed Construction Materials	95
۸m	nondiv	E: Characteristics and Earthquake Performance of RVS Duilding Types	00
лμ	F 1	Introduction	00
	E.1 F 2	Wood Frame (W1 W2)	<i>ور</i> ۵۵
	L.L	(((), (), (), (), (), (), (), (), (), ()	

	E.2.1 Characteristics	
	E.2.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
	E.2.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.3	Steel Frames (S1, S2)	
	E.3.1 Characteristics	
	E.3.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
	E.3.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.4	Light Metal (S3)	
	E.4.1 Characteristics	
	E.4.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
E.5	Steel Frame with Concrete Shear Wall (S4)	
	E.5.1 Characteristics	107
	E.5.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	108
E.6	Steel Frame with Unreinforced Masonry Infill (S5)	
	E.6.1 Characteristics	
	E.6.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	109
	E.6.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.7	Concrete Moment-Resisting Frame (C1)	
	E.7.1 Characteristics	
	E.7.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	112
	E.7.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.8	Concrete Shear Wall (C2)	
	E.8.1 Characteristics	
	E.8.2 Typical Types of Earthquake Damage	
	E.8.3 Common Rehabilitation	
E.9	Concrete Frame with Unreinforced Masonry Infill (C3)	
	E.9.1 Characteristics	
	E.9.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
	E.9.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.10	Tilt-up Structures (PC1)	
	E.10.1 Characteristics	
	E.10.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
	E.10.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.11	Precast Concrete Frame (PC2)	
	E.II.I Characteristics	
	E.11.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
E 10	E.11.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.12	Reinforced Masonry (RM1 and RM2)	
	E.12.1 Characteristics	
	E.12.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
T 12	E.12.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques	
E.13	Unreinforced Masonry (URM)	
	E.13.1 Characteristics	
	E.13.2 Typical Earthquake Damage	
	E.13.3 Common Renabilitation Techniques	126
Annendix	x F: Farthquakes and How Buildings Resist Them	129
F 1	The Nature of Farthquakes	129
F 2	Seismicity of the United States	
F 3	Farthquake Effects	121
F 4	How Buildings Resist Farthquakes	131
т.т	110 Dunungo reosor Duringuaroo	134
Reference	es	
Project Pa	articipants	

List of Figures

Figure 1-1	High, moderate, and low seismicity regions of the conterminous United States. A different RVS Data Collection Form has been developed for each of these regions	1
Figure 1-2	Data Collection Forms for the three designated seismicity regions (low, moderate, and high).	3
Figure 2-1	Rapid visual screening implementation sequence.	5
Figure 2-2	Example RVS Data Collection Form (high seismicity).	7
Figure 2-3	Sections 1 and 2 of Quick Reference Guide (for use with Data Collection Form)	10
Figure 2-4	Building identification portion of RVS Data Collection Form.	11
Figure 2-5	Example Sanborn map showing building information for a city block.	12
Figure 2-6	Key to Sanborn map symbols.	13
Figure 2-7	Sanborn map and corresponding aerial photograph of a city block	14
Figure 2-8	Photographs of elevation views of buildings shown in Figure 2-7	15
Figure 2-9	Examples of in-house screen displays of municipal databases	16
Figure 2-10	Location on Data Collection Form where soil type information is recorded	17
Figure 3-1	Example RVS Data Collection Form (high seismicity).	19
Figure 3-2	Portion of Data Collection Form for documenting building identification.	20
Figure 3-3	Sample Data Collection Form showing location for sketches of building plan and elevation views.	21
Figure 3-4	Location on Data Collection Form where soil type information is documented (circled)	21
Figure 3-5	Occupancy portion of Data Collection Form.	22
Figure 3-6	Portion of Data Collection Form for documenting nonstructural falling hazards.	23
Figure 3-7	Portion of Data Collection Form containing Basic Structural Hazard Scores.	25
Figure 3-8	Typical frame structure. Features include: large window spans, window openings on many sides, and clearly visible column-beam grid pattern.	35
Figure 3-9	Typical bearing wall structure. Features include small window span, at least two mostly solid walls, and thick load-bearing walls.	35
Figure 3-10	Frame and bearing wall structures	36
Figure 3-11	Interior view showing fireproofed columns and beams, which indicate a steel building (S1, S2, or S4).	37

Figure 3-12	Interior view showing concrete columns and girders, which indicate a concrete moment frame (C1).		
Figure 3-13	Portion of Data Collection Form containing attributes that modify performance and associated score modifiers.	38	
Figure 3-14	Elevation views showing vertical irregularities, with arrows indicating locations of particular concern.	39	
Figure 3-15	Example of setbacks and a soft first story	39	
Figure 3-16	Example of soft story conditions, where parking requirements result in large weak openings.	40	
Figure 3-17	Plan views of various building configurations showing plan irregularities; arrows indicate possible areas of damage.	40	
Figure 3-18	Example of a building, with a plan irregularity, with two wings meeting at right angles	41	
Figure 3-19	Example of a building, triangular in plan, subject to torsion.	41	
Figure 3-20	Location on Data Collection Form where the final score, comments, and an indication if the building needs detailed evaluation are documented	42	
Figure 5-1	Screen capture of USGS web page showing SA values for 0.2 sec and 1.0 sec for ground motions having 2% probability of being exceeded in 50 years	50	
Figure 5-2	High seismicity Data Collection Form selected for Anyplace, USA	52	
Figure 5-3	Quick Reference Guide for Anyplace USA showing entries for years in which seismic codes were first adopted and enforced and benchmark years.	53	
Figure 5-4	Property information at example site in city's geographic information system	54	
Figure 5-5	Exterior view of 3703 Roxbury Street	56	
Figure 5-6	Close-up view of 3703 Roxbury Street exterior showing perimeter braced steel framing	56	
Figure 5-7	Building identification portion of Data Collection Form for Example 1, 3703 Roxbury Street	56	
Figure 5-8	Completed Data Collection Form for Example 1, 3703 Roxbury Street	57	
Figure 5-9	Exterior view of 3711 Roxbury	58	
Figure 5-10	Close-up view of 3711 Roxbury Street building exterior showing infill frame construction	58	
Figure 5-11	Completed Data Collection Form for Example 2, 3711 Roxbury Street	59	
Figure 5-12	Exterior view of 5020 Ebony Drive	60	
Figure 5-13	Completed Data Collection Form for Example 3, 5020 Ebony Drive	61	
Figure 5-14	Exterior view of 1450 Addison Avenue	62	

Figure 5-15	Building identification portion of Data Collection Form for Example 4, 1450 Addison Avenue.	62
Figure 5-16	Completed Data Collection Form for Example 4, 1450 Addison Avenue	62
Figure A-1	Seismicity Regions of the Conterminous United States	66
Figure A-2	Seismicity Regions in California, Idaho, Nevada, Oregon, and Washington	67
Figure A-3	Seismicity Regions in Arizona, Montana, Utah, and Wyoming	68
Figure A-4	Seismicity Regions in Colorado, Kansas, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Texas	69
Figure A-5	Seismicity Regions in Iowa, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota and Wisconsin	70
Figure A-6	Seismicity Regions in Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Missouri, and Ohio	71
Figure A-7	Seismicity Regions in Alabama, Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Tennessee	72
Figure A-8	Seismicity Regions in Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, and Vermont	73
Figure A-9	Seismicity Regions in Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia	74
Figure A-10	Seismicity Regions in Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, and South Carolina	75
Figure A-11	Seismicity Regions in Alaska and Hawaii	76
Figure D-1	Photos showing basic construction, in steel-frame buildings and reinforced concrete-frame buildings.	91
Figure D-2	Building with exterior columns covered with a façade material	94
Figure D-3	Detail of the column façade of Figure D-2.	94
Figure D-4	Building with both shear walls (in the short direction) and frames (in the long direction).	94
Figure D-5	Regular, full-height joints in a building's wall indicate a concrete tilt-up.	95
Figure D-6	Reinforced masonry wall showing no course of header bricks (a row of visible brick ends). 95
Figure D-7	Reinforced masonry building with exterior wall of concrete masonry units, or concrete blocks.	95
Figure D-8	A 1970s renovated façade hides a URM bearing-wall structure	95
Figure D-9	A concrete shear-wall structure with a 1960s renovated façade.	96
Figure D-10	URM wall showing header courses (identified by arrows) and two washer plates indicating wall anchors.	96
Figure D-11	Drawing of two types of masonry pattern showing header bricks	96

Figure D-12	Diagram of common reinforced masonry construction. Bricks are left out of the bottom course at intervals to create cleanout holes, then inserted before grouting	97
Figure D-13	Brick veneer panels.	97
Figure D-14	Hollow clay tile wall with punctured tiles	97
Figure D-15	Sheet metal siding with masonry pattern	97
Figure D-16	Asphalt siding with brick pattern.	98
Figure D-17	Pre-1940 cast-in-place concrete with formwork pattern.	98
Figure E-1	Single family residence (an example of the W1 identifier, light wood-frame residential and commercial buildings less than 5000 square feet).	99
Figure E-2	Larger wood-framed structure, typically with room-width spans (W2, light, wood-frame buildings greater than 5000 square feet).	99
Figure E-3	Drawing of wood stud frame construction.	. 100
Figure E-4	Stud wall, wood-framed house.	. 101
Figure E-5	Drawing of timber pole framed house	. 101
Figure E-6	Timber pole framed house	. 101
Figure E-7	House off its foundation, 1983 Coalinga earthquake.	. 101
Figure E-8	Failed cripple stud wall, 1992 Big Bear earthquake	. 102
Figure E-9	Failure of post and pier foundation, Humbolt County.	. 102
Figure E-10	Seismic strengthening of a cripple wall, with plywood sheathing.	. 103
Figure E-11	Drawing of steel moment-resisting frame building	. 103
Figure E-12	Braced frame configurations.	. 104
Figure E-13	Braced steel frame, with chevron and diagonal braces. The braces and steel frames are usually covered by finish material after the steel is erected.	. 104
Figure E-14	Chevron bracing in steel building under construction	. 104
Figure E-15	Rehabilitation of a concrete parking structure using exterior X-braced steel frames	. 105
Figure E-16	Use of a braced frame to rehabilitate an unreinforced masonry building	. 106
Figure E-17	Drawing of light metal construction.	. 106
Figure E-18	Connection of metal siding to light metal frame with rows of screws (encircled)	. 107
Figure E-19	Prefabricated metal building (S3, light metal building).	. 107
Figure E-20	Drawing of steel frame with interior concrete shear-walls	. 108

Figure E-21	Concrete shear wall on building exterior.	108
Figure E-22	Close-up of exterior shear wall damage during a major earthquake	108
Figure E-23	Drawing of steel frame with URM infill	109
Figure E-24	Example of steel frame with URM infill walls (S5).	110
Figure E-25	Drawing of concrete moment-resisting frame building	111
Figure E-26	Extreme example of ductility in concrete, 1994 Northridge earthquake	111
Figure E-27	Example of ductile reinforced concrete column, 1994 Northridge earthquake; horizontal ties would need to be closer for greater demands.	112
Figure E-28	Concrete moment-resisting frame building (C1) with exposed concrete, deep beams, wide columns (and with architectural window framing)	112
Figure E-29	Locations of failures at beam-to-column joints in nonductile frames, 1994 Northridge earthquake.	113
Figure E-30	Drawing of concrete shear-wall building	114
Figure E-31	Tall concrete shear-wall building: walls connected by damaged spandrel beams	115
Figure E-32	Shear-wall damage, 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake	115
Figure E-33	Concrete frame with URM infill	115
Figure E-34	Blow-up (lower photo) of distant view of C3 building (upper photo) showing concrete frame with URM infill (left wall), and face brick (right wall)	115
Figure E-35	Drawing of tilt-up construction typical of the western United States. Tilt-up construction in the eastern United States may incorporate a steel frame	116
Figure E-36	Tilt-up industrial building, 1970s.	117
Figure E-37	Tilt-up industrial building, mid- to late 1980s.	117
Figure E-38	Tilt-up construction anchorage failure	117
Figure E-39	Result of failure of the roof beam anchorage to the wall in tilt-up building	117
Figure E-40	Newly installed anchorage of roof beam to wall in tilt-up building	118
Figure E-41	Drawing of precast concrete frame building	119
Figure E-42	Typical precast column cover on a steel or concrete moment frame	120
Figure E-43	Exposed precast double-T sections and overlapping beams are indicative of precast frames	120
Figure E-44	Example of precast double-T section during installation	120

Figure E-45	Precast structural cross; installation joints are at sections where bending is minimum during high seismic demand.	120
Figure E-46	Modern reinforced brick masonry.	121
Figure E-47	Drawing of unreinforced masonry bearing-wall building, 2-story	122
Figure E-48	Drawing of unreinforced masonry bearing-wall building, 4-story	123
Figure E-49	Drawing of unreinforced masonry bearing-wall building, 6-story	124
Figure E-50	East coast URM bearing-wall building.	124
Figure E-51	West coast URM bearing-wall building.	124
Figure E-52	Drawings of typical window head features in URM bearing-wall buildings	125
Figure E-53	Parapet failure leaving an uneven roof line, due to inadequate anchorage, 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake.	126
Figure E-54	Damaged URM building, 1992 Big Bear earthquake	126
Figure E-55	Upper: Two existing anchors above three new wall anchors at floor line using decorative washer plates. Lower: Rehabilitation techniques include closely spaced anchors at floor and roof levels.	127
Figure F-1	The separate tectonic plates comprising the earth's crust superimposed on a map of the world.	129
Figure F-2	Seismicity of the conterminous United States 1977-1997. This reproduction shows earthquake locations without regard to magnitude or depth. The San Andreas fault and other plate boundaries are indicated with white lines	131
Figure F-3	Seismicity of Alaska $1977 - 1997$. The white line close to most of the earthquakes is the plate boundary, on the ocean floor, between the Pacific and North America plates	132
Figure F-4	Seismicity of Hawaii 1977 – 1997.	. 132.
Figure F-5	Mid-rise building collapse, 1985 Mexico City earthquake.	133
Figure F-6	Near-field effects, 1992 Landers earthquake, showing house (white arrow) close to surface faulting (black arrow); the insert shows a house interior	134
Figure F-7	Collapsed chimney with damaged roof, 1987 Whittier Narrows earthquake	134
Figure F-8	House that slid off foundation, 1994 Northridge earthquake	135
Figure F-9	Collapsed cripple stud walls dropped this house to the ground, 1992 Landers and Big Bear earthquakes.	135
Figure F-10	This house has settled to the ground due to collapse of its post and pier foundation	135
Figure F-11	Collapse of unreinforced masonry bearing wall, 1933 Long Beach earthquake	135
Figure F-12	Collapse of a tilt-up bearing wall, 1994 Northridge earthquake.	135

List of Tables

Table 2-1	Regions of Seismicity with Corresponding Spectral Acceleration Response (from FEMA 310)	8
Table 2-2	Benchmark Years for RVS Procedure Building Types (from FEMA 310)	9
Table 2-3	Checklist of Issues to be Considered During Pre-Field Work Review of the Data Collection Form	10
Table 2-4	Checklist of Field Equipment Needed for Rapid Visual Screening	18
Table 3-1	Build Type Descriptions, Basic Structural Hazard Scores, and Performance in Past Earthquakes.	26
Table 4-1	Matrix of Personnel and Material Resources Needed for Various FEMA 154 RVS Applications	47
Table D-1	Photographs, Architectural Characteristics, and Age of Residential Buildings	86
Table D-2	Illustrations, Architectural Characteristics, and Age of Commercial Structures	87
Table D-3	Photographs, Architectural Characteristics, and Age of Miscellaneous Structures	90
Table D-4	Most Likely Structural Types for Pre-1930 Buildings	92
Table D-5	Most Likely Structural Types for 1930-1945 Buildings	92
Table D-6	Most Likely Structural Types for 1945-1960 Buildings	93
Table D-7	Most Likely Structural Types for Post-1960 Buildings	93

Illustration Credits

Figures	Credit
1-1, A-1 to 11	Maps credited to Nilesh Shome / ABS Consulting / EQE Engineers / USGS
5-5, 6, 12, 14, F-11	Richard Ranous / ABS Consulting / EQE Engineers
2-1,8; 3-10 to 12, 15, 16, 18, 19; Table 3-1, Building Type W1, W2, S1 to S5, C1 to C3, PC1 (top), PC2, RM1, RM2, URM; 5-9, 10, D-1 to 5; E-1, 2, 4, 6 to 10, 13 to 16, 17 to 19, 21, 22, 24, 26 to 29, 32 to 34, 36 to 40, 42, 44, 46, 50, 51, 53 to 55; F-5 to 10, 12; Table D-1c to e; Table D-2 b to o; Table D-3a to e, h	Charles Scawthorn / ABS Consulting / EQE Engineers
2-5, 6, 7	Sanborn Maps
2-9	Oakland, California and Mecklenberg County, North Carolina, web pages
3-8, 9; E-43, 45	Drawings by Kit Wong
5-1, F-1 to 4	USGS web site
5-3	Los Angeles/San Pedro, California; city GIS
D-6, 8, 9, 10 D-13 to 17; Table D-1a, b; Table D-3f, g	Photographs by Kit Wong
D-7	Robert Bruce
D-11, 12	Allen, E., 1985, <i>Fundamentals of Building Construction and Methods</i> , John Wiley and sons, New York.
E-3, 23, 25,30; E-35, 41, 47, 48, 49	Lagorio, H., Friedman, H., and K. Wong (1986). <i>Issues for Seismic Strengthening of Existing Buildings: A Practical Guide for Architects.</i> Center for Environmental Design, University of California at Berkeley.
E-5, 12	Drawing from National Multihazard Survey Instructions. FEMA, TR-84.
E-11, 20	Steinbrugge, K. (1982). Earthquakes, Volcanoes, and Tsunamis, An Anatomy of Hazards. Skandia American Group, New York.
E-31	James Stratta
E-52	Ramsay/Sleeper <i>Architectural Graphic Standards,</i> Seventh Edition (1981). R.T. Packard, AIA, ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York.
Table D-2a	A Field Guide to American Architecture (1980), The New American Library, Inc., New York.
Table 3-1, Building Type PC1 (lower)	Earthquake Engineering Research Institute.
E-39	Anonymous, but greatly appreciated

Introduction

1.1 Background

Rapid visual screening of buildings for potential seismic hazards, as described herein, originated in 1988 with the publication of the FEMA 154 Report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook*. Written for a broad audience ranging from engineers and building officials to appropriately trained nonprofessionals, the *Handbook* provided a "sidewalk survey" approach that enabled users to classify surveyed buildings into two categories: those acceptable as to risk to life safety or those that may be seismically hazardous and should be evaluated in more detail by a design professional experienced in seismic design.

During the decade following publication of the first edition of the FEMA 154 *Handbook*, the rapid visual screening (RVS) procedure was used by private-sector organizations and government agencies to evaluate more than 70,000 buildings nationwide (ATC, 2002). This widespread application provided important information about

the purposes for which the document was used, the ease-of-use of the document, and perspectives on the accuracy of the scoring system upon which the procedure was based.

Concurrent with the widespread use of the document, damaging earthquakes occurred in California and elsewhere, and extensive research and development efforts were carried out under the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program (NEHRP). These efforts yielded important new data on the performance of buildings in earthquakes, and on the expected distribution, severity, and occurrence of earthquake-induced ground shaking.

The data and information gathered during the first decade after publication (experience in applying the original *Handbook*, new building earthquake performance data, and new ground shaking information)

have been used to update and improve the rapid visual screening procedure provided in this second edition of the FEMA 154 Report, Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook. The revised RVS procedure retains the same framework and approach of the original procedure, but incorporates a revised scoring system compatible with the ground motion criteria in the FEMA 310 Report, Handbook for Seismic Evaluation of Buildings—A Prestandard (ASCE, 1998), and the damage estimation data provided in the recently developed FEMA-funded HAZUS damage and loss estimation methodology (NIBS, 1999). As in the original Handbook, a Data Collection Form is provided for each of three seismicity regions: low, moderate, and high. However, the boundaries of the low, moderate, and high seismicity regions in the original *Handbook* have been modified (Figure 1-1), reflecting new knowledge on the expected distribution, severity, and occurrence of earthquake ground shaking, and a change in the



Figure 1-1 High, moderate, and low seismicity regions of the conterminous United States. A different RVS Data Collection Form has been developed for each of these regions. Enlarged maps are available in Appendix A. recurrence interval considered, from a 475-year average return period (corresponding to ground motions having a 10% probability of exceedance in 50 years) to a 2475-year average return period (corresponding to ground motions having a 2% probability of exceedance in 50 years).

This second edition of the FEMA 154 *Handbook* has been shortened and focused to facilitate implementation. Other improvements include:

- guidance on planning and managing an RVS survey, including the training of screeners and the acquisition of data from assessor files and other sources to obtain more reliable information on age, structural system, and occupancy;
- more guidance for identifying the structural (lateral-load-resisting) system in the field;
- the use of interior inspection or pre-survey reviews of building plans to identify (or verify) a building's lateral-load-resisting system;
- updated Basic Structural Hazard Scores and Score Modifiers that are derived from analytical calculations and recently developed HAZUS fragility curves for the model building types considered by the RVS methodology;
- the use of new seismic hazard information that is compatible with seismic hazard criteria specified in other related FEMA documents (see Section 1.4 below); and
- a revised Data Collection Form that provides space for documenting soil type, additional options for documenting falling hazards, and an expanded list of occupancy types.

1.2 Screening Procedure Purpose, Overview, and Scope

The RVS procedure presented in this *Handbook* has been formulated to identify, inventory, and rank buildings that are potentially seismically hazardous. Developed for a broad audience that includes building officials and inspectors, government agencies, design professionals, private-sector building owners (particularly those that own or operate clusters or groups of buildings), faculty members who use the RVS procedure as a training tool, and informed appropriately trained, members of the public, the RVS procedure can be implemented relatively quickly and inexpensively to develop a list of

potentially hazardous buildings without the high cost of a detailed seismic analysis of individual buildings. If a building receives a high score (i.e., above a specified cut-off score, as discussed later in this *Handbook*), the building is considered to have adequate seismic resistance. If a building receives a low score on the basis of this RVS procedure, it should be evaluated by a professional engineer having experience or training in seismic design. On the basis of this detailed inspection, engineering analyses, and other detailed procedures, a final determination of the seismic adequacy and need for rehabilitation can be made.

During the planning stage, which is discussed in Chapter 2, the organization that is conducting the RVS procedure (hereinafter, the "RVS authority") will need to specify how the results from the survey will be used. If the RVS authority determines that a low score automatically requires that further study be performed by a professional engineer, then some acceptable level of qualification held by the inspectors performing the screening will be necessary. RVS projects have a wide range of goals and they have constraints on budget, completion date and accuracy, which must be considered by the RVS authority as it selects qualification requirements of the screening personnel. Under most circumstances, a wellplanned and thorough RVS project will require engineers to perform the inspections. In any case, the program should be overseen by a design professional knowledgeable in seismic design for quality assurance purposes.

The RVS procedure in this *Handbook* is designed to be implemented without performing structural analysis calculations. The RVS procedure utilizes a scoring system that requires the user to (1) identify the primary structural lateral-load-resisting system; and (2) identify building attributes that modify the seismic performance expected of this lateral-load-resisting system. The inspection, data collection, and decision-making process typically will occur at the building site, taking an average of 15 to 30 minutes per building (30 minutes to one hour if access to the interior is available). Results are recorded on one of three Data Collection Forms (Figure 1-2), depending on the seismicity of the region being surveyed. The Data Collection Form, described in greater detail in Chapter 3, includes space for documenting building identification information, including its use and size, a photograph of the building, sketches, and documentation of pertinent data related to seismic performance, including the development of a

numeric seismic hazard score. The scores are based on average expected ground shaking levels for the seismicity region as well as the seismic design and construction practices for that region¹. Buildings may be reviewed from the sidewalk without the benefit of building entry, structural drawings, or structural calculations. Reliability and confidence in building attribute determination are increased, however, if the structural framing system can be verified during interior inspection, or on the basis of a review of construction documents.

The RVS procedure is intended to be applicable nationwide, for all conventional building types. Bridges, large towers, and other non-building structure types, however, are not covered by the procedure. Due to budget or other constraints, some RVS authorities may wish to restrict their RVS to identifying building types that they consider the most hazardous, such as unreinforced masonry or nonductile concrete buildings. However, it is recommended, at least initially, that all conventional building types be considered, and that elimination of certain building types from the screening be well documented and supported with office calculations and field survey data that justify their

elimination. It is possible that, in some cases, even buildings designed to modern codes, such as those with configurations that induce extreme torsional response and those with abrupt changes in stiffness, may be potentially hazardous.



Figure 1-2

Data Collection Forms for the three designated seismicity regions (low, moderate, and high).

1.3 Companion FEMA 155 Report

A companion volume to this report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation (second edition)* (FEMA 155) documents the technical basis for the RVS procedure described in this *Handbook*, including the method for calculating the Basic Structural Scores and Score Modifiers. The FEMA 155 report (ATC, 2002) also summarizes other information considered during development of this *Handbook*, including the efforts to solicit user feedback and a FEMA 154 Users Workshop held in September 2000. The FEMA 155 document is available from FEMA by

¹ Seismic design and construction practices vary by seismicity region, with little or no seismic design requirements in low seismicity regions, moderate seismic design requirements in moderate seismicity regions, and extensive seismic design requirements in high seismicity regions. The requirements also vary with time, and are routinely updated to reflect new knowledge about building seismic performance.

dialing 1-800-480-2520 and should be consulted for any needed or desired supporting documentation.

1.4 Relationship of FEMA 154 to Other Documents in the FEMA Existing Building Series

The FEMA 154 *Handbook* has been developed as an integral and fundamental part of the FEMA report series on seismic safety of existing buildings. It is intended for use by design professionals and others to mitigate the damaging effects of earthquakes on existing buildings. The series includes:

- FEMA 154 (this handbook), which provides a procedure that can be rapidly implemented to identify buildings that are potentially seismically hazardous.
- FEMA 310, Handbook for Seismic Evaluation of Buildings—A Prestandard (ASCE, 1998), which provides a procedure to inspect in detail a given building to evaluate its seismic resisting capacity (an updated version of the FEMA 178 NEHRP Handbook for the Seismic Evaluation of Existing Buildings [BSSC, 1992]). The FEMA 310 Handbook is ideally suited for use on those buildings identified by the FEMA 154 RVS procedure as potentially hazardous.

FEMA 310 is expected to be superseded in 2002 by ASCE 31, a standard of the American Society of Civil Engineers approved by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI). References in this *Handbook* to FEMA 310 should then refer to ASCE 31.

 FEMA 356, Prestandard and Commentary for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings (ASCE, 2000), which provides recommended procedures for the seismic rehabilitation of buildings with inadequate seismic capacity, as determined, for example, by a FEMA 310 (or FEMA 178) evaluation. The FEMA 356 Prestandard is based on the guidance provided in the FEMA 273 NEHRP Guidelines for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings (ATC, 1997a), and companion FEMA 274 Commentary on the NEHRP Guidelines for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings (ATC, 1997b).

1.5 Uses of RVS Survey Results

While the principal purpose of the RVS procedure is to identify potentially seismically hazardous buildings needing further evaluation, results from RVS surveys can also be used for other purposes. These include: (1) ranking a community's (or agency's) seismic rehabilitation needs; (2) designing seismic hazard mitigation programs for a community (or agency); (3) developing inventories of buildings for use in regional earthquake damage and loss impact assessments; (4) planning postearthquake building safety evaluation efforts; and (5) developing buildingspecific seismic vulnerability information for purposes such as insurance rating, decision making during building ownership transfers, and possible triggering of remodeling requirements during the permitting process. Additional discussion on the use of RVS survey results is provided in Chapter 4.

1.6 How to Use this Handbook

The *Handbook* has been designed to facilitate the planning and execution of rapid visual screening. It is assumed that the RVS authority has already decided to conduct the survey, and that detailed guidance is needed for all aspects of the surveying process. Therefore, the main body of the *Handbook* focuses on the three principal activities in the RVS: planning, execution, and data interpretation. Chapter 2 contains detailed information on planning and managing an RVS. Chapter 3 describes in detail how the Data Collection Form should be completed, and Chapter 4 provides guidance on interpreting and using the results from the RVS. Finally, Chapter 5 provides several example applications of the RVS procedure on real buildings.

Relevant seismic hazard maps, full-sized Data Collection Forms, including a Quick Reference Guide for RVS implementation, guidance for reviewing design and construction drawings, and additional guidance for identifying a building's seismic lateral-load-resisting system from the street are provided in Appendices A, B, C, and D, respectively. Appendix E provides additional information on the building types considered in the RVS procedure, and Appendix F provides an overview of earthquake fundamentals, the seismicity of the United States, and earthquake effects.

Chapter 2

Planning and Managing Rapid Visual Screening

Once the decision to conduct rapid visual screening (RVS) for a community or group of buildings has been made by the RVS authority, the screening effort can be expedited by pre-planning

and careful overall management of the process. This chapter describes the overall screening implementation sequence and provides detailed information on important pre-planning and management aspects. Instructions on how to complete the Data Collection Form are provided in Chapter 3.

2.1 Screening Implementation Sequence

There are several steps involved in planning and performing an RVS of potentially seismically hazardous buildings. As a first step, if it is to be a public or community project, the local governing body and local building officials should formally approve of the general procedure. Second, the public or the members of the community should be informed about the purpose of the screening process and how it will be carried out. There are also other decisions to be made, such as use of the screening results, responsibilities of the building owners and the community, and actions to be taken. Some of these decisions are specific to each community and therefore are not discussed in this Handbook.

The general sequence of implementing the RVS procedure is depicted in Figure 2-1. The implementation sequence includes:

- Budget development and cost estimation, recognizing the expected extent of the screening and further use of the gathered data;
- Pre-field planning, including selection of the area to be surveyed, identification of building types to be

screened, selection and development of a record-keeping system, and compilation and development of maps that document local seismic hazard information;



Figure 2-1 Rapid visual screening implementation sequence.

- Selection and review of the Data Collection Form;
- Selection and training of screening personnel;
- Acquisition and review of pre-field data; including review of existing building files and databases to document information identifying buildings to be screened (e.g., address, lot number, number of stories, design date) and identifying soil types for the survey area;
- Review of existing building plans, if available;
- Field screening of individual buildings (see Chapter 3 for details), which consists of:
 - 1. Verifying and updating building identification information,
 - 2. Walking around the building and sketching a plan and elevation view on the Data Collection Form,
 - 3. Determining occupancy (that is, the building use and number of occupants),
 - 4. Determining soil type, if not identified during the pre-planning process,
 - 5. Identifying potential nonstructural falling hazards,
 - 6. Identifying the seismic-lateral-loadresisting system (entering the building, if possible, to facilitate this process) and circling the Basic Structural Hazard Score on the Data Collection Form,
 - 7. Identifying and circling the appropriate seismic performance attribute Score Modifiers (e.g., number of stories, design date, and soil type) on the Data Collection Form,
 - 8. Determining the Final Score, *S* (by adjusting the Basic Structural Hazard Score with the Score Modifiers identified in Step 7), and deciding if a detailed evaluation is required, and
 - 9. Photographing the building; and
- Checking the quality and filing the screening data in the record-keeping system, or database.

2.2 Budget Development and Cost Estimation

Many of the decisions that are made about the level of detail documented during the rapid visual screening procedure will depend upon budget constraints. Although the RVS procedure is designed so field screening of each building should take no more than 15 to 30 minutes (30 minutes to one hour if access to the interior is obtained), time and funds should also be allocated for pre-field data collection. Pre-field data collection can be time consuming (10 to 30 minutes per building depending on the type of supplemental data available). However, it can be extremely useful in reducing the total field time and can increase the reliability of data collected in the field. A good example of this is the age, or design date, of a building. This might be readily available from building department files but is much more difficult to estimate from the street. Another issue to consider is travel time, if the distance between buildings to be screened is large. Because pre-field data collection and travel time could be a significant factor in budget allocations, it should be considered in the planning phase.

Other factors that should be considered in cost estimation are training of personnel and the development and administration of a recordkeeping system for the screening process. The type of record keeping system selected will be a function of existing procedures and available funds as well as the ultimate goal of the screening. For example, if the screening is to be used solely for potential seismic damage estimation purposes, administrative costs will be different from those of a screening in which owners of low-scoring buildings must subsequently be notified, and compliance with ordinances is required.

2.3 Pre-Field Planning

The RVS authority may decide due to budget, time or other types of constraints, that priorities should be set and certain areas within the region should be surveyed immediately, whereas other areas can be surveyed at a later time because they are assumed to be less hazardous. An area may be selected because it is older and may have a higher density of potentially seismically hazardous buildings relative to other areas. For example an older part of the RVS authority region that consists mainly of commercial unreinforced masonry buildings may be of higher priority than a newer area with mostly warehouse facilities, or a residential section of a city consisting of woodframe single-family dwellings.

Compiling and developing maps for the surveyed region is important in the initial planning phase as well as in scheduling of screeners. Maps of soil profiles, although limited, will be directly useful in the screening, and maps of landslide potential, liquefaction potential, and active faults provide useful background information about the relative hazard in different areas. Maps of lots will be useful in scheduling screeners and, as data are collected, in identifying areas with large numbers of potentially hazardous buildings.

Another important phase of pre-field planning is interaction with the local design profession and building officials. Discussions should include verification of when certain aspects of seismic design and detailing were adopted and enforced. This will be used in adjusting the scoring system for local practices and specifying benchmark years.

The record-keeping system will vary among RVS authorities, depending on needs, goals, budgets and other constraints, and may in fact consist of several systems. Part of this planning phase may include deciding how buildings are to be identified. Some suggestions are street address, assessor's parcel number, census tract, and lot number or owner. Consideration should be given to developing a computerized database containing location and other building information, which could easily be used to generate peel-off labels for the Data Collection Form, or to generate forms that incorporate unique information for each building.

The advantage of using a computerized record generation and collection system is that graphical data, such as sketches and photographs, are increasingly more easily converted to digital form and stored on the computer, especially if they are collected in digital format in the field. This can be facilitated through the use of personal digital assistants (PDAs), which would require the development of a FEMA 154 application, and the use of digital cameras.

If a computerized database is not used, microfilm is a good storage medium for original hard copy, because photographs, building plans, screening forms and subsequent follow-up documentation can be kept together and easily copied. Another method that has been used is to generate a separate hard-copy file for each building as it is screened. In fact, the screening form can be reproduced on a large envelope and all supporting material and photographs stored inside. This solves any problems associated with attaching multiple sketches and photographs, but the files grow rapidly and may become unmanageable.

2.4 Selection and Review of the Data Collection Form

There are three Data Collection Forms, one for each of the following three regions of seismicity: low (L), moderate (M), and high (H). Full-sized versions of each form are provided in Appendix B, along with a Quick Reference Guide that contains definitions and explanations for terms used on the Data Collection Form. Each Data Collection Form (see example, Figure 2-2) provides space to record the building identification information, draw a sketch of the building (plan and elevation views), attach a photograph of the building, indicate the occupancy, indicate the soil type, document the existence of falling hazards, develop a Final Structural Score, S, for the building, indicate if a detailed evaluation is required, and provide additional comments. The structural scoring system consists of a matrix of Basic Structural Hazard Scores (one for each building type and its associated seismic lateralforce-resisting system) and Score Modifiers to



Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards

Figure 2-2 Example RVS Data Collection Form (high seismicity).

account for observed attributes that modify seismic performance. The Basic Structural Hazard Scores and Score Modifiers are based on (1) design and construction practices in the region, (2) attributes known to decrease or increase seismic resistance capacity, and (3) maximum considered ground motions for the seismicity region under consideration. The Basic Structural Hazard Score, Score Modifiers, and Final Structural Score, *S*, all relate to the probability of building collapse, should the maximum ground motions considered by the RVS procedure occur at the site. Final *S* scores typically range from 0 to 7, with higher *S* scores corresponding to better seismic performance.

The maximum ground motions considered in the scoring system of the RVS procedure are consistent with those specified for detailed building seismic evaluation in the FEMA 310 Report, Handbook for the Seismic Evaluation of Buildings—A Prestandard. Such ground motions generally have a 2% chance of being exceeded in 50 years, and are multiplied by a 2/3 factor in the FEMA 310 evaluation procedures and in the design requirements for new buildings in FEMA 302, Recommended Provisions for Seismic Regulations for New Buildings and Other Structures (BSSC, 1997). (Ground motions having a 2% probability of being exceeded in 50 years are commonly referred to as the maximum considered earthquake (MCE) ground motions.)

2.4.1 Determination of Seismicity Region

To select the appropriate Data Collection Form, it is first necessary to determine the seismicity region in which the area to be screened is located. The seismicity region (H, M, or L) for the screening area can be determined by one of two methods:

- Find the location of the surveyed region on the seismicity map of Figure 1-1, or one of the enlarged seismicity maps provided in Appendix A, and identify the corresponding seismicity region, or;
- Access the U.S. Geological Survey web page (http://geohazards.cr.usgs.gov/eq/), select "Hazard by Zip Code" or "Hazard by Lat/Long" under the "Seismic Hazard" heading, enter the appropriate values of zip code or latitude and longitude, select the spectral acceleration value (SA) for a period of 0.2 seconds and the SA value for a period of 1.0 second, multiply the SA values by 2/3, and use the criteria of Table 2-1 to select the appropriate seismicity region, assuming that the highest seismicity level

defined by the parameters in Table 2-1 shall govern.

Use more recent additions of these maps when they become available.

The web site approach of Method 2, which uses seismicity region definitions used in other recently developed FEMA documents, is preferred as it enables the user to determine seismicity based on a more precisely specified location. In contrast, each county shown in Figure 1-1 is assigned its seismicity on the basis of the highest seismicity in that county, even though it may only apply to a small portion of the county.

Table 2-1Regions of Seismicity with
Corresponding Spectral Acceleration
Response (from FEMA 310)

Region of <u>Seismicity</u>	Spectral Acceleration Response, SA (short- period, or 0.2 sec)	Spectral Acceleration Response, SA (long- period or 1.0 sec)
Low	less than 0.167 g (in horizontal direction)	less than 0.067 g (in horizontal direction)
Moderate	greater than or equal to 0.167 g but less than 0.500 g (in horizontal direction)	greater than or equal to 0.067 g but less than 0.200 g (in horizontal direction)
High	greater than or equal to 0.500 g (in horizontal direction)	greater than or equal to 0.200 g (in horizontal direction)

Notes: g = acceleration of gravity

2.4.2 Determination of Key Seismic Code Adoption Dates and Other Considerations

The Data Collection Form is meant to be a model that may be adopted and used as it is presented in this *Handbook*. The form may also be modified according to the needs of the RVS authority. Therefore, another aspect of the screening planning process is to review the Data Collection Form to determine if all required data are represented or if modifications should be made to reflect the needs and special circumstances of the authority. For example, an RVS authority may choose to define additional occupancy classes such as "parking structure" or "multi-family residential."

One of the key issues that must be addressed in the planning process is the determination of (1)the year in which seismic codes were initially

	0	/		,	
		<u>Model Bu</u>	Model Building Seismic Design Provisions		
Building Type		BOCA	<u>SBCC</u>	UBC	NEHRP
W1:	Light wood-frame residential and commercial buildings smaller than or equal to 5,000 square feet	1992	1993	1976	1985
W2:	Light wood-frame buildings larger than 5,000 square feet	1992	1993	1976	1985
S1:	Steel moment-resisting frame buildings	**	**	1994	**
S2:	Braced steel frame buildings	1992	1993	1988	1991
S3:	Light metal buildings	*	*	*	*
S4:	Steel frame buildings with cast-in-place concrete shear walls	1992	1993	1976	1985
S5:	Steel frame buildings with unreinforced masonry infill walls	*	*	*	*
C1:	Concrete moment-resisting frame buildings	1992	1993	1976	1985
C2:	Concrete shear-wall buildings	1992	1993	1976	1985
C3:	Concrete frame buildings with unreinforced masonry infill walls	*	*	*	*
PC1:	Tilt-up buildings	*	*	1997	*
PC2:	Precast concrete frame buildings	*	*	*	*
RM1:	Reinforced masonry buildings with flexible floor and roof diaphragms	*	*	1997	*
RM2:	Reinforced masonry buildings with rigid floor and roof diaphragms	1992	1993	1976	1985
URM:	Unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings	*	*	1991	*

 Table 2-2.
 Benchmark Years for RVS Procedure Building Types (based on FEMA 310)

*No benchmark year; **contact local building department for benchmark year.

BOCA: Building Officials and Code Administrators, National Building Code

SBCC: Southern Building Code Congress, Standard Building Code.

UBC: International Conference of Building Officials, Uniform Building Code

NEHRP: National Earthquake Hazard Reduction Program, FEMA 302 Recommended Provisions for the Development of Seismic Regulations for New Buildings

adopted and enforced by the local jurisdiction, and (2) the year in which significantly improved seismic codes were adopted and enforced (this latter year is known as the benchmark year). In high and moderate seismicity regions, the Basic Structural Hazard Scores for the various building types are calculated for buildings built after the initial adoption of seismic codes, but before substantially improved codes were adopted. For these regions, Score Modifiers designated as "Pre Code" and "Post Benchmark" are provided, respectively, for buildings built before the adoption of codes and for buildings built after the adoption of substantially improved codes. In low seismicity regions, the Basic Structural Hazard Scores are calculated for buildings built before the initial adoption of seismic codes. For buildings in these regions, the Score Modifier designated as "Pre Code" is not applicable (N/A), and the Score Modifier designated as "Post Benchmark" is applicable for buildings built after the adoption of seismic codes.

Therefore, as part of this review process, the RVS authority should identify (1) the year in which seismic codes were first adopted and enforced in the area to be screened, (2) the "benchmark" year in which significantly improved seismic code requirements were adopted for each building type considered by the RVS procedure (see Table 2-2), and (3) the year in which the community adopted seismic anchorage requirements for heavy cladding. If the RVS authority in high and moderate seismicity regions is unsure of the year(s) in which codes were initially adopted, the default year for all but one building type is 1941 (the default year specified in the HAZUS criteria; NIBS, 1999). The one exception is PC1 (tilt-up) buildings, for which it is assumed that seismic codes were initially adopted in 1973, the year in which wall-diaphragm (ledger) connection requirements first appeared in the Uniform Building Code (ICBO, 1973).

During the review of the Data Collection Form, the RVS authority should confer with the

1. Model Building Types and Critical Code Adoption and Enforcement Dates		Year Seismic Codes Initially Adopted	Benchmark Year When			
Structure Types		and Enforced*	Codes Improved			
W1	Light wood frame, residential or commercial, < 5000 square feet					
W2	Wood frame buildings, > 5000 square feet					
S1	Steel moment-resisting frame					
S2	Steel braced frame					
S3	Light metal frame					
S4	Steel frame with cast-in-place concrete shear walls					
S5	Steel frame with unreinforced masonry infill					
C1	Concrete moment-resisting frame					
C2	Concrete shear wall					
C3	Concrete frame with unreinforced masonry infill					
PC	1 Tilt-up construction					
PC2	2 Precast concrete frame					
RM	1 Reinforced masonry with flexible floor and roof diaphragms					
RM	2 Reinforced masonry with rigid diaphragms					
URI	M Unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings					
*Not applicable in regions of low seismicity						

2. Anchorage of Heavy Cladding

Year in which seismic anchorage requirements were adopted:

Figure 2-3 Sections 1 and 2 of Quick Reference Guide (for use with Data Collection Form).

chief building official, plan checkers, and other design professionals experienced in seismic design to identify the years in which the affected jurisdiction initially adopted and enforced seismic codes (if ever) for the building lateral-forceresisting structural systems considered by the RVS procedure. Since municipal codes are generally adopted by the city council, another source for this information, in many municipalities, is the city clerk's office. In addition to determining the year in which seismic codes were initially adopted and enforced, the RVS authority should also determine (1) the benchmark years in which substantially improved seismic codes were adopted and enforced for the various lateral-load-resisting systems and (2) the year in which anchorage requirements for cladding were adopted and enforced. These dates should be inserted on the Quick Reference Guide (Appendix B) that has been created to facilitate the use of the Data Collection Form (see Figure 2-3).

During the Data Collection Form review process, it is critically important that the Basic Structural Hazard Scores and Score Modifiers, which are described in detail in Chapter 3, not be changed without input from professional engineers familiar with earthquake-resistant design and construction practices of the local community. A checklist of issues to be considered when reviewing the Data Collection Form is provided in Table 2-3.

Table 2-3Checklist of Issues to be ConsideredDuring Pre-Field Work Review of theData Collection Form

- □ Evaluate completeness of occupancy categories and appropriateness of occupancy loads
- Determine year in which seismic codes were initially adopted in the jurisdiction
- Determine "benchmark" years in which the jurisdiction adopted and enforced significantly improved seismic codes for the various building types considered by the RVS procedure
- Determine year in which the jurisdiction adopted and enforced anchorage requirements for heavy cladding

2.4.3 Determination of Cut-Off Score

Use of the RVS on a community-wide basis enables the RVS authority to divide screened buildings into two categories: those that are expected to have acceptable seismic performance, and those that may be seismically hazardous and should be studied further. This requires that the RVS authority determine, preferably as part of the pre-planning process, an appropriate "cut-off" score.

An *S* score of 2 is suggested as a "cut-off", based on present seismic design criteria. Using this cut-off level, buildings having an *S* score of 2 or less should be investigated by a design professional experienced in seismic design (see Section 3.9, 4.1 and 4.2 for additional information on this issue).

2.5 Qualifications and Training for Screeners

It is anticipated that a training program will be required to ensure a consistent, high quality of the data and uniformity of decisions among screeners. Training should include discussions of lateralforce-resisting systems and how they behave when subjected to seismic loads, hw to use the Data Collection Form, what to look for in the field, and how to account for uncertainty. In conjunction with a professional engineer experienced in seismic design, screeners should simultaneously consider and score buildings of several different types and compare results. This will serve as a "calibration" for the screeners.

This process can easily be accomplished in a classroom setting with photographs of actual buildings to use as examples. Prospective screeners review the photographs and perform the RVS procedure as though they were on the sidewalk. Upon completion, the class discusses the results and students can compare how they did in relation to the rest of the class.

2.6 Acquisition and Review of Pre-Field Data

Information on the structural system, age or occupancy (that is, use) may be available from supplemental sources. These data, from assessor and building department files, insurance (Sanborn) maps, and previous studies, should be reviewed and collated for a given area before commencing the field survey for that area. It is recommended that this supplemental information either be written directly on the Data Collection Forms as it is retrieved or be entered into a computerized database. The advantage of a database is that selected information can be printed in a report format that can be taken into the field, or printed onto peel-off labels that can be affixed to the Data Collection Form (see Figure 2-4). In addition, screening data can be added to the databases and



Figure 2-4 Building identification portion of RVS Data Collection Form.

used to generate maps and reports. Some sources of supplemental information are described in Sections 2.6.1 through 2.6.5.

2.6.1 Assessor's Files

Although assessor's files may contain information about the age of the building, the floor area and the number of stories, most information relates to ownership and assessed value of the land and improvements, and thus is of relatively little value for RVS purposes. The construction type indicated is often incorrect and in most cases should not be used. In addition, the age of a building retrieved from assessor's files may not, and most likely is not, the year that the structure was built. Usually assessor's files contain the year that the building was first eligible for taxation. Because the criteria for this may vary, the date may be several years after the building was designed or constructed. If no other source of information is available this will give a good estimate of the period during which the building

was constructed. However, this date should not be used to establish conclusively the code under which the a building was designed. Assessor's offices may have parcel or lot maps, which may be useful for locating sites or may be used as a template for sketching building adjacencies on a particular city block.

2.6.2 Building Department Files

The extent and completeness of information in building department files will vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. For example, in some locations all old files have been removed or destroyed, so there is no information on older buildings. In general, files (or microfilm) may contain permits, plans and structural calculations Information found on a Sanborn map includes:

- height of building,
- number of stories,
- year built,
- thickness of walls,
- building size (square feet),
- type of roof (tile, shingle, composite),
- building use (dwelling, store, apartment),
- presence of garage under structure, and
- structural type (wood frame, fireproof construction, adobe, stone, concrete).



Figure 2-5 Example Sanborn map showing building information for a city block.

required by the city. Sometimes there is occupancy and use information, but little information about structural type will be found except from the review of plans or calculations.

2.6.3 Sanborn Maps

These maps, published primarily for the insurance industry since the late 1800s, exist for about 22.000 communities in the United States. The Sanborn Map Company stopped routinely updating these maps in the early 1960s, and many communities have not kept these maps up-todate. Thus they may not be useful for newer construction. However. the maps may contain useful data for older construction. They can be found at the library or in some cases in building department offices. Figure 2-5 provides an example of an up-to-date Sanborn map Figure 2-6 shows a key to identifiers on Sanborn maps.



Figure 2-6

Key to Sanborn map symbols. Also, see the Internet, www.sanbornmap.com.

Parcel maps are also available and contain lot dimensions. If building size information cannot be obtained from another source such as the assessor's file, the parcel maps are particularly helpful for determining building dimensions in urban areas where buildings cover the entire lot. However, even if the building does not cover the entire lot, it will be easier to estimate building dimensions if the lot dimensions are known.

Figures 2-7 and 2-8 show a Sanborn map and photographs of a city block. Building descriptions obtained from the Sanborn maps are also included.



- 1. 10 story commercial office
- 2. 3 story commercial, built 1913
- 3. 2 story commercial
- 4. 3 story commercial, reinforced concrete frame, built 1906
- 5. 7 story commercial office, reinforced concrete frame, built 1923
- 6. 2 story commercial, reinforced concrete
- 7. 5 story commercial office, reinforced concrete
- 8. 20 story commercial office, steel frame with reinforced concrete, built 1914
- 9. 4 story commercial, built 1966
- 10. 40 story commercial office, built 1965-66, concrete and glass exterior

Figure 2-7 Sanborn map and corresponding aerial photograph of a city block.

Although the information on Sanborn maps may be useful, it is the responsibility of the screener to verify it in the field.

2.6.4 Municipal Databases

With the widespread use of the internet, many jurisdictions are creating "online" electronic databases for use by the general public. These databases provide general information on the various building sites within the jurisdiction. These databases are not detailed enough at this point in time to provide specific information about the buildings; they do, however, provide some good demographic information that could be of use. As the municipalities develop more comprehensive information, these databases will become more useful to the RVS screening. Figure 2-9 shows examples of the databases from two municipalities in the United States.

2.6.5 Previous Studies

In a few cases, previous building inventories or studies of hazardous buildings or hazardous nonstructural elements (e.g., parapets) may have been

performed. These studies may be limited to a particular structural or occupancy class, but they may contain useful maps or other relevant structural information and should be reviewed. Other important studies might address related seismic hazard issues such as liquefaction or landslide potential. Local historical societies may have published books or reports about older buildings in the community. Fire departments are often aware of the overall condition and composition of building interiors.



Figure 2-8 Photographs of elevation views of buildings shown in Figure 2-7.

2.6.6 Soils Information

Soil type has a major influence on amplitude and duration of shaking, and thus structural damage. Generally speaking, the deeper the soils at a site, the more damaging the earthquake motion will be. The six soil types considered in the RVS procedure are the same as those specified in the FEMA 302 report, *NEHRP Recommended Provisions for the Seismic Design of New Buildings and Other Structures* (BSSC, 1997): hard rock (type A); average rock (type B); dense soil (type C), stiff soil (type D); soft soil (type E), and poor soil (type F). Additional information on these soil types and how to identify



City of Oakland, California



Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

Figure 2-9 Examples of in-house screen displays of municipal databases.



Figure 2-10 Location on Data Collection Form where soil type information is recorded.

them are provided in the side bar. Buildings on soil type F cannot be screened effectively by the RVS procedure, other than to recommend that buildings on this soil type be further evaluated by a geotechnical engineer and design professional experienced in seismic design.

Since soil conditions cannot be readily identified by visual methods in the field, geologic and geotechnical maps and other information should be collected during the planning stage and put into a readily usable map format for use during RVS. During the screening, or the planning stage, this soil type should also be documented on the Data Collection Form by circling the correct soil type, as designated by the letters A through F, (see Figure 2-10). If sufficient guidance or data are not available during the planning stage to classify the soil type as A through E, a soil type E should be assumed. However, for one-story or two-story buildings with a roof height equal to or less than 25 feet, a class D soil type may be assumed when site conditions are not known. (See the note in preceding paragraph regarding soil type F.)

2.7 Review of Construction Documents

Whenever possible, design and construction documents should be reviewed prior to the

Soil Type Definitions and Related Parameters

The six soil types, with measurable parameters that define each type, are:

Type A (hard rock): measured shear wave velocity, $v_s > 5000$ ft/sec.

Type B (rock): v_s between 2500 and 5000 ft/sec.

Type C (soft rock and very dense soil): v_s between 1200 and 2500 ft/sec, or standard blow count N > 50, or undrained shear strength $s_u > 2000$ psf.

Type D (stiff soil): v_s between 600 and 1200 ft/sec, or standard blow count *N* between 15 and 50, or undrained shear strength, s_u between 1000 and 2000 psf.

Type E (soft soil): More than 100 feet of soft soil with plasticity index PI > 20, water content w > 40%, and $s_u < 500$ psf; or a soil with $v_s \le 600$ ft/sec.

Type F (poor soil): Soils requiring site-specific evaluations:

- Soils vulnerable to potential failure or collapse under seismic loading, such as liquefiable soils, quick and highly-sensitive clays, collapsible weakly-cemented soils.
- Peats or highly organic clays (H > 10 feet of peat or highly organic clay, where H = thickness of soil.).
- Very high plasticity clays (H > 25 feet with PI > 75).
- More than 120 ft of soft or medium stiff clays.

The parameters v_s , N, and s_u are, respectively, the average values (often shown with a bar above) of shear wave velocity, Standard Penetration Test (SPT) blow count and undrained shear strength of the upper 100 feet of soils at the site.

conduct of field work to help the screener identify the type of lateral-force- resisting system for each building. The review of construction documents to identify the building type substantially improves the confidence in this determination. As described in Section 3.7, the RVS procedure requires that each building be identified as one of 15 model building types². Guidance for reviewing design and construction drawings is provided in Appendix C.

²The 15 model building types used in FEMA 154 are an abbreviated list of the 22 types now considered standard by FEMA; excluded from the FEMA 154 list are subclassifications of certain framing types that specify that the roof and floor diaphragms are either rigid or flexible.

2.8 Field Screening of Buildings

RVS screening of buildings in the field should be carried out by teams consisting of two individuals. Teams of two are recommended to provide an opportunity to discuss issues requiring judgment and to facilitate the data collection process. If at all possible, one of the team members should be a design professional who can identify lateral-forceresisting systems.

Relatively few tools or equipment are needed. Table 2-4 contains a checklist of items that may be needed in performing an RVS as described in this *Handbook*.

2.9 Checking the Quality and Filing the Field Data in the Record-Keeping System

The last step in the implementation of rapid visual screening is checking the quality and filing the RVS data in the record-keeping system established for this purpose. If the data are to be stored in file folders or envelopes containing data for each building that was screened, or on microfilm, the process is straightforward, and requires careful organization. If the data are to be stored in digital form, it is important that the data input and verification process include either double entry of

all data, or systematic in-depth review of print outs (item by item review) of all entered data.

It is also recommended that the quality review be performed under the oversight of a design professional with significant experience in seismic design.

Table 2-4Checklist of Field EquipmentNeeded for Rapid Visual Screening

- □ Binoculars, if high-rise buildings are to be evaluated
- □ Camera, preferably instant or digital
- □ Clipboard for holding Data Collection Forms
- □ Copy of the FEMA 154 Handbook
- □ Laminated version of the Quick Reference Guide defining terms used on the Data Collection Form (see Appendix B)
- □ Pen or pencil
- □ Straight edge (optional for drawing sketches)
- □ Tape or stapler, for affixing photo if instant camera is used

Completing the Data Collection Form

3.1 Introduction

This chapter provides instructions on how to complete the Data Collection Form (Figure 3-1). It is assumed that the Data Collection Form has already been selected, based on the seismicity level of the area to be screened (as per Chapter 2). The Data Collection Form is completed for each building screened through execution of the following steps:

- 1. Verifying and updating the building identification information;
- 2. Walking around the building to identify its size and shape, and sketching a plan and elevation view on the Data Collection Form:
- 3. Determining and documenting occupancy;
- 4. Determining soil type, if not identified during the pre-planning process;
- 5. Identifying potential nonstructural falling hazards, if any, and indicating their existence on the Data Collection Form:
- 6. Identifying the seismic lateral-load resisting system (entering the building, if possible, to facilitate this process) and circling the related Basic Structural Hazard Score on the Data Collection Form:
- 7. Identifying and circling the appropriate seismic performance attribute Score Modifiers (e.g., number of stories, design date, and soil type) on the Data Collection Form:
- 8. Determining the Final Score, S (by adjusting the Basic Structural Hazard Score with the Score Modifiers identified in Step 7), and deciding if a detailed evaluation is required; and
- 9. Photographing the building and attaching the photo to the form (if an instant camera is

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards

FEMA-154 Data Collection Form

HIGH Seismicity



Figure 3-1 Example RVS Data Collection Form (high seismicity).

used), or indicating a photo reference number on the form (if a digital camera is used).

Full-sized copies of the Data Collection Forms (one for each seismicity region) are provided in Appendix B, along with a Quick Reference Guide defining terms used on the Data Collection Form. The form has been designed to be filled out in a progressive manner, with a minimum of writing (most items simply can be circled).

Following are detailed instructions and guidance for each of the nine steps above.
3.2 Verifying and Updating the Building Identification Information

Space is provided in the upper right-hand portion of the Data Collection Form (see Figure 3-2) to document building identification information (i.e., address, name, number of stories, year built, and other data). As indicated in Chapter 2, it is desirable to develop and document this information during the pre-planning stage, if at all possible. This information may be entered manually, or be printed on a peel-off label.

Proper identification and location of the building is critically important for subsequent use in hazard assessment and mitigation by the RVS authority. As described in Chapter 2, the authority may prefer to identify and file structures by street address, parcel number, building owner, or some other scheme. However, it is recommended that as a minimum the street address and zip code be recorded on the form. Zip code is important because it is universal to all municipalities, is an especially useful item for later collation and summary analyses. Assessor parcel number or lot number is also useful for jurisdictional recordkeeping purposes.

Assuming the identification information is provided on a peel-off label, which is then affixed to the form, or preprinted directly on the form, such information should be verified in the field. If the building identification data are not developed during the pre-planning stage, it must be completed in the field. Documentation of the building address information and name, if it exists, is straightforward. Following is guidance and discussion pertaining to number of stories, year built, identification of the screener, and estimation of total floor area.

3.2.1 Number of Stories

The height of a structure is sometimes related to the amount of damage it may sustain. On soft soils, a tall building may experience considerably stronger and longer duration shaking than a shorter building of the same type. The number of stories is a good indicator of the height of a building (approximately 9-to-10 feet per story for residential, 12 feet per story for commercial or office).

Counting the number of stories may not be a straightforward issue if the building is constructed on a hill or if it has several different roof levels. As a general rule, use the largest number (that is,



Figure 3-2 Portion of Data Collection Form for documenting building identification.

count floors from the downhill side to the roof). In addition, the number of stories may not be unique. A building may be stepped or have a tower. Use the comment section and the sketch to indicate variations in the number of stories.

3.2.2 Year Built

This information is one of the key elements of the RVS procedure. Building age is tied directly to design and construction practices. Therefore, age can be a factor in determining building type and thus can affect the final scores. This information is not typically available at the site and thus should be included in pre-field data collection.

There may be no single "year built." Certain portions of the structure may have been designed and constructed before others. If this should be the case, the construction dates for each portion can be indicated in the comment section or on the sketch (see Section 3.3). Caution should also be used when interpreting design practices from date of construction. The building may have been designed several years before it was constructed and thus designed to an earlier code with different requirements for seismic detailing.

If information on "year built" is not available during the RVS pre-field data acquisition stage (see Section 2.6), a rough estimate of age will be made on the basis of architectural style and building use. This is discussed in more detail in Appendix D, which provides additional guidance on determining building attributes from streetside. If the year built is only an approximation, an asterisk is used to indicate the entry is estimated.

3.2.3 Screener Identification

The screener should be identified, by name, initials, or some other type of code. At some later time it may be important to know who the screener was for a particular building, so this information should not be omitted.



Figure 3-3 Sample Data Collection Form showing location for sketches of building plan and elevation views.

3.2.4 Total Floor Area

The total floor area, in some cases available from building department or assessor files (see Section 2.6), will most likely be estimated by multiplying the estimated area of one story by the total number of stories in the building. The length and width of the building can be paced off or estimated (during the planning stage) from Sanborn or other parcel maps. Total floor area is useful for estimating occupancy load (see Section 3.5.2) and may be useful at a later time for estimating the value of the building. Indicate with an asterisk when total floor area is estimated.

3.3 Sketching the Plan and Elevation Views

As a minimum, a sketch of the plan of the building should be drawn on the Data Collection Form (see Figure 3-3). An elevation may also be useful in indicating significant features. The sketches are especially important, as they reveal many of the building's attributes to the screener as the sketch is made. In other words, it forces the screener to systematically view all aspects of the building. The plan sketch should include the location of the building on the site and distance to adjacent buildings. One suggestion is to make the plan sketch from a Sanborn map as part of pre-field work (see Chapter 2), and then verify it in the field. This is especially valuable when access between buildings is not available. If all sides of the building are different, an elevation should be sketched for each side. Otherwise indicate that the sketch is typical of all sides. The sketch should note and emphasize special features such as existing significant cracks or configuration problems.

Dimensions should be included. As indicated in the previous section, the length and width of the building can be paced off or estimated (during the planning stage) from Sanborn or other parcel maps.

3.4 Determining Soil Type

As indicated in Section 2.6.6, soil type should be identified and documented on the Data Collection Form (see Figure 3-4) during the pre-field soils data acquisition and review phase. If soil type has not been determined as part of that process, it needs to be identified by the screener during the



Figure 3-4 Location on Data Collection Form where soil type information is documented (circled).

building site visit. If there is no basis for classifying the soil type, a soil type E should be assumed. However, for one-story or two-story buildings with a roof height equal to or less than 25 feet, a class D soil type may be assumed when site conditions are not known.

3.5 Determining and Documenting Occupancy

Two sets of information are needed relative to occupancy: (1) building use, and (2) estimated number of persons occupying the building.

3.5.1 Occupancy

Occupancy-related information is indicated by circling the appropriate information in the leftcenter portion of the form (see Figure 3-5). The occupancy of a building refers to its use, whereas the occupancy load is the number of people in the building (see Section 3.5.2). Although usually not bearing directly on the structural hazard or probability of sustaining major damage, the occupancy of a building is of interest and use when determining priorities for mitigation.

Nine general occupancy classes that are easy to recognize have been defined. They are listed on the form as Assembly, Commercial, Emergency Services (Emer. Services), Government (Govt), Historic, Industrial, Office, Residential, School buildings. These are the same classes used in the first edition of FEMA 154. They have been retained in this edition for consistency, they are easily identifiable from the street, they generally represent the broad spectrum of building uses in the United States, and they are similar to the occupancy categories in the Uniform Building Code (ICBO, 1997).

The occupancy class that best describes the building being evaluated should be circled on the form. If there are several types of uses in the building, such as commercial and residential, both should be circled. The actual use of the building may be written in the upper right hand portion of the form. For example, one might indicate that the building is a post office or a library on the line titled "use" in the upper right of the form (see Figure 3-2). In both of these cases, one would also circle "Govt". If none of the defined classes seem to fit the building, indicate the use in the upper right portion of the form (the building identification area) or include an explanation in the comments section. The nine occupancy classes are described below (with general indications of occupancy load):



- Assembly. Places of public assembly are those where 300 or more people might be gathered in one room at the same time. Examples are theaters, auditoriums, community centers, performance halls, and churches. (Occupancy load varies greatly and can be as much as 1 person per 10 sq. ft. of floor area, depending primarily on the condition of the seating fixed versus moveable).
- *Commercial.* The commercial occupancy class refers to retail and wholesale businesses, financial institutions, restaurants, parking structures and light warehouses. (Occupancy load varies; use 1 person per 50 to 200 sq. ft.).
- *Emergency Services*. The emergency services class is defined as any facility that would likely be needed in a major catastrophe. These include police and fire stations, hospitals, and communications centers. (Occupancy load is typically 1 person per 100 sq. ft.).
- *Government*. This class includes local, state and federal non-emergency related buildings (Occupancy load varies; use 1 person per 100 to 200 sq. ft.).
- *Historic*. This class will vary from community to community. It is included because historic buildings may be subjected to specific ordinances and codes.

- *Industrial*. Included in the industrial occupancy class are factories, assembly plants, large warehouses and heavy manufacturing facilities. (Typically, use 1 person per 200 sq. ft. except warehouses, which are perhaps 1 person per 500 sq. ft.).
- *Office*. Typical office buildings house clerical and management occupancies (use 1 person per 100 to 200 sq. ft.).
- *Residential.* This occupancy class refers to residential buildings such as houses, townhouses, dormitories, motels, hotels, apartments and condominiums, and residences for the aged or disabled. (The number of persons for residential occupancies varies from about 1 person per 300 sq. ft. of floor area in dwellings, to perhaps 1 person per 200 sq. ft. in hotels and apartments, to 1 per 100 sq. ft. in dormitories).
- School. This occupancy class includes all public and private educational facilities from nursery school to university level. (Occupancy load varies; use 1 person per 50 to 100 sq. ft.).

When occupancy is used by a community as a basis for setting priorities for hazard mitigation purposes, the upgrade of emergency services buildings is often of highest priority. Some communities may have special design criteria governing buildings for emergency services. This information may be used to add a special Score Modifier to increase the score for specially designed emergency buildings.

3.5.2 Occupancy Load

Like the occupancy class or use of the building, the occupancy load may be used by an RVS authority in setting priorities for hazard mitigation plans. The community may wish to upgrade buildings with more occupants first. As can be seen from the form (Figure 3-5), the occupancy load is defined in ranges such as 1-10, 11-100, 101-1000, and 1000+ occupants. The range that best describes the average occupancy of the building is circled. For example, if an office building appears to have a daytime occupancy of 200 persons, and an occupancy of only one or two persons otherwise, the maximum occupancy load is 101-1000 persons. If the occupancy load is estimated from building size and use, an inserted asterisk will automatically indicate that these are approximate data.

3.6 Identifying Potential Nonstructural Falling Hazards

Nonstructural falling hazards such as chimneys, parapets, cornices, veneers, overhangs and heavy cladding can pose life-safety hazards if not adequately anchored to the building. Although these hazards may be present, the basic lateralload system for the building may be adequate and require no further review. A series of four boxes have been included to indicate the presence of nonstructural falling hazards (see Figure 3-6). The falling hazards of major concern are:

- Unreinforced Chimneys. Unreinforced masonry chimneys are common in older masonry and wood-frame dwellings. They are often inadequately tied to the house and fall when strongly shaken. If in doubt as to whether a chimney is reinforced or unreinforced, assume it is unreinforced.
- *Parapets.* Unbraced parapets are difficult to identify from the street as it is sometimes difficult to tell if a facade projects above the roofline. Parapets often exist on three sides of the building, and their height may be visible from the back of the structure.
- *Heavy Cladding*. Large heavy cladding elements, usually precast concrete or cut



Figure 3-6 Portion of Data Collection Form for documenting nonstructural falling hazards.

stone, may fall off the building during an earthquake if improperly anchored. The loss of panels may also create major changes to the building stiffness (the elements are considered nonstructural but often contribute substantial stiffness to a building), thus setting up plan irregularities or torsion when only some fall. (Glass curtain walls are not considered as heavy cladding in the RVS procedure.) The existence of heavy cladding is of concern if the connections were designed and installed before the jurisdiction adopted seismic anchorage requirements (normally twice that for gravity loads). The date of such code adoption will vary with jurisdiction and should be established by an experienced design professional in the planning stages of the RVS process (see Section 2.4.2).

If any of the above nonstructural falling hazards exist, the appropriate box should be checked. If there are any other falling hazards, the "Other" box should be checked, and the type of hazard indicated on the line beneath this box. Use the comments section if additional space is required.

The RVS authority may later use this information as a basis for notifying the owner of potential problems.

3.7 Identifying the Lateral-Load-Resisting System and Documenting the Related Basic Structural Score

The RVS procedure is based on the premise that the screener will be able to determine the building's lateral-load-resisting system from the street, or to eliminate all those that it cannot possibly be. It is further assumed that the lateralload-resisting system is one of fifteen types that have been observed to be prevalent, based on studies of building stock in the United States. The fifteen types are consistent with the model building types identified in the FEMA 310 Report and the predecessor documents that have addressed seismic evaluation of buildings (e.g., ATC, 1987; BSSC, 1992)). The fifteen model building types used in this document, however, are an abbreviated subset of the 22 types now considered standard by FEMA; excluded from the FEMA 154 list are sub-classifications of certain framing types that specify that the roof and floor diaphragms are either rigid or flexible.

3.7.1 Fifteen Building Types Considered by the RVS Procedure and Related Basic Structural Scores

Following are the fifteen building types used in the RVS procedure. Alpha-numeric reference codes used on the Data Collection Form are shown in parentheses.

- 1. Light wood-frame residential and commercial buildings smaller than or equal to 5,000 square feet (W1)
- 2. Light wood-frame buildings larger than 5,000 square feet (W2)
- 3. Steel moment-resisting frame buildings (S1)
- 4. Braced steel frame buildings (S2)
- 5. Light metal buildings (S3)
- 6. Steel frame buildings with cast-in-place concrete shear walls (S4)
- 7. Steel frame buildings with unreinforced masonry infill walls (S5)
- 8. Concrete moment-resisting frame buildings (C1)
- 9. Concrete shear-wall buildings (C2)
- 10. Concrete frame buildings with unreinforced masonry infill walls (C3)
- 11. Tilt-up buildings (PC1)
- 12. Precast concrete frame buildings (PC2)
- 13. Reinforced masonry buildings with flexible floor and roof diaphragms (RM1)
- 14. Reinforced masonry buildings with rigid floor and roof diaphragms (RM2)
- 15. Unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings (URM)

For each of these fifteen model building types, a Basic Structural Hazard Score has been computed that reflects the estimated likelihood that building collapse will occur if the building is subjected to the maximum considered earthquake ground motions for the region. The Basic Structural Hazard Scores are based on the damage and loss estimation functions provided in the FEMA-funded HAZUS damage and loss estimation methodology (NIBS, 1999). For more information about the development of the Basic Structural Hazard Scores, see the companion FEMA 155 report (ATC, 2002).

The Basic Structural Scores are provided on each Data Collection Form in the first row of the



Figure 3-7. Portion of Data Collection Form containing Basic Structural Hazard Scores.

0X - Stand Toria MIV - Maneri recologi 10 - Paulae algerage: RC + Sectored concelle

structural scoring matrix in the lower portion of the Data Collection Form (see Figure 3-7). In high and moderate seismicity regions, these scores apply to buildings built after the initial adoption and enforcement of seismic codes, but before the relatively recent significant improvement of codes (that is, before the applicable benchmark year, as defined in Table 2-2). In low seismicity regions, they apply to all buildings except those designed and constructed after the applicable benchmark year, as defined in Table 2-2.

A key issue to be addressed in the planning stage (as recommended in Section 2.4.2) is the identification of those years in which seismic codes were initially adopted and later significantly improved. If the RVS authority in high and moderate seismicity regions is unsure of the year(s) in which codes were initially adopted, the default year for all but PC1 (tiltup) buildings is 1941, (the default year specified in the HAZUS criteria, NIBS, 1999). For PC1 (tiltup) buildings, the initial year in which effective seismic codes were specified is 1973 (ICBO, 1973). As described in Sections 3.8.5 and 3.8.6, the Data Collection Form includes Score Modifiers that provide a means for modifying the Basic Structural Hazard Score as a function of design and construction date.

Brief summaries of the physical characteristics and expected earthquake performance of each of

identifying the lateral-force-resisting system from the street. Once the lateral-force-resisting system is identified, the screener finds the appropriate alpha-numeric code on the Data Collection Form and circles the Basic Structural Hazard Score immediately beneath it (see Figure 3-7). Ideally, the lateral-force-resisting system for

Ideally, the lateral-force-resisting system for each building to be screened would be identified prior to field work through the review and interpretation of construction documents for each building (i.e., during the planning stage, as discussed in Section 2.7).

If prior determination of the lateral-forceresisting system is not possible through the review of building plans, which is the most likely scenario, this determination must be made in the field. In this case, the screener reviews spacing and size of windows, and the apparent construction materials to determine the lateralforce resisting system. If the screener cannot identify with complete assuredness the lateralforce-resisting system from the street, the screener should enter the building interior to verify the building type selected (see Section 3.7.3 for additional information on this issue.)

If the screener cannot determine the lateralforce-resisting system, and access to the interior is not possible, the screener should eliminate those lateral-force-resisting systems that are not possible and assume that any of the others are possible. In this case the Basic Structural Hazard Scores for all possible lateral-force-resisting systems would be circled on the Data Collection Form. More guidance and options pertaining to this issue are provided in Section 3.9.

Building	Photograph	Basic Structural Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
W1 Light wood frame resi- dential and commercial buildings equal to or smaller than 5,000 square feet	Inoceraphi	H = 2.8 M = 5.2 L = 7.4	 Wood stud walls are typically constructed of 2-inch by 4-inch vertical wood members set about 16 inches apart (2-inch by 6-inch for multiple stories). Most common exterior finish materials are wood siding, metal siding, or stucco. Buildings of this type performed very well in past earthquakes due to inherent qualities of the structural system and because they are lightweight and low rise. Earthquake-induced cracks in the plaster and stucco (if any) may appear, but are classified as non-structural damage. The most common type of structural damage in older buildings results from a lack of connection between the superstructure and the foundation, and inadequate chimney support.
W2 Light wood frame build- ings greater than 5,000 square feet		H = 3.8 M =4.8 L = 6.0	• These are large apartment buildings, commercial build- ings or industrial structures usually of one to three stories, and, rarely, as tall as six sto- ries.

Table 3-1 Build Type Descriptions, Basic Structural Hazard Scores, and Performance in Past Earthquakes

Building	Photograph	Basic Structural	Characteristics and Porformance
Steel moment- resisting frame		H = 2.8 M = 3.6 L = 4.6	 Typical steel moment-resisting frame structures usually have similar bay widths in both the transverse and longitudinal directions, around 20-30 ft. The floor diaphragms are usually concrete, sometimes over steel decking. This structural type is used for commercial, institutional and public buildings. The 1994 Northridge and 1995 Kobe earthquakes showed that the welds in steel moment- frame buildings were vulnerable to severe damage. The damage took the form of broken connections between the beams and columns.
S2 Braced steel frame		H = 3.0 M = 3.6 L = 4.8	 These buildings are braced with diagonal members, which usually cannot be detected from the building exterior. Braced frames are sometimes used for long and narrow buildings because of their stiffness. From the building exterior, it is difficult to tell the difference between steel moment frames, steel braced frames, and steel frames with interior concrete shear walls. In recent earthquakes, braced frames were found to have damage to brace connections, especially at the lower levels.

Building		Basic Structural	
Identifier	Photograph	Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
S3 Light metal building		H = 3.2 M = 3.8 L = 4.6	• The structural system usually consists of moment frames in the transverse direction and braced frames in the longitudinal direction, with corrugated sheet-metal siding. In some regions, light metal buildings may have partial-height masonry walls.
			• The interiors of most of these buildings do not have interior finishes and their structural skeleton can be seen easily.
			 Insufficient capacity of tension braces can lead to their elon- gation and consequent build- ing damage during earthquakes.
			 Inadequate connection to a slab foundation can allow the building columns to slide on the slab.
			 Loss of the cladding can occur.
S4			• Lateral loads are resisted by shear walls, which usually surround elevator cores and stairwells, and are covered by finish materials.
steel frames with cast-in- place con- crete shear walls		H = 2.8 M = 3.6 L = 4.8	• An interior investigation will permit a wall thickness check. More than six inches in thickness usually indicates a concrete wall.
			• Shear cracking and distress can occur around openings in concrete shear walls during earthquakes.
			 Wall construction joints can be weak planes, resulting in wall shear failure below expected capacity.

Building		Basic Structural	
Identifier	Photograph	Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
\$5 Steel frames with unrein- forced masonry infill walls		H = 2.0 M = 3.6 L = 5.0	 Steel columns are relatively thin and may be hidden in walls. Usually masonry is exposed on exterior with narrow piers (less than 4 ft wide) between windows. Portions of solid walls will align vertically. Infill walls are usually two to three wythes thick. Veneer masonry around columns or beams is usually poorly anchored and detaches easily.
C1 Concrete moment- resisting frames		H = 2.5 M = 3.0 L = 4.4	 All exposed concrete frames are reinforced concrete (not steel frames encased in concrete). A fundamental factor governing the performance of concrete moment-resisting frames is the level of ductile detailing. Large spacing of ties in columns can lead to a lack of concrete confinement and shear failure. Lack of continuous beam reinforcement can result in hinge formation during load reversal. The relatively low stiffness of the frame can lead to substantial nonstructural damage. Column damage due to pounding with adjacent buildings can occur.

Building Identifier	Photograph	Basic Structural Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
C2 Concrete shear wall buildings		H = 2.8 M = 3.6 L = 4.8	 Concrete shear-wall buildings are usually cast in place, and show typical signs of cast-in- place concrete. Shear-wall thickness ranges from 6 to 10 inches. These buildings generally per- form better than concrete frame buildings. They are heavier than steel- frame buildings but more rigid due to the shear walls. Damage commonly observed in taller buildings is caused by vertical discontinuities, pounding, and irregular con- tiguration.
C3 Concrete frames with unreinforced masonry infill walls		H = 1.6 M = 3.2 L = 4.4	 Concrete columns and beams may be full wall thickness and may be exposed for viewing on the sides and rear of the building. Usually masonry is exposed on the exterior with narrow piers (less than 4 ft wide) between windows. Portions of solid walls will align vertically. This type of construction was generally built before 1940 in high-seismicity regions but continues to be built in other regions. Infill walls tend to buckle and fall out-of-plane when subjected to strong lateral out-of-plane forces. Veneer masonry around columns or beams is usually poorly anchored and detaches easily.

Building	Obstagraph	Basic Structural	Characteristics and Derformence
Identilier	Photograph	Hazaru Score	
	d. Alation		Ill-ups are typically one or two stories high and are basi- cally rectangular in plan.
PC1 Tilt-up build- ings		H = 2.6 M = 3.2 L = 4.4	• Exterior walls were tradition- ally formed and cast on the ground adjacent to their final position, and then "tilted-up" and attached to the floor slab.
			• The roof can be a plywood diaphragm carried on wood purlins and glulam beams or a light steel deck and joist system, supported in the interior of the building on steel pipe columns.
	Partial roof collapse due to failed dia-phragm-to-wall connection		• Weak diaphragm-to-wall anchorage results in the wall panels falling and the collapse of the supported diaphragm (or roof).

, ,			
Building Identifier	Photograph	Basic Structural Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
			• Precast concrete frames are, in essence, post and beam construction in concrete.
PC2 Precast con-		H = 2.4 M = 3.2	• Structures often employ con- crete or reinforced masonry (brick or block) shear walls.
crete frame buildings		L = 4.6	• The performance varies widely and is sometimes poor.
			• They experience the same types of damage as shear wall buildings (C2).
	Building under construction		 Poorly designed connections between prefabricated ele- ments can fail.
			• Loss of vertical support can occur due to inadequate bear- ing area and insufficient con- nection between floor elements and columns.
	Detail of the precast components		• Corrosion of metal connectors between prefabricated elements can occur.
	Building nearing completion		

(Continued)		
Building Identifier	Photograph	Basic Structural Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
RM1 Reinforced masonry buildings with flexible dia- phragms	<image/> <image/> <image/> <image/>	H = 2.8 M = 3.6 L = 4.8	 Walls are either brick or concrete block. Wall thickness is usually 8 inches to 12 inches. Interior inspection is required to determine if diaphragms are flexible or rigid. The most common floor and roof systems are wood, light steel, or precast concrete. These buildings can perform well in moderate earthquakes if they are adequately reinforced and grouted, with sufficient diaphragm anchorage. Poor construction practice can result in ungrouted and unreinforced walls, which will fail easily.

Building		Basic Structural	
Identifier	Photograph	Hazard Score	Characteristics and Performance
RM2 Reinforced			 Walls are either brick or con- crete block.
masonry buildings with		H = 2.8	• Wall thickness is usually 8 inches to 12 inches.
rigid dia- phrams		M = 3.4 $L = 4.6$	 Interior inspection is required to determine if diaphragms are flexible or rigid.
			 The most common floor and roof systems are wood, light steel, or precast concrete.
			• These buildings can perform well in moderate earthquakes if they are adequately rein- forced and grouted, with suffi- cient diaphragm anchorage.
			 Poor construction practice can result in ungrouted and unre- inforced walls, which will fail easily.
			• These buildings often used weak lime mortar to bond the masonry units together.
URM Unreinforced masonry		H = 1.8 M = 3.4 L = 4.6	 Arches are often an architec- tural characteristic of older brick bearing wall buildings.
buildings			 Other methods of spanning are also used, including steel and stone lintels.
			 Unreinforced masonry usu- ally shows header bricks in the wall surface.
			• The performance of this type of construction is poor due to lack of anchorage of walls to floors and roof, soft mortar, and narrow piers between window openings.

Determining the lateral-force-resisting system in the field is often difficult. A useful first step is to determine if the building structure is a frame or a bearing wall. Examples of frame structures and bearing wall structures are shown in Figure 3-8, 3-9, and 3-10.

Information to assist the screener in distinguishing if the building is a bearing wall or frame structure is provided in the side bar. Once this determination has been made and the





Typical frame structure. Features include: large window spans, window openings on many sides, and clearly visible columnbeam grid pattern.



Figure 3-9 Typical bearing wall structure. Features include small window span, at least two mostly solid walls, and thick load-bearing walls.

Distinguishing Between Frame and Bearing Wall Building Systems.

A frame structure (for example, S1, S2, S3, S4, C1, PC2) is made up of beams and columns throughout the entire structure, resisting both vertical and lateral loads. A bearing wall structure (for example, PC1 and URM) uses vertical-load-bearing walls, which are more or less solid, to resist the vertical and lateral loads.

When a building has large openings on all sides, it is probably a frame structure as opposed to a bearing wall structure. A common characteristic of a frame structure is the rectangular grid patterns of the facade, indicating the location of the columns and girders behind the finish material. This is particularly revealing when windows occupy the entire opening in the frame, and no infill wall is used. A newer multistory commercial building should be assumed to be a frame structure, even though there may exist interior shear walls carrying the lateral loads (this would be a frame structure with shear walls).

Bearing wall systems carry vertical and lateral loads with walls rather than solely with columns. Structural floor members such as slabs, joists, and beams, are supported by load-bearing walls. A bearing wall system is thus characterized by more or less solid walls and, as a rule of thumb, a load-bearing wall will have more solid areas than openings. It also will have no wide openings, unless a structural lintel is used.

Some bearing-wall structures incorporate structural columns, or are partly frame structures. This is especially popular in multistory commercial buildings in urban lots where girders and columns are used in the ground floor of a bearing wall structure to provide larger openings for retail spaces. Another example is where the loads are carried by both interior columns and a perimeter wall. Both of these examples should be considered as bearing wall structures, because lateral loads are resisted by the bearing walls. Bearing wall structures sometimes utilize only two walls for load bearing. The other walls are non-load-bearing and thus may have large openings. Therefore, the openness of the front elevation should not be used to determine the structure type. The screener should also look at the side and rear facades. If at least two of the four exterior walls appear to be solid then it is likely that it is a bearing wall structure.

Window openings in older frame structures can sometimes be misleading. Since wide windows were excessively costly and fragile until relatively recently, several narrow windows separated by thin mullions are often seen in older buildings. These thin mullions are usually not load bearing. When the narrow windows are close together, they constitute a large opening typical of a frame structure, or a window in a bearing wall structure with steel lintels.

Whereas open facades on all sides clearly indicate a frame structure, solid walls may be indicative of a bearing wall structure or a frame structure with solid infill walls. Bearing walls are usually much thicker than infill walls, and increase in thickness in the lower stories of multi-story buildings. This increase in wall thickness can be detected by comparing the wall thickness at windows on different floors. Thus, solid walls can be identified as bearing or non-bearing walls according to their thickness, if the structural material is known.

A bearing wall system is sometimes called a box system.



Example of a Frame Building



Example of a Bearing Wall Structure

Figure 3-10 Frame and bearing wall structures

principal structural material is identified, the essential information for determining the lateralforce-resisting system has been established. It is then useful to know that:

- unreinforced masonry and tilt-up buildings are usually bearing-wall type,
- steel buildings and pre-cast concrete buildings are usually frame type, and
- concrete and reinforced masonry buildings may be either type.

A careful review of Table 3-1 and the information provided in Appendices D and E, along with training by knowledgeable building design professionals, should assist the screener in the determination of lateral-force-resisting systems. There will be some buildings for which the lateral-force-resisting system cannot be identified because of their facade treatment. In this case, the screener should eliminate those lateral-force-resisting systems that are not possible and assume that any of the others are possible.

3.7.3 Interior Inspections

Ideally, whenever possible, the screener should seek access to the interior of the building to identify, or verify, the lateral-force-resisting system for the building. In the case of reinforced masonry buildings, entry is particularly important so that the screener can distinguish between RM1 buildings, which have flexible floor and roof diaphragms, and RM2 buildings, which have rigid floor and roof diaphragms.

As with the exterior inspection, the interior process should be performed in a logical manner, either from the basement to the roof, or roof to basement. The screener should look at each floor thoroughly.

The RVS procedure does not require the removal of finish materials that are otherwise permanently affixed to the structure. There are a number of places within a building where it is possible to see the exposed structure. The following are some ways to determine the structure type.

- 1. If the building has a basement that is not occupied, the first-floor framing may be exposed. The framing will usually be representative of the floor framing throughout the building.
- 2. If the structural system is a steel or concrete frame, the columns and beams will often be exposed in the basement. The basement walls will likely be concrete, but this does not mean that they are concrete all the way to the roof.
- 3. High and mid-rise structures usually have one or more levels of parking below the building. When fireproofed steel columns and girders are seen, the screener can be fairly certain that the structure is a steel building (S1, S2, or S4 see Figure 3-11).
- 4. If the columns and beams are constructed of concrete, the structure type is most likely a concrete moment-frame building (C1, see Figure 3-12). However, this is not guaranteed as some buildings will use steel framing above the ground floor. To ascertain the building type, the screener will need to look at the columns above the first floor.
- 5. If there is no basement, the mechanical equipment rooms may show what the framing is for the floor above.



- Figure 3-11 Interior view showing fireproofed columns and beams, which indicate a steel building (S1, S2, or S4).
- 6. If suspended ceilings are used, one of the ceiling tiles can be lifted and simply pushed back. In many cases, the floor framing will then be exposed. Caution should be used in identifying the framing materials, because prior to about 1960, steel beams were encased in concrete to provide fireproofing. If steel framing is seen with what appears to be concrete beams, most likely these are steel beams encased in concrete.
- 7. If plastered ceilings are observed above suspended ceilings, the screener will not be able to identify the framing materials;

however, post-1960 buildings can be eliminated as a possibility because these buildings do not use plaster for ceilings.

- 8. At the exterior walls, if the structural system is a frame system, there will be regularly spaced furred out places. These are the building columns. If the exterior walls between the columns are constructed of brick masonry and the thickness of the wall is 9 inches or more, the structure type is either steel frame with unreinforced masonry infill (S5) or concrete frame with unreinforced masonry infill (C3).
- 9. Pre-1930 brick masonry buildings that are six stories or less in height and that have wood-floor framing supported on masonry ledges in pockets formed in the wall are unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings (URM).

3.7.4 Screening Buildings with More Than One Lateral-Force-Resisting System

In some cases, the screener may observe buildings having more than one lateral-force-resisting system. Examples might include a wood-frame building atop a precast concrete parking garage, or a building with reinforced concrete shear walls in one direction and a reinforced moment-resisting frame in the other.

Buildings that incorporate more than one lateral-force-resisting system should be evaluated for all observed types of structural systems, and the lowest Final Structural Score, *S*, should govern.



Figure 3-12 Interior view showing concrete columns and girders, which indicate a concrete moment frame (C1).

Score Modifier

BASIC SCORE, MODIFIERS, AND FINAL SCORE, S															
BUILDING TYPE	W1	W2	S1 (MRF)	S2 (BR)	S3 (LM)	S4 (RC SW)	S5 (URM INF)	C1 (MRF)	C2 (SW)	C3 (URM INF)	РС1 (ти)	PC2	RM1 (FD)	RM2 (RD)	URM
Basic Score	4.4	3.8	2.8	3.0	3.2	2.8	2.0	2.5	2.8	1.6	2.6	2.4	2.8	2.8	1.8
Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories)	N/A	N/A	+0.2	+0.4	N/A	+0.4	+0.4	+0.4	+0.4	+0.2	N/A	+0.2	+0.4	+0.4	0.0
High Rise (> 7 stories)	N/A	N/A	+0.6	+0.8	N/A	+0.8	+0.8	+0.6	+0.8	(+0.3)	N/A	+0.4	N/A	+0.6	N/A
Vertical Irregularity	-2.5	-2.0	-1.0	-1.5	N/A	-1.0	-1.0	-1.5	-1.0	-1.0	N/A	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0
Plan irregularity	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5
Pre-Code	0.0	-1.0	-1.0	-0.8	-0.6	-0.8	-0.2	-1.2	-1.0	-0.2	-0.8	-0.8	-1.0	-0.8	-0.2
Post-Benchmark	+2.4	+2.4	+1.4	+1.4	N/A	+1.6	N/A	+1.4	+2.4	N/A	+2.4	N/A	+2.8	+2.6	N/A
Soil Type C	0.0	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4
Soil Type D	0.0	-0.8	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.4	-0.6	-0.6	-0.4	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6
Soil Type E	0.0	-0.8	-1.2	-1.2	-1.0	-1.2	-0.8	-1.2	-0.8	-0.8	-0.4	-1.2	-0.4	-0.6	-0.8



Figure 3-13. Portion of Data Collection Form containing attributes that modify performance and associated score modifiers.

3.8 Identifying Seismic Performance Attributes and Recording Score Modifiers

This section discusses major factors that significantly impact structural performance during earthquakes, and the assignment of Score Modifiers related to each of these factors (attributes). The severity of the impact on structural performance varies with the type of lateral-force-resisting system; thus the assigned Score Modifiers depend on building type. Score Modifiers associated with each performance attribute are indicated in the scoring matrix on the Data Collection Form (see Figure 3-13). Score Modifiers for the building being screened are circled in the appropriate column (i.e., under the reference code for the identified lateral-force-resisting system for that building).

Following are descriptions of each performance attribute, along with guidance on how to recognize each from the street. If a performance attribute does not apply to a given building type, the Score Modifier is indicated with "N/A", which indicates "not applicable."

3.8.1 Mid-Rise Buildings

If the building has 4 to 7 stories, it is considered a mid-rise building, and the score modifier associated with this attribute should be circled.

3.8.2 High-Rise Buildings

If the building has 8 or more stories, it is considered a high-rise building, and the score modifier associated with this attribute should be circled.

3.8.3 Vertical Irregularity

This performance attribute applies to all building types. Examples of vertical irregularity include buildings with setbacks, hillside buildings, and buildings with soft stories (see illustrations of example vertical irregularities in Figure 3-14).

If the building is irregularly shaped in elevation, or if some walls are not vertical, then apply the modifier (see example in Figure 3-15).

If the building is on a steep hill so that over the up-slope dimension of the building the hill rises at least one story height, a problem may exist because the horizontal stiffness along the lower side may be different from the uphill side. In addition, in the up-slope direction, the stiff short columns attract the seismic shear forces and may fail. In this case the performance modifier is applicable. See Figure 3-14 for an example.





A soft story exists if the stiffness of one story is dramatically less than that of most of the others (see Figure 3-15). Examples are shear walls or infill walls not continuous to the foundation. Soft stories are difficult to verify without knowledge of how the building was designed and how the lateral forces are to be transferred from story to story. In other words, there may be shear walls in the building that are not visible from the street. However, if there is doubt, it is best to be conservative and indicate the existence of a soft story by circling the vertical irregularity Score Modifier. Use an asterisk and the comment section to explain the source of uncertainty. In many commercial buildings, the first story is soft due to large window openings for display

purposes. If one story is particularly tall or has windows on all sides, and if the stories above have fewer windows, then it is probably a soft story.

A building may be adequate in one direction but be "soft" in the perpendicular direction. For example, the front and back walls may be open but the side walls may be solid. Another common example of soft story is "tuck under" parking commonly found in apartment buildings (see Figure 3-16). Several past earthquakes in California have shown the vulnerability of this type of construction.

Vertical irregularity is a difficult characteristic to define, and considerable judgment and experience are required for identification purposes.



Figure 3-15 Example of setbacks (see Figure 3-14) and a soft first story.



Figure 3-16 Example of soft story conditions, where parking requirements result in large weak openings.

3.8.4 Plan Irregularity

If a building has a vertical or plan irregularity, as described below, this modifier applies. Plan irregularity can affect all building types. Examples of plan irregularity include buildings with re-entrant corners, where damage is likely to occur; buildings with good lateral-load resistance in one direction but not in the other; and buildings with major stiffness eccentricities in the lateralforce-resisting system, which may cause twisting (torsion) around a vertical axis. Buildings with re-entrant corners include those with long wings that are E, L, T, U, or + shaped (see Figures 3-17 and 3-18). See SEAOC (1996) for further discussion of this issue.)

Plan irregularities causing torsion are especially prevalent among corner buildings, in which the two adjacent street sides of the building are largely windowed and open, whereas the other two sides are generally solid. Wedge-shaped buildings, triangular in plan, on corners of streets not meeting at 90°, are similarly susceptible (see Figure 3-19).

Although plan irregularity can occur in all building types, primary concern lies with wood, tilt-up, pre-cast frame, reinforced masonry and unreinforced masonry construction. Damage at connections may significantly reduce the capacity of a vertical-load-carrying element, leading to partial or total collapse.

3.8.5 Pre-Code

This Score Modifier applies for buildings in high and moderate seismicity regions and is applicable if the building being screened was designed and constructed prior to the initial adoption and enforcement of seismic codes applicable for that building type (e.g., steel moment frame, S1). The year(s) in which seismic codes were initially adopted and enforced for the various model building types should have been identified as part



Figure 3-17 Plan views of various building configurations showing plan irregularities; arrows indicate possible areas of damage.



Figure 3-18 Example of a building, with a plan irregularity, with two wings meeting at right angles.

of the Data Collection Form review process during the pre-planning stage (as recommended in Section 2.4.2). If this determination was not made during the planning stage, the default year is 1941, for all building types except PC1, in which case it is 1973. Because of the method used to calculate the Basic Structural Hazard Scores, this modifier does not apply to buildings in the low seismicity region.

3.8.6 Post-Benchmark

This Score Modifier is applicable if the building being screened was designed and constructed after significantly improved seismic codes applicable for that building type (e.g., concrete moment frame, C1) were adopted and enforced by the local jurisdiction. The year in which such improvements were adopted is termed the "benchmark" year. Benchmark year(s) for the various model building types should have been identified as part of the Data Collection Form review process during the pre-planning stage (as recommended in Section 2.4.2). Benchmark years for the various building types (designed in accordance with various model codes) are provided in Table 2-2.

3.8.7 Soil Type C, D, or E

Score Modifiers are provided for Soil Type C, Type D, and Type E. The appropriate modifier should be circled if one of these soil types exists at the site (see Section 3.4 for additional discussion regarding the determination of soil type). If sufficient guidance or data are not available during the planning stage to classify the soil type as A



Figure 3-19 Example of a building, triangular in plan, subject to torsion.

through E, a soil type E should be assumed. However, for one- or two-story buildings with a roof height equal to or less than 25 feet, a class D soil type may be assumed if the actual site conditions are not known.

There is no Score Modifier for Type F soil because buildings on soil type F cannot be screened effectively by the RVS procedure. A geotechnical engineer is required to confirm the soil type F and an experienced professional engineer is required for building evaluation.

3.9 Determining the Final Score

The Final Structural Score, *S*, is determined for a given building by adding (or subtracting) the Score Modifiers for that building to the Basic Structural Hazard Score for the building. The result is documented in the section of the form entitled Final Score (see Figure 3-20). Based on this information, and the "cut-off" score selected during the pre-planning process (see Section 2.4.3), the screener then decides if a detailed evaluation is required for the building and circles "YES" or "NO" in the lower right-hand box (see Figure 3-20). Additional guidance on this issue is provided in Sections 4.1, and 4.2.

When the screener is uncertain of the building type, an attempt should be made to eliminate all unlikely building types. If the screener is still left with several choices, computation of the Final Structural Score *S* may be treated several ways:

1. The screener may calculate *S* for all the remaining options and choose the lowest

FINAL SCORE

Detailed Evaluation Required

YES NO



Figure 3-20 Location on Data Collection Form where the final score, comments, and an indication if the building needs detailed evaluation are documented.

score. This is a conservative approach, and has the disadvantage that it may be too conservative and the assigned score may indicate that the building presents a greater risk than it actually does. This conservative approach will not pose problems in cases where all the possible remaining building types result in scores below the cut-off value. In all these cases the building has characteristics that justify further review anyway by a design professional experienced in seismic design.

2. If the screener has little or no confidence about any choice for the structural system, the screener should write DNK below the word "Building Type" (see Figure 3-7), which indicates the screener does not know. In this case there should be an automatic default to the need for a detailed review of the building by an experienced design professional. A more detailed field inspection would include entering the building, and examining the basement, roof, and all structural elements.

Which of these two options the RVS authority wishes to adopt should be decided in the RVS planning phase (see Section 2.3).

3.10 Photographing the Building

At least one photograph of the building should be taken for identification purposes. The screener is not limited to one photograph. A photograph contains much more information, although perhaps less emphasized, than the elevation sketch. Large buildings are difficult to photograph from the street and the camera lens introduces distortion for high-rise buildings. If possible, the photograph should be taken from a sufficient distance to include the whole building, and such that adjacent faces are included. A wide angle or a zoom lens may be helpful. Strong sunlit facades should be avoided, as harsh contrasts between shadows and sunlit portions of the facade will be introduced. Lastly, if possible, the front of the building should not be obscured by trees, vehicles or other objects, as they obscure the lower (and often the most important) stories.

3.11 Comments Section

This last section of the form (see Figure 3-20) is for recording any comments the screener may wish to make regarding the building, occupancy, condition, quality of the data or unusual circumstances of any type. For example, if not all significant details can be effectively photographed or drawn, the screener could describe additional important information in the comments area. Comments may be made on the strength of mortar used in a masonry wall, or building features that can be seen at or through window openings. Other examples where comments are helpful are described throughout Chapter 3.

Chapter 4 Using the RVS Procedure Results

The rapid visual screening procedure presented in this *Handbook* is meant to be the preliminary screening phase of a multi-phase procedure for identifying earthquake-hazardous buildings. Buildings identified by this procedure as potentially hazardous must be analyzed in more detail by an experienced seismic design professional. Because rapid visual screening is designed to be performed from the street, with interior inspection not always possible, hazardous details will not always be visible, and seismically hazardous buildings may not be identified as such. Conversely, buildings identified as potentially hazardous may prove to be adequate.

Since the original publication of FEMA 154 in 1988, the RVS procedure has been widely used by local communities and government agencies. A critical issue in the implementation of FEMA 154 has been the interpretation of the Final Structural Score, *S*, and the selection of a "cut-off" score, below which a detailed seismic evaluation of the building by a design professional in seismic design is required.

Following are discussions on: (1) interpretation and selection of the "cut-off" score; (2) prior uses of the FEMA 154 RVS procedure, including decisions regarding the "cut-off" score; and (3) other possible uses of the FEMA 154 RVS procedure, including resources needed for the various possible uses. These discussions are intended to illuminate both the limitations and potential applications of the RVS procedure.

4.1 Interpretation of RVS Score

Having employed the RVS procedure and determined the building's Final Structural Score, *S*, which is based on the Basic Structural Hazard Score and Score Modifiers associated with the various performance attributes, the RVS authority is naturally faced with the question of what these *S* scores mean. Fundamentally, the final *S* score is an estimate of the probability (or chance) that the building will collapse if ground motions occur that equal or exceed the maximum considered earthquake (MCE) ground motions (the current FEMA 310 ground motion specification for detailed seismic evaluation of buildings). These estimates of the score are based on limited observed and analytical data, and the probability of collapse is therefore approximate. For example, a final score of S = 3 implies there is a chance of 1 in 10^3 , or 1 in 1000, that the building will collapse if such ground motions occur. A final score of S =2 implies there is a chance of 1 in 10^2 , or 1 in 100, that the building will collapse if such ground motions occur. (Additional information about the basis for the RVS scoring system is provided in the second edition of the companion FEMA 155 Report, Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation.) An understanding and appreciation of the physical essence of the scoring system, as described above, will facilitate the interpretation of results from implementation of the RVS procedure.

4.2 Selection of RVS "Cut-Off" Score

One of the most difficult issues pertaining to rapid visual screening is answering the question, "What is an acceptable *S*?" This is a question for the community that involves the costs of safety versus the benefits. The costs of safety include:

- the costs of reviewing and investigating in detail hundreds or thousands of buildings in order to identify some fraction of those that would actually sustain major damage in an earthquake; and
- the costs associated with rehabilitating those buildings finally determined to be unacceptably weak.

The most compelling benefit is the saving of lives and prevention of injuries due to reduced damage in those buildings that are rehabilitated. This reduced damage includes not only less material damage, but fewer major disruptions to daily lives and businesses. The identification of hazardous buildings and the mitigation of their hazards are critical because there are thousands of existing buildings in all parts of the United States that may suffer severe damage or possible collapse in the event of strong ground shaking. Such damage or collapse can be accompanied by loss of life and serious injury. In a great earthquake deaths could number in the thousands.

Each community needs to engage in some consideration of these costs and benefits of seismic safety, and decide what value of *S* is an appropriate "cut-off" for their situation. The final decision involves many non-technical factors, and is not straightforward. Perhaps the best quantification of the risk inherent in modern building codes was a study regarding design practice by the National Bureau of Standards (NBS, 1980), which observed:

In selecting the target reliability it was decided, after carefully examining the resulting reliability indices for the many design situations, that a $\beta_0 = 3$ is a representative average value for many frequently used structural elements when they are subjected to gravity loading, while $\beta_0 = 2.5$ and $\beta_0 = 1.75$ are representative values for loads that include wind and earthquake, respectively³.

In other words, present design practice is such that a value of *S* of about 3 is appropriate for day-to-day loadings, and a value of about 2, or somewhat less, is appropriate for infrequent, but possible, earthquake loadings.

More recently, recommendations for seismic design criteria for new steel moment-frame buildings (SAC, 2000) concluded that:

...it is believed that...structures designed in accordance with [these recommendations] provide in excess of 90% confidence of being able to withstand [shaking that has a 2% probability of exceedance in 50 years] without global collapse....

This statement can be shown to be equivalent to the findings in the NBS (1980) study.

Unless a community itself considers the cost and benefit aspects of seismic safety, an S value of about 2.0 is a reasonable preliminary value to use within the context of RVS to differentiate adequate buildings from those potentially inadequate and thus requiring detailed review. Use of a higher cut-off S value implies greater desired safety but increased community-wide costs for evaluations and rehabilitation; use of a lower value of S equates to increased seismic risk and lower short-term community-wide costs for evaluations and rehabilitation (prior to an earthquake).

Further guidance on cost and other societal implications of seismic rehabilitation of hazardous buildings is available in other publications of the FEMA report series on existing buildings (see FEMA-156 and FEMA-157, *Typical Costs for Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings*, 2nd Edition, Volumes 1 and 2, and FEMA-255 and FEMA-256, *Seismic Rehabilitation of Federal Buildings – A Benefit/Cost Model*, Volumes 1 and 2 (VSP, 1994).

4.3 Prior Uses of the RVS Procedure

During the decade following publication of the first edition of the FEMA 154 Handbook, the rapid visual screening procedure was used by privatesector organizations and government agencies to evaluate more than 70,000 buildings nationwide (ATC, 2002). As reported at the FEMA 154 Users Workshop in San Francisco in September 2000 (see second edition of FEMA 155 report for additional information), these applications included surveys of (1) commercial buildings in Beverly Hills, California, (2) National Park Service facilities, (3) pubic buildings and designated shelters in southern Illinois; (4) U.S. Army facilities, (5) facilities of the U.S. Department of the Interior and (6) buildings in other local communities and for other government agencies. The results from some of these efforts are described below.

In its screening of 11,500 buildings using the FEMA 154 RVS procedure, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Civil Engineering Research Laboratory (CERL) used a cut-off score of 2.5, rather than 2.0 (S. Sweeney, oral communication, September 2000), with the specific intent of using a more conservative approach. As a result of the FEMA 154 screening, approximately 5,000 buildings had final S scores less than 2.5. These buildings, along with a subset of buildings that had FEMA 154 scores higher than 2.5, but were of concern for other reasons, were further evaluated in detail using the FEMA 178 NEHRP Handbook for the Seismic Evaluation of Existing Buildings [BSSC, 1992]). Results from the subsequent FEMA 178 evaluations indicated that some buildings that failed the FEMA 154 RVS procedure (that is, had scores less than 2.5) did not fail the FEMA 178 evaluations and that some that passed the FEMA 154 RVS procedure (with scores higher than 2.5) did not pass the FEMA 178 evaluation (that is, were found to have inadequate seismic resistance). This finding emphasizes the

³ β_0 as used in the National Bureau of Standards study is approximately equivalent to *S* as used herein.

concern identified at the beginning of this chapter that the use of FEMA 154 may not identify potentially earthquake hazardous buildings as such, and that buildings identified as potentially hazardous may prove to be adequate.

Other conclusions and recommendations pertaining to the use of the FEMA 154 RVS procedure that emanated from these applications included the following:

- Involve design professionals in RVS implementation whenever possible to ensure that the lateral-force-resisting structural systems are correctly identified (such identification is particularly difficult in buildings that have been remodeled and added to over the years);
- Conduct intensive training for screeners so that they fully understand how to implement the methodology, in all of its aspects;
- Inspect both the exterior and, if at all possible, the interior of the building;
- Review construction drawings as part of the screening process;
- Review soils information prior to implementation of the methodology in the field; and
- Interpret the results from FEMA 154 screenings in a manner consistent with the level of resources available for the screening (for example, cut-off scores may be dictated by budget constraints).

Most of these recommendations were incorporated in the updated RVS procedure described in this *Handbook*.

4.4 Other Possible Uses of the RVS Procedure

In addition to identifying potentially seismically hazardous buildings needing further evaluation, results from RVS surveys can also be used for other purposes, including: (1) designing seismic hazard mitigation programs for a community (or agency); (2) ranking a community's (or agency's) seismic rehabilitation needs; (3) developing inventories of buildings for use in regional earthquake damage and loss impact assessments; (4) developing inventories of buildings for use in planning postearthquake building safety evaluation efforts; and (5) developing building-specific seismic vulnerability information for purposes such as insurance rating, decision making during building ownership transfers, and possible triggering of remodeling requirements during the permitting process.

Following are descriptions of how RVS results could be used for several of these purposes.

4.4.1 Using RVS Scores as a Basis for Hazardous Building Mitigation Programs

Communities need to develop hazard mitigation plans to establish a solid foundation for the detailed seismic evaluation and rehabilitation of buildings. In developing any hazardous buildings mitigation program, the cost effectiveness of the seismic evaluation and rehabilitation work must be determined. The costs should be evaluated against the direct benefits of the seismic rehabilitation program (that is, reduced physical damage, reduced injuries and loss of life). Additionally, secondary benefits to the community should be considered with the direct benefits. These secondary benefits are difficult to quantify in dollars, but must be considered. Secondary benefits are those that apply to the community as a whole. Examples include:

- reduced interruption to business;
- reduced potential for secondary damage (for example, fires) that could impact otherwise undamaged structures;
- reduced potential for traffic flow problems around areas of significant damage; and
- other reduced economic impacts.

The process of selecting buildings to be rehabilitated begins with the determination of the cut-off Structural Score, *S*, below which detailed building seismic evaluation is required (e.g., by use of the FEMA 310 procedures). Such a determination allows estimates to be made on the costs of additional seismic evaluation and rehabilitation work. From this the benefits are determined. The most cost-effective solution will be the one where the least amount is spent in direct costs to gain the greatest direct and secondary benefits.

After the RVS authority establishes the appropriate cut-off score and completes the screening process, it needs to determine the best way to notify building owners of the need for more review of buildings that score less than the cut-off (if the authority is not the owner of the buildings being screened). At the same time the community needs to develop the appropriate standards (for example, adoption of FEMA 356, Prestandard and Commentary on the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings [ASCE, 2000]) to accomplish the goal of the mitigation program. Ultimately, the mitigation program needs to address those buildings that represent the largest potential threat to life safety and the community. Timelines for compliance with the new standards and the mitigation program should be developed on a priority basis, such that the first priority actions relate to those buildings posing the most significant risk, after which those posing a lesser risk are addressed.

4.4.2 Using RVS Data in Community Building Inventory Development

RVS data can be used to establish building inventories that characterize a community's seismic risk. For example, RVS data could be used to improve the HAZUS (NIBS, 1999) characterization of the local inventory, which has a default level based on population, economic factors, and regional trends. Similarly, RVS could be incorporated directly into a community's Geographic Information System (GIS), allowing the community to generate electronic and paper maps that reflect the building stock of the community. Electronic color coding of the various types of buildings under the RVS authority, based on their ultimate vulnerability, allows the community to see at a glance where the vulnerable areas of the community are found.

4.4.3 Using RVS Data to Plan Postearthquake Building-Safety-Evaluation Efforts

In a postearthquake environment one of the initial response priorities is to determine rapidly the safety of buildings for continued occupancy. The procedure most often used is that represented in the ATC-20 Report, *Procedures for Postearthquake Safety Evaluation of Buildings* (ATC, 1989, 1995). This procedure is similar in nature to that of the RVS procedure in that initial rapid evaluations are performed to find those buildings that are obviously unsafe (Red placard) and those that have no damage or damage that does not pose a threat to continued occupancy (Green placard). All other buildings fall into a condition where occupancy will need to be restricted in some form (Yellow placard).

The database developed following the completion of the RVS process in a given community will be valuable in setting the priorities of where safety evaluation will be performed first, after a damaging earthquake. For example, a community could use HAZUS software, in combination with RVS-based inventory information, to determine areas where significant damage may exist for various earthquake scenarios. Similarly, a community could use an existing GIS containing RVS inventory data and computer-generated maps of strong ground shaking, such as the ShakeMaps developed by the USGS (ATC, in progress), to estimate the location and distribution of damaged buildings. With such information, community officials would be able to determine those areas where building safety evaluations should be conducted.

Later, the data collected during the postearthquake building safety evaluations could be added to the RVS authority's RVS-based building inventory database. Using GIS, maps can then be prepared showing the damage distribution within the community based on actual building damage. Building locations could be electronically color-coded in accordance with the color of the safety-evaluation placard that is placed on the building: Green, Yellow, or Red.

4.4.4 Resources Needed for the Various Uses of the RVS Procedure

For most applications of the RVS procedure, the resources needed to implement the process are similar, consisting principally of an RVS manager (the RVS authority), technical specialists to train screeners, a team of screeners, materials to be taken into the field (e.g., the *Handbook* and other items listed in Section 2.8), and building construction drawings. Most applications are assisted by the development and maintenance of a computerized database for recordkeeping and the use of geographic information systems (GIS). A matrix showing recommended resources for various FEMA 154 RVS applications is provided in Table 4-1.

					Resources			
		RVS	RVS		Screening Equipment and	Building	Computerized Record Keening	
	Application	Manager	Trainer	Screeners	Supplies	Drawings	System	GIS
1.	Ranking seismic rehabilitation needs	X	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	Х
2.	Designing seismic hazard mitigation programs	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	х
3.	Developing inventories for regional earthquake damage and loss studies	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
4.	Planning postearthquake building safety evaluation efforts	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
5.	Developing building specific vulnerability information	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		

Table 4-1Matrix of Recommended Personnel and Material Resources for Various FEMA 154 RVS
Applications*

*It is recommended that rapid visual screening projects be carried out under the oversight of a design professional with significant experience in seismic design.

Chapter 5

Example Application of Rapid Visual Screening

Presented in this chapter is an illustrative application of the rapid visual screening procedure in the hypothetical community of Anyplace USA. The RVS implementation process (as depicted in Figure 2-1) is described, from budget development to selection of the appropriate Data Collection Form, to the screening of individual buildings in the field. Prior to implementation of the RVS procedure, the RVS authority (the Building and Planning Department of Anyplace) has reviewed the *Handbook* and established the purpose for the RVS.

5.1 Step 1: Budget and Cost Estimation



The RVS authority has been instructed by the city council to conduct the RVS process to identify all buildings in the city, excluding detached singlefamily and two-family dwellings, that are potentially earthquake hazardous and that should be further evaluated by a design professional experienced in seismic design (the principal purpose of the RVS procedure). It is understood that, depending on the results of the RVS, the city council may adopt future ordinances that establish policy on when, how and by whom low-scoring buildings should be evaluated and on future seismic rehabilitation requirements. It is also desired that the results from the RVS be incorporated in the geographic information system that the city recently installed to map and describe facilities throughout the city, including all buildings and utility systems within the city limits.

The RVS authority has determined there are approximately 1,000 buildings in the city that are not detached single-family or two-family dwellings and that some of the buildings are at least 100 years old. The RVS authority plans (1) to conduct a pre-field data collection and evaluation process to examine and assess information in its existing files and to document building location, size, use, and other information on the Data Collection Forms prior to field screening; (2) to review available building plans prior to field screening; (3) to inspect the interiors of buildings whenever possible; (4) to establish an electronic RVS record-keeping system that is compatible with its GIS; and (5) to train screeners prior to sending them into the field.

Costs to conduct these activities have been estimated, assuming an average of \$40 per hour (salary plus benefits) for personnel who perform data evaluation, screening, and record management. Costs are in 2001 dollars. It is assumed that three persons will carry out the prefield data collection and evaluation process, that four two-person teams of design professionals will conduct the review of building plans and the field screening, that two persons will file all screening data, and that the entire RVS process will take approximately six months. Based on these rates and assumed times to conduct the various activities, the following RVS budget has been established:

1.	Pre-field data collection, evaluation,	
	and processing (1,000 buildings \times	
	$0.4 \text{ hr/building} \times \$40/\text{hr})$	\$16,000

- Training, including trainer time (24 hours), screener time (8 hours per screener), and materials
 Review of available building plans (500 plan sets × 0.75 hr/plan set
- \times \$40/hr) 15,000 4. Field screening (1,000 buildings
- $\times 0.75 \text{ hr/building} \times \$40/\text{hr}) \qquad 30,000$
- 5. Record-keeping system development 5,000
- Electronic filing of Data Collection Forms, including verification of data input (1,000 forms × 0.75 hour/form × \$40/hour) <u>30,000</u>
 Subtotal \$100,000
- 8. Management (10% of item 7) <u>10,000</u>
- 9. Total \$110,000

5.2 Step 2: Pre-Field Planning



During the pre-field planning process the RVS authority confirmed that the existing geographic information system was capable of being expanded to include RVS-related information and results. In addition, the RVS authority decided that sufficient soil information was available from the State Geologist to develop an overlay for their GIS containing soils information for the entire city. While not required as part of the RVS process, it was also determined that the city included an area that had isolated pockets of low liquefaction potential, and that there was no area with landslide potential. Consequently the RVS authority concluded that GIS overlays for liquefaction and landslide potential were not warranted.

The RVS authority also verified that the existing GIS had reference tables containing address information for most of the properties in the city (developed earlier from the tax assessor's files) and that these tables could be extracted and included in a new GIS-compatible electronic relational database containing the RVS results. It was also determined that other building and planning department's files contained reliable information on building name, use, size (height and area), structural system, and age for buildings built or remodeled within the last 30 years, and that Sanborn maps, which contain size, age, and other building attribute information (see Section 2.6.3) were available (at the local library) for most of the downtown sector.

Based on this information, the RVS authority confirmed its prior preliminary decision under Step 1 to develop an electronic RVS record keeping system (relational database) that could be imported into the existing GIS. The RVS authority also decided to focus on the downtown sector of Anyplace during the initial phase of the RVS field work, and to expand to the outlying areas later.

5.3 Step 3: Selection and Review of the Data Collection Form



To choose the correct Data Collection Form, the RVS authority elected to establish the seismicity for Anyplace USA by using Method 2 (see Section 2.4.1), rather than by selecting the seismicity region from the maps in Appendix A. Method 2, using the zip-code option, provides more precision than the Appendix A maps which use county boundaries. Method 2 was executed by accessing the USGS seismic hazard web site (http://geohazards.cr.usgs.gov/eq/), selecting Hazard by Zip Code, entering the zip code, 91234, and obtaining spectral acceleration (SA) values for 0.2 second and 1.0 second for ground motions having a 2% probability of being exceeded in 50 years (see Figure 5-1). The values of 2.10 g and 0.88 g for 0.2 second and 1.0 second, respectively, were multiplied by 2/3 to obtain the reduced values of 1.40 g and 0.59 g, respectively, for 0.2

Earthquake Ha	zards Program - N	tional Seismid Ha	ward Mapping Project
The input zip-	code is 91234.		
ZIP CODE		91234	
LOCATION		33.7754 Lat	118.1860 Long.
DISTANCE TO	NEAREST GRID POI	NT 3.0229 kms	
NEAREST GRI	D POINT	33.8 Lat	118.2 Long.
Probabilist	ic ground motion	values, in %g,	at the Nearest Grid
point are:			
	10%PE in 50 yr	5%PE in 50 yr	2%PE in 50 yr
PGA	51.809940	70.680931	96.476959
0.2 sec SA	118.997299	157.833496	210.003403
0.3 sec SA	114.200897	148.213104	194.634995
1.0 sec SA	42.566330	60.786320	88.084427

Figure 5-1 Screen capture of USGS web page showing SA values for 0.2 sec and 1.0 sec for ground motions having 2% probability of being exceeded in 50 years (values shown in boxes).

second and 1.0 second. These reduced values were compared to the criteria in Table 2-1 to determine that the reduced (using the 2/3 factor) USGS assigned motions met the "high seismicity" criteria for both short-period and long-period motions (that is, 1.40 g is greater than 0.5 g for the 0.2 second [short-period] motions, and 0.59 g is greater than 0.2 g for the 1.0 second [long-period] motions). All other zip codes in Anyplace were similarly input to the USGS web site, and the results indicated high seismicity in all cases. On this basis the RVS authority selected the Data Collection Form for high seismicity (Figure 5-2).

Using the checklist of Table 2-3, the RVS authority reviewed the Data Collection Form to determine if the occupancy categories and occupancy loads were useful for their purposes and evaluated other parameters on the form, deciding that no changes were needed. The RVS authority also conferred with the chief building official, the department's plan checkers, and local design professionals to establish key seismic code adoption dates for the various building lateralload-resisting systems considered by the RVS and for anchorage of heavy cladding. It was determined that Anyplace adopted seismic codes for W1, W2, S1, S5, C1, C3, RM1, and RM2 building types in 1933, and that seismic codes were never adopted for URM buildings (after 1933 they were no longer permitted to be built). For S2, S3, S4 and PC2 buildings, it was assumed for purposes of the RVS procedure that seismic codes were adopted in 1941, using the default year recommended in Section 2.4.2. For PC1 buildings, it was assumed that seismic codes were first adopted in 1973 (per the guidance provided in Section 2.4.2). It was also determined that seismically rehabilitated URM buildings should be treated as buildings designed in accordance with a seismic code (that is, treated as if they were designed in 1933 or thereafter). Because Anyplace has been consistently adopting the Uniform *Building Code* since the early 1960s, benchmark years for all building types, except URM, were taken from the "UBC" column in Table 2-2. The year in which seismic anchorage requirements for heavy cladding was determined to be 1967. These findings were indicated on the Quick Reference Guide (See Figure 5-3).

5.4 Step 4: Qualifications and Training for Screeners

Anyplace USA selected RVS screeners from two sources: the staff of the Department of Building and Planning, and junior-level engineers from local engineering offices, who were hired on a temporary consulting basis. Training was carried out by one of the department's most experienced plan checkers, who spent approximately 24 hours reading the FEMA 154 *Handbook* and preparing training materials.

As recommended in this *Handbook*, the training was conducted in a classroom setting and consisted of: (1) discussions of lateral-forceresisting systems and how they behave when subjected to seismic loads; (2) how to use the Data Collection Form and the Ouick Reference Guide: (3) a review of the Basic Structural Hazard Scores and Score Modifiers; (4) what to look for in the field; (5) how to account for uncertainty; and (6) an exercise in which screeners were shown interior and exterior photographs of buildings and asked to identify the lateral-load-resisting system and vertical and plan irregularities. The training class also included focused group interaction sessions, principally in relation to the identification of structural systems and irregularities using exterior and interior photographs. Screeners were also instructed on items to take into the field.

5.5 Step 5: Acquisition and Review of Pre-Field Data



As described in the Pre-Field Planning process (Step 2 above), the RVS authority of Anyplace USA already had electronic GIS reference tables containing street addresses and parcel numbers for most of the buildings in the city. These data (addresses and parcel numbers) were extracted from the electronic GIS system (see screen capture of GIS display showing parcel number and other available information for an example site, Figure 5-4) and imported into a standard off-the-shelf electronic database as a table. To facilitate later

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards

FEMA-154 Data Collection Form

HIGH Seismicity

		1		1			Address	:							
												Z	ip		
							Other Ide	entifier	'S						
							No. Stor	ies					Year B	uilt	
							Screene	r				Date			
							Total Flo	or Are	a (sq. ft.) _						
							Building	Name							
							Use								
										PH	IOTOGRA	РН			
-		ANOV	00	\ II									11474		
L Cout	Office	ANCY	SC					YPE	FF	+	F/		HAZA	RDS	
Assembly Govt Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria	Office Resid	ANCY e dential ol	SC Numbe 0 – 10 101-100	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100	rsons – 100 00+	A E Hard Av Rock Ro	g. Dense ck Soil	D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil	r I	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys	ALLING Parape	HAZA [ts Cla	RDS	Dther:
Assembly Govt Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria	Office Resid	ANCY e dential ol	SC Numbe 0 – 10 101-100 BA	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S	rsons – 100 00+	A E Hard Av Rock Ro	C g. Dense ck Soil	TYPE D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Pool Soil Soil	r S	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys	ALLING Parape	HAZA [ts Cla	RDS	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE	Office Resid I Scho	ANCY e dential ol W2	SC Numbe 0 – 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF)	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S S2 (BR)	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM)	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW)	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF)	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF)	E F Soft Pool Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW)	S C3 (URM	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B PC1 INF) (TU)	ALLING Parape PC2	HAZA [ts Cla RM1 (FD)	RDS	Other:
Assembly Govt Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score	Office Resid I Scho W1	ANCY e dential ol W2	SC Numbe 0 – 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S (BR) 3 0	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM)	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8	T G C C Soil C Soil C S (URM INF) 2 0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2 5	E F Soft Pool Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8	S C3 (URM	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) C 2 6	ALLING Parape PC2	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2 8	RDS	URM
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories)	Office Resid Il Scho W1 4.4 N/A	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4	T 5 C 5 C 5 C 5 S 6 C 8 Soil 8 S (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4	E F Soft Pool Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4	S (URM 1.6 +0.	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) B 2.6 2 N/A	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4	RDS ddding (RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4	URM 1.8 0.0
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories)	OCCUP. Office Resid I Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6	E F Soft Pool Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8	S C3 (URM 1.0 +0. +0.	Jurreinforced Chimneys BINF) (TU) C 2.6 2 N/A 3 N/A	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4	HAZA [ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6	URM 0.0 N/A
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity	OCCUP, Office Resid I Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0	SC Numbe 0 – 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A	A Av Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (Rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND F (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5	E F Soft Pool Soil Soil SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	S C3 (URM +0. +0. -1.	Jurreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (NF) (TU) C 2.6 N/A 3 N/A D N/A	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0
Assembly Govt Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1 0	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S 2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5	A Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	T G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C	TYPE D Stiff Soil C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5	E F Soft Poo Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	C3 (URM +0. +0. -1.1 -0.3	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys PC1 (TU) C 2 N/A 3 N/A 0 N/A 5 -0.5 2 -0.8	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -10	RDS 	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark	OCCUP/ Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A	A Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6	T G G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4	E F Soil Poo Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	C33 (URM +0. +1.(-0) -0) -0) N//	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B INF) (TU) C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A	HAZA [ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C	OCCUP/ Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4	A Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4	T Dense ck Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4	E F Soft Poo Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4	S C3 (URM +0. -1.(-0., -0., .0., .0., .0., .0., .0., .0.,	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) C 2.6 2 N/A 3 N/A 0 N/A 5 -0.5 2 -0.8 A +2.4 4 -0.4	Parape Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4	HAZA [ts Clatent (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4	Dther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D	CCUPA Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0	ANCY edential ol W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S 82 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (Rc sw) - 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 - -0.4 -	T G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Type D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 +1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6	E Foo Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6	r S CC (URM +0. +0. -1.(-0., -0., -0., -0., -0.	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys 3 PC1 (TU) 5 2.6 2 N/A 3 N/A 5 -0.5 2 -0.8 A +2.4 4 -0.4 4 -0.6	Parape Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6	HAZA [ts Clat (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E	OCCUPA Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 -0.0 +2.4 -0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY edential ol W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA 90.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 0 100 SIC S 2 (BR) +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.2	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Rock Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	T g. Dense Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.2 N/A	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.2 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soil Poo Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 -0.6 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 -0.8	S (URM +0. +1. -0 -0 -0 -0 -0	PC1 Jureinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) 2 A -0.5 2 -0.5 2 -0.8 A +2.4 4 -0.6 3 -0.4	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ts Cla (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6	Dther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.6 -0.8
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S	OCCUPA Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 100 100 SIC S 2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	YPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S C3 (URM +0. +0. -1. -0. -0. -0. -0. -0. -0.	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B INF) PC1 (TU) C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ts Cla (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6	Dther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	OCCUPA Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 -0.0 +2.4 -0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY edential ol W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA 101-100 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 100 SIC S 2 (BR) +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	rsons – 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI \$4 (Rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND F (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	YPE D Stiff Soil TINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	E Foo Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S C:2 (URM +0. +0. -1.1. -0 -0 -0 -0 -0	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys BINF) PC1 (TU) C 2. N/A C N/A	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.6 -1.2	HAZA [ts Clat (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 Deta	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 ailed
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type C Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	OCCUPA Office Resic Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY edential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA 101-100 BA +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 100 100 SIC S 2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	T G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C	YPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S C:3 (URM +0. -1. -0. -0. -0. -0. -0. -0.	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B INF) PC1 (TU) C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ALLING Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ts Cla Cla (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6	Dther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 ailled iation
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	OCCUP/ Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA 51 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S 2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.2	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2 -1.2	T G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C	YPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S CCC (URM 1.0 +0. -1.1 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) C 2.6 2 N/A 3 N/A 0 N/A 5 -0.5 2 -0.8 A +2.4 4 -0.4 4 -0.6 3 -0.4	Parape Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 Deta Regular Regular Regular Regular RD2 -0.4 -0.6 -0.	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 ailed uation uired
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	OCCUPA Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY e dential ol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 100 100 SIC S 2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	T G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C	YPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S C:2 (URM +0. +0. -1. -0. -0. -0. -0. -0.	F/ Jnreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) C 2.6 2 N/A 3 N/A 0 N/A 5 -0.5 2 -0.8 A +2.4 4 -0.6 3 -0.4	Parape Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS idding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 Evalu Requ	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.6 -0.8 ailed uired
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	OCCUP/ Office Resid Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	ANCY edential ol W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8	SC Numbe 0 - 10 101-100 BA 51 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 SIC S 2 (BR) -0.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	rsons - 100 00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A E Hard Av Rock Ro MODIFIEI S4 (rcc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	YPE D Stiff Soil C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	E Foo Soil Soil SCORE, 22 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S CC3 (URM +0. +0. -1. -0. -0. -0. -0. -0.	F/ Unreinforced Chimneys B PC1 (TU) C 2.6 2 N/A 3 N/A 0 N/A 5 -0.5 2 -0.8 A +2.4 4 -0.4 4 -0.6 3 -0.4	Parape Parape PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	HAZA [ts Clat (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 Ueta Requ Requ YES	Dther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.6 -0.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 ailed uired NO

Figure 5-2 High seismicity Data Collection Form selected for Anyplace, USA.

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards (FEMA 154)

Quick Reference Guide (for use with Data Collection Form)

1. Model Building Ty and Enforcement D	pes and Critical Code Adoption Dates		Year Seismic Code	s Benchmark Year when		
Structural Types			and Enforced*	Codes Improved		
W1 Light wood f	frame, residential or commercial, \leq 500	0 square fee	t <u>1933</u>	1976		
W2 Wood frame	e buildings, > 5000 square feet.		<u> 1933</u>	1976		
S1 Steel mome	nt-resisting frame		1 <u>933</u>	1994		
S2 Steel braced	d frame		<u>1941</u>	1988		
S3 Light metal	frame		<u>1941</u>	None		
S4 Steel frame	with cast-in-place concrete shear walls	5	<u>1941</u>	<u>1976</u>		
S5 Steel frame	with unreinforced masonry infill		<u>1933</u>	None		
C1 Concrete m	oment-resisting frame		<u>1933</u>	1976		
C2 Concrete sh	ear wall		<u>1941</u> 1000	<u>1976</u>		
C3 Concrete fra	ame with unreinforced masonry infill		1933	None		
PC1 Filt-up consi			1973	<u>1997</u>		
PC2 Precast con	crete trame		<u>1941</u>	NONE		
RM1 Reinforced	masonry with rigid disphrages	onragins	1022	$\frac{1997}{1076}$		
LIRM Linreinforce	d masonry bearing wall buildings		1022	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$		
*Not applicable in regions of	of low seismicity		<u>1-)->-></u>	19/24		
2. Anchorage of Heavy Year in which seismic a	y Cladding nchorage requirements were adopted:		1967			
3. Occupancy Loads						
Use	<u>Square Feet, Per Person</u>	<u>Use</u>	Square	Feet, Per Person		
Assembly	varies, 10 minimum	Industr	ial	200-500		
Commercial	50-200	Office	9	100-200		
Emergency Services	100 100-200	Resider	tial 100-300			
Coveniment	100 200	001100	51	00 100		
4. Score Modifier Def	initions					
Mid-Rise:	4 to 7 stories					
High-Rise:	8 or more stories					
Vertical Irregularity:	Steps in elevation view; inclined walls; building on hill; soft story (e.g., house over garage); building with short columns; unbraced cripple walls.					
Plan Irregularity	<i>n Irregularity</i> Buildings with re-entrant corners (L, T, U, E, + or other irregular building plan); buildings with good lateral resistance in one direction but not in the other direction; eccentric stiffness in plan, (e.g. corner building, or wedge-shaped building, with one or two solid walls and all other walls open).					
Pre-Code:	Building designed and constructed prior to the year in which seismic codes were first adopted and enforced in the jurisdiction; use years specified above in Item 1; default is 1941, except for PC1, which is 1973.					
Post-Benchmark:	Building designed and constructed after significant improvements in seismic code requirements (e.g., ductile detailing) were adopted and enforced; the benchmark year when codes improved may be different for each building type and jurisdiction; use years specified above in Item 1 (see Table 2-2 of FEMA 154 <i>Handbook</i> for additional information).					
Soil Type C:	Soft rock or very dense soil; S-wave undrained shear strength > 2000 psf.	velocity: 1200	0 – 2500 ft/s; blow cou	unt > 50; or		
Soil Type D:	Stiff soil; S-wave velocity: 600 – 1200 1000 – 2000 psf.	ft/s; blow co	unt: 15 – 50; or undra	ined shear strength:		
Soil Type E:	1000 - 2000 psf.E:Soft soil; S-wave velocity < 600 ft/s; or more than 100 ft of soil with plasticity index > 20, water content > 40%, and undrained shear strength < 500 psf.					

Figure 5-3 Quick Reference Guide for Anyplace USA showing entries for years in which seismic codes were first adopted and enforced and benchmark years.



Figure 5-4 Property information at example site in city's geographic information system.

use in the GIS, the street addresses were subdivided into the following fields: the numeric part of the address; the street prefix (for example, "North"); the street name; and the street suffix (for example, "Drive"). A zip code field was added, zip codes for each street address were obtained using zip code lists available from the US Postal Service, and these data were also added to the database. This process yielded 950 street addresses, with parcel number and zip code, andestablished the initial information in Anyplace's electronic "Building RVS Database".

Permitting files, which contained data on buildings constructed or remodeled within the last 30 years (including parcel number), were then reviewed to obtain information on building name (if available), use, building height (height in feet and number of stories), total floor area, age (year built), and structural system. This process yielded information (from paper file folders) on approximately 500 buildings. Fields were added to the Building RVS Database for each of these attributes and data were added to the appropriate records (searching on parcel number) in the database; in the case of structure type, the entry included an asterisk to denote uncertainty. If an address was missing in the database, a new record containing that address and related data was added. On average, 30 minutes per building were required to extract the correct information from

the permitting files and insert it into the electronic database.

The city's librarian provided copies of available Sanborn maps, which were reviewed to identify information on number of stories, year built, building size (square footage), building use, and limited information on structural type for approximately 200 buildings built prior to 1960. These data were added to the appropriate record (searching on address) in the Building RVS Database; in the case of structure type, the entry included an asterisk to denote uncertainty. If an address was missing in the database, a new record containing that address and related data was added. For this effort, 45 minutes per building, on average, were required to extract the correct information from the Sanborn maps and insert it into the electronic database.During the pre-field data collection and review process the RVS authority also obtained an electronic file of soils data (characterized in terms of the soil types described in Section 2.6.6) from the State Geologist and created an overlay of this information in the city's GIS system. Points defined by the addresses in the GIS reference tables (including newly identified addresses added to the references tables as a result of the abovecited efforts) were combined with the soils type overlay, and soil type was then assigned to each point (address) by a standard GIS operating

procedure. The soils type information for each address was then transferred back to the Building RVS Database table into a new field for each building's soil type.

Based on the above efforts, Anyplace's Building RVS Database was expanded to include approximately 1,000 records with address, parcel number, zip code, and soils information, and approximately 700 of these records also contained information on building name (if any), use, number of stories, total floor area, year built, and structure type.

5.6 Step 6: Review of Construction Documents



Fortuitously, the city had retained microfilm copies of building construction documents submitted with each permit filing during the last 30 years, and copies of these documents were available for 500 buildings (the same subset described in Step 5 above). Teams consisting of one building department staff member and one consulting engineer reviewed these documents to verify, or identify, the lateral-force-resisting system for each building. Any new or revised information on structure type derived as part of this process was then inserted in the Building RVS Database, in which case, previously existing information in this field, along with the associated asterisk denoting uncertainty, was removed. On average, this effort required approximately 30 minutes per plan set, including database corrections.

5.7 Step 7: Field Screening of Buildings



Immediately prior to field screening (that is, at the conclusion of Step 6 above), the RVS authority acquired an electronic template of the Data Collection Form from the web site of the Applied Technology Council (www.atcouncil.org) and used this template to create individual Data Collection Forms for each record in the Building RVS Database. Each form contained unique information in the building identification portion of the form, with "Parcel Number" shown as "Other Identifiers" information (see Figure 5-2). In those instances where structure type information was included in the database, this information was also added as "Other Identifiers" information, with an asterisk if still uncertain. Soil type information was indicated on each form by circling the appropriate letter (and brief description) in the "Soil Type" section of the form (see Figure 5-2).

The Data Collection Forms, including blank forms for use with buildings not yet in the Building RVS Database, were distributed to the RVS screeners along with their RVS assignments (on a block-by-block basis). Screeners were advised that some of the database information printed on the form (e.g., number of stories, structure type denoted with an *) would need to be verified in the field, that approximately 700 of the 1,000 Data Collection Forms had substantially complete, but not necessarily verified, information in the location portion of the form, and that all 1,000 forms had street, address, parcel number, zip code, and soil type information.

Prior to field work, each screener was reminded to complete the Data Collection Form at each site before moving on to the next site, including adding his or her name as the screener and the screening date (in the building identification section of the form).

Following are several examples illustrating rapid visual screening in the field and completion of the Data Collection Form. Some examples use forms containing relatively complete building identification information, including structure type, obtained during the pre-field data acquisition and review process (Step 5); others use forms containing less complete building identification information; and still others use blank forms completely filled in at the site.

Example 1: 3703 Roxbury Street

Upon arriving at the site the screeners observed the building as a whole (Figure 5-5) and began the process of verifying the information in the building identification portion of the form (upper right corner), starting with the street address. The building's lateral-force-resisting system (S2, steel braced frame) was verified by looking at the building with binoculars (see Figure 5-6). The number of stories (10), use (office), and year built (1986) were also confirmed by inspection. The base dimensions of the building were estimated by pacing off the distance along each face, assuming 3 feet per stride, resulting in the determination that it was 75 ft x 100 ft in plan.



Figure 5-5 Exterior view of 3703 Roxbury Street.

On this basis, the listed square footage of 76,000 square feet was verified as correct (see Figure 5-7). The screeners also added their names and the date of the field screening to the building identification portion of the form.

A sketch of the plan and elevation views of the building were drawn in the "Sketch" portion of the form.

The building use was circled in the "Occupancy" portion, and from Section 3 of the Quick Reference Guide, the occupancy load was estimated at 75,000/150 = 500. Hence, the occupancy range of 101-1000 was circled.



Close-up view of 3703 Roxbury Street Figure 5-6 exterior showing perimeter braced steel framing.

No falling hazards were observed, as glass cladding is not considered as heavy cladding.

The next step in the process was to circle the appropriate Basic Structural Hazard Score and the appropriate Score Modifiers. Having verified the lateral-force-resisting system as S2, this code was circled along with the Basic Structural Score beneath it (see Figure 5-8). Because the building is high rise (8 stories or more) this modifier was circled. Noting that the soil is type D, as already determined during the pre-field data acquisition phase and indicated in the Soil Type portion of the form, the modifier for Soil Type D was circled. By adding the column of circled numbers, a Final Score of 3.2 was determined. Because this score was greater than the cut-off score of 2.0, the building did not require a detailed evaluation by an experienced seismic design professional. Lastly, an instant camera photo of the building was attached to the form.

FEMA 154 Data Collection Form	Example 1	HIGH Seismicity
	Address: 3703 Roxb	Dury St.

Figure 5-7

Building identification portion of Data Collection Form for Example 1, 3703 Roxbury Street.


Figure 5-8 Completed Data Collection Form for Example 1, 3703 Roxbury Street.

Example 2: 3711 Roxbury Street

Upon arrival at the site, the screeners observed the building as a whole (Figure 5-9). Unlike Example 1. there was little information in the building identification portion of the form (only street address, zip code, and parcel number were provided). The screeners determined the number of stories to be 12 and the building use to be commercial and office. They paced off the building plan dimensions to estimate the plan size to be 58 feet x 50 feet. Based on this information, the total square footage was estimated to be 34,800 square feet ($12 \times 50 \times 58$), and the number of stories, use, and square footage were written on the form. Based on a review of information in Appendix D of this *Handbook*, the year of construction was estimated to be 1944 and this date was written on the form.

A sketch of the plan and elevation views of the building were drawn in the "Sketch" portion of the form.

The building use was circled in the "Occupancy" portion, and from Section 3 of the Quick Reference Guide, the occupancy load was estimated at $34,800/135^{\bullet} = 258$. Hence, the occupancy range of 101-1000 was circled.

The cornices at roof level were observed, and entered on the form.

Noting that the estimated construction date was 1944 and that it was a 12-story building, a review of the material in Table D-6 (Appendix D), indicated that the likely options for building type were S1, S2, S5, C1, C2, or C3. On more careful examination of the building exterior with the use of binoculars (see Figure 5-10), it was determined the building was type C3, and this alpha-numeric code, and accompanying Basic Structural Score, were circled on the Data Collection Form.

Because the building was high-rise (more than 7 stories), this modifier was circled, and because the four individual towers extending above the base represented a vertical irregularity, this modifier was circled. Noting that the soil is type D, as already determined during the pre-field data acquisition phase and indicated in the Soil Type portion of the form, the modifier for Soil Type D was circled.

By adding the column of circled numbers, a Final Score of 0.5 was determined. Because this score was less than the cut-off score of 2.0, the building required a detailed evaluation by an experienced seismic design professional. Lastly,

an instant camera photo of the building was attached to the Data Collection Form (a completed version of the form is provided in Figure 5-11).



Figure 5-9 Exterior view of 3711 Roxbury.



Figure 5-10 Close-up view of 3711 Roxbury Street building exterior showing infill frame construction.

[•] The "135" value is the approximate average of the mid-range occupancy load for commercial buildings (125 sq. ft. per person) and the mid-range occupancy load for office buildings (150 sq. ft. per person).

FEMA-154 Data Co	llection	Form	1		E	xam	ple :	2				HI	GHS	eism	icity
					1 1		Address	: _3	711 F	Roxbu	v S	t.			
	-				1			_A	nypla	ace		Zi	p 912	234	
Т	ower	-	TOV	ver			Other Id	entifier	s <u>Pa</u>	arcel 74	469	0270	34		
		_					No. Stor	ies	12				Year Bu	ilt <u>19</u>	44
	Open	A	oove		1		Screene	r <u>A.</u>]	ones	D.T	14.0	Y Date	2/2	8/01	
		7		-			Total Flo	or Area	a (sq. ft.)	34,	800)			
-	ower		TO	Ner			Building	Name	Barraro (B			<u> </u>	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	-	
,							Use	Co	mme	ercial	ina	011	ices	4001	10
PLO	an G	021	nd f	floor						T					
														and all all all a	
		Щ							11		Ĥ				
	-		,	-	1				11	111	1		11	1	
Scale:	tle	vat	ion		do constante				11	Carlo Ba	T	1	100		
(DCCUP	ANCY	S	OIL			1	XRE			F/	LLING	HAZAF	RDS	
Assembly Govt	6.	5	Numb	per of Per	rsons - 100	A B Hard Ave	C Dense	D Stiff	E F Soft Po		forced	Parapet			X
Commercial Historic	Resid	ential	11 - 111					0.11	Soil So	oil Chimr	neys	raiapei	s cia	Corn	ices
Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria	Resid al Schoo	lential bl	101-10	00 100	+00	Rock Ro	ck Soil	SOI	20522 1122					-011.	_
Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria	Resid al Schoo	lential bl	101-10 B		00+ CORE,	Rock Ro	RS, AND I	INAL	SCORE	, s					
Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria BUILDING TYPE	Resid al Schoo	Vential	101-10 B/ S1 (MRF)	00 100 ASIC S S2 (BR)	CORE, S3 (LM)	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW)	CK Soil CS, AND I S5 (URM INF)	EINAL C1 (MRF)	SCORE C2 (SW)	, S (URM INF)	PC1 (TU)	PC2	RM1 (FD)	RM2 (RD)	URM
Commercial Emer. Services Historic BUILDING TYPE Basic Score	W1 4.4	W2	0-10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8	ck Soil RS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0	C1 (MRF) 2.5	SCORE C2 (SW) 2.8	, S (URM INF) 1.6	PC1 (TU) 2.6	PC2 2.4	RM1 (FD) 2.8	RM2 (RD) 2.8	URM 1.8
Commercial Emer. Services Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories)	W1 4.4 N/A	W2 3.8 N/A	0-101 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2	ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A	Rock Ro MODIFIEF \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4	ck Soil RS, AND I S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4	EINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4	SCORE C2 (SW) 2.8 +0.4	, S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A	PC2 2.4 +0.2	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4	URM 1.8 0.0
Commercial Emer. Services Historic BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories)	W1 4.4 N/A N/A	W2 3.8 N/A N/A	101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6	ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8	ck Soil SS, AND I SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6	SCORE (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8	, S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A
Commercial Emer. Services Historic BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity	W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5	W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0	101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	ck Soil (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5	SCORE C2 (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0
BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity	W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5	W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5	101-10 101-10 81 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 1.0	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 0.9	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0.5 0.6	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 0.9	ck Soil (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.5	EINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 4.2	SCORE (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 1.0	, S (URM INF) 1.6 +02 +03 -0.5 0.5	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A -0.5	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark	W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	101-10 101-10 B S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A	Rock Ro MODIFIEF \$4 (Rc SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6	ck Soil S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4	SCORE (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A
Commercial Historic Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Prost-Benchmark Soil Type C	W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	101-10 101-10 B (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4	ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6	ck Soil S5 Old S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4	SCORE C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4	S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8	101-10 101-10 B (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6	ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6	ck Soil RS, AND I S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6	SCORE C2 (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6	S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	w2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8	2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ck Soil S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	Soll C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	SCORE (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S (URM INF) 1.6 +02 +03 -10 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE. S	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0	w2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8	101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-1	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	00+ CORE, 33 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ck Soil S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	SCORE (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	, S (IRM INF) 1.6 +02 +03 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A N/A -20 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8	101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-1	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	00+ CORE, 33 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	Rock Ro MODIFIEF S4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ck Soil S5 (URM INF) 20 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	SCORE C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S (IRM INF) 1.6 +02 +03 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 O.5	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.6 -0.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 Deta	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 iiled
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	Unice Control Resid 8 W1 4.4 N/A V/A -0.5 -0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8	101-10 101-10 B 101-10 B 102 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ASIC S S2 (BR) -0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	00+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	Rock Ro MODIFIEF (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ck Soil S5 (URM INF) 20 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	ENAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	SCORE (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	S (IRM INF) 1.6 +02 +03 -10 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 0.5	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 Deta Evalu Requ	URM 1.8 00 N/A -1.0 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 illed ation iired
Commercial Emer. Services Historic Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type E FINAL SCORE, S COMMENTS	Unice Resid Resid 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8	101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-10 101-1	ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	00+ CORE, 33 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	Rock Ro MODIFIEF \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ck Soil S5 (URM INF) 20 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	Enval C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	SCORE C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	, S (IRM INF) 1.6 +02 +03 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 0.5	PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 Deta Evalu Requ YES	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 iiled ation iired NO

Figure 5-11 Completed Data Collection Form for Example 2, 3711 Roxbury Street.

Example 3: 5020 Ebony Drive

Example 3 was a high-rise residential building (Figure 5-12) in a new part of the city in which new development had begun within the last few years. The building was not included in the electronic Building RVS Database, and consequently there was not a partially prepared Data Collection Form for this building. Based on visual inspection, the screeners determined that the building had 22 stories, including a tall-story penthouse, estimated that it was designed in 1996, and concluded that its use was both commercial (in the first story) and residential in the upper stories. The screeners paced off the building plan dimensions to estimate the plan size to be approximately 270 feet x 180 feet. Based on this information and considering the symmetric but non-rectangular floor plan, the total square footage was estimated to be 712.800 square feet. These data were written on the form, along with the names of the screeners and the date of the screening. The screeners also drew a sketch of a portion of the plan view of the building in the space on the form allocated for a "Sketch".

The building use (commercial and residential) was circled in the "Occupancy" portion, and from Section 3 of the Quick Reference Guide, the occupancy load was estimated at 712,800/200 = 3,564. Based on this information, the occupancy range of 1000+ was circled.

While the screeners reasonably could have assumed a type D soil, which was the condition at the adjacent site approximately $\frac{1}{2}$ mile away, they concluded they had no basis for assigning a soil type. Hence they followed the instructions in the *Handbook* (Section 3.4), which specifies that if there is no basis for assigning a soil type, soil type E should be assumed. Accordingly, this soil type was circled on the form.

Given the design date of 1996, the anchorage for the heavy cladding on the exterior of the building was assumed to have been designed to meet the anchorage requirements initially adopted in 1967 (per the information on the Quick Reference Guide). No other falling hazards were observed.

The window spacing in the upper stories and the column spacing at the first floor level indicated the building was either a steel moment-frame building, or a concrete moment-frame building. The screeners attempted to view the interior but were not provided with permission to do so. They elected to indicate that the building was either an S1 or C1 type on the Data Collection Form and



Figure 5-12 Exterior view of 5020 Ebony Drive.

circled both types, along with their Basic Structural Scores. In addition, the screeners circled the modifiers for high rise (8 stories or more) and post-benchmark year, given that the estimated design date (1996) occurred after the benchmark years for both S1 and C1 building types (per the information on the Quick Reference Guide). They also circled the modifier for soil type E (in both the S1 and C1 columns).

By adding the circled numbers in both the S1 and C1 columns, Final Scores of 3.6 and 3.3 respectively were determined for the two building types. Because both scores were greater than the cut-off score of 2.0, a detailed evaluation of the building by an experienced seismic design professional was not required. Before leaving the site, the screeners photographed the building and attached the photo to the Data Collection Form. A completed version of the Data Collection Form is provided in Figure 5-13.



Figure 5-13 Completed Data Collection Form for Example 3, 5020 Ebony Drive.



Figure 5-14 Exterior view of 1450 Addison Avenue.

Example 4: 1450 Addison Avenue

The building at 1450 Addison Avenue (see Figure 5-14) was a 1-story commercial building designed in 1990, per the information provided in the building identification portion of the Data Collection Form. By inspection the screeners confirmed the address, number of stories, use (commercial), and year built (Figure 5-15). The screeners paced off the building plan dimensions to estimate the plan size (estimated to be 10,125 square feet), confirming the square footage shown on the identification portion of the form. The L-shaped building was drawn on the form, along with the dimensions of the various legs.

The building's commercial use was circled in the "Occupancy" portion, and from Section 3 of the Quick Reference Guide, the occupancy load was estimated at 10,200/125 = 80. Hence, the occupancy range of 11-100 was circled. No falling hazards were observed.

The building type (W2) was circled on the form along with its Basic Structural Score. Because the building was L-shaped in plan the modifier for plan irregularity was circled. Because soil type C had been circled in the Soil Type box (based on the information in the Building RVS Database) the modifier for soil type C was circled.

By adding the column of circled numbers, a Final Score of 5.3 was determined. Because this score was greater than the cut-off score of 2.0, the building did not require a detailed evaluation by an experienced seismic design professional. Lastly, an instant camera photo of the building was attached to the Data Collection Form. A completed version of the form is provided in Figure 5-16.



Figure 5-15 Building identification portion of Data Collection Form for Example 4, 1450 Addison Avenue.

	necuo	n Form			Ŀ	xam	ple 4	4				HIC	SH S	seisn	nicity
	-70	PA -		42	5 A		Address: Other Ide No. Storie Screener, Total Floo Building I Use	A ntifiers es A or Area Name COM	450 / nypla sP 1 ones. a (sq. ft.)	Addiso ace Parcel /D. T 10, xial	on A 162 aylc 200	venu€ Zip 87654 Y ∑Y Date	9 9 9 9 1 9 9 1 9 9 1 9 9 1 9 9 1 9 1 9	230 8 .iit <u>19</u> .s/0	1 <u>90</u> 1
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services Assembly Commercial Emer. Services Assembly Commercial Emer. Services Commercial Emer. Services Commercial Commer											Pure I				
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer. Services Industria	Offi Res al Sch	PANCY ce sidential	Numt 0 – 10 101-10	OIL per of Per 00 11	- 100	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc	J. (Dense Soil)	YPE D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Por Soil So	or Unrei	F/	ALLING H	IAZAI Clai	RDS	Other:
Scale: Assembly Govt Commercial Historic Emer. Gervices Industria	Offi Res al Sch	PANCY ce sidential iool	Si Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/	OIL xer of Per 00 11 NO ASIC S	CORE,	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc	C Dense Soil RS, AND F	YPE D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE,	or Unrei II Chin	F/ inforced ineys		IAZAI Clad	RDS dding	Other:
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE	Offii Res al Sch	PANCY ce sidential lool	Si 0 – 10 101-10 Bi S1 (MRF)	OIL xer of Per 00 Tox ASIC S S2 (BR)	CORE, S3 (LM)	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER S4 (RC SW)	C Dense Soil Soil SS, AND F S5 (URM INF)	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL (MRF)	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (SW)	or Unrei Chin S (URM INF)	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU)	ALLING H Parapets PC2	IAZAI Clac RM1 (FD)	RDS dding RM2 (RD)	Other:
Scale: Assembly Govt Commercial Historic Emer. Services Industria BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 charics)	Offin Res al Sch W1 4.4	PANCY ce sidential col W2 (3.8)	Si Numb 0 - 10 101-10 BJ S1 (MRF) 2.8	OIL xer of Period 00 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0	SONS - 100 0+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER S4 (RC SW) 2.8	C Dense Soil CS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL (MRF) 2.5	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (SW) 2.8	or Unrei Chin S (URM INF)	F/ inforced ineys PC1 (TU) 2.6	Parapets PC2 2.4	IAZAI Clac RM1 (FD) 2.8	RM2 (RD) 2.8	URM
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories)	W1 A.4 N/A N/A	PANCY ce sidential lool W2 (3.8) N/A	S(Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6	OIL xer of Per 00 00 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8	100 → 100 → + CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (Rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8	C Dense Soil Soil SS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8	Dr Unrei Chim S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3	F/ Inforced inneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A	Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4	IAZAI Clac RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A	RDS dding (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6	URM 0.0 1.8 0.0 N/A
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity	W1 A.4 N/A -2.5	ANCY ce isidential isool wz wz xz N/A -20	S(Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0	OIL xer of Per 00 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5	5005 - 100 0+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	C Dense Soll Soll SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0	20 10 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	F/ inforced ineys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A	ALLING F Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0
Scale: Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity	Offii Res al Sch W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5	2ANCY Ce idential iool W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5	SI 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5	OIL xer of Per 00 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5	Sons - 100 0+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5	C Dense Soll Soll SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5	РС1 (ти) 2.6 N/А N/А N/А -0.5	ALLING F Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5	IAZAI Clac RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5	URM 0.0 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer. Gervices BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code	Offii Res al Sch W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0	ANCY Ce idential iool W2 3.8 W/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0	SI Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	OIL xer of Per 00 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8	SONS - 100 30+ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	C C C Soll Soll Soll SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2	E F Soft Poc Soil Soil SCORE, (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	T il C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 -0.2	FA inforced ineys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8	ALLING F Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2
Scale: Commercial Emer. Gervices BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark	Offin Resal Sch W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4	Vancy Ce idential iool W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -1.0 -1.0 -2.4	Si Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4	OIL xer of Pen 11 00 ASIC S (BR) 40.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 +1.4	CORE, - 100 0+ CORE, 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (RC \$W) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6	C Dense Soil Soil SS, AND F SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL 5 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4	E F Soft Poc Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	or il Can Unrei Chin S C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A N/A	F/ Inforced Inneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4	ALLING F Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A	RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6	URM 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer-Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C	Offin Resal Sch W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0	XANCY Ce idential ide	Si Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4	OIL xer of Pen 00 11 00 10 ASIC S 20 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 +1.4 -0.4 +1.4 -0.4	CORE, - 100 0+ CORE, 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4	C Dense Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL 5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 +0.4 -0.5	E F Soft Poc Soil Soil SCORE, 28 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4	or Unrei Chiri Ciri	F/ inforced inneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4	ALLING H Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4	IAZAI Clac (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -2.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4	URM 0.0 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer-Services BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Scil Type D	W1 4.4 N/A -0.5 -0.5 0.0 0.0	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	Si Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B/ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	OIL xer of Pen 00 11 00 10 ASIC S 22 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	CORE, - 100 0+ CORE, 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (Rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 4.0	C Dense Soil Soil Soil SS, AND F S5 (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	E F Soft Poc Soil Soil SCORE, 28 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.5	Dr Unrei il Chin S (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	FA Inforced ineys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A 0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4	ALLING H Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 1.2	IAZAF Clar (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	URM 0ther: 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4
Scale: Assembly Commercial Emer. Gervices BUILDING TYPE Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 stories) High Rise (> 7 stories) Vertical Irregularity Plan irregularity Plan irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E	Offin Res Sch W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	2ANCY Ce idential idential ool V2 3.8 N/A -20 -10 +24 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8	Si Numb 0 - 10 101-10 BJ S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	OIL xer of Per 11. 00 ASIC S 2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	SONS - 100 00∓ CORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A B Hard Avg Rock Roc MODIFIER \$4 (RC SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	C Dense Soil Soil C C Dense Soil Soil SS (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	YPE D Stiff Soil INAL 25 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Solf Poc Sol Sol Sol Sol SCORE, (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	F/ Inforced inneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	LLING H Parapets PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	IAZAR [Clac RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6	URM 0.0 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8

Figure 5-16 Completed Data Collection Form for Example 4, 1450 Addison Avenue. 5.8 Step 8: Transferring the RVS Field Data to the Electronic Building RVS Database



The last step in the implementation of rapid visual screening for Anyplace USA was transferring the information on the RVS Data Collection Forms into the relational electronic Building RVS Database. This required that all photos and sketches on the forms be scanned and numbered (for reference purposes), and that additional fields (and tables) be added to the database for those attributes not originally included in the database.

For quality control purposes, data were entered separately into two different versions of the electronic database, except photographs and sketches, which were scanned only once. A double-entry data verification process was then used, whereby the data from one database were compared to the same entries in the second database to identify those entries that were not exactly the same. Non-identical entries were examined and corrected as necessary. The entire process, including scanning of sketches and photographs, required approximately 45 minutes per Data Collection Form.

After the electronic Building RVS Database was verified, it was imported into the city's GIS, thereby providing Anyplace with a state-of-the-art capability to identify and plot building groups based on any set of criteria desired by the city's policy makers. Photographs and sketches of individual buildings could also be shown in the GIS simply by clicking on the dot or symbol used to represent each building and selecting the desired image.

Maps Showing Seismicity Regions



Figure A-1 Seismicity Regions of the Conterminous United States.



Figure A-2 Seismicity Regions in California, Idaho, Nevada, Oregon, and Washington.



Figure A-3 Seismicity Regions in Arizona, Montana, Utah, and Wyoming.



Figure A-4 Seismicity Regions in Colorado, Kansas, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Texas.



Figure A-5 Seismicity Regions in Iowa, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Wisconsin.









Figure A-8 Seismicity Regions in Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, Rhode Island, and Vermont.





Figure A-10 Seismicity Regions in Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, and South Carolina.



Figure A-11 Seismicity Regions in Alaska and Hawaii.

Appendix B

Data Collection Forms and Quick Reference Guide

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards

FEMA-154 Data Collection Form

LOW Seismicity

	T				Ī			Address	:							
													Zip)		
								Other Ide	entifier	S						
								No. Stor	ies	-			Ŷ	ear Bi	uilt	
								Screene	r				Date .	04. 20		
								Total Flo	or Are	a (sq. ft.)						
								Building	Name	u (oq)						
								Use	maine							
								000								
	·····															
											DUOT					
											PHOT	OGRAF	Ή			
Scale:																
	0	CCUP	PANCY	S	DIL			T	ГҮРЕ			FA	LLING H	IAZAI	RDS	
Assembly	O Govt	Offic	PANCY	S(Numb	DIL er of Pe	rsons	A B	T C	TYPE D	EF		FA			RDS	
Assembly Commercial	O Govt Historic	Offic Resi	PANCY ce idential	S(Numb 0 – 10	DIL er of Pe 11	rsons – 100	A B Hard Av	J C g. Dense	D Stiff	E F Soft Poor	Unre	FA	ALLING H	HAZAI	RDS	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services	O Govt Historic Industrial	Offic Resi	PANCY ce idential col	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100	rsons – 100 00+	A B Hard Av Rock Ro	T C g. Dense ck Soil	D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil	Unre Chir	FA inforced nneys	ALLING H	IAZAI [Cla	RDS	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services	O Govt Historic Industrial	Offic Resi	PANCY ce idential pol	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B/	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE	A B Hard Ave Rock Ro	T G C g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND	TYPE D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil	Unre Chir	FA] inforced nneys	ALLING H Parapets	IAZAI [Cla	RDS dding	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING 1	O Govt Historic Industrial	Offic Resi Scho W1	PANCY ce idential col W2	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B/ S1 (MRF)	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S S2 (BR)	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM)	A B Hard Avy Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW)	T G. C G. Dense ck Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF)	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF)	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (SW) (Unre Chir C3 URM INF)	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU)	ALLING H Parapets PC2	HAZAI Clar RM1 (FD)	RDS dding RM2 (RD)	Other: URM
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING 1 Basic Score	Govt Historic Industrial	Offic Resi Scho W1	PANCY ee idential bol W2 6.0	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 S1 (MRF) 4.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S S2 (BR) 4.8	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE (RC SW) 4.8	T Dense C Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (SW) (4.8	Unre Chir C3 URM INF) 4.4	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6	HAZAI Clar RM1 (FD) 4.8	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6	Other: URM 4.6
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING 1 Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7	O Govt Historic Industrial	Offic Resi Scho W1 7.4 N/A	PANCY ce idential cool W2 6.0 N/A	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B/ S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S 82 (BR) 4.8 +0.4	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A	A B Hard Ave Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4	E F Soit Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A	Pc2 4.6 -0.2	HAZAI Clar RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2	Other: URM 4.6 -0.6
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories)	Offic Resi Scho W1 7.4 N/A	PANCY idential pool W2 6.0 N/A N/A	S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S S2 (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A	A B Hard Avy Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0	T S C S C Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (SW) (4.8 -0.2 0.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4	FA inforced nneys PC1 (τυ) 4.4 N/A	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2	HAZAI Clar RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregulari Blan Irregulari	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories)	CCUP Offic Resi I Scho W1 7.4 N/A N/A -4.0 0 9	PANCY ce idential pol W2 6.0 N/A N/A N/A -3.0 0 0	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B/ MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 0 8	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 0 9	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 0 8	T G. C G. Dense ck Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 0.8	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 0 8	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 0.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 0.8	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 0 8	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 0.0	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 0 8
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING 1 Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularity Plan Irregularity Pre-Code	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) ty	CCUP Offic Resi I Scho V1 7.4 N/A N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A	ANCY idential bol W2 6.0 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.8 N/A	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B/ MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A	T C Dense C Soil RS, AND RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 -0.8 N/A	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregularity Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty	CCUP Offic Resi I Scho W1 7.4 N/A N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0	PANCY ce idential bol W2 6.0 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B, S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A	A B Hard Ave Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6	The section of the se	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (SW) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A	FA inforced nneys PC1 (τυ) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregularity Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) ty	CCUP Offic Resi Scho W1 7.4 N/A N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4	PANCY 2e idential bol W2 6.0 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B/ S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S 82 (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A -0.8 N/A N/A -0.8 N/A -0.4	A B Hard Ave Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4	The sector of th	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.6	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A	FA inforced nneys PC1 (ти) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.2	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregulari Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) ty	CCUP Offic Resi Scho W1 7.4 N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4 -1.0	PANCY ce idential bol W2 6.0 N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B/ MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8 -1.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.2	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -1.0	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.4	T C C C Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.6 -1.4	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.2 -1.0	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2 -0.8	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) ty	CCUP Offic Resi I Scho 7.4 N/A N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4 -1.0 -1.8	Water idential bol W2 6.0 N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8 -1.4 -2.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.2 -2.0	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -1.0 -2.0	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.4 -2.2	T g. Dense ck Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -1.4 -2.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.8 -0.8 -2.0	PC1 (ru) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.8	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.2 -1.0 -2.0	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4	RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2 -0.8 -1.6	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOF	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) ty	CCUP Offic Resi Scho W1 7.4 N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4 -1.0 -1.8	PANCY 2e idential pol W2 6.0 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B, S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8 -1.4 -2.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.2 -2.0	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -1.0 -2.0	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE \$4 (RC sw) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.4 -2.2	The sector of th	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.6 -1.4 -2.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.8	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.2 -1.0 -2.0	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4	RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2 -0.8 -1.6	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregulari Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOF	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) by RE, S	CCUP Offic Resi Scho W1 7.4 N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4 -1.0 -1.8	PANCY ce idential bol W2 6.0 N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	S(Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8 -1.4 -2.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.2 -2.0	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -1.0 -2.0	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.4 -2.2	T G. C G. Dense ck Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.6 -1.4 -2.0	E F Soit Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.8	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.2 -1.0 -2.0	IAZAI Clar (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2 -0.8 -1.6	Other: URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregulari Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOF COMMENTS	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) bries) ty	CCUP Offic Resi Scho 7.4 N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4 -1.0 -1.8	PANCY ce idential pol W2 6.0 N/A -0.8 N/A -0.8 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	S(Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B, S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8 -1.4 -2.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.2 -2.0	rsons - 100 00+ SCORE 33 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A -0.8 N/A N/A -0.8 N/A -0.4 -1.0 -2.0	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.4 -2.2	T G. C G. Dense Ck Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.6 -1.4 -2.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.8 -0.8 -2.0	FA inforced nneys PC1 (TU) 4.4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.8	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.2 -1.0 -2.0	IAZAI Clar RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2 -0.8 -1.6 Det Eval Req	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4 ailed uation uired
Assembly Commercial Erner. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 High Rise (>7 str Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOF COMMENTS	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty	CCUP Offic Resi I Scho 7.4 N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A -4.0 -0.8 N/A 0.0 -0.4 -1.0 -1.8	PANCY idential bol W2 6.0 N/A -3.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	St Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B, S1 (MRF) 4.6 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.8 -1.4 -2.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 100 ASIC S (BR) 4.8 +0.4 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.2 -2.0	rsons - 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 4.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -1.0 -2.0	A B Hard Av, Rock Ro , MODIFIE \$4 (RC SW) 4.8 +0.2 +1.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -0.4 -1.4 -2.2	T G. C Soil RS, AND S5 (URM INF) 5.0 -0.2 +1.2 -2.0 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL (MRF) 4.4 +0.4 +1.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.6 -1.4 -2.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, S C2 (sw) (4.8 -0.2 0.0 -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -2.0	C3 URM INF) 4.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -2.0	FA inforced nneys PC1 (ru) 4.4 N/A N/A -0.8 -0.4 -0.8 -1.8	ALLING H Parapets PC2 4.6 -0.2 -0.2 -1.5 -0.8 N/A N/A -0.2 -1.0 -2.0	RM1 (FD) 4.8 -0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.8 N/A +0.2 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4	RM2 (RD) 4.6 -0.2 0.0 -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.2 -0.8 -1.6 Det Eval Req YES	URM 4.6 -0.6 N/A -1.5 -0.8 N/A +0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.4 ailed uation uired NO

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards

FEMA-154 Data Collection Form

MODERATE Seismicity

								Address	:							
													Zip			
								Other Id	entifier:	s						
								No. Stor	ies				Y Data	ear Bu	ilt	
								Total Flo	r oor Are:	a (sraft)			_ Date _			
								Building	Name	u (39. n.) _						
								Use								
											PHOT	OGRAF	Ъ			
Scale:																
oodio.								-								
					<u></u>			<u> </u>			-					
Accombly	O	CCUP	ANCY	SC			Δ Ε		TYPE	FF		FA		IAZAF	RDS	
Assembly Commercial	O Govt Historic	CCUP/ Office Resid	ANCY e dential	SC Numb 0 – 10	DIL er of Pe 11	rsons – 100	A E Hard Av	3 C g. Dense	D Stiff	E F Soft Poor	Unrei	FA] nforced		IAZAF Clac	RDS	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services	O Govt Historic Industrial	Office Resic Scho	ANCY e dential ol	SC Numb 0 – 10 101-100	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10	rsons – 100 00+	A E Hard Av Rock Ro	B C g. Dense ick Soil	D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil	Unrei Chim	FA] nforced nneys	ALLING H	IAZAF Clac	RDS	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services	O Govt Historic Industrial	Office Resic Scho	ANCY e dential ol	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE	A E Hard Av Rock Rc MODIFIE	B C g. Dense ck Soil	D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil	Unrei Chim	FA] nforced ineys	ALLING H Parapets		RDS Iding	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T	Govt Historic Industrial	CCUP Office Resic Schoo	ANCY e dential ol W2	SC Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF)	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC S2 (BR)	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM)	A E Hard Av Rock Rc E, MODIFIE S4 (RC SW)	B C g. Dense ick Soil ERS, AND S5 (URM INF)	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF)	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (Unrei Chim S C3 URM INF)	FA nforced nneys PC1 (TU)	Parapets PC2	HAZAF Clac Clac RM1 (FD)	RDS Iding RM2 (RD)	Other:
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score	O Govt Historic Industrial	CCUP/ Office Resic Scho W1 5.2	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8	S(Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8	A E Hard Av Rock Rc , MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6	3 C g. Dense ick Soil ERS, AND S5 (URM INF) 3.6	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (sw) (3.6	C3 URM INF) 3.2	FA nforced nneys PC1 (TU) 3.2	ALLING H Parapets PC2 3.2	HAZAF Clac Clac RM1 (FD) 3.6	RDS Iding RM2 (RD) 3.4	URM 3.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 st	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories)	CCUP/ Office Resic Schoo W1 5.2 N/A	ANCY edential ol W2 4.8 N/A	S(Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC : (BR) 3.6 +0.4	rsons - 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A	A E Hard Av Rock Rc , MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 3.6 +0.4	Image: 1 Image: 2	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0 +0.2	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4	Unrei Chirr S C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2	FA Inforced ineys PC1 (TU) 3.2 N/A N/A	Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6	HAZAF Clac Clac RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4	RDS Iding RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.4	URM 3.4 -0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularit	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories)	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0	DIL er of Pe 11 10 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A N/A	A E Hard Av Rock Rc , MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0	Image: Solution of the state interview of the	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0 +0.2 +0.5 -2.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0	Unrei Chim S C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0	FA nforced ineys PC1 (TU) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A	ALLING H Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5	IAZAF Clac Clac RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0	RDS Iding RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularit Plan Irregularity	O Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) cy	CCUPA Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5	SC Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5	DIL er of Pe 11 10 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5	A E Hard Av Rock Rc , MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5	S C g. Dense ck Soil ERS, AND S5 (URM INF) 3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 40.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5	C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5	FA] nforced ineys PC1 (ти) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5	Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5	RDS ding RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 st Vertical Irregularity Plan Irregularity Pre-Code	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories)	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2	SC Numb 0 – 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC : (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4	3 C g. Dense cck Soil ERS, AND 55 (URM INF) 3.6 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.2	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0 +0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4	Unrei Chirr S C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0	РС1 (тоу) 3.2 N/А N/А N/А -0.5 -0.2	Parapets Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4	RDS ding RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.4	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2	Image: style="text-align: center;">Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align:	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0 +0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SORE, C2 (sw) (3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6	Unrei Chim S C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A	FA Inforced ineys PC1 (ти) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.2 +1.8	Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0	RDS Iding RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 st Vertical Irregularity Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6	ANCY edential ol W2 4.8 N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 +1.4 -0.6 -1.0	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2	Image: style	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0 +0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0	E F Soift Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2	C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -0.6 -1.0	РС1 (тоу) 3.2 N/А N/А N/А -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0	Parapets Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8
Assembly Commercial Erner. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6 -1.2	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.8	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Solution Solution 3 C 3 C 3 Dense ERS, AND S5 (URM INF) 3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.8 -1.2 -1.6 -1.6	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 3.0 +0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil C2 (sw) (3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Unrei Chim S C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	F A Inforced ineys PC1 (ти) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	Parapets Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 st Vertical Irregularity Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOR	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty RE S	CCUPA Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6 -1.2	ANCY edential ol W2 4.8 N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.8	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -1.0 -1.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	S C g. Dense ck Soil ERS, AND S5 (URM INF) 3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.8 -1.2 -1.6 -1.6	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) +0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -1.0 -1.6	F A Inforced ineys PC1 (ти) 3.2 N/А N/А N/А N/А -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	Parapets Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.4 -0.8 -1.6
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOR COMMENTS	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) sy	CCUP/ Office Resic Schoo W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6 -1.2	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.8	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	rsons – 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 54 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Image: style="text-align: center;">Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align:	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 40.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil Soil C2 (sw) (3.6 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Unrei Chim S C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	F A Inforced ineys PC1 (ти) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	Parapets PC2 PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularit Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOR COMMENTS	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) by RE S	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6 -1.2	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.8	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	rsons - 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC sw) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Image: style	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) -0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	E F Soift Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	F/ nforced ineys PC1 (TU) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	Parapets Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2 -1.6 Det Eval	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.6 ailed uation
Assembly Commercial Emer. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOR COMMENTS	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) ty	CCUP/ Office Resic Schoo W1 5.2 N/A N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6 -1.2	ANCY dential ol W2 4.8 N/A N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.8	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	rsons - 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 54 (RC SW) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Image: style="text-align: center;">Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align: center;"/>Image: style="text-align:	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 40.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	E F Soft Poor Soil Soil SOI SOI SOI SOI SOI SOI SOI SOI SOI SOI	C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	FA Inforced ineys PC1 (ти) 3.2 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	ALLING H Parapets PC2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2 -1.6 Det Evalu Req	URM URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.8 -1.6 ailed uation uired
Assembly Commercial Erner. Services BUILDING T Basic Score Mid Rise (4 to 7 s High Rise (>7 sto Vertical Irregularit Plan Irregularity Pre-Code Post-Benchmark Soil Type C Soil Type D Soil Type E FINAL SCOR COMMENTS	Govt Historic Industrial YPE stories) ories) by RE S	CCUP/ Office Resic Schor W1 5.2 N/A -3.5 -0.5 0.0 +1.6 -0.2 -0.6 -1.2	ANCY edential ol W2 4.8 N/A -3.0 -0.5 -0.2 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.8	SC Numb 0 - 10 101-100 B S1 (MRF) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	DIL er of Pe 11 00 10 ASIC 3 (BR) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.4 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	rsons - 100 00+ SCORE S3 (LM) 3.8 N/A N/A -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	A E Hard Av Rock Rc 5, MODIFIE S4 (RC SW) 3.6 +0.4 +1.4 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.2 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	Image: style	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) -0.2 +0.5 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.2 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	E F Soift Poor Soil Soil SCORE, C2 (SW) (3.6 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 +1.6 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	C3 URM INF) 3.2 +0.2 +0.4 -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 N/A -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	F/ nforced ineys PC1 (TU) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.2 +1.8 -0.6 -1.0 -1.6	ALLING H Parapets PC2 3.2 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.6 -1.2 -1.6	RM1 (FD) 3.6 +0.4 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -0.4 2.0 -0.8 -1.2 -1.6	RM2 (RD) 3.4 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 +1.8 -0.6 -1.2 -1.6 Det: Evalu Req	URM 3.4 -0.4 N/A -1.5 -0.5 -0.4 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.8 -1.6 ailed uation uired

MRF = Moment-resisting frame RC = Reinforced concrete RD = Rigid diaphragm

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards

FEMA-154 Data Collection Form

HIGH Seismicity

		T			Ī		I			Address	:							
															Zi	ip		
										Other Id	entifier	rs						
										No. Stor	ies					Year B	uilt	
										Screene	r				_ Date _			
										Total Flo	oor Are	a (sq. ft.)						
										Building) Name							
										Use								
														TOOP				
													PHO	IUGRAF	۲H			
- Cor																		
368	iie.																	
							- ···											
			(OCCUP	PANCY	S	OIL				TYPE			F/		HAZA	RDS	_
Asse	embly	al	(Govt Historic	OCCUP Offic Resi	PANCY	S Numi	OIL ber of Pe	ersons – 100	A Hard	B C Avg. Dense	D Stiff	E F Soft Poo	pr Un					Other
Asse Com Eme	embly imercia er. Serv	al vices	Govt Historic Industria	Offic Resi al Scho	PANCY ce idential col	S Numl 0 – 10 101-10	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10	ersons – 100 00+	A Hard Rock	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil	D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi	or Uni il Ch	FA reinforced himneys	ALLING Parapet	HAZA [ts Cla	RDS	Other:
Asse Corr Eme	embly imercia er. Serv	al vices	Govt Historic Industria	Offic Offic Resi al Scho	PANCY ce idential col	S Numb 0 – 10 101-10 B	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE,	A Hard Rock	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil	TYPE D Stiff Soil	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE,	or Uni il Ch	F/ reinforced nimneys	ALLING Darapet	HAZA [ts Cla	RDS dding	Other:
Asse Com Eme	embly imercia er. Serv BUILD	al vices ING T Y	Govt Historic Industria	Offic Resi al Scho W1	PANCY ce idential pol W2	S Numb 0 – 10 101-10 Ba S1 (MRF)	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ 82 (BR)	ersons - 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM)	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil IERS, AND S5) (URM INF)	D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF)	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw)	or Uni ch S (URM INF)	FA reinforced himneys PC1 (τυ)	ALLING Parapet	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD)	RDS dding RM2 (RD)	Other: URM
Asse Com Eme	embly imercia r. Serv BUILD	al vices VING TY	Govt Historic Industria	Offic Resi al Scho W1 4.4	PANCY idential ool W2 3.8	S Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B S1 (MRF) 2.8	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC S S2 (BR) 3.0	ersons - 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw 2.8	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND S5 (URM INF) 2.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8	or Uni ch S C3 (URM INF) 1.6	FA reinforced himneys PC1 (TU) 2.6	ALLING Parapet PC2 2.4	HAZA is Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8	URM
Asse Com Eme Basic	embly mercia er. Serv BUILD : Score Rise (4	al vices ING TY e t to 7 s	(Govt Historic Industria (PE tories)	OCCUP Offic Resi al Scho W1 4.4 N/A	PANCY ce idential cool W2 3.8 N/A	S Numb 0 - 10 101-10 B S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4	ersons - 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw 2.8 +0.4	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil IERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2	FA reinforced immeys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A 	Parapet	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4	URM 1.8 0.0
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High	embly imercia r. Serv BUILD : Score Rise (4 Rise (al vices ING T ing T i to 7 s (> 7 sto	Govt Historic Industria (PE tories)	Offic Resi al Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A 2.5	PANCY ce idential ool W2 3.8 N/A N/A N/A	S Numt 0 - 10 101-10 B, S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 1.0	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 +0.4	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3	FA reinforced himneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A	ALLING Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 1.0	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A 1.0
Asse Com Eme Basic Mid F High Vertic Plan	embly imercia er. Serv BUILD Score Rise (4 Rise (Rise (cal Irregula	al vices ING T to 7 s (> 7 sto gularity arity	Govt Historic Industria (PE tories) ries)	VCCUP Offic Resi al Scho W1 4.4 N/A N/A -2.5 -0.5	PANCY ce idential pol W2 3.8 N/A N/A N/A -2.0 -0.5	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC S (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5	A Hard Rock MODIFI \$4 (Rc sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5	F4 reinforced imneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5	Parapet	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5	URM 0ther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertic Plan Pre-O	embly amercia er. Serv BUILD : Score Rise (4 Rise (cal Irregula code	al vices ING TY to 7 sto gularity arity	Govt Historic Industria /PE tories) ries)	Offic Resi al Scho W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0	PANCY xe idential ool W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B, S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ \$2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2	Clippe D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2	FA reinforced himneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8	ALLING Paraped PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0	RDS ddding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8	URM 0ther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertic Plan Pre-C	embly mercia r. Serv BUILD Score Rise (4 Rise (4 Rise (cal Irregula code Bench	al vices ING T 4 to 7 s (> 7 sto gularity arity mark	Govt Historic Industria (PE tories)	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4	PANCY ce idential pol W2 3.8 N/A N/A -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B, S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (Rc sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A	F/ reinforced imneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4	ALLING Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A	HAZA its Clat RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6	URM 0ther: URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertid Plan Pre-C Post- Soil 1	embly imercia ir. Serv BUILD Socre Rise (4 Rise (ARise (Code Bench Ver C	al vices ING T to 7 s (> 7 sto gularity arity	(Govt Historic Industria (PE tories) ries)	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.0 +2.4 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B B (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ 82 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 +1.4 -0.4	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4	A Hard Rock MODIFI \$4 (Rc sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE, (SW) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4	FA reinforced immeys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4	ALLING Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4	HAZA its Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4	URM URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4
Assec Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertid Plan Pre-C Post- Soil 1 Soil 1	BUILD BUILD BUILD BUILD BUILD BUILD Code Bench Type D Type D	ING T ING T I to 7 s y l to 7 s gularity arity	(Govt Historic Industria /PE tories) ries)	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.0 +2.4 0.0 -2.5	Water xe idential ool W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B, S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ 82 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	ersons - 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	C1 C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 0 0	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	FA reinforced himneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 0 4	ALLING Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 4 0	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.5	RDS ddding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 0.2
Assec Corr Eme Basico Mid F High Vertic Plan Pre-C Post- Soil 1 Soil 1	embly Imercia r. Serv BUILD E Score Rise (4 Rise (Rise (Rise (Code Bench Type C Type D	al vices ing T to 7 s (> 7 sto gularity mark	(Govt Historic Industria (PE tories)	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.0 -2.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	PANCY 22 idential pol W2 3.8 N/A -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Rock MODIFI S4 (RC sw (RC sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	CYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soft Poc Soil Soi SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	FA reinforced imneys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	ALLING Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	HAZA its Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS dding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertid Plan Pre-C Post- Soil 1 Soil 1 Soil 1	embly Imercia r. Serv BUILD E Score Rise (4 Rise (Code Bench Code Bench Gode Type C Type D Type E AL S	al vices ing to 7 s (> 7 sto gularity mark	(Govt Historic Industria (PE tories) ries)	W1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ \$2 (BR) 3.0 +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ersons – 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Rock MODIFI \$4 (RC sw +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil ERS, AND (URM INF) 2.0 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	TYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE, (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	F/ reinforced immeys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	Parapet Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.6 -1.2	HAZA its Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS ddding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertid Plan Pre-C Post- Soil 1 Soil 1 Soil 1 Soil 1 Soil 1	embly imercia r. Servi BUILD Code Bench Gode Bench Gype D Gype D AL S MME	al vices ing to 7 s > 7 sto gularity arity mark	(Govt Historic Industria (PE tories) ries)	Action Action<	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B, S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ \$2 (BR) +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -1.2	ersons - 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Rock MODIFI \$4 (RC sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil	C1 C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soft Poot Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	or il Unn Ch C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	F4 reinforced immeys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	Parapet Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ts Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS ddding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 Det Req	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 ailed uation µired
Asse Corr Eme Basic Mid F High Vertid Plan Pre-C Post- Soil 1 Soil 1 Soil 1 Soil 1	embly imercia r. Serv BUILD : Score Rise (4 Rise (Code Bench 'ype C Gode Bench 'ype C AL S MME	al vices ING T 4 to 7 s (> 7 sto gularity arity mark SCOR NTS	(Govt Historic Industria (PE tories) ries)	VCCUP Offic Resi al V1 4.4 N/A -2.5 -0.5 0.0 +2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0	W2 3.8 N/A -2.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.8 -0.8	S Numi 0 - 10 101-10 B, S1 (MRF) 2.8 +0.2 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	OIL ber of Pe 11 000 10 ASIC \$ \$2 (BR) +0.4 +0.8 -1.5 -0.5 -0.8 +1.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	ersons - 100 00+ SCORE, S3 (LM) 3.2 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.6 N/A -0.4 -0.6 -1.0	A Hard Rock MODIFI \$4 (RC sw 2.8 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +1.6 -0.4 -0.6 -1.2	B C Avg. Dense Rock Soil	CYPE D Stiff Soil FINAL C1 (MRF) 2.5 +0.4 +0.6 -1.5 -0.5 -1.2 +1.4 -0.6 -1.2	E F Soft Poo Soil Soi SCORE, C2 (sw) 2.8 +0.4 +0.4 +0.8 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8	or Uni C1 C3 (URM INF) 1.6 +0.2 +0.3 -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.8	F4 reinforced immeys PC1 (TU) 2.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.5 -0.8 +2.4 -0.4 -0.4 -0.4	Parapet Parapet PC2 2.4 +0.2 +0.4 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 N/A -0.6 -1.2	HAZA ks Cla RM1 (FD) 2.8 +0.4 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 +2.8 -0.4 -0.6 -0.4	RDS ddding RM2 (RD) 2.8 +0.4 +0.6 -1.0 -0.5 -0.8 +2.6 -0.4 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 Det Evalu Req YES	URM 1.8 0.0 N/A -1.0 -0.5 -0.2 N/A -0.4 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 ailed uation uired

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards (FEMA 154)

Quick Reference Guide (for use with Data Collection Form)

1. Model and E	Building Types and Critical Code Adoption nforcement Dates	Year Seismic Codes	Benchmark Year when
Structural	Types	and Enforced*	Codes Improved
W1	Light wood frame, residential or commercial, \leq 5000 square feet		
W2	Wood frame buildings, > 5000 square feet.		
S1	Steel moment-resisting frame		
S2	Steel braced frame		
S3	Light metal frame		
S4	Steel frame with cast-in-place concrete shear walls		
S5	Steel frame with unreinforced masonry infill		
C1	Concrete moment-resisting frame		
C2	Concrete shear wall		
C3	Concrete frame with unreinforced masonry infill		
PC1	Tilt-up construction		
PC2	Precast concrete frame		
RM1	Reinforced masonry with flexible floor and roof diaphragms		
RM2	Reinforced masonry with rigid diaphragms		
URM	Unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings		
*Not applica	ble in regions of low seismicity		

2. Anchorage of Heavy Cladding

Year in which seismic anchorage requirements were adopted:

3. Occupancy Loads			
<u>Use</u>	<u>Square Feet, Per Person</u>	<u>Use</u>	<u>Square Feet, Per Person</u>
Assembly	varies, 10 minimum	Industrial	200-500
Commercial	50-200	Office	100-200
Emergency Services	100	Residential	100-300
Government	100-200	School	50-100

4. Score Modifier Definitions

Mid-Rise:	4 to 7 stories
High-Rise:	8 or more stories
Vertical Irregularity:	Steps in elevation view; inclined walls; building on hill; soft story (e.g., house over garage); building with short columns; unbraced cripple walls.
Plan Irregularity	Buildings with re-entrant corners (L, T, U, E, + or other irregular building plan); buildings with good lateral resistance in one direction but not in the other direction; eccentric stiffness in plan, (e.g. corner building, or wedge-shaped building, with one or two solid walls and all other walls open).
Pre-Code:	Building designed and constructed prior to the year in which seismic codes were first adopted and enforced in the jurisdiction; use years specified above in Item 1; default is 1941, except for PC1, which is 1973.
Post-Benchmark:	Building designed and constructed after significant improvements in seismic code requirements (e.g., ductile detailing) were adopted and enforced; the benchmark year when codes improved may be different for each building type and jurisdiction; use years specified above in Item 1 (see Table 2-2 of FEMA 154 <i>Handbook</i> for additional information).
Soil Type C:	Soft rock or very dense soil; S-wave velocity: 1200 – 2500 ft/s; blow count > 50; or undrained shear strength > 2000 psf.
Soil Type D:	Stiff soil; S-wave velocity: 600 – 1200 ft/s; blow count: 15 – 50; or undrained shear strength: 1000 – 2000 psf.
Soil Type E:	Soft soil; S-wave velocity < 600 ft/s; or more than 100 ft of soil with plasticity index > 20, water content > 40%, and undrained shear strength < 500 psf.

Appendix C

Review of Design and Construction Drawings

Drawing styles vary among engineering offices, but the conventions used are very consistent. The following are some of the common designations:

- 1. Around the perimeter of the building, the exterior walls will be shown as a double line, if the space between the lines is empty, this will usually be a wood stud wall.
- 2. Concrete walls will be shaded.
- 3. Masonry walls will be cross hatched.
- 4. Horizontal beams and girders will be shown with a solid line for steel and wood, and a double solid or dotted line for concrete.
 - Steel framing will have a notation of shape, depth, and weight of the member. The designations will include W, S, I, B and several others followed by the depth in inches, an "x," and the weight in pounds per lineal foot. An example would be W8x10 (wide flange shape, 8" deep, 10 lbs/ft).
 - Wood framing will have the width and depth of the member. An example would be 4x10 (4" wide and 10" deep). Floor joists and roof rafters will be shown with the same call-out except not all members will be shown. A few at each end of the area being framed will show and there will be an arrow showing the extent and the call-out of the size members.
 - Concrete framing will have the width and depth. Where steel and wood are shown as

single line, concrete will be shown as a double line. An example of the call out would be 12x24 (12" wide and 24" deep). Additionally, or in lieu of the number call-out, the member might be given a letter and number (B-1 or G-1) with a reference to a schedule for the size and reinforcing. "B" stands for beam and "G" stands for girder. Usually, beams are smaller than girders and span between girders while girders will be larger and frame between columns.

- 5. Columns will show on the floor plans as their shape with a shading designation where appropriate:
 - Steel column will be shown as an "H" rotated to the correct orientation for the location on the plan.
 - Wood column will be an open square.
 - Concrete column will be either a square or a circle depending on the column configuration. The square or circle will be shaded.
- 6. Steel moment frames will show the columns with a heavy line between the columns representing the beam or girder. At each end of the beam or girder at the column will be a small triangle shaded. This indicates that the connection between the beam or girder and the column is fully restrained.

D.1 Introduction

A successful evaluation of a building is dependent on the screener's ability to identify accurately the construction materials, lateral-force-resisting system, age, and other attributes that would modify its earthquake performance (e.g., vertical or plan irregularities). This appendix includes discussions of inspection techniques that can be used while viewing from the street.

D.2 What to Look for and How to Find It

It may be difficult to identify positively the structural type from the street as building veneers often mask the structural skeleton. For example, a steel frame and a concrete frame may look similar from the outside. Features typical of a specific type of structure may give clues for successful identification. In some cases there may be more than one type of frame present in the structure. Should this be the case, the predominant frame type should be indicated on the form.

Following are attributes that should be considered when trying to determine a building lateralforce-resisting system from the street:

- 1. *Age*: The approximate age of a building can indicate the possible structure type, as well as indicating the seismic design code used during the building design process. Age is difficult to determine visually, but an approximation, accurate within perhaps a decade, can be estimated by looking at the architectural style and detail treatment of the building exterior, if the facade has not been renovated. If a building has been renovated, the apparent age is misleading. See Section D.3 for additional guidance.
- 2. *Facade Pattern*: The type of structure can sometimes be deduced by the openness of the facade, or the size and pattern of window openings. The facade material often can give hints to the structure beneath. Newer facade materials likely indicate that modern construction types were used in the design and may indicate that certain building types can be eliminated.

- 3. *Height*: The number of stories will indicate the possible type of construction. This is particularly useful for taller buildings, when combined with knowledge of local building practice. See Section D.4 for additional guidance.
- 4. Original Use: The original use can, at times, give hints as to the structural type. The original use can be inferred from the building character, if the building has not been renovated. The present use may be different from the original use. This is especially true in neighborhoods that have changed in character. A typical example of this is where a city's central business district has grown rapidly, and engulfed what were once industrial districts. The buildings' use has changed and they are now either mixed office, commercial or residential (for office workers).

D.3 Identification of Building Age

The ability to identify the age of a building by considering its architectural style and construction materials requires an extensive knowledge of architectural history and past construction practice. It is beyond the scope of this *Handbook* to discuss the various styles and construction practices. Persons involved in or interested in buildings often have a general knowledge of architectural history relevant to their region. Interested readers should refer to in-depth texts for more specific information.

Photographs, architectural character, and age of (1) residential, (2) commercial, and (3) mixed use and miscellaneous buildings, are illustrated in Tables D-1 through D-3, respectively. Photographs of several example steel frame and concrete frame buildings under construction are provided in Figure D-1. The screener should study these photographs and characteristics closely to assist in differentiating architectural styles and facade treatment of various periods. Facade renovation (see photos b and c in Figure D-1) can clearly alter the original appearance. When estimating building age, the screener should look at the building from all sides as facade renovation often occurs only at the building front. A new building will seldom look like an old one. That

Table D-1 Photographs, Architectural Characteristics, and Age of Residential Buildings Examples Characteristics Low-Rise Buildings (1-3 stories): Typically wood or ٠ masonry May have ground • floor or basement parking, a soft story Older buildings typ-. ically have more architectural detail, ornamentation 1950s and later are more 'modern' a. 1965-1980 lacking ornamentab. 1965-1980 tion, typically with more horizontal lines Common structural types: W2, RM1, RM2, ÚRM Mid-Rise (4-7 stories) and High-Rise **Buildings (8 stories** and higher): Typically, rein-forced concrete c. 1965-1980 (older, URM) May have commer-• cial ground floor, a soft story Older buildings typically have more cornices, architectural detail, ornad. 1960-1975 reinforced concrete mentation shear wall 1950s and later are • lacking ornamentation, typically with stronger vertical or horizontal lines Common structural types: W2, RM1, RM2, ÚRM e. Pre-1933 URM (rehabilitated)



FEMA 154





is, a building is usually at least as old as it looks. Even when designed to look old, telltale signs of modern techniques can usually be seen in the type of windows, fixtures, and material used.

D.4 Identification of Structural Type

The most common inspection that will be utilized with the RVS procedure will be the exterior or "sidewalk" or "streetside" survey. First, the evaluation should be as thorough as possible and performed in a logical manner. The street-facing front of the building is the starting point and the evaluation begins at the ground and progressively moves up the exterior wall to the roof or parapet line. For taller buildings, a pair of binoculars is useful. When a thorough inspection of the street-front elevation has been completed, the procedure is repeated on the next accessible wall. From the exterior, the screener should be able to determine the approximate age of the building, its original occupancy, and count the number of stories.

Table D-3	Photographs, Archit	tectural Characteristics, and Age of Miscel	laneous Structures
	E	xamples	Characteristics
a. 19	920-1930	<image/>	 Mixed use (residential with a commercial first floor), places of assembly, theatres, triangular buildings, halls, parking structures: Long spans Tall first story (for commercial use) – soft or weak story Atria or irregular floor-tofloor layout
 c. 19 d. 1990-2000; d. 1990-2000; h. 1920-193 	P90-2000 airport terminal	<image/> <caption><image/></caption>	<image/>

D: Exterior Screening for Seismic System and Age



a. Building above is a high-rise steel dual system – moment frame (heavy columns and beams on upper facade) with bracing around elevator core. Fireproofing is being applied to steel at mid-height (inside the shroud) and precast facade elements are being attached to frame in lower stories.



b. Reinforced concrete frame under renovation – demolition of older facade units.



c. New precast facade units being applied to reinforced concrete frame buildings.

Figure D-1 Photos showing basic construction, in steel-frame buildings and reinforced concrete-frame buildings.

With this information, Tables D-4 through D-7 provide the most likely structural system type, based on original occupancy and number of stories. (These tables are based on expert judgment and would benefit from verification by design professionals and building regulatory personnel familiar with local design and construction practices.)

In addition to using information on occupancy and number of stories, as provided in Tables D-4 through D-7, the following are some locations that

Table D-4	Most Likely	y Structura	l Types for P	re-1930 Build	dings		
				Nur	mber of Stori	es	
Original Occup Residential	oancy	1-2 W URM	3 W URM	4-6 S5 C3 URM	7-15 S5 C3	15-30	30+
Commercial		W S4 S5 C1 C2 C3 URM	W S4 S5 C1 C2 C3 URM	S1 S2 S4 S5 C1 C2 C3 URM	S1 S2 S4 S5 C1 C2 C3	S1 S2 S4 S5 C1 C2 C3	
Industrial		W S1 S2 S3 S5 C1 C2 C3 URM	W S1 S2 S5 C1 C2 C3 URM				

Note: If it is not possible to identify immediately the structural type for a pre-1930 building, the original occupancy and number of stories will provide some guidance. The building will need further inspection for precise identification.

			Nu	mber of Stori	ies	
<i>Original Occupancy</i> Residential	1-2 W URM	3 W URM	4-6 S1 S2 S5 URM	7-15 S1 S2 S5	15-30	30+
Commercial	W S1 S2 S5 C1 C2 C3 RM1 RM2 URM	W S1 S2 S5 C1 C2 C3 RM1 RM2 URM	S1 S2 S5 C1 C2 C3 RM1 RM2 URM	S1 S2 S5 C1 C2 C3	S1 S2 S5 C1 C2 C3	S2 S5
Industrial	S3 S5 C1 C2 C3 RM1 RM2 URM	S3 S5 C1 C2 C3 RM1 RM2 URM	C1 C2 C3			

Table D-5Most Likely Structural Types for 1930-1945 Buildings

Note: If it is not possible to identify immediately the structural type for a 1930-1945 building, the original occupancy and number of stories will provide some guidance. The building will need further inspection for precise identification.
Table D-6 Mos	Most Likely Structural Types for 1945-1960 Buildings								
	Number of Stories								
Original Occupancy	y 1-2	3	4-6	7-15	15-30	30+			
Residential	W RM URM*	W RM URM*	S1 S2 C1 C2 RM1,2 URM*	S1 S2 C1 C2	S1 S2 C1 C2	S1 S2 C1 C2			
Commercial	W S1 S2 C1 C2 RM1,2 URM*	W S1 S2 C1 C2 RM1,2 URM*	S1 S2 C1 C2 RM1 RM2 URM*	S1 S2 C1 C2	S1 S2 C1 C2	51 52 C1 C2			
Industrial	C1 C2 PC1 RM1 RM2 URM*	S1 S2 C1 C2 RM1,2 URM*	S1 S2 C1 C2 RM1,2 URM*						

Notes: If it is not possible to identify immediately the structural type for a 1945-1960 building, the original occupancy and number of stories will provide some guidance. The building will need further inspection for precise identification.

*By this period, URM was generally not permitted in California or other high-seismicity locations, so that only in the central or eastern U.S. would buildings of this age be URM.

Table D-7Most Likely Structural Types for Post-1960 Buildings

	Number of Stories							
Original Occupancy	1-2	3	4-6	7-15	15-30	30+		
Residential	W S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1,2	W S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1,2	W S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1,2	S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1 RM2				
Commercial	W S1 S2 C1 C2 PC1 PC2 RM1,2	W 51 52 C1 C2 PC1 PC2 RM1,2	W S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1 RM2	S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1 RM2	S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2	S1 S2 C1 C2		
Industrial	S1 S2 S3 C1 C2 PC1 PC2 RM1,2	S1 S2 C1 C2 PC1 PC2 RM1 RM2	S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2 RM1 RM2	S1 S2 C1 C2 PC2	C1 C2 PC2			

Note: If it is not possible to identify immediately the structural type for a post-1960 building, the original occupancy and number of stories will provide some guidance. The building will need further inspection for precise identification.

the screener can look, without performing destructive investigations, to gain insight into the structure type:

- 1. In newer frame construction the columns are often exposed on the exterior in the first story. If the columns are covered with a facade material, they are most likely steel columns, indicating a steel frame. If the frames are concrete, they are usually exposed and not covered with a facade. See Figures D-2 and D-3.
- 2. Some structures use a combination of shear walls in the transverse direction and frames in the longitudinal direction. This can be seen from the exterior as the shear walls usually extend through the exterior longitudinal wall and are exposed there. This is most common in hotels and other residential structures where balconies are included. See Figure D-4.
- 3. An inspection of doorways and window framing can determine wall thickness. When the thickness exceeds approximately 12 inches, the wall is most likely unreinforced masonry (URM).



Figure D-2 Building with exterior columns covered with a facade material.

- 4. If there are vertical joints in the wall, regularly spaced and extending to the full height, the wall is constructed of concrete, and if three or less stories in height, the structure type is most likely a tilt-up (PC1). See Figure D-5.
- 5. If the building is constructed of brick masonry without header courses (horizontal rows of visible brick ends), and the wall thickness is approx-



Figure D-3 Detail of the column facade of Figure D-2.



Figure D-4 Building with both shear walls (in the short direction) and frames (in the long direction).

imately 8 inches, the structural type is most likely reinforced masonry (RM1 or RM2). See Figure D-6.

6. If the exterior wall shows large concrete block units (approximately 8 to 12 inches high and 12 to 16 inches in length), either smooth or rough faced, the structure type may be reinforced concrete block masonry. See Figure D-7.

Because many buildings have been renovated, the screener should know where to look for clues to the original construction. Most renovations are done for commercial retail spaces, as businesses like to have an up-to-date image. Most exterior renovations are only to the front of the building or to walls that attract attention. Therefore, the original construction



Figure D-5 Regular, full-height joints in a building's wall indicate a concrete tilt-up.



Figure D-6 Reinforced masonry wall showing no course of header bricks (a row of visible brick ends).

can often be seen at the sides, or the rear, where people generally do not look. If the original material is covered in these areas, it is often just painted or lightly plastered. In this case, the pattern of the older material can often still be seen.

Clues helping identify the original material are apparent if one is looking for them. Two examples are included here:

- Figure D-8 shows a building with a 1970s polished stone and glass facade. The side of the building indicates that it is a pre-1930 URM bearing-wall structure.
- Figure D-9 shows a building facade with typical 1960s material. The side was painted. Showing through the paint, the horizontal board patterns in the poured-in-place concrete wall of pre-1940 construction could still be seen.



Figure D-7 Reinforced masonry building with exterior wall of concrete masonry units, or concrete blocks.



Figure D-8 A 1970s renovated facade hides a URM bearing-wall structure.

D.5 Characteristics of Exposed Construction Materials

Accurate identification of the structural type often depends on the ability to recognize the exposed construction material. The screener should be familiar



Figure D-9 A concrete shear-wall structure with a 1960s renovated facade.

with how different materials look on existing buildings as well as how they have been installed. Brief descriptions of some common materials are included here:

Unreinforced Masonry—Unreinforced masonry walls, when they are not veneers, are typically several wythes thick (a wythe is a term denoting the width of one brick). Therefore, header bricks will be apparent in the exposed surface. Headers are bricks laid with the butt end on the exterior face, and function to tie wythes of bricks together. Header courses typically occur every six or seven courses. (See Figures D-10 and D-11.) Sometimes, URM infill walls will not have header bricks, and the wythes of brick are held together only by mortar. Needless to say, URM will look old, and most of the time show wear and weathering. URM may also have a soft sand-lime mortar which may be detected by scratching with a knife, unless the masonry has been repointed.

Figure D-10 URM wall showing header courses (identified by arrows) and two washer plates indicating wall anchors.

- *Reinforced Masonry*—Most reinforced brick walls are constructed using the hollow grout method. Two wythes of bricks are laid with a hollow space in between. This space contains the reinforcement steel and is grouted afterward (see Figure D-12). This method of construction usually does not include header bricks in the wall surface.
- Masonry Veneer—Masonry veneers can be of several types, including prefabricated panels, thin brick texture tiles, and a single wythe of brick applied onto the structural backing.
 Figures D-13 shows brick veneer panels. Note the discontinuity of the brick pattern interrupted by the vertical gaps. This indicates that the surface is probably a veneer panel. The scupper opening at the top of the wall, probably to let the rainwater on the roof to drain, also indicates that this is a thin veneer rather than a solid masonry







Figure D-12 Diagram of common reinforced masonry construction. Bricks are left out of the bottom course at intervals to create cleanout holes, then inserted before grouting.



Figure D-13 Brick veneer panels.

wall. Good places to look for the evidence of veneer tile are at door or window openings where the edge of the tile will usually show.

• *Hollow Clay Tile*—The exposed area of a hollow clay tile masonry unit is approximately 6 inches by 10 inches and often has strip indentations running the length of the tile. They are fragile, unreinforced, and without structural value, and usually are used for non-load-bearing walls.



Figure D-14 Hollow clay tile wall with punctured tile.



Figure D-15 Sheet metal siding with masonry pattern.

Figure D-14 shows a typical wall panel which has been punctured.

- *False Masonry*—Masonry pattern sidings can be made from sheet metal, plastic, or asphalt material (see Figures D-15 and D-16). These sidings come in sheets and are attached to a structural backing, usually a wood frame. These sidings can be detected by looking at the edges and by their sound when tapped.
- *Cast-in-Place Concrete*—Cast-in-place concrete, before the 1940s, will likely show horizontal patterns from the wooden formwork. The formwork was constructed with wood planks, and therefore the concrete also will often show the wood grain pattern. Since the plank edges were not smooth,

the surface will have horizontal lines approximately 4, 6, 8, 10, or 12 inches apart (see Figure D-17). Newer cast-in-place concrete comes in various finishes. The most economic finish is that in which the concrete is cast against plywood formwork, which will reflect the wood grain appearance of plywood, or against metal or plastic-covered wood forms, which normally do not show a distinctive pattern.





Figure D-16 Asphalt siding with brick pattern.

Figure D-17 Pre-1940 cast-in-place concrete with formwork pattern.

Appendix E

Characteristics and Earthquake Performance of RVS Building Types

E.1 Introduction

For the purpose of the RVS, building structural framing types have been categorized into fifteen types listed in Section 3.7.1 and shown in Table 3-1. This appendix provides additional information about each of these structural types, including detailed descriptions of their characteristics, common types of earthquake damage, and common seismic rehabilitation techniques.

E.2 Wood Frame (W1, W2)

E.2.1 Characteristics

Wood frame structures are usually detached residential dwellings, small apartments, commercial buildings or one-story industrial structures. They are rarely more than three stories tall, although older buildings may be as high as six stories, in rare instances. (See Figures E-1 and E-2)



Figure E-1 Single family residence (an example of the W1 identifier, light wood-frame residential and commercial buildings less than 5000 square feet).

Wood stud walls are typically constructed of 2inch by 4-inch wood members vertically set about 16 inches apart. (See Figures E-3 and E-4). These walls are braced by plywood or equivalent material, or by diagonals made of wood or steel. Many detached single family and low-rise multiple family residences in the United States are of stud wall wood frame construction.



Figure E-2 Larger wood-framed structure, typically with room-width spans (W2, light, woodframe buildings greater than 5000 square feet).

Post and beam construction, which consists of larger rectangular (6 inch by 6 inch and larger) or sometimes round wood columns framed together with large wood beams or trusses, is not common and is found mostly in older buildings. These buildings usually are not residential, but are larger buildings such as warehouses, churches and theaters.

Timber pole buildings (Figures E-5 and E-6) are a less common form of construction found mostly in suburban and rural areas. Generally adequate seismically when first built, they are more often subject to wood deterioration due to the exposure of the columns, particularly near the ground surface. Together with an often-found "soft story" in this building type, this deterioration may contribute to unsatisfactory seismic performance.

In the western United States, it can be assumed that all single detached residential houses (i.e., houses with rear and sides separate from adjacent structures) are wood stud frame structures unless visual or supplemental information indicates otherwise (in the Southwestern U.S., for example, some residential homes are constructed of adobe, rammed earth, and other non-wood materials). Many houses that appear to have brick exterior facades are actually wood frame with nonstructural brick veneer or brickpatterned synthetic siding.

In the central and eastern United States, brick walls are usually not veneer. For these houses the

Roof and span systems:

1. wood joist and rafter

- 2. diagonal sheathing
- 3. straight sheathing

Wall systems:

- 4. stud wall (platform or balloon framed)
- 5. horizontal siding





brick-work must be examined closely to verify that it is real brick. Second, the thickness of the exterior wall is estimated by looking at a window or door opening. If the wall is more than 9 inches from the interior finish to exterior surface, then it may be a brick wall. Third, if header bricks exist in the brick pattern, then it may be a brick wall. If these features all point to a brick wall, the house can be assumed to be a masonry building, and not a wood frame.

In wetter, humid climates it is common to find homes raised four feet or more above the outside grade with this space totally exposed (no foundation walls). This allows air flow under the house, to minimize decay and rot problems associated with high humidity and enclosed spaces. These houses are supported on wood post and small precast concrete pads or piers. A common name for this construction is post and pier construction.

E.2.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Stud wall buildings have performed well in past earthquakes due to inherent qualities of the structural system and because they are lightweight and lowrise. Cracks in any plaster or stucco may appear, but these seldom degrade the strength of the building and are classified as nonstructural damage. In fact, this



Figure E-4 Stud wall, wood-framed house.



Figure E-5 Drawing of timber pole framed house.



Figure E-6 Timber pole framed house.

type of damage helps dissipate the earthquakeinduced energy of the shaking house. The most common type of structural damage in older buildings results from a lack of adequate connection between the house and the foundation. Houses can slide off their foundations if they are not properly bolted to the foundations. This movement (see Figure E-7) results in major damage to the building as well as to plumbing and electrical connections. Overturning of



Figure E-7 House off its foundation, 1983 Coalinga earthquake.

the entire structure is usually not a problem because of the low-rise geometry. In many municipalities, modern codes require wood structures to be adequately bolted to their foundations. However, the year that this practice was adopted will differ from community to community and should be checked.

Many of the older wood stud frame buildings have no foundations or have weak foundations of unreinforced masonry or poorly reinforced concrete. These foundations have poor shear resistance to horizontal seismic forces and can fail.

Another problem in older buildings is the stability of cripple walls. Cripple walls are short stud walls between the foundation and the first floor level. Often these have no bracing neither in-plane nor outof-plane and thus may collapse when subjected to horizontal earthquake loading. If the cripple walls collapse, the house will sustain considerable damage and may collapse. In some older homes, plywood sheathing nailed to the cripple studs may have been used to rehabilitate the cripple walls. However, if the sheathing is not nailed adequately to the studs and



Figure E-8 Failed cripple stud wall, 1992 Big Bear earthquake.

foundation sill plate, the cripple walls will still collapse (see Figure E-8).

Homes with post and pier perimeter foundations, which are constructed to provide adequate air flow under the structure to minimize the potential for decay, have little resistance to earthquake forces. When these buildings are subjected to strong earthquake ground motions, the posts may rotate or slip of the piers and the home will settle to the ground. As with collapsed cripple walls, this can be very expensive damage to repair and will result in the home building "red-tagged" per the ATC-20 post-earthquake safety evaluation procedures (ATC, 1989, 1995). See Figure E-9.



Figure E-9 Failure of post and pier foundation, Humboldt County.

Garages often have a large door opening in the front wall with little or no bracing in the remainder of the wall. This wall has almost no resistance to lateral forces, which is a problem if a heavy load such as a second story is built on top of the garage. Homes built over garages have sustained damage in past earthquakes, with many collapses. Therefore the house-over-garage configuration, which is found commonly in low-rise apartment complexes and some newer suburban detached dwellings, should be examined more carefully and perhaps rehabilitated.

Unreinforced masonry chimneys present a lifesafety problem. They are often inadequately tied to the house, and therefore fall when strongly shaken. On the other hand, chimneys of reinforced masonry generally perform well.

Some wood-frame structures, especially older buildings in the eastern United States, have masonry veneers that may represent another hazard. The veneer usually consists of one wythe of brick (a wythe is a term denoting the width of one brick) attached to the stud wall. In older buildings, the veneer is either insufficiently attached or has poor quality mortar, which often results in peeling of the veneer during moderate and large earthquakes.

Post and beam buildings (not buildings with post and pier foundations) tend to perform well in earthquakes, if adequately braced. However, walls often do not have sufficient bracing to resist horizontal motion and thus they may deform excessively.

E.2.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

In recent years, especially as a result of the Northridge earthquake, emphasis has been placed on addressing the common problems associated with light-wood framing. This work has concentrated mainly in the western United States with single-family residences.

The rehabilitation techniques focus on houses with continuous perimeter foundations and cripple walls. The rehabilitation work consists of bolting the house to the foundation and providing plywood or other wood sheathing materials to the cripple walls to strengthen them (see Figure E-10). This is the most cost-effective rehabilitation work that can be done on a single-family residence.

Little work has been done in rehabilitating timber pole buildings or post and pier construction. In timber pole buildings rehabilitation techniques are focused on providing resistance to lateral forces by bracing (applying sheathing) to interior walls, creating a continuous load path to the ground. For homes with post and pier perimeter foundations, the work has focused on providing partial foundations and bracing to carry the earthquake loads.



Figure E-10 Seismic strengthening of a cripple wall, with plywood sheathing.

E.3 Steel Frames (S1, S2)

E.3.1 Characteristics

Steel frame buildings generally may be classified as either moment-resisting frames or braced frames,

based on their lateral-force-resisting systems. Moment-resisting frames resist lateral loads and deformations by the bending stiffness of the beams and columns (there is no diagonal bracing). In concentric braced frames the diagonal braces are connected, at each end, to the joints where beams and columns meet. The lateral forces or loads are resisted by the tensile and compressive strength of the bracing. In eccentric braced frames, the bracing is slightly offset from the main beam-to-column connections, and the short section of beam is expected to deform significantly in bending under major seismic forces, thereby dissipating a considerable portion of the energy of the vibrating building. Each type of steel frame is discussed below.

Moment-Resisting Steel Frame

Typical steel moment-resisting frame structures usually have similar bay widths in both the transverse and longitudinal direction, around 20-30 ft (Figure E-11). The load-bearing frame consists of beams and columns distributed throughout the building. The floor diaphragms are usually concrete,



Figure E-11 Drawing of steel moment-resisting frame building.

sometimes over steel decking. Moment-resisting frame structures built since 1950 often incorporate prefabricated panels hung onto the structural frame as the exterior finish. These panels may be precast concrete, stone or masonry veneer, metal, glass or plastic.

This structural type is used for commercial, institutional and other public buildings. It is seldom used for low-rise residential buildings.

Steel frame structures built before 1945 are usually clad or infilled with unreinforced masonry such as bricks, hollow clay tiles and terra cotta tiles and therefore should be classified as S5 structures (see Section E.6 for a detailed discussion). Other frame buildings of this period are encased in concrete. Wood or concrete floor diaphragms are common for these older buildings.

Braced Steel Frame

Braced steel frame structures (Figures E-12 and E-13) have been built since the late 1800s with similar usage and exterior finish as the steel moment-frame buildings. Braced frames are sometimes used for long and narrow buildings because of their stiffness. Although these buildings are braced with diagonal members, the bracing members usually cannot be detected from the building exterior.



Figure E-12 Braced frame configurations.

From the building exterior, it is usually difficult to tell the difference between steel moment frames, braced frames, and frames with shear walls. In most modern buildings, the bracing or shear walls are located in the interior or covered by cladding material. Figure E-14 shows heavy diagonal bracing for a high rise building, located at the side walls, which



Figure E-13 Braced steel frame, with chevron and diagonal braces. The braces and steel frames are usually covered by finish material after the steel is erected.



Figure E-14 Chevron bracing in steel building under construction.

will be subsequently covered by finish materials and will not be apparent. In fact, it is difficult to differentiate steel frame structures and concrete frame structures from the exterior. Most of the time, the structural members are clad in finish material. In older buildings, steel members can also be encased in concrete. There are no positive ways of distinguishing these various frame types except in the two cases listed below:

1. If a building can be determined to be a braced frame, it is probably a steel structure.

2. If exposed steel beams and columns can be seen, then the steel frame structure is apparent. (Especially in older structures, a structural frame which appears to be concrete may actually be a steel frame encased in concrete.)

E.3.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Steel frame buildings tend to be generally satisfactory in their earthquake resistance, because of their strength, flexibility and lightness. Collapse in earthquakes has been very rare, although steel frame buildings did collapse, for example, in the 1985 Mexico City earthquake. In the United States, these buildings have performed well, and probably will not collapse unless subjected to sufficiently severe ground shaking. The 1994 Northridge and 1995 Kobe earthquakes showed that steel frame buildings (in particular S1 moment-frame) were vulnerable to severe earthquake damage. Though none of the damaged buildings collapsed, they were rendered unsafe until repaired. The damage took the form of broken welded connections between the beams and columns. Cracks in the welds began inside the welds where the beam flanges were welded to the column flanges. These cracks, in some cases, broke the welds or propagated into the column flange, "tearing" the flange. The damage was found in those buildings that experienced ground accelerations of approximately 20% of gravity (20%g) or greater. Since 1994 Northridge, many cities that experienced large earthquakes in the recent past have instituted an inspection program to determine if any steel frames were damaged. Since steel frames are usually covered with a finish material, it is difficult to find damage to the joints. The process requires removal of the finishes and removal of fireproofing just to see the joint.

Possible damage includes the following.

- 1. Nonstructural damage resulting from excessive deflections in frame structures can occur to elements such as interior partitions, equipment, and exterior cladding. Damage to nonstructural elements was the reason for the discovery of damage to moment frames as a result of the 1994 Northridge earthquake.
- 2. Cladding and exterior finish material can fall if insufficiently or incorrectly connected.
- 3. Plastic deformation of structural members can cause permanent displacements.
- 4. Pounding with adjacent structures can occur.

E.3.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

As a result of the 1994 Northridge earthquake many steel frame buildings, primarily steel moment frames, have been rehabilitated to address the problems discovered. The process is essentially to redo the connections, ensuring that cracks do not occur in the welds. There is careful inspection of the welding process and the electrodes during construction. Where possible, existing full penetration welds of the beams to the columns is changed so more fillet welding is



Figure E-15 Rehabilitation of a concrete parking structure using exterior X-braced steel frames.

used. This means that less heat is used in the welding process and consequently there is less potential for damage. Other methods include reducing welding to an absolute minimum by developing bolted connections or ensuring that the connection plates will yield (stretch permanently) before the welds will break. One other possibility for rehabilitating moment frames is to convert them to braced frames.

The kind of damage discovered was not limited to moment frames, although they were the most affected. Some braced frames were found to have damage to the brace connections, especially at lower levels.

Structural types other than steel frames are sometimes rehabilitated using steel frames, as shown for the concrete structure in Figure E-15. Probably the most common use of steel frames for rehabilitation is in unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings (URM). Steel frames are typically used at the storefront windows as there is no available horizontal resistance provided by the windows in their plane. Frames can be used throughout the first floor perimeter when the floor area needs to be open, as in a restaurant. See Figure E-16. When a building is encountered with this type of rehabilitation scheme, the building should be considered a frame type building S1 or S2.

E.4 Light Metal (S3)

E.4.1 Characteristics

Most light metal buildings existing today were built after 1950 (Figure E-17). They are used for agricultural structures, industrial factories, and warehouses. They are typically one story in height, sometimes without interior columns, and often enclose a large floor area. Construction is typically of steel frames spanning the short dimension of the building, resisting lateral forces as moment frames. Forces in the long direction are usually resisted by diagonal steel rod bracing. These buildings are usually clad with lightweight metal or asbestos-reinforced concrete siding, often corrugated.

To identify this construction type, the screener should look for the following characteristics:



Figure E-16 Use of a braced frame to rehabilitate an unreinforced masonry building.





1. Light metal buildings are typically characterized by industrial corrugated sheet metal or asbestosreinforced cement siding. The term, "metal building panels" should not be confused with "corrugated sheet metal siding." The former are prefabricated cladding units usually used for large office buildings. Corrugated sheet metal siding is thin sheet material usually fastened to purlins, which in turn span between columns. If this sheet cladding is present, the screener should examine closely the fasteners used. If the heads of sheet metal screws can be seen in horizontal rows, the building is most likely a light metal structure (Figure E-18).



Figure E-18 Connection of metal siding to light metal frame with rows of screws (encircled).

- 2. Because the typical structural system consists of moment frames in the transverse direction and frames braced with diagonal steel rods in the longitudinal direction, light metal buildings often have low-pitched roofs without parapets or overhangs (Figure E-19). Most of these buildings are prefabricated, so the buildings tend to be rectangular in plan, without many corners.
- 3. These buildings generally have only a few windows, as it is difficult to detail a window in the sheet metal system.
- 4. The screener should look for signs of a metal building, and should knock on the siding to see if it sounds hollow. Door openings should be inspected for exposed steel members. If a gap, or light, can be seen where the siding meets the ground, it is certainly light metal or wood frame. For the best indication, an interior inspection will confirm the structural skeleton, because most of these buildings do not have interior finishes.



Figure E-19 Prefabricated metal building (S3, light metal building).

E.4.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Because these building are low-rise, lightweight, and constructed of steel members, they usually perform relatively well in earthquakes. Collapses do not usually occur. Some typical problems are listed below:

- 1. Insufficient capacity of tension braces can lead to their elongation or failure, and, in turn, building damage.
- 2. Inadequate connection to the foundation can allow the building columns to slide.
- 3. Loss of the cladding can occur.

E.5 Steel Frame with Concrete Shear Wall (S4)

E.5.1 Characteristics

The construction of this structural type (Figure E-20) is similar to that of the steel moment-resisting frame in that a matrix of steel columns and girders is distributed throughout the structure. The joints, however, are not designed for moment resistance, and the lateral forces are resisted by concrete shear walls.

It is often difficult to differentiate visually between a steel frame with concrete shear walls and one without, because interior shear walls will often be covered by interior finishes and will look like interior nonstructural partitions. For the purposes of an RVS, unless the shear wall is identifiable from the exterior (i.e., a raw concrete finish was part of the architectural aesthetic of the building, and was left exposed), this building cannot be identified accurately. Figure E-21shows a structure with such an exposed shear wall. Figure E-22 is a close-up of shear wall damage.



Figure E-20 Drawing of steel frame with interior concrete shear-walls.



Figure E-21 Concrete shear wall on building exterior.

E.5.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

The shear walls can be part of the elevator and service core, or part of the exterior or interior walls. This type of structure performs as well in earthquakes as other steel buildings. Some typical types of damage, other than nonstructural damage and pounding, are:

1. Shear cracking and distress can occur around openings in concrete shear walls.



Figure E-22 Close-up of exterior shear wall damage during a major earthquake.

- 2. Wall construction joints can be weak planes, resulting in wall shear failure at stresses below expected capacity.
- 3. Insufficient chord steel lap lengths can lead to wall bending failures.

E.6 Steel Frame with Unreinforced Masonry Infill (S5)

E.6.1 Characteristics

This construction type (Figures E-23 and E-24) consists of a steel structural frame and walls "infilled" with unreinforced masonry (URM). In older buildings, the floor diaphragms are often wood. Later buildings have reinforced concrete floors. Because of the masonry infill, the structure tends to be stiff. Because the steel frame in an older building is covered by unreinforced masonry for fire protection, it is easy to confuse this type of building with URM bearing-wall structures. Further, because the steel columns are relatively thin, they may be hidden in walls. An apparently solid masonry wall may enclose a series of steel columns and girders. These infill walls are usually two or three wythes thick. Therefore, header bricks will sometimes be present and thus mislead the screener into thinking the building is a URM bearing-wall structure, rather than infill. Often in these structures the infill and veneer masonry is exposed. Otherwise, masonry may be obscured by cladding in buildings, especially those that have undergone renovation.

When a masonry building is encountered, the screener should first attempt to determine if the masonry is reinforced, by checking the date of construction, although this is only a rough guide. A



Details: 5. unreinforced and unbraced parapet and cornice 6. solid party walls

Openings and wall penetrations: 7. window penetrated front facade 8. large openings of street level shops

Figure E-23 Drawing of steel frame with URM infill.

clearer indication of a steel frame structure with URM infill is when the building exhibits the characteristics of a frame structure of type S1 or S2. One can assume all frame buildings clad in brick and constructed prior to about 1940 are of this type.

Older frame buildings may be of several types steel frame encased with URM, steel frame encased with concrete, and concrete frame. Sometimes older buildings have decorative cladding such as terra cotta or stone veneer. Veneers may obscure all evidence of URM. In that case, the structural type cannot be determined. However, if there is evidence that a large amount of concrete is used in the building (for example, a rear wall constructed of concrete), then it is unlikely that the building has URM infill.

When the screener cannot be sure if the building is a frame or has bearing walls, two clues may help the thickness of the walls and the height. Because infill walls are constructed of two or three wythes of bricks, they should be approximately 9 inches thick (2 wythes). Furthermore, the thickness of the wall will not increase in the lower stories, because the structural frame is carrying the load. For buildings over six stories tall, URM is infill or veneer, because URM bearing-wall structures are seldom this tall and, if so, they will have extremely thick walls in the lower stories.

E.6.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

In major earthquakes, the infill walls may suffer substantial cracking and deterioration from in-plane or out-of-plane deformation, thus reducing the in-plane wall stiffness. This in turn puts additional demand on the frame. Some of the walls may fail while others remain intact, which may result in torsion or soft story problems.

The hazard from falling masonry is significant as these buildings can be taller than 20 stories. As



Figure E-24 Example of steel frame with URM infill walls (S5).

described below, typical damage results from a variety of factors.

- 1. Infill walls tend to buckle and fall out-of-plane when subjected to strong lateral forces. Because infill walls are non-load-bearing, they tend to be thin (around 9") and cannot rely on the additional shear strength that accompanies vertical compressive loads.
- 2. Veneer masonry around columns or beams is usually poorly anchored to the structural members and can disengage and fall.
- 3. Interior infill partitions and other nonstructural elements can be severely damaged and collapse.
- 4. If stories above the first are infilled, but the first is not (a soft story), the difference in stiffness creates a large demand at the ground floor columns, causing structural damage.
- 5. When the earthquake forces are sufficiently high, the steel frame itself can fail locally. Connections between members are usually not designed for high lateral loads (except in tall buildings) and this can lead to damage of these connections. Complete collapse has seldom occurred, but cannot be ruled out.

E.6.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

Rehabilitation techniques for this structural type have focused on the expected damage. By far the most significant problem, and that which is addressed in most rehabilitation schemes, is failure of the infill wall out of its plane. This failure presents a significant life safety hazard to individuals on the exterior of the building, especially those who manage to exit the building during the earthquake. To remedy this problem, anchorage connections are developed to tie the masonry infill to the floors and roof of the structure.

Another significant problem is the inherent lack of shear strength throughout the building. Some of the rehabilitation techniques employed include the following.

- 1. Gunite (with pneumatically placed concrete) the interior faces of the masonry wall, creating reinforced concrete shear elements.
- 2. Rehabilitate the steel frames by providing cross bracing or by fully strengthening the connections to create moment frames. In this latter case, the frames are still not sufficient to resist all the lateral forces, and reliance on the infill walls is necessary to provide adequate strength.

For concrete moment frames the rehabilitation techniques have been to provide ductile detailing. This is usually done by removing the outside cover of concrete (a couple of inches) exposing the reinforcing ties. Additional ties are added with their ends embedded into the core of the column. The exterior concrete is then replaced. This process results in a detail that provides a reasonable amount of ductility but not as much as there would have been had the ductility been provided in the original design.

E.7 Concrete Moment-Resisting Frame (C1)

E.7.1 Characteristics

Concrete moment-resisting frame construction consists of concrete beams and columns that resist both lateral and vertical loads (see Figure E-25). A fundamental factor in the seismic performance of concrete moment-resisting frames is the presence or absence of ductile detailing. Hence, several construction subtypes fall under this category:

- a. non-ductile reinforced-concrete frames with unreinforced infill walls,
- b. non-ductile reinforced-concrete frames with reinforced infill walls,
- c. non-ductile reinforced-concrete frames, and

Roof/floor diaphragms:

- 1. concrete waffle slab
- 2. concrete joist and slab
- 3. steel decking with concrete topping
- Curtain wall/ non-structural infill:
- 4. masonry infill walls
- 5. stone panels
- 6. metal skin panels
- 7. glass panels
- 8. precast concrete panels



Structural system: 9. distributed concrete frame

Details: 10. typical tall first floor (soft story)

Figure E-25 Drawing of concrete moment-resisting frame building.

d. ductile reinforced-concrete frames.

Ductile detailing refers to the presence of special steel reinforcing within concrete beams and columns. The special reinforcement provides confinement of the concrete, permitting good performance in the members beyond the elastic capacity, primarily in bending. Due to this confinement, disintegration of the concrete is delayed, and the concrete retains its strength for more cycles of loading (i.e., the ductility is increased). See Figure E-26 for a dramatic example of ductility in concrete.

Ductile detailing (Figure E-27) has been practiced in high-seismicity areas since 1967, when ductility requirements were first introduced into the *Uniform Building Code* (the adoption and enforcement of ductility requirements in a given jurisdiction



Figure E-26 Extreme example of ductility in concrete, 1994 Northridge earthquake.



Figure E-27 Example of ductile reinforced concrete column, 1994 Northridge earthquake; horizontal ties would need to be closer for greater demands.

may be later, however). Prior to that time, nonductile or ordinary concrete moment-resisting frames were the norm (and still are, for moderate seismic areas). In high-seismicity areas additional tie reinforcing was required following the 1971 San Fernando earthquake and appeared in the *Uniform Building Code* in 1976.

In many low-seismicity areas of the United States, non-ductile concrete frames of type (a), (b), and (c) continue to be built. This group includes large multistory commercial, institutional, and residential buildings constructed using flat slab frames, waffle slab frames, and the standard beam-and-column frames. These structures generally are more massive than steel-frame buildings, are under-reinforced (i.e., have insufficient reinforcing steel embedded in the concrete) and display low ductility.

This building type is difficult to differentiate from steel moment-resisting frames unless the structural concrete has been left relatively exposed (see Figure E-28). Although a steel frame may be encased in concrete and appear to be a concrete frame, this is seldom the case for modern buildings (post 1940s). For the purpose of the RVS procedures, it can be assumed that all exposed concrete frames are concrete and not steel frames.



Figure E-28 Concrete moment-resisting frame building (C1) with exposed concrete, deep beams, wide columns (and with architectural window framing).

E.7.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Under high amplitude cyclic loading, lack of confinement will result in rapid disintegration of nonductile concrete members, with ensuing brittle failure and possible building collapse (see Figure E-29). Causes and types of damage include:

- 1. Excessive tie spacing in columns can lead to a lack of concrete confinement and shear failure.
- 2. Placement of inadequate rebar splices all at the same location in a column can lead to column failure.
- 3. Insufficient shear strength in columns can lead to shear failure prior to the full development of moment hinge capacity.
- 4. Insufficient shear tie anchorage can prevent the column from developing its full shear capacity.
- 5. Lack of continuous beam reinforcement can result in unexpected hinge formation during load reversal.



Figure E-29 Locations of failures at beam-to-column joints in nonductile frames, 1994 Northridge earthquake.

- 6. Inadequate reinforcing of beam-column joints or the positioning of beam bar splices at columns can lead to failures.
- 7. The relatively low stiffness of the frame can lead to substantial nonstructural damage.
- 8. Pounding damage with adjacent buildings can occur.

E.7.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

Rehabilitation techniques for reinforced concrete frame buildings depend on the extent to which the frame meets ductility requirements. The costs associated with the upgrading an existing, conventional beam-column framing system to meet the minimum standards for ductility are high and this approach is usually not cost-effective. The most practical and cost-effective solution is to add a system of shear walls or braced frames to provide the required seismic resistance (ATC, 1992).

E.8 Concrete Shear Wall (C2)

E.8.1 Characteristics

This category consists of buildings with a perimeter concrete bearing-wall structural system or frame structures with shear walls (Figure E-30). The structure, including the usual concrete floor diaphragms, is typically cast in place. Before the 1940s, bearingwall systems were used in schools, churches, and industrial buildings. Concrete shear-wall buildings constructed since the early 1950s are institutional, commercial, and residential buildings, ranging from one to more than thirty stories. Frame buildings with shear walls tend to be commercial and industrial. A common example of the latter type is a warehouse with interior frames and perimeter concrete walls. Residential buildings of this type are often mid-rise towers. The shear walls in these newer buildings can be located along the perimeter, as interior partitions, or around the service core.

Frame structures with interior shear walls are difficult to identify positively. Where the building is clearly a box-like bearing-wall structure it is probably a shear-wall structure. Concrete shear wall buildings are usually cast in place. The screener should look for signs of cast-in-place concrete. In concrete bearing-wall structures, the wall thickness ranges from 6 to 10 inches and is thin in comparison to that of masonry bearing-wall structures.



Figure E-30 Drawing of concrete shear-wall building.

E.8.2 Typical Types of Earthquake Damage

This building type generally performs better than concrete frame buildings. The buildings are heavy compared with steel frame buildings, but they are also stiff due to the presence of the shear walls. Damage commonly observed in taller buildings is caused by vertical discontinuities, pounding, and irregular configuration. Other damage specific to this building type includes the following.

- 1. During large seismic events, shear cracking and distress can occur around openings in concrete shear walls and in spandrel beams and link beams between shear walls (See Figures E-31 and E-32.)
- 2. Shear failure can occur at wall construction joints usually at a load level below the expected capacity.
- 3. Bending failures can result from insufficient vertical chord steel and insufficient lap lengths at the ends of the walls.

E.8.3 Common Rehabilitation

Reinforced concrete shear-wall buildings can be rehabilitated in a variety of ways. Techniques

include: (1) reinforcing existing walls in shear by applying a layer of shotcrete or poured concrete; (2) where feasible, filling existing window or door openings with concrete to add shear strength and eliminate critical bending stresses at the edge of openings; and (3) reinforcing narrow overstressed shear panels in in-plane bending by adding reinforced boundary elements (ATC, 1992).

E.9 Concrete Frame with Unreinforced Masonry Infill (C3)

E.9.1 Characteristics

These buildings (Figures E-33 and E-34) have been, and continue to be, built in regions where unreinforced masonry (URM) has not been eliminated by code. These buildings were generally built before 1940 in high-seismicity regions and may continue to be built in other regions.

The first step in identification is to determine if the structure is old enough to contain URM. In contrast to steel frames with URM infill, concrete frames with URM infill usually show clear evidence of the concrete frames. This is particularly true for industrial buildings and can usually be observed at the side or rear of commercial buildings. The concrete col-



Figure E-31 Tall concrete shear-wall building: walls connected by damaged spandrel beams.



Figure E-32 Shear-wall damage, 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake.

umns and beams are relatively large and are usually not covered by masonry but left exposed.

A case in which URM infill cannot be readily identified is the commercial building with large windows on all sides; these buildings may have interior URM partitions. Another difficult case occurs when the exterior walls are covered by decorative tile or



Figure E-33 Concrete frame with URM infill.



Figure E-34 Blow-up (lower photo) of distant view of C3 building (upper photo) showing concrete frame with URM infill (left wall), and face brick (right wall). stone veneer. The infill material can be URM or a thin concrete infill.

E.9.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

The hazards of these buildings, which in the western United States are often older, are similar to and perhaps more severe than those of the newer concrete frames. Where URM infill is present, a falling hazard exists. The failure mechanisms of URM infill in a concrete frame are generally the same as URM infill in a steel frame.

E.9.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

Rehabilitation of unreinforced masonry infill in a concrete frame is identical to that of the URM infill in a steel frame. See Section E.6.3. Anchorage of the wall panels for out-of-plane forces is the key component, followed by providing sufficient shear strength in the building.

E.10 Tilt-up Structures (PC1)

E.10.1 Characteristics

In traditional tilt-up buildings (Figures E-35 through E-37), concrete wall panels are cast on the ground



Figure E-35 Drawing of tilt-up construction typical of the western United States. Tilt-up construction in the eastern United States may incorporate a steel frame.



Figure E-36 Tilt-up industrial building, 1970s.



Figure E-37 Tilt-up industrial building, mid- to late 1980s.

and then tilted upward into their final positions. More recently, wall panels are fabricated off-site and trucked to the site.

Tilt-up buildings are an inexpensive form of light industrial and commercial construction and have become increasingly popular in the western and central United States since the 1940s. They are typically one and sometimes two stories high and basically have a simple rectangular plan. The walls are the lateral-force-resisting system. The roof can be a plywood diaphragm carried on wood purlins and gluelaminated (glulam) wood beams or a light steel deck and joist system, supported in the interior of the building on steel pipe columns. The wall panels are attached to concrete cast-in-place pilasters or to steel columns, or the joint is simply closed with a later concrete pour. These joints are typically spaced about 20 feet apart.

The major defect in existing tilt-ups is a lack of positive anchorage between wall and diaphragm, which has been corrected since about 1973 in the western United States.

In the western United States, it can be assumed that all one-story concrete industrial warehouses with

flat roofs built after 1950 are tilt-ups unless supplementary information indicates otherwise.

E.10.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Before 1973 in the western United States, many tiltup buildings did not have sufficiently strong connections or anchors between the walls and the roof and floor diaphragms. The anchorage typically was nothing more than the nailing of the plywood roof sheathing to the wood ledgers supporting the framing.

During an earthquake, the weak anchorage broke the ledgers, resulting in the panels falling and the supported framing to collapse. When mechanical anchors were used they pulled out of the walls or split the wood members to which they were attached, causing the floors or roofs to collapse. See Figures E-38 and E-39. The connections between the concrete panels are also vulnerable to failure. Without these connections, the building loses much of its lateral-force-resisting capacity. For these reasons, many tilt-up buildings were damaged in the 1971 San



Figure E-38 Tilt-up construction anchorage failure.



Figure E-39 Result of failure of the roof beam anchorage to the wall in tilt-up building.

Fernando, California, earthquake. Since 1973, tiltup construction practices have changed in California and other high-seismicity regions, requiring positive wall-diaphragm connection. (Such requirements may not have yet been made in other regions of the country.) However, a large number of these older, pre-1970s-vintage tilt-up buildings still exist and have not been rehabilitated to correct this wall-anchor defect. Damage to these buildings was observed again in the 1987 Whittier, California, earthquake, 1989 Loma Prieta, California earthquake, and the 1994 Northridge, California, earthquake. These buildings are a prime source of seismic hazard.

In areas of low or moderate seismicity, inadequate wall anchor details continue to be used. Severe ground shaking in such an area may produce major damage in tilt-up buildings.

E.10.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

The rehabilitation of tilt-up buildings is relatively easy and inexpensive. The most common form of rehabilitation is to provide a positive anchorage connection at the roof and wall intersection. This is usually done by using pre-fabricated metal hardware attached to the framing member and to a bolt that is installed through the wall. On the outside of the wall a large washer plate is used. See Figure E-40 for examples of new anchors.

Accompanying the anchorage rehabilitation is the addition of ties across the building to develop the anchorage forces from the wall panels fully into the diaphragm. This is accomplished by interconnecting framing members from one side of the building to the other, and then increasing the connections of the diaphragm (usually wood) to develop the additional forces.

E.11 Precast Concrete Frame (PC2)

E.11.1 Characteristics

Precast concrete frame construction, first developed in the 1930s, was not widely used until the 1960s. The precast frame (Figure E-41) is essentially a post and beam system in concrete where columns, beams and slabs are prefabricated and assembled on site. Various types of members are used. Vertical-loadcarrying elements may be Ts, cross shapes, or arches and are often more than one story in height. Beams are often Ts and double Ts, or rectangular sections. Prestressing of the members, including pretensioning and post-tensioning, is often employed. The identification of this structure type cannot rely solely on construction date, although most precast concrete





Figure E-40 Newly installed anchorage of roof beam to wall in tilt-up building.

frame structures were constructed after 1960. Some typical characteristics are the following.

- Precast concrete, in general, is of a higher quality and precision compared to cast-in-place concrete. It is also available in a greater range of textures and finishes. Many newer concrete and steel buildings have precast concrete panels and column covers as an exterior finish (See Figure E-42). Thus, the presence of precast concrete does not necessarily mean that it is a precast concrete frame.
- 2. Precast concrete frames are, in essence, post and beam construction in concrete. Therefore, when a concrete structure displays the features of a post-and-beam system, it is most likely that it is a precast concrete frame. It is usually not economical for a conventional cast-in-place concrete frame to look like a post-and-beam system. Features of a precast concrete post-and-beam system include:
- a. exposed ends of beams and girders that project beyond their supports or project away from the building surface,

Roof/floor span systems:

- 1. structural concrete "T" sections
- 2. structural double "T" sections
- 3. hollow core concrete slab

Wall systems:

- 4. load-bearing frame components (cross)
- 5. multi-story load-bearing panels



Curtain wall system: 6. precast concrete panels 7. metal, glass, or stone panels

Figure E-41 Drawing of precast concrete frame building.

- b. the absence of small joists, and
- c. beams sitting on top of girders rather than meeting at a monolithic joint (see Figure E-43)

The presence of precast structural components is usually a good indication of this system, although these components are also used in mixed construction. Precast structural components come in a variety of shapes and sizes. The most common types are sometimes difficult to detect from the street. Less common but more obvious examples include the following.

a. Ts or double Ts—These are deep beams with thin webs and flanges and with large span capacities.

(Figure E-44 shows one end of a double-T beam as it is lowered onto its seat.)

Structural system:

8. precast column and beams

- b. Cross or T-shaped units of partial columns and beams — These are structural units for constructing moment-resisting frames. They are usually joined together by field welding of steel connectors cast into the concrete. Joints should be clearly visible at the mid-span of the beams or the mid-height of the columns. See Figure E-45.
- c. Precast arches—Precast arches and pedestals are popular in the architecture of these buildings.
- d. Column—When a column displays a precast finish without an indication that it has a cover (i.e.,



Figure E-42 Typical precast column cover on a steel or concrete moment frame.



Figure E-43 Exposed precast double-T sections and overlapping beams are indicative of precast frames.



Figure E-44 Example of precast double-T section during installation.



Figure E-45 Precast structural cross; installation joints are at sections where bending is minimum during high seismic demand.

no vertical seam can be found), the column is likely to be a precast structural column.

It is possible that a precast concrete frame may not show any of the above features, however.

E.11.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

The earthquake performance of this structural type varies widely and is sometimes poor. This type of building can perform well if the detailing used to connect the structural elements have sufficient strength and ductility (toughness). Because structures of this type often employ cast-in-place concrete or reinforced masonry (brick or block) shear walls for lateral-load resistance, they experience the same types of damage as other shear-wall building types. Some of the problem areas specific to precast frames are listed below.

- 1. Poorly designed connections between prefabricated elements can fail.
- 2. Accumulated stresses can result due to shrinkage and creep and due to stresses incurred in transportation.
- 3. Loss of vertical support can occur due to inadequate bearing area and insufficient connection between floor elements and columns.
- 4. Corrosion of the metal connectors between prefabricated elements can occur.

E.11.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

Seismic rehabilitation techniques for precast concrete frame buildings are varied, depending on the elements being strengthened. Inadequate shear capacity of floor diaphragms can be addressed by adding reinforced concrete topping to an untopped system when possible, or adding new shear walls to reduce the seismic shear forces in the diaphragm. Corbels with inadequate vertical shear or bending strength can be strengthened by adding epoxied horizontal shear dowels through the corbel and into the column. Alternatively, vertical shear capacity can be increased by adding a structural steel bolster under the corbel, bolted to the column, or a new steel column or reinforced concrete column can be added (ATC, 1992).

E.12 Reinforced Masonry (RM1 and RM2)

E.12.1 Characteristics

Reinforced masonry buildings are mostly low-rise structures with perimeter bearing walls, often with wood diaphragms (RM1 buildings) although precast concrete is sometimes used (RM2 buildings). Floor and roof assemblies usually consist of timber joists and beams, glued-laminated beams, or light steel joists. The bearing walls consist of grouted and reinforced hollow or solid masonry units. Interior supports, if any, are often wood or steel columns, wood stud frames, or masonry walls. Occupancy varies from small commercial buildings to residential and industrial buildings. Generally, they are less than five stories in height although many taller masonry buildings exist. Reinforced masonry structures are usually basically rectangular structures (See Figure E-46).



Figure E-46 Modern reinforced brick masonry.

To identify reinforced masonry, one must determine separately if the building is masonry and if it is reinforced. To obtain information on how to recognize a masonry structure, see Appendix D, which describes the characteristics of construction materials. The best way of assessing the reinforcement condition is to compare the date of construction with the date of code requirement for the reinforcement of masonry in the local jurisdiction. The screener also needs to determine if the building is veneered with masonry or is a masonry building. Wood siding is seldom applied over masonry. If the front facade appears to be reinforced masonry whereas the side has wood siding, it is probably a wood frame that has undergone facade renovation. The back of the building should be checked for signs of the original construction type.

If it can be determined that the bearing walls are constructed of concrete blocks, they may be reinforced. Load-bearing structures using these blocks are probably reinforced if the local code required it. Concrete blocks come in a variety of sizes and textures. The most common size is 8 inches wide by 16 inches long by 8 inches high. Their presence is obvious if the concrete blocks are left as the finish surface.

E.12.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Reinforced masonry buildings can perform well in moderate earthquakes if they are adequately reinforced and grouted, and if sufficient diaphragm anchorage exists. A major problem is control of the workmanship during construction. Poor construction practice can result in ungrouted and unreinforced walls. Even where construction practice is adequate, insufficient reinforcement in the design can be responsible for heavy damage of the walls. The lack of positive connection of the floor and roof diaphragms to the wall is also a problem.

E.12.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

Techniques for seismic rehabilitation of reinforced masonry bearing wall buildings are varied, depending on the element being rehabilitated. Techniques for rehabilitating masonry walls include: (1) applying a layer of concrete or shotcrete to the existing walls; (2) adding vertical reinforcing and grouting into ungrouted block walls; and (3) filling in large or critical openings with reinforced concrete or masonry dowelled to the surrounding wall. Wood or steel deck diaphragms in RM1 buildings can be rehabilitated by adding an additional layer of plywood to strengthen and stiffen an existing wood diaphragm, by shear welding between sections of an existing steel deck or adding flat sheet steel reinforcement, or by adding additional vertical elements (for example, shear walls or braced frames) to decrease diaphragm spans and stresses. Precast floor diaphragms in RM2 buildings can be strengthen by adding a layer of concrete topping reinforced with mesh (if the supporting structure has the capacity to carry the additional vertical dead load), or by adding new shear walls to reduce the diaphragm span (ATC, 1992).

Roof/floor span systems:

- 1. wood post and beam (heavy timber)
- Roof/floor diaphragms:
- diagonal sheathing
 straight sheathing
- wood post, beam, and joist (mill construction)
 wood truss-- pitch and curve



6. typical unbraced parapet and cornice

7. flat arch window opennings

Wall systems: 8. bearing wall-- four or more wythes of brick 9. typical long solid party wall

Figure E-47 Drawing of unreinforced masonry bearing-wall building, 2-story.

E.13 Unreinforced Masonry (URM)

E.13.1 Characteristics

Most unreinforced masonry (URM) bearing-wall structures in the western United States (Figures E-47 through E-51) were built before 1934, although this construction type was permitted in some jurisdictions having moderate or high seismicity until the late 1940s or early 1950s (in some jurisdictions URM may still be a common type of construction, even today). These buildings usually range from one to six stories in height and function as commercial, residential, or industrial buildings. The construction varies according to the type of use, although wood floor and roof diaphragms are common. Smaller commercial and residential buildings usually have light wood floor joists and roof joists supported on the typical perimeter URM wall and interior, wood, load-bearing partitions. Larger buildings, such as industrial warehouses, have heavier floors and interior columns, usually of wood. The bearing walls of these industrial buildings tend to be thick, often as much as 24 inches or more at the base. Wall thickness of residential, commercial, and office buildings range from 9 inches at upper floors to 18 inches a lower floors.

The first step in identifying buildings of this type is to determine if the structure has bearing walls. Second, the screener should determine the approximate age of the building. Some indications of unreinforced masonry are listed below.

1. Weak mortar was used to bond the masonry units together in much of the early unreinforced

Roof/floor span systems: 1. wood post and beam (heavy timber)

- Roof/floor diaphragms:
 - diagonal sheathing
 straight sheathing
- 2. wood post, beam, and joist (mill construction)
- 3. wood truss-- pitch and curve



Wall systems:

Details:

- 6. typical unbraced parapet and cornice
- 7. flat arch window opennings

8. small window penetrations (if bldg is originally a warehouse)

Figure E-48 Drawing of unreinforced masonry bearing-wall building, 4-story.

masonry construction in the United States. As the poor earthquake performance of this mortar type became known in the 1930s, and as cement mortar became available, this weaker mortar was not used and thus is not found in more recent masonry buildings. If this soft mortar is present, it is probably URM. Soft mortar can be scratched with a hard instrument such as a penknife, screwdriver, or a coin. This scratch testing, if permitted, should be done in a wall area where the original structural material is exposed, such as the sides or back of a building. Newer masonry may be used in renovations and it may look very much like the old. Older mortar joints can also be repointed (i.e., regular maintenance of the masonry mortar), or repaired with newer mortar during renovation. The original construction may also have used a high-quality mortar. Thus, even if the existence of soft mortar cannot be detected, it may still be URM.

9. bearing wall-- four to eight wythes of brick

2. An architectural characteristic of older brick bearing-wall structures is the arch and flat arch

Roof/floor span systems:

1. wood post and beam (heavy timber)

Roof/floor diaphragms:3. diagonal sheathing4. straight sheathing

2. wood post, beam, and joist (mill construction)



Details:

- 5. typical unbraced parapet and cornice
- 6. flat arch window opennings
- 7. typical penetrated facade of residential buildings
- 8. large opennings of ground floor shops

Wall systems:

- 9. bearing wall-- four to eight wythes of brick
- 10. typical long solid party wall
- 11. light/ventilation wells in residential bldg
- 12. non-structural wood stud partition walls
- Figure E-49 Drawing of unreinforced masonry bearing-wall building, 6-story.



Figure E-50 East coast URM bearing-wall building.



Figure E-51 West coast URM bearing-wall building.



Figure E-52 Drawings of typical window head features in URM bearing-wall buildings.

window heads (see Figure E-52). These arrangements of masonry units function as a header to carry the load above the opening to either side. Although masonry-veneered wood-frame structures may have these features, they are much more widely used in URM bearing-wall structures, as they were the most economical method of spanning over a window opening at the time of construction. Other methods of spanning are also used, including steel and stone lintels, but these methods are generally more costly and usually employed in the front facade only.

3. Some structures of this type will have anchor plates visible at the floor and roof lines, approximately 6-10 feet on center around the perimeter of the building. Anchor plates are usually square or diamond-shaped steel plates approximately 6 inches by 6 inches, with a bolt and nut at the center. Their presence indicates anchor ties have been placed to tie the walls to the floors and roof. These are either from the original construction or from rehabilitation under local ordinances. Unless the anchors are 6 feet on center or less, they are not considered effective in earthquakes. If they are closely spaced, and appear to be recently installed, it indicates that the building has been rehabilitated. In either case, when these anchors are present all around the building, the original construction is URM bearing wall.

- 4. When a building has many exterior solid walls constructed from hollow clay tile, and no columns of another material can be detected, it is probably not a URM bearing wall but probably a wood or metal frame structure with URM infill.
- One way to distinguish a reinforced masonry building from an unreinforced masonry building is to examine the brick pattern closely. Reinforced masonry usually does not show header bricks in the wall surface.

If a building does not display the above features, or if the exterior is covered by other finish material, the building may still be URM.

E.13.2 Typical Earthquake Damage

Unreinforced masonry structures are recognized as the most hazardous structural type. They have been observed to fail in many modes during past earthquakes. Typical problems include the following.

1. Insufficient Anchorage—Because the walls, parapets, and cornices are not positively anchored to the floors, they tend to fall out. The collapse of bearing walls can lead to major building collapses. Some of these buildings have anchors as a part of the original construction or as a rehabilitation. These older anchors exhibit questionable performance. (See Figure E-53 for parapet damage.)



Figure E-53 Parapet failure leaving an uneven roof line, due to inadequate anchorage, 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake.

2. Excessive Diaphragm Deflection—Because most of the floor diaphragms are constructed of finished wood flooring placed over ³/₄"-thick wood sheathing, they tend to be stiff compared with other types of wood diaphragms. This stiffness results in rotations about a vertical axis, accompanying translations in the direction of the open front walls of buildings, due to a lack of inplane stiffness in these open fronts. Because there is little resistance in the masonry walls for out-of-plane loading, the walls allow large diaphragm displacements and cause the failure of the walls out of their plane. Large drifts occurring at the roof line can cause a masonry wall to overturn and collapse under its own weight.

3. Low Shear Resistance—The mortar used in these older buildings was often made of lime and sand, with little or no cement, and had very little shear strength. The bearing walls will be heavily damaged and collapse under large loads. (See Figure E-54)



Figure E-54 Damaged URM building, 1992 Big Bear earthquake.

4. Slender Walls —Some of these buildings have tall story heights and thin walls. This condition, especially in non-load-bearing walls, will result in buckling out-of-plane under severe lateral load. Failure of a non-load-bearing wall represents a falling hazard, whereas the collapse of a load-bearing wall will lead to partial or total collapse of the structure.

E.13.3 Common Rehabilitation Techniques

Over the last 10 years or more, jurisdictions in California have required that unreinforced masonry bearing-wall buildings be rehabilitated or demolished. To minimize the economical impact on owners of having to rehabilitate their buildings, many jurisdictions implemented phased programs such that the critical items were dealt with first. The following are the key elements included in a typical rehabilitation program.

1. Roof and floor diaphragms are connected to the walls for both anchorage forces (out of the plane of the wall) and shear forces (in the plane of the

wall). Anchorage connections are placed at 6 feet spacing or less, depending on the force requirements. Shear connections are usually placed at around 2 feet center to center. Anchors consist of bolts installed through the wall, with 6-inchsquare washer plates, and connected to hardware attached to the wood framing. Shear connections usually are bolts embedded in the masonry walls in oversized holes filled with either a non-shrink grout or an epoxy adhesive. See Figure E-55.

- 2. In cases when the height to thickness ratio of the walls exceeds the limits of stability, rehabilitation consists of reducing the spans of the wall to a level that their thickness can support. Parapet rehabilitation consists of reducing the parapet to what is required for fire safety and then bracing from the top to the roof.
- 3. If the building has an open storefront in the first story, resulting in a soft story, part of the storefront is enclosed with new masonry or a steel frame is provided there, with new foundations.
- 4. Walls are rehabilitated by either closing openings with reinforced masonry or with reinforced gunite.





Figure E-55 Upper: Two existing anchors above three new wall anchors at floor line using decorative washer plates. Lower: Rehabilitation techniques include closely spaced anchors at floor and roof levels.
Appendix F Earthquakes and How Buildings Resist Them

F.1 The Nature of Earthquakes

In a global sense, earthquakes result from motion between plates comprising the earth's crust (see Figure F-1). These plates are driven by the convective motion of the material in the earth's mantle between the core and the crust, which in turn is driven by heat generated at the earth's core. Just as in a heated pot of water, heat from the earth's core causes material to rise to the earth's surface. Forces between the rising material and the earth's crustal plates cause the plates to move. The resulting relative motions of the plates are associated with the generation of earthquakes. Where the plates spread apart, molten material fills the void. An example is the ridge on the ocean floor, at the middle of the Atlantic Ocean. This material quickly cools and, over millions of years, is driven by newer, viscous, fluid material across the ocean floor.

These large pieces of the earth's surface, termed tectonic plates, move very slowly and irregularly. Forces build up for decades, centuries, or millennia at the interfaces (or faults) between plates, until a large releasing movement suddenly occurs. This sudden, violent motion produces the nearby shaking that is felt as an earthquake. Strong shaking produces strong horizontal forces on structures, which can cause direct damage to buildings, bridges, and other manmade structures as well as triggering fires, landslides, road damage, tidal waves (tsunamis) and other damaging phenomena.



Figure F-1 The separate tectonic plates comprising the earth's crust superimposed on a map of the world.

A fault is like a "tear" in the earth's crust and its fault surface may be from one to over one hundred miles deep. In some cases, faults are the physical expression of the boundary between adjacent tectonic plates and thus are hundreds of miles long. In addition, there are shorter faults, parallel to, or branching out from, a main fault zone. Generally, the longer a fault, the larger magnitude earthquake it can generate. Beyond the main tectonic plates, there are many smaller sub-plates, "platelets" and simple blocks of crust which can move or shift due to the "jostling" of their neighbors and the major plates. The known existence of these many sub-plates implies that smaller but still damaging earthquakes are possible almost anywhere.

With the present understanding of the earthquake generating mechanism, the times, sizes and locations of earthquakes cannot be reliably predicted. Generally, earthquakes will be concentrated in the vicinity of faults, and certain faults are more likely than others to produce a large event, but the earthquake generating process is not understood well enough to predict the exact time of earthquake occurrence. Therefore, communities must be prepared for an earthquake to occur at any time.

Four major factors can affect the severity of ground shaking and thus potential damage at a site. These are the magnitude of the earthquake, the type of earthquake, the distance from the source of the earthquake to the site, and the hardness or softness of the rock or soil at the site. Larger earthquakes will shake longer and harder, and thus cause more damage. Experience has shown that the ground motion can be felt for several seconds to a minute or longer. In preparing for earthquakes, both horizontal (side to side) and vertical shaking must be considered.

There are many ways to describe the size and severity of an earthquake and associated ground shaking. Perhaps the most familiar are earthquake magnitude and Modified Mercalli Intensity (MMI, often simply termed "intensity"). Earthquake magnitude is technically known as the Richter magnitude, a numerical description of the maximum amplitude of ground movement measured by a seismograph (adjusted to a standard setting). On the Richter scale, the largest recorded earthquakes have had magnitudes of about 8.5. It is a logarithmic scale, and a unit increase in magnitude corresponds to a ten-fold increase in the adjusted ground displacement amplitude, and to approximately a thirty-fold increase in total potential strain energy released by the earthquake.

Modified Mercalli Intensity (MMI) is a subjective scale defining the level of shaking at specific sites on a scale of I to XII. (MMI is expressed in Roman numerals, to connote its approximate nature.) For example, slight shaking that causes few instances of fallen plaster or cracks in chimneys constitutes MMI VI. It is difficult to find a reliable precise relationship between magnitude, which is a description of the earthquake's total energy level, and intensity, which is a subjective description of the level of shaking of the earthquake at specific sites, because shaking intensity can vary with earthquake magnitude, soil type, and distance from the event.

The following analogy may be worth remembering: earthquake magnitude and intensity are similar to a light bulb and the light it emits. A particular light bulb has only one energy level, or wattage (e.g., 100 watts, analogous to an earthquake's magnitude). Near the light bulb, the light intensity is very bright (perhaps 100 foot-candles, analogous to MMI IX), while farther away the intensity decreases (e.g., 10 footcandles, MMI V). A particular earthquake has only one magnitude value, whereas it has intensity values that differ throughout the surrounding land.

MMI is a subjective measure of seismic intensity at a site, and cannot be measured using a scientific instrument. Rather, MMI is estimated by scientists and engineers based on observations, such as the degree of disturbance to the ground, the degree of damage to typical buildings and the behavior of people. A more objective measure of seismic shaking at a site, which can be measured by instruments, is a simple structure's acceleration in response to the ground motion. In this *Handbook*, the level of ground shaking is described by the spectral response acceleration.

F.2 Seismicity of the United States

Maps showing the locations of earthquake epicenters over a specified time period are often used to characterize the seismicity of given regions. Figures F-2, F-3, and F-4 show the locations of earthquake epicenters⁴ in the conterminous United States, Alaska, and Hawaii, respectively, recorded during the time period, 1977-1997. It is evident from Figures F-2 through F-4 that some parts of the country have experienced more earthquakes than others. The boundary between the North American and Pacific tectonic plates lies along the west coast of the United States and south of Alaska. The San Andreas fault in California and the Aleutian Trench off the coast of Alaska are part of this boundary. These active seismic zones have generated earthquakes with Richter

⁴An epicenter is defined as the point on the earth's surface beneath which the rupture process for a given earthquake commenced.



Figure F-2 Seismicity of the conterminous United States 1977 – 1997 (from the website at http://neic.usgs.gov/ neis/general/seismicity/us.html). This reproduction shows earthquake locations without regard to magnitude or depth. The San Andreas fault and other plate boundaries are indicated with white lines.

magnitudes greater than 8. There are many other smaller fault zones throughout the western United States that are also participating intermittently in releasing the stresses and strains that are built up as the tectonic plates try to move past one another. Because earthquakes always occur along faults, the seismic hazard will be greater for those population centers close to active fault zones.

In California the earthquake hazard is so significant that special study zones have been created by the legislature, and named Alquist-Priola Special Study Zones. These zones cover the larger known faults and require special geotechnical studies to be performed in order to establish design parameters.

On the east coast of the United States, the sources of earthquakes are less understood. There is no plate boundary and few locations of faults are known. Therefore, it is difficult to make statements about where earthquakes are most likely to occur. Several significant historical earthquakes have occurred, such as in Charleston, South Carolina, in 1886 and New Madrid, Missouri, in 1811 and 1812, indicating that there is potential for large earthquakes. However, most earthquakes in the eastern United States are smaller magnitude events. Because of regional geologic differences, specifically, the hardness of the crustal rock, eastern and central U.S. earthquakes are felt at much greater distances from their sources than those in the western United States, sometimes at distances up to a thousand miles.

F.3 Earthquake Effects

Many different types of damage can occur in buildings. Damage can be divided into two categories: structural and nonstructural, both of which can be hazardous to building occupants. Structural damage means degradation of the building's structural support systems (i.e., vertical- and lateral-force-resisting systems), such as the building frames and walls. Nonstructural damage refers to any damage that does not affect the integrity of the structural support systems. Examples of nonstructural damage are chimneys collapsing, windows breaking, or ceilings falling. The type of damage to be expected is a complex issue that depends on the structural type and age of the building, its configuration, construction materials, the site conditions, the proximity of the building to neighboring buildings, and the type of nonstructural elements.



Figure F-3 Seismicity of Alaska 1977 – 1997. The white line close to most of the earthquakes is the plate boundary, on the ocean floor, between the Pacific and North America plates.



Figure F-4 Seismicity of Hawaii 1977 – 1997. See Figure F-2 caption.

When strong earthquake shaking occurs, a building is thrown mostly from side to side, and also up and down. That is, while the ground is violently moving from side to side, taking the building foundation with it, the building structure tends to stay at rest, similar to a passenger standing on a bus that accelerates quickly. Once the building starts moving, it tends to continue in the same direction, but the ground moves back in the opposite direction (as if the bus driver first accelerated quickly, then suddenly braked). Thus the building gets thrown back and forth by the motion of the ground, with some parts of the building lagging behind the foundation movement, and then moving in the opposite direction. The force F that an upper floor level or roof level of the building should successfully resist is related to its mass *m* and its acceleration *a*, according to Newton's law, F = ma. The heavier the building the more the force is exerted. Therefore, a tall, heavy, reinforcedconcrete building will be subject to more force than a lightweight, one-story, wood-frame house, given the same acceleration.

Damage can be due either to structural members (beams and columns) being overloaded or differential movements between different parts of the structure. If the structure is sufficiently strong to resist these forces or differential movements, little damage will result. If the structure cannot resist these forces or differential movements, structural members will be damaged, and collapse may occur.

Building damage is related to the duration and the severity of the ground shaking. Larger earthquakes tend to shake longer and harder and therefore cause more damage to structures. Earthquakes with Richter magnitudes less than 5 rarely cause significant damage to buildings, since acceleration levels (except when the site is on the fault) and duration of shaking for these earthquakes are relatively small.

In addition to damage caused by ground shaking, damage can be caused by buildings pounding against one another, ground failure that causes the degradation of the building foundation, landslides, fires and tidal waves (tsunamis). Most of these "indirect" forms of damage are not addressed in this *Handbook*.

Generally, the farther from the source of an earthquake, the less severe the motion. The rate at which motion decreases with distance is a function of the regional geology, inherent characteristics and details of the earthquake, and its source location. The underlying geology of the site can also have a significant effect on the amplitude of the ground motion there. Soft, loose soils tend to amplify the ground motion and in many cases a resonance effect can make it last longer. In such circumstances, building damage can be accentuated. In the San Francisco earthquake of 1906, damage was greater in the areas where buildings were constructed on loose, manmade fill and less at the tops of the rocky hills. Even more dramatic was the 1985 Mexico City earthquake. This earthquake occurred 250 miles from the city, but very soft soils beneath the city amplified the ground shaking enough to cause weak mid-rise buildings to collapse (see Figure F-5). Resonance of the building frequency with the amplified ground shaking frequency played a significant role. Sites with rock close to or at the surface will be less likely to amplify motion. The type of motion felt also changes with distance from the earthquake. Close to the source the motion tends to be violent rapid shaking, whereas farther away the motion is normally more of a swaying nature. Buildings will respond differently to the rapid shaking than to the swaying motion.

Each building has its own vibrational characteristics that depend on building height and structural type. Similarly, each earthquake has its own vibrational characteristics that depend on the geology of the site, distance from the source, and the type and site of the earthquake source mechanism. Sometimes a natural resonant frequency of the building and a prominent frequency of the earthquake motion are similar and cause a sympathetic response, termed resonance. This causes an increase in the amplitude of the building's vibration and consequently increases the potential for damage.

Resonance was a major problem in the 1985 Mexico City earthquake, in which the total collapse of many mid-rise buildings (Figure F-5) caused many fatalities. Tall buildings at large distances from the earthquake source have a small, but finite, probability of being subjected to ground motions containing frequencies that can cause resonance.

Where taller, more flexible, buildings are susceptible to distant earthquakes (swaying motion) shorter



Figure F-5 Mid-rise building collapse, 1985 Mexico City earthquake.



Figure F-6 Near-field effects, 1992 Landers earthquake, showing house (white arrow) close to surface faulting (black arrow); the insert shows a house interior.

and stiffer buildings are more susceptible to nearby earthquakes (rapid shaking). Figure F-6 shows the effects on shorter, stiffer structures that are close to the source. The inset picture shows the interior of the house. Accompanying the near field effects is surface faulting also shown in Figure F-6.

The level of damage that results from a major earthquake depends on how well a building has been designed and constructed. The exact type of damage cannot be predicted because no two buildings undergo identical motion. However, there are some general trends that have been observed in many earthquakes.

- Newer buildings generally sustain less damage than older buildings designed to earlier codes.
- Common problems in wood-frame construction are the collapse of unreinforced chimneys (Figure F-7) houses sliding off their foundations (Figure F-8),collapse of cripple walls (Figure F-9), or collapse of post and pier foundations (Figure F-10). Although such damage may be costly to repair, it is not usually life threatening.
- The collapse of load bearing walls that support an entire structure is a common form of damage in unreinforced masonry structures (Figure F-11).



Figure F-7 Collapsed chimney with damaged roof, 1987 Whittier Narrows earthquake.

• Similar types of damage have occurred in many older tilt-up buildings (Figure F-12).

From a life-safety perspective, vulnerable buildings need to be clearly identified, and then strengthened or demolished.

F.4 How Buildings Resist Earthquakes

As described above, buildings experience horizontal distortion when subjected to earthquake motion. When these distortions get large, the damage can be catastrophic. Therefore, most buildings are designed



Figure F-8 House that slid off foundation, 1994 Northridge earthquake.



Figure F-9 Collapsed cripple stud walls dropped this house to the ground, 1992 Landers and Big Bear earthquakes.



Figure F-10 This house has settled to the ground due to collapse of its post and pier foundation.



Figure F-11 Collapse of unreinforced masonry bearing wall, 1933 Long Beach earthquake.



Figure F-12 Collapse of a tilt-up bearing wall.

with lateral-force-resisting systems (or seismic systems), to resist the effects of earthquake forces. In many cases seismic systems make a building stiffer against horizontal forces, and thus minimize the amount of relative lateral movement and consequently the damage. Seismic systems are usually designed to resist only forces that result from horizontal ground motion, as distinct from vertical ground motion.

The combined action of seismic systems along the width and length of a building can typically resist earthquake motion from any direction. Seismic systems differ from building to building because the type of system is controlled to some extent by the basic layout and structural elements of the building. Basically, seismic systems consist of axial-, shearand bending-resistant elements.

In wood-frame, stud-wall buildings, plywood siding is typically used to prevent excessive lateral deflection in the plane of the wall. Without the extra strength provided by the plywood, walls would distort excessively or "rack," resulting in broken windows and stuck doors. In older wood frame houses, this resistance to lateral loads is provided by either wood or steel diagonal bracing.

The earthquake-resisting systems in modern steel buildings take many forms. In moment-resisting steel frames, the connections between the beams and the columns are designed to resist the rotation of the column relative to the beam. Thus, the beam and the column work together and resist lateral movement and lateral displacement by bending. Steel frames sometimes include diagonal bracing configurations, such as single diagonal braces, cross-bracing and "Kbracing." In braced frames, horizontal loads are resisted through tension and compression forces in the braces with resulting changed forces in the beams and columns. Steel buildings are sometimes constructed with moment-resistant frames in one direction and braced frames in the other.

In concrete structures, shear walls are sometimes used to provide lateral resistance in the plane of the wall, in addition to moment-resisting frames. Ideally, these shear walls are continuous reinforced-concrete walls extending from the foundation to the roof of the building. They can be exterior walls or interior walls. They are interconnected with the rest of the concrete frame, and thus resist the horizontal motion of one floor relative to another. Shear walls can also be constructed of reinforced masonry, using bricks or concrete blocks.

References

- ASCE, 1998, Handbook for the Seismic Evaluation of Buildings — A Pre-standard, prepared by the American Society of Civil Engineers for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 310 Report, Washington D.C.
- ASCE, 2000, Prestandard and Commentary for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings, prepared by the American Society of Civil Engineers for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 356 Report, Washington, D.C.
- ATC, 1987, Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings, Applied Technology Council, ATC-14 Report, Redwood City, California.
- ATC, 1989, Procedures for Postearthquake Safety Evaluation of Buildings, Applied Technology Council, ATC-20 Report, Redwood City, California.
- ATC, 1992, Procedures for Building Seismic Rehabilitation (Interim), Applied Technology Council, ATC-26-4 Report, Redwood City, California
- ATC, 1995, Addendum to the ATC-20 Postearthquake Building Safety Procedures Applied Technology Council, ATC-20-2 Report, Redwood City, California.
- ATC, 1988a, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings* for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook, prepared by the Applied Technology Council for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 154 Report, Washington, D.C.
- ATC, 1988b, Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation, prepared by the Applied Technology Council for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 155 Report, Washington, D.C.
- ATC, 1997a, NEHRP Guidelines for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings, prepared by the Applied Technology Council for the Building

Seismic Safety Council, published by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 273 Report, Washington, D.C.

- ATC, 1997b, *NEHRP Commentary on the Guidelines for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings*, prepared by the Applied Technology Council for the Building Seismic Safety Council, published by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 274 Report, Washington, D.C.
- ATC, 2002, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings* for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation (2nd edition), prepared by the Applied Technology Council for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 155 Report, Washington, D.C.
- BSSC, 1992, NEHRP Handbook for the Seismic Evaluation of Existing Buildings, prepared by the Building Seismic Safety Council for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 178 Report, Washington D.C.
- BSSC, 1997, NEHRP Recommended Provisions for the Seismic Regulations for New Buildings and Other Structures, and Commentary, prepared by the Building Seismic Safety Council for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 302 and 303 Reports, Washington, D.C.
- BSSC, 2000, NEHRP Recommended Provisions for the Seismic Regulations for New Buildings and Other Structures, and Commentary, 2000 Edition, prepared by the Building Seismic Safety Council for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 368 and 369 Reports, Washington, D.C.
- EERI, 1998, Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings: Strategic Plan 2005, prepared by the Earthquake Engineering Research Institute for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 315 Report, Washington, D.C.
- FEMA, 1995, Typical Costs for Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings, Second Edition, FEMA 156 and 157 Reports, Federal

Emergency Management Agency, Washington, D.C.

- ICBO, 1973, 1997, *Uniform Building Code*, International Conference of Building Officials, Whittier, California.
- NBS, 1980, Development of a Probability Based Load Criterion for American National Standard A58.1, NBS Special Publication 577, National Bureau of Standards, Washington, D.C.
- NIBS, 1999, *Earthquake Loss Estimation Methodology HAZUS, Technical Manual*, Vol. 1, prepared by the National Institute of Building Sciences for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, Washington, D.C.
- ROA, 1998, *Planning for Seismic Rehabilitation: Societal Issues*, developed for the Building Seismic Safety Council, by Robert Olson Associates, Inc., for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA-275 Report, Washington, D.C.

- SAC, 2000, Recommended Seismic Design Criteria for New Steel Moment-Frame Buildings, prepared by the SAC Joint Venture, a partnership of the Structural Engineers Association of California, the Applied Technology Council, and California Universities for Research in Earthquake Engineering, for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 350 Report, Washington, D.C.
- VSP, 1994, Seismic Rehabilitation of Federal Buildings: A Benefit/Cost Model; Volume 1: A Users Manual and Volume 2: Supporting Documentation; prepared by VSP Associates, Sacramento California, for the Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA-255 and FEMA-256 Reports, Washington, D.C.

Web pages

Sanborn Map Company www.sanbornmap.com www.lib.berkeley.edu/EART/sanborn.html

Project Participants

Project Management

Mr. Christopher Rojahn (Principal Investigator) Applied Technology Council 555 Twin Dolphin Drive, Suite 550 Redwood City, California 94065 Dr. Charles Scawthorn (Co-Principal Investigator and Project Director) ABS Consulting 1111 Broadway, 10th Floor Oakland, California 94607

FEMA Management

Mr. Ugo Morelli Federal Emergency Management Agency 500 C Street, Room 416 Washington, DC 20472

Project Advisory Panel

Prof. Thalia Anagnos (San Jose State University) 2631 South Court Palo Alto, California 94306

Mr. John Baals, Seismic Safety Program Coordinator, U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Reclamation Denver Federal Center, Building 67 P.O. Box 25007, D-8110 Denver, Colorado 80225-0007

Mr. James Cagley* Cagley & Associates 6141 Executive Blvd. Rockville, Maryland 20852

Mr. Melvyn Green Melvyn Green & Associates 21307 Hawthorne Blvd., Suite 250 Torrance, California 90503

Mr. Terry Hughes, CBO Code Specialist Hnedak Bobo Group, Inc. 104 South Front Street Memphis, Tennessee 38103

*ATC Board Contact

Prof. Anne S. Kiremidjian (Stanford University) 1421 Berry Hills Court, Los Altos, California 94305

Ms. Joan MacQuarrie Chief Building Official City of Berkeley 2120 Milvia Street Berkeley, California 94704

Mr. Chris D. Poland Degenkolb Engineers 225 Bush Street, Suite 1000 San Francisco, California 94104

Prof. Lawrence D. Reaveley (University of Utah) 1702 Cannes Way Salt Lake City, Utah 84121

Mr. Doug Smits Chief Building/Fire Official City of Charleston 75 Calhoun Street, Division 320 Charleston, South Carolina 29401

Mr. Ted Winstead Winstead Engineering, Inc. 2736 Gerald Ford Drive, East Cordova, Tennessee 38016

Technical Consultants

Mr. Kent David ABS Consulting 1111 Broadway, 10th Floor Oakland, California 94607-5500

Dr. Stephanie A. King Weidlinger Associates 4410 El Camino Real, Suite 110 Los Altos, California 94022

Mr. Vincent Prabis ABS Consulting 1111 Broadway, 10th Floor Oakland, California 94607-5500 Mr. Richard Ranous ABS Consulting 300 Commerce Drive, Suite 200 Irvine, California 92602

Dr. Nilesh Shome ABS Consulting 1111 Broadway, 10th Floor Oakland, California 94607-5500

Workshop Consultants

Mr. William Holmes (Facilitator) Rutherford & Chekene 427 Thirteenth Street Oakland, California 94612 Dr. Keith Porter (Recorder) California Institute of Technology 1200 E. California Blvd., MC 104-44 Pasadena, California 91125

Report Production and Editing

Dr. Gerald Brady Applied Technology Council 555 Twin Dolphin Drive, Suite 550 Redwood City, California 94065

Mr. Peter Mork Applied Technology Council 555 Twin Dolphin Drive, Suite 550 Redwood City, California 94065 Ms. Michelle Schwartzbach Applied Technology Council 555 Twin Dolphin Drive, Suite 550 Redwood City, California 94065

Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: Supporting Documentation



EARTHQUAKE HAZARDS REDUCTION SERIES 42

Issued in Furtherance of the Decade for Natural Disaster Reduction.



NATIONAL EARTHQUAKE HAZARDS REDUCTION PROGRAM

ATC – 21–1

RAPID VISUAL SCREENING OF BUILDINGS FOR POTENTIAL SEISMIC HAZARDS: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

ΔΤC

APPLIED TECHNOLOGY COUNCIL 3 Twin Dolphin Drive Redwood City, California 94065

Funded by FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY Washington, DC

April 1988

ATC-21 PROJECT PARTICIPANTS

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR Christopher Rojahn CO-PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR Chris D. Poland

SUBCONTRACTOR Charles Scawthorn, Consultant to Dames & Moore

TECHNICAL COMMUNICATION CONSULTANT Joann T. Dennett

PROJECT ENGINEERING PANEL

Christopher Arnold Maurice R. Harlan Fred Herman William T. Holmes H. S. Lew Bruce C. Olsen Lawrence D. Reaveley Claire B. Rubin Howard Simpson Ted Winstead Domenic A. Zigant

APPLIED TECHNOLOGY COUNCIL

The Applied Technology Council (ATC) is a non-profit, tax-exempt corporation established in 1971 through the efforts of the Structural Engineers Association of California. The purpose of ATC is to assist the design practitioner in structural engineering (and related design speciality fields such as soils, wind, and earthquake) in the task of keeping abreast of and effectively utilizing technological developments. To this end, ATC also identifies and encourages needed research and develops consensus opinions on structural engineering issues in a non-proprietary format. ATC thereby fulfills a unique role in funded information transfer.

The Applied Technology Council is guided by a twelve-member Board of Directors. The

Board consists of representatives appointed by the American Society of Civil Engineers, the Structural Engineers Association of California, the Western States Council of Structural Engineers Associations, and two at-large representatives concerned with the practice of structural engineering. Each director serves a three-year term. Project management and administration are carried out by a full-time Executive Director and support staff. ATC calls upon a wide range of highly qualified professionals as consultants on specific projects, thus incorporating the experience of many individuals from academia, research and professional practice who would not be available from any single organization.

1987-88 Board of Directors Philip J. Richter, President Lawrence D. Reaveley, Vice President Sigmund A. Freeman, Secretary-Treasurer Robert K. Burkett Barry J. Goodno T. Robert Kealey L. W. Lu Gerard C. Pardoen Robert F. Preece Arthur E. Ross J. John Walsh Loring A. Wyllie, Jr.

ATC DISCLAIMER

Although the information presented in this report is believed to be correct, ATC and the sponsoring agency assume no responsibility for its accuracy or for the opinions expressed herein. The material presented in this publication should not be used or relied upon for any specific application without competent examination and verification of its accuracy, suitability, and applicability by qualified professionals. Users of information from this publication assume all liability arising from such use.

FEMA FOREWORD

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is pleased to have sponsored the preparation of this publication on rapid visual screening of seismically hazardous buildings. The publication is one of a series that FEMA is sponsoring to encourage local decision makers, the design professions, and other interested groups to undertake a program of mitigating the risks that would be posed by existing hazardous buildings in case of an earthquake. Publications in this series examine both engineering and architectural aspects as well as societal impacts of such an undertaking. They are prepared under the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program.

FEMA's program to mitigate the hazards posed by existing buildings was started in 1984 after resources appeared adequate to ensure the completion of a set of practical materials on the seismic safety of new buildings. The first project undertaken was the preparation of a *Plan* of Action and companion Workshop Proceedings by a joint venture consisting of Applied Technology Council (ATC), the Building Seismic Safety Council (BSSC), and the Earthquake Engineering Research Institute (EERI). The *Plan* included 23 priority items with a cost of about \$40M and is being used as a "road map" by FEMA to chart activities and interpret, regroup, and expand projects in this area.

These activities will result in a coherent, cohesive, carefully selected and planned reinforcing set of documents enjoying a broad consensus and designed for national applicability. The resultant publications (descriptive reports, handbooks, and supporting documentation) will provide guidance primarily to local elected and appointed officials and design professions on how to deal not only with engineering problems, but also with public policy issues and societal dislocations. It is a truly interdisciplinary set of documents, even more so in concept and scope than the set related to new buildings.

Completed in the spring of 1988 were:

- The first collection of costs incurred in seismic rehabilitation of existing buildings of different occupancies, construction, and other characteristics, based on a sample of about 600 projects;
- A handbook (and supporting documentation) on how to conduct a rapid, visual screening of buildings potentially hazardous in an earthquake (ATC-21 and ATC-21-1 reports); and
- A report on the state-of-the-art of heavy urban rescue and victim extrication (ATC-21-2 report).

In preparation are:

- A handbook (and supporting documentation) on consensus-backed and nationally applicable methodologies to evaluate in detail the seismic risk posed by existing buildings of different characteristics (ATC-22 and ATC-22-1 reports);
- An identification of consensus-backed and nationally applicable techniques for the seismic-strengthening of existing buildings of different characteristics and a methodology to estimate their costs, with supporting documentation; and
- A handbook on how to set priorities for the seismic retrofitting of existing buildings—a truly interdisciplinary examination of the complex public policysocietal impacts of retrofitting activities at the local level.

- In competitive procurement is:
- An identification of existing and realistically achievable financial incentives in the public and private sectors derived with the assistance of a user group and disseminated in selected localities cooperating in the effort.

Additionally recommended actions are:

- Cost benefit analyses to determine the costs and benefits resulting from rehabilitating selected types of buildings with selected occupancies in a number of cities in different seismic zones. They will build on all the engineering and societal information developed or being developed by the ongoing projects relating to existing buildings. Output will provide findings and recommendations in both strictly economic terms and also in societal and public-policy-related terms.
- A set of nationally applicable and consensus-approved guidelines for the seismic rehabilitation of existing buildings based on acceptable performance and other overarching criteria for strengthening buildings, and on the information developed in the other handbooks and supporting engineering reports described earlier. Reflected in the guidelines will also be the latest research results and technical lessons learned from recent earthquakes.
- Complementary materials to encourage the use of the recommended guidelines similar to those developed for new buildings.

• Information dissemination for existing hazardous buildings, to be modeled after and grafted onto the existing BSSC project of information dissemination on new buildings.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

With respect to this publication, FEMA gratefully acknowledges the expertise and efforts of Dr. Charles Scawthorn, the principal author, his staff and consultants, the Project Engineering Panel, Technical Advisory Committee, and the Applied Technology Council management and staff.

FEMA NOTICE

Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in the publication do not necessarily reflect the views of the Federal Emergency Management Agency. Additionally, neither FEMA nor any of its employees make any warranty, expressed or implied, nor assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, product, or process included in this publication.

The report was prepared under Contract EMW-86-C-2359 between the Federal Emergency Management Agency and the Applied Technology Council.

For further information regarding this document, or additional copies, contact the Federal Emergency Management Agency, Earthquake Programs, 500 "C" Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20472 In April 1987 the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) awarded the Applied Technology Council (ATC) a 1-year contract to develop a handbook on rapid visual screening of seismically hazardous buildings. The intent of the handbook is to provide a standard rapid visual screening procedure to identify those buildings that might pose potentially serious risk of loss of life and injury, or of severe curtailment of community services, in case of a damaging earthquake.

As the initial step in the development of this handbook, ATC evaluated existing procedures and identified a recommended rapid screening procedure. Included in this report are the results of this initial effort: (1) a review and evaluation of existing procedures; (2) a listing of attributes considered ideal for a rapid visual screening procedure; and (3) a technical discussion of the recommended rapid visual screening procedure. Also included as appendices are sample data entry forms for existing procedures and other supporting information.

Dames & Moore, San Francisco, California, a consulting firm with experience in the seismic evaluation of existing buildings, served as the project subcontractor. Charles Scawthorn, formerly with Dames & Moore and currently with EQE, Inc. San Francisco, served as Principal Author. He was assisted by Thalia Anagnos of San Jose State University. Members of the Project Engineering Panel who provided overall review and guidance for the project were: Christopher Arnold, Maurice R. Harlan, Fred Herman, William T. Holmes, H. S. Lew, Bruce C. Olsen, Chris D. Poland (Co-Principal Investigator), Lawrence D. Reaveley, Christopher Rojahn (Principal Investigator), Claire B. Rubin, Howard Simpson, Ted Winstead, and Domenic A. Zigant. Members of the Technical Advisory Committee, who reviewed the handbook from the user perspective near the close of the project, were: John L. Aho, Brent Ballif, Richard V. Bettinger, Patricia A. Bolton, Don Campi, Laurie Friedman, Terry Hughes, Donald K. Jephcott, Bill R. Manning, Guy J. P. Nordenson, Richard A. Parmelee, Earl Schwartz, William Sommers, Delbert Ward and Dot Y. Yee. Joann T. Dennett served as Technical Communication Consultant. The affiliations of these individuals are provided in Appendix D.

ATC also gratefully acknowledges the participation of the following individuals: Ugo Morelli, FEMA Project Officer, for his valuable assistance, support, and cooperation; Allan R. Porush, William E. Gates, Mike Mehrain and Ronald T. Eguchi of Dames & Moore for their review comments; Sandra Rush of RDD Consultants and Michele Todd of ATC for preparing the final manuscript; and Tom Sabol of Englekirk & Hart, for checking scores presented in Appendix B.

> Christopher Rojahn ATC Executive Director

This is the second of a two-volume publication on a methodology for rapid visual screening of buildings for potential seismic hazard. A detailed description of the recommended procedure for identifying potentially hazardous buildings, including information to aid the field surveyor in identifying structural framing systems, is contained in the companion ATC-21 Report, *Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook* (ATC, 1988).

A literature review of existing procedures for rapid visual screening of buildings for potential seismic hazards showed that few rapid screening methods exist in the literature, and that none has widespread application. A survey of practice indicated that present earthquake structural engineering practice may often involve an engineer conducting a "walk-through" survey of a building, but engineering practitioners appear to rely on extensive experience and judgment rather than any formal procedure. Although some rapid visual studies have been performed, mainly in California to identify unreinforced masonry (URM), these are not well documented in the literature.

The literature search and a review of surveys conducted by communities indicated that a satisfactory rapid visual screening procedure does not presently exist. A satisfactory rapid visual screening procedure would include the following attributes: (i) explicit definition of the expected ground motion (i.e., the "earthquake loading"); (ii) consideration of all major building types, not just one or two; (iii) a procedure whereby the degree of seismic hazard is quantitatively determined, thus permitting priorities to be set with regard to mitigation planning and detailed investigations of the most potentially hazardous buildings; (iv) a rational, analytically based framework for this quantitative procedure (in which weights or factors are not arbitrary), whereby the quantitative results relate to physical quantities and have a physical interpretation; (v) ability to be used nationwide and to account for local variations in building practice, loading levels, and site conditions; (vi) recognition and incorporation of probabilistic concepts, to permit treatment of the inherent uncertainties in attempting to identify building types and characteristics; (vii) incorporation of such factors as building age and condition; and (viii) background reference material illustrating building types, various structural hazards and related information.

This report presents a recommended procedure incorporating these attributes. It is based on a Basic Structural Hazard score, which equals the negative logarithm of the probability of major damage, with major damage defined as 60% or greater of the building's replacement value. Values of the Basic Structural Hazard score for 12 building types are determined for the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program (NEHRP) (BSSC, 1985) Map Areas 1 to 7, using data from ATC-13 (ATC, 1985). Modifiers on this score are also presented, based on the collective opinion of the Project Engineering Panel and other engineers nationwide for important seismic performancerelated factors such as age, poor condition, and soft story. The procedure can be implemented in the field by use of a standard clipboard form, including a field photo and sketch of the building. Information to aid the field surveyor in identifying the appropriate building type and assigning a Basic Structural Hazard score and modifiers, are provided in the associated handbook, (ATC, 1988).

GLOSSARY

AF	Assessor Files	
ABAG	Association of Bay Area Governments	
ATC	Applied Technology Council	· ·
BF	Braced frame	
BSSC	Building Seismic Safety Council	and the state of
BW	Bearing wall	: :
CF	Concrete frame	
CSW	Concrete shear wall	
CSWF	Combined shear wall, moment resisting frame	
EERC	Earthquake Engineering Research Center	•
EO	Farthquake	
FEMA	Federal Emergency Management Agency	
GNDT	Gruppo Nazionale per la Difesa dai Terremoti	
HOG	House over garage	
LB	Long Beach	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
LM	Light metal	
MH	Mobile home	
MMI	Modified Mercalli intensity	
MSW	Masonry shear wall	$\frac{2\pi i r}{r} = \frac{2\pi i r}{r}$
N/A	Not applicable	to service and a service of the serv
ND-RC	Non-ductile reinforced concrete	
NEHRP	National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program	m
NISEE	National Information Service for Earthquake Er	ngineering
NSF	National Science Foundation	
PEP	Project Engineering Panel	
P/F	Pass/fail	
RC	Reinforced concrete	
RM	Reinforced masonry	
RSP	Rapid visual screening procedure	
S	Structural Score	and the second
Sbn	Sanborn maps	
SMRF	Steel moment resisting frame	
SF	Steel frame	
ŚW	Shear wall	
TU	Tilt-up construction	
UBC	Uniform Building Code	
URM	Unreinforced masonry	· ·
W	Wood building, any type	
WF	Wood frame	
***	TT UUU ALUIAV	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FEMA Forewo	rd		iii
Preface			v
Summary			vi
Glossary			vii
1. INTRO	DUCTION		1
2. ATTR	IBUTES OF AN IDEAL RAPID VISUAL SCRE	EENING	
PROC	EDURE	-	5
3. SUM	MARY OF EXISTING RAPID SCREENING PR	OCEDURES	9
4. EVAL	UATION OF EXISTING RAPID SCREENING		
PROC	EDURES		19
5. RECO	MMENDED RAPID VISUAL SCREENING PR	OCEDURE	41
CITED REFER	RENCES		47
OTHER REFE	RENCES REVIEWED DURING RSP EVALUA	TION	49
APPENDIX A	SAMPLE DATA SHEETS		53
APPENDIX B	DETERMINATION OF STRUCTURAL HAZ	LARD SCORE	
	AND MODIFIERS		103
APPENDIX C	CRITERIA FOR SELECTION OF A CUT-O	FF SCORE	125
APPENDIX D	ATC-21 PROJECT PARTICIPANTS		127
APPENDIX E	ATC PROJECT AND REPORT INFORMAT	ION	131

INTRODUCTION

This report, sponsored by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), reviews the literature and existing procedures on rapid visual screening in order to determine a recommended procedure as a first step toward the development of a handbook on the rapid visual screening of buildings for potential seismic hazards. The intent of the Handbook, which will be referred to as the ATC-21 Handbook (ATC, 1988), is to provide the target audience with a standard rapid visual screening procedure to identify those buildings that might pose potentially serious risk of loss and life and injury, or of severe curtailment of community services, in case of a damaging earthquake.

A rapid visual screening procedure (Rapid Screening Procedure, abbreviated RSP) is a methodology that, with associated background information, would permit an individual to visually inspect a building and, by obtaining selected data, to arrive at a decision as to which buildings should be further studied by an experienced professional engineer who would conduct a more in-depth review of the seismic capacity using structural drawings, design calculations, and perhaps inspecting the structure itself. The RSP inspection and decision-making process typically would occur on the spot, with perhaps two to four "average" buildings being reviewed per person-hour (i.e., 15 to 30 person-minutes per building). The personnel doing the rapid screening would typically not be experts in earthquake performance of buildings, but rather building inspectors, technicians or junior engineers.

Visual inspection would be a "sidewalk survey" done from the street, without benefit of entry to the building and without access to the structural drawings or most other supplementary information. In some cases, general structural general structural system-related information may be available to the inspector via building department or tax assessor files. (Note, however, that experience has shown the latter often to be unreliable with regard to structure information.) In effect, the inspector would note the dimensions of the building, its occupancy, structural materials and systems, condition, and other information. This information would be entered onto a form (on a clipboard or electronically), and employed in algorithms to determine a seismic hazard ranking for that building.

The RSP would be the first step of a two or more step process, in which ideally the RSP would permit (i) identification of those buildings that require additional, more detailed investigation by qualified engineers, and (ii) prioritization of the buildings to be further investigated, so that technical and other resources could be most effectively utilized.

It should be emphasized that any RSP is by definition a very approximate procedure, which will almost certainly fail to identify some potentially seismically hazardous buildings. The goal is to broadly identify *most* of the potentially seismically hazardous buildings, at a relatively modest expenditure of time and effort, and to eliminate *most* of the relatively adequate buildings from further review. Lastly, an RSP is a methodology intended for rapidly evaluating the hundreds or thousands of buildings in a community. It is *definitely not* intended for the full determination of the seismic safety of individual buildings.

The target audience for the ATC-21 Handbook includes:

- local building officials
- professional engineers

- registered architects
- building owners
- emergency managers
- interested citizens

Any or all of these people might be involved in efforts to identify a community's seismically hazardous buildings and mitigate the hazard. It is recognized, however, that building inspectors are the most likely group to implement an RSP, and this group is considered the primary target audience.

This report identifies, reviews, and critiques those RSP's currently or previously used to evaluate seismically hazardous buildings. For each method the following is provided:

- a description and discussion of technical advantages and disadvantages, including suitability of scope and format, and costs of implementation
- impacts and implications of regional variations in construction practices and seismic loading levels
- suitability for use by each segment of the target audience
- the general level of uncertainty inherent in its use

Three main sources for identifying existing procedures were used:

- the technical literature
- discussions with jurisdictions and communities that have performed or attempted a survey of their seismically hazardous buildings
- practicing professional engineers who are called upon to provide opinions as to the seismic hazard of a building or other structures. (Prominent engineering firms have performed rapid screenings of hundreds of buildings.)

Technical literature was identified by electronic data retrieval (i.e., the Engineering Index, accessed via Dialog); citations furnished by the ATC-21 Project Engineering Panel; review of the National Information Service for Earthquake Engineering (NISEE) holdings at the Earthquake Engineering Research Center in Richmond, California; and information and references in the author's files.

There exists an extensive body of literature on methods of seismic analysis and/or review of existing buildings. However, most of these methods are simplified or more or less detailed engineering analysis procedures, involving computations of seismic demand and capacity, often with the benefit of the structural plans or similar detailed privy information. Although some of these methods contain an initial rapid visual screening element, most do not. Therefore, only those methods that explicitly have a rapid visual screening element have been reviewed herein, and no attempt has been made to review the much larger literature of seismic evaluation of existing buildings.

Following this first section, the remainder of this report consists of the following chapters:

- Chapter 2: Definition of an ideal rapid visual screening procedure, against which existing methods are judged
- Chapter 3: Summary of each of the RSP's identified
- Chapter 4: Presentation of the evaluation criteria used in this project and a detailed evaluation of the following aspects of the RSPs reviewed herein:
 - Organizational
 - Structural
 - Configuration
 - Site and Non-structural
 - Personnel
- Chapter 5: Recommended procedure for rapid visual screening of buildings for potential seismic hazards

2 Introduction

Lastly, the appendices include typical data sheets employed in several of the surveys reviewed; an explanation of the determination of the Basic Structural Hazard scores and modifiers; the criteria for selection of a cut-off Structural Score; and a list of the ATC-21 project participants.

ATTRIBUTES OF AN IDEAL RAPID VISUAL SCREENING PROCEDURE

In order to evaluate existing RSP's, a set of criteria is required against which present RSP's can be judged. In this chapter, the attributes of such an "ideal rapid visual screening procedure" are presented. These ideal attributes have been determined based on a review of rapid visual screening procedures, as presented in the following sections, as well as the general experience of the project participants in conducting numerous field surveys and analyses of existing buildings. No single, currently available RSP satisfactorily incorporates all of the attributes indicated below.

Applicability to All Building Types: A rapid visual screening procedure for identifying seismically hazardous buildings should provide an initial assessment of the seismic hazard of individual buildings and therefore it should not be limited to one type of building structure. Rather it should be capable of identifying hazardous buildings of all construction types. For example, many rapid visual surveys have been limited to identifying unreinforced masonry (URM) structures, based on the assumption that these are the most hazardous buildings in the community. Although URM hazards have thus been identified, other (sometimes greater) hazards, for example, related to older tilt-up or non-ductile concrete buildings, have gone uncounted. Should the need arise, an RSP could be applied to only one structural category. However, all building groups should receive at least an initial limitedsample test screening in a portion of the community, to verify assumptions of which building type is the most hazardous. If these assumptions are verified, then selected building groups/areas may be targeted, for reasons of economy. The situation of, for example,

identifying all unreinforced masonry buildings and having no idea of the seismic hazards in the non-ductile reinforced concrete building group, or the house-over-garage building group, should be avoided.

Quantitative Assessment: Assessment of the hazard should be quantitative as it not only permits pass/fail decisions, but also provides a ranking system that may be used to set priorities within the "failed" category. A quantitative scheme also has the advantage of assuring a more uniform interpretation of the weights of "structural penalties" by survey personnel.

Nonarbitrary Ranking System: Although several of the studies reviewed do include quantitative approaches, these scoring systems are arbitrary and provide relative hazard assessments rather than an estimate of actual hazard based on physical parameters. A quantitative ranking system, which is useful for ranking structures for hazard abatement, should be nonarbitrary to avoid misleading results. The scores should be rationally based, and include uncertainty when possible. Their development should be clear so that new data can be incorporated as they become available and so that the scores can be modified for local building conditions.

Supplemental Information: As much as possible, supplemental information from building department and assessor's files, insurance (Sanborn) maps, previous studies and other sources should be collated and taken into the field in a usable format, for verification as well as to aid field personnel. Ideally, these data should be in a form so that information can be easily attached to each survey form as it is completed (e.g., a peel-off label or a computer-

ATC-21-1

Attributes of an Ideal Rapid Visual Screening Procedure 5

generated form, with part identifying the building and containing pre-field data, and part to be filled out in the field).

Earthquake Definition: An important attribute is that the earthquake loading against which the capacity of the building is being judged be defined explicitly, preferably in physically based units such as acceleration. Otherwise it is unclear what "earthquake" loading the structures are being judged against and, further, the RSP is limited in its application to the region for which it was developed. Structures will have different damage potential in regions with different seismicity; thus a clear definition of the seismic demand should be included. Although a few of the available methods do include some explicit earthquake definitions, in most of these it is in the form of Modified Mercalli Intensity or Uniform Building Code zone. The complex questions of what earthquake loading a building should withstand and what the "acceptable risk" should be often require iterative solutions; therefore, it is possible that a re-screening could occur at a later time. Thus sufficient building-specific data should be recorded to permit adjustments should the input earthquake data be modified.

Data Collection: Organization of the data is an important part of an RSP. Specific details of structural type and configuration, site conditions, and non-structural aspects should be in a checklist format to avoid omissions. The data collection form should provide space for sketches, photos, and comments and should systematically guide personnel through the data recording procedure. Sketches and photos are invaluable for later reference. Both should be an integral part of the field data recording, because they are complementary. (A photo is data intensive, whereas a sketch emphasizes selected features, such as cracks, that may not be easily discernible on a photo of an entire building. In addition, requiring a sketch forces the surveyor to observe the building in a systematic fashion.)

Systematic and Clear Criteria: It is essential that an RSP, and the decisions deriving therefrom, be based on well-documented criteria and that "judgment" decisions be minimized. Although it is anticipated that survey personnel will have some interest in the elements of earthquake behavior of buildings and be capable of making subjective decisions when necessary, they should be provided with extensive written guidelines to avoid differing interpretations of the criteria for identifying hazardous buildings. Documentation should include many sketches as well as "inferences," or rules, to assist personnel in making decisions when information is uncertain.

Age: Age should be explicitly recorded. Often unavailable, age can be estimated, usually within a decade or two, on the basis of architectural style. Age can indicate whether a building is pre- or post- a specific "benchmark" year in the development of seismic codes for that building type. For example, in San Francisco, wood-frame buildings were required to be bolted to their foundations only since 1948. If a wood-frame building was built before 1948, it is likely that it is unbolted. These benchmark years differ by jurisdiction, but usually are locally known or can be determined.

Condition: State of repair is an important factor in seismic performance, and should be required to be noted, as it forces the survey personnel to look for problems such as cracks. rot, and bad mortar. Where relevant, this would include previous earthquake damage. Additionally, renovation should be noted, where possible. Renovation can be positive, because it indicates increased investment (which may have led to improvements in the structure), and/or negative, when it masks the true age of the structure. Additionally, renovation may have resulted in the removal and/or alteration of important structural members and thus may affect seismic performance. A common example is the "addition" of loading doors by sawcutting of walls in tilt-up buildings, which actually removes seismic resistance.

6 Attributes of an Ideal Rapid Visual Screening Procedure

Occupancy: Occupancy should be noted, as it is a factor in overall risk and may be required for subsequent decision making. How it will be factored into seismic hazard decision making is sometimes a difficult question. In some of the surveys reviewed, buildings were classified into high, medium, and low risk categories depending on the occupancy. This information was then used to rank the hazardous structures.

Configuration: Configuration issues should be noted and their contribution to the hazard quantified. It is clear from past experience that structural irregularities can be significant in the performance of a building during an earthquake. Many of these issues have been identified by Arnold and Reitherman (1981), and include items such as soft story, vertical and/or horizontal discontinuities, and irregularities of plan.

Site Aspects: Site aspects such as potential pounding between buildings, adjacent potentially hazardous buildings, corner buildings, and soil conditions need to be noted and quantified. By quantifying poor site conditions as "penalties," the survey personnel will have a uniform interpretation of the importance of each of the issues in the performance of the building. *Non-structural Architectural Hazards:* Earthquake damage to building ornamentation or exteriors can lead to significant damage and/or life-safety hazard. Common examples include the fall of parapets, chimneys, and other overhanging projections.

Personnel Qualifications: Personnel background and training may prove critical to the results of an RSP. An ideal RSP should rely as little as possible on the need for extensive technical education or experience on the part of the personnel involved. Ideally, technician-level individuals (high school plus one to two years equivalent education/experience) should be able to perform the RSP, after one or two days of specialized training.

Hazard Analysis Scheme: Finally, for an ideal RSP the scheme for combining scores to identify the degree of seismic hazard for a building structure should be simple and fast, involving little or no field calculations beyond simple arithmetic.

The following chapters first present a summary of each of the RSP's identified, then evaluate them against the above "ideal" attributes, and finally, present a recommended procedure.

A large number of methods for rapid analysis of seismically hazardous buildings can be found in the literature; however, these are generally abbreviated engineering analyses, requiring a trained engineer and access to the structural drawings. Only a few rapid visual screening methods have been found to exist, and none has had widespread practical application. Some of the available methods have been tested in limited areas for the purpose of refining the survey techniques but never have been applied to an entire community. In many cases the survey method that was chosen depended upon the ultimate use of the data that were gathered-for example, property loss estimation or life-safety estimation versus hazardous building identification. Thus, the different survey formats are in many cases a result of different goals, budgets, and personnel requirements.

This section presents citations and a summary of each RSP identified during the review of the literature, present practice, and community surveys. Each RSP has a brief acronym or other identifier (e.g., NBS 61 refers to the methodology developed at the National Bureau of Standards by Culver et al., 1975; OAKLAND study refers to a survey of buildings in the City of Oakland published in 1984), a bibliographic citation, and typically a one-paragraph summary overview of the methodology or study. The rapid screening procedures have been divided into two groups, surveys and methods, and are presented in reverse chronological order within each of these groups. Surveys are defined as those RSPs that have actually been applied to a real community. Methods are defined as those RSPs that are found in the literature, but as far as could be

ascertained have not been applied to any community. Comparisons of certain aspects of the methods are presented in tables in Chapter 4.

SURVEYS

City of Redlands Study. Seismic Strengthening, Final Report and Handbook (1987). Report published by the Department of Economic and Community Development, County of San Bernardino, California. Also M. Green, personal communication.

> This handbook develops an RSP and presents a case study in the City of Redlands, California. The study was sponsored by the County of San Bernardino and the Southern California Earthquake Preparedness Project to identify potentially hazardous unreinforced masonry bearing wall buildings and to encourage voluntary seismic strengthening. The visual survey is designed to be conducted by inspector level personnel, with data being entered on forms (provided herein in Appendix A). Initial survey target areas were chosen based on the density of suspect unreinforced masonry buildings. Design level, building configuration, nonstructural hazards, and adjacencies were used to identify the hazardous buildings. The survey resulted in maps showing the distribution and location of hazardous buildings in the city. Buildings were then ranked using a chart of tolerability of failure versus probability of failure for each building. The ranking included occupancy information. In its present

ATC-21-1

Summary of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures 9

form, the method is limited to URM bearing wall structures and is therefore too limited for an ideal RSP.

San Francisco Study. A Survey of Unreinforced Masonry Buildings in San Francisco (1987). Report by Seismic Investigation & Hazards Survey Advisory Committee, and Department of Public Works. F. Lew, personal communication.

> This survey was conducted by the San Francisco Building Department (1985-1986) to identify all unreinforced masonry buildings in the city. An office phase employed Assessor's files, Sanborn maps and Parapet Safety Program files to identify pre-1950 nonwood construction (approx. 6000). Every street in the city was then visually screened by building inspectors to determine and confirm which buildings were unreinforced masonry. The result of the survey is a list of approximately 2100 unreinforced masonry buildings that will be used with a future ordinance specifying mitigation procedures and timetables. Factors such as building configuration, occupancy, age and size were noted, but this information was not used. Costs and level of effort are as follows: two inspectors full time for one year surveyed this city of 700,000 population for a total reported cost of \$120,000 (including clerical support).

ABAG. Perkins et al. (1986). Building Stock and Earthquake Losses - The San Francisco Bay Area Example Report by the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), Oakland, California.

> This is a survey conducted to estimate the building inventory for nine San Francisco Bay Area counties for estimation of earthquake losses. Specific hazardous buildings were not identified; only estimates of the number and geographic distribution of buildings of

each type were provided. Hence, there is no well-defined methodology for identifying specific seismically hazardous buildings. Many of the data were collected from land use maps, interviews with local building officials, Sanborn maps. and previous studies. "Windshield" surveys were conducted by ABAG project staff and a graduate student in architecture to supplement data on building types and to identify seismically suspicious unreinforced masonry buildings in older downtown, commercial, and industrial areas.

Stanford Project. Thurston, H. M., Dong, W., Boissonnade, A. C., Neghabat, F., Gere, J. M., and H. C. Shah (1986). Risk Analysis and Seismic Safety of Existing Buildings. John A. Blume Earthquake Engineering Center, TR-81, Stanford University, Stanford, CA.

> This expert-system based method has two steps: (1) Using a computer program, Insight 2 (termed an expert shell), a pre-field screening is performed on the basis of geology, ground motion (MMI), building importance, and vulnerability (furnished from building department and other sources). (2) If the pre-field screening warrants it, an inspection of the building including drawings and building access is performed. A numerical value for risk is assigned using an expert system built from the Deciding Factor shell. (Loosely defined, an expert-system is a computerized data base or "knowledge base" containing logic and rules that process input information to arrive at some conclusion. Ideally its logic is similar to the thought process of a human expert.) Palo Alto was used as a case study to validate the expert system by comparing its risk evaluations with those of experts. Sample data sheets are included herein in Appendix A. The use

of an expert system to supplement visually obtained survey data should make this method suitable for a larger target audience; however, in its present form the field survey is too detailed for a rapid visual procedure. In addition, the weighting scheme used to rank building hazard is subjective and not based specifically on damage-related data. This is an extension of earlier work by Miyasato et al. (1986).

Low-Rise Study. Wiggins, J. H., and C. Taylor (1986). Damageability of Low-Rise Construction, Vol. II & IV. Report by NTS Engineering for National Science Foundation, Long Beach, California.

> This is an NSF-supported project to develop a methodology to estimate earthquake losses in low-rise buildings. A rating scheme based on a maximum value of 180 points is used. This study is an extension of the method developed for the 1971 Long Beach study. The insurance industry is the primary user of this method. Data gathering, however, is not done by field inspectors. Instead a short questionnaire about relevant aspects of the structure is completed by the building owner and decisions are made from the responses. As such, this is not an RSP.

U.S.-Italy Workshop. Angeletti, P., and V. Petrini (1985). Vulnerability Assessment, Case Studies. US-Italy Workshop on Seismic Hazard and Risk Analysis (Damage Assessment Methodologies), Varenna, Italy, 73-100.

> Two methods are presented. The first, a subjective side walk survey, can be performed quickly (12–16 buildings/day per team), and the second is a more indepth survey with quantitative vulnerability assessments (4–8 buildings/day per team). Both methods were tested on 490 buildings (379

masonry, 111 reinforced concrete) in Forli, Italy, in 1984, using 100 public technicians and 15 earthquake engineering experts and on 293 buildings (279 masonry, 14 reinforced concrete) in Campi Bisenzio. The results are in the form of histograms and maps of vulnerability classes.

Charleston Survey. Survey of Critical Facilities for the City of Charleston, South Carolina (1984-1985). M. Harlan, personal communication.

> This study, funded by FEMA, was conducted for the purpose of estimating structural vulnerability and loss of function for the Charleston area in the event of a large earthquake. The study was not used to identify buildings for seismic rehabilitation. Probable Maximum Loss (PML), was used as the measure of damage. (PML was defined by Steinbrugge (1982) as the "expected maximum percentage monetary loss that will not be exceeded for 9 out of 10 buildings.") All critical facilities were evaluated, totaling about 350 buildings. No non-critical facilities were reviewed. Copies of the survey forms and rating forms are included in Appendix A. The advantage of these forms is that they are in a check-off format, thus minimizing omissions. The disadvantage is that they are too long for a rapid visual procedure. This survey was much more detailed than an RSP. Building entrance and plan review were often necessary to determine the PML modifiers needed for Steinbrugge's method. The vulnerability report has not yet been published. Third or fourth year university engineering students performed the survey. Students were given one to two weeks of training before going into the field. Each student reviewed an average of 3 buildings per day. Cost data were not available.

Palo Alto Survey. Survey of Buildings for the City of Palo Alto (1984-85), F. Herman, personal communication.

> In 1984-1985, a local jurisdiction (Palo Alto, California) developed an ordinance and a survey method to identify and cite seismically hazardous unreinforced masonry and other specified buildings. The survey focused on three types of structures: (1) unreinforced masonry, (2) pre-1935 construction with more than 100 occupants, and (3) pre-1976 construction with more than 300 occupants. Seismically hazardous buildings were identified, primarily based on age and type of construction, number of occupants, and present condition. A sidewalk survey conducted by civil engineering graduate students under the supervision of a building department official was supplemented with Sanborn maps, building department files, and information from a previous survey conducted in 1936. Hazardous buildings were cited and owners were given one to two years to submit a detailed structural analysis of the building for city review. Examination of the several sample data sheets (included in Appendix A) shows that very little site or structure-specific information was requested in the sidewalk survey. All information about configuration problems, nonstructural hazards, and building dimensions would be included in the remarks area at the discretion of the inspector. This is because the method was essentially pass/fail based on whether a building could be classified into one of the three categories described above.

Oakland Study. Arnold, C. A. and R.K. Eisner (1984). Planning Information for Earthquake Hazard Response and Reduction. Building Systems Development Inc., San Mateo, California. This is an NSF-sponsored investigation by Building Systems Development and the University of California, Berkeley, of urban planning for seismic risk mitigation, using Oakland as a case study. The procedure was mainly a sidewalk survey of building exteriors following an initial screening using information from Sanborn maps, assessor's files, and building permits. The survey was conducted by graduate students in architecture with guidance from a registered architect. The final product was the identification of "seismically suspicious" buildings. determined mostly on the basis of structural system and configuration factors and, to some extent, occupancy. Some factors, such as non-structural hazards, were noted, but it is not clear that they were used in identifying the seismically suspicious buildings. The report does not specify how the collected data were combined to determine the hazard of a building and thus the method requires a great deal of technical judgment. An example of the data collection sheet used in the sidewalk survey is included in Appendix A. Although building types and occupancy classes are well defined, other information is loosely defined, possibly leading to a lack of consistency among different data collectors. The level of effort expended involved 2 graduate students in architecture, a total of approximately 350 hours for 2500 buildings, and an approximate cost of \$20,000.

Multihazard Survey. Reitherman, R., Cuzner, G., and R. W. Hubenette (1984). Multihazard Survey Procedures. Report by Scientific Service, Inc., Redwood City, California, for FEMA. (R. Hubenette, personal communication).

This method, developed for FEMA and

12 Summary of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures

adopted in FEMA technical report TR-84, is designed to apply to essential facilities necessary for disaster operations. The method identifies and quantifies, on a scale of 1 to 5, a building's vulnerabiliy to radiation, fire, earthquake, high wind, tornado, hurricane, and flood hazards. The vulnerability is determined from a combination of the resistance of the construction and the exposure of the building to the particular hazard, but this calculation is not done by the surveyor. All data are processed by computer at the national level (FEMA). The method has been adopted and implemented since 1985 in many states, including California, Florida, North Carolina and Arizona. However, the priority for the multi-hazard surveys is civil defense related, and in many cases the earthquake portion of the survey is not performed. All survey data are collected on a standardized form (included in Appendix A) and are entered in a national database. The data collection form is organized to facilitate the computerized data processing, but it is difficult to follow. Rather than a checkoff format, the form requires the use of numerical codes that are not easily memorized. One of the promising and unique features of this method is that inference rules are provided for cases when visual inspections, drawings, and other supplemental information are not adequate to positively answer survey questions. The method is more detailed than an RSP, as building entrance is necessary and sometimes plans are reviewed. The survey can take from one hour to three days per building. Survey personnel need a minimum of two years undergraduate technical background. Cost information was not available.

New Madrid Study. An Assessment of

Damage and Casualties for Six Cities in the Central United States Resulting from Two Earthquakes, M=7.6 and M=8.6, in the New Madrid Seismic Zone (1983). Report by Allen & Hoshall, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee, for FEMA.

> This study, also known as the Six Cities Study, assesses damage due to earthquakes on the New Madrid fault zone. An extensive inventory of buildings was supplied by FEMA for the six project cities. These data were checked and in some cases supplemented by visits to the sites by a structural engineer and an engineering technician. In other cases, the data were verified by telephone contact with facility managers. The inventory was limited to a few representative structures of well-defined classes such as hospitals, critical structures, transportation systems, public utilities, and schools, and was primarily to assess the type of construction for each of the classes. Three different survey forms were available depending on the class of the structure and information required (see Appendix A). This is not a rapid visual screening procedure, but a sampling procedure to infer the properties of the larger building inventory for use with fragility curves to estimate damage. Cost information was not available.

OSA Hospital Survey. Earthquake Survivability Potential for General Acute Care Hospitals in the Southern California Uplift Area (1982). Report by Office of the State Architect for Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, California. J. Meehan, personal communication.

> This inventory and evaluation of hospitals in the Palmdale Bulge area were done by structural engineers from the Office of the State Architect. Hospitals were classified into six

"survivability index" categories from A (low risk) to F (high risk) based on the date of construction and structural information. The criteria used in this survey require extensive engineering judgment and are specific to hospitals as they are based on adherence to Titles 17 and 24 of the California Administrative Code. Data were gathered by extensive interior and exterior visual inspections along with an in-depth review of construction drawings when possible. Level of effort was probably one to two engineer-days per hospital, depending on the complexity. This was not a rapid procedure, but rather a detailed inventory of hospital resources, such as beds and rooms, as well as anchorage of equipment and availability of emergency services.

Los Angeles Study. Survey of Unreinforced Masonry Bearing Wall Buildings (1978-1979) for the City of Los Angeles. E. Schwartz, personal communication.

> This study in the City of Los Angeles was performed by city building inspectors during 1978-1979 for the purpose of identifying bearing wall unreinforced masonry buildings, but not infill or other types of URM. Preliminary identification of pre-1934 URM was performed using assessor's files, Sanborn maps, and records from a previous parapet stabilization program, resulting in identifying about 20,000 potentially hazardous buildings. A blockby-block visual survey of building exteriors (and interiors when possible) reduced this to a final count of about 8,000 hazardous buildings. Although configuration and state of repair were noted, the primary criterion used to identify the hazardous buildings was the existence of unreinforced masonry bearing walls. An average of 40 minutes was spent at each building. After the data

were collected, hazardous buildings were placed in one of four classes: (1) essential buildings, which were mostly state- or city-owned; (2) high-risk buildings, with more than 100 occupants and/or few interior walls; (3) mediumrisk buildings, defined as having 20 to 100 occupants and/or many interior partitions; and (4) low-risk buildings, those buildings with less than 20 occupants. These categories were used to prioritize the mitigation procedures. The level of effort expended involved 6 inspectors, 1 senior inspector, 1 structural engineer, 2 clericals, all for 2 years, at a cost of approximately \$400,000.

University of California Study. McClure, F. E. (1984). "Development and Implementation of the University of California Seismic Safety Policy." Proceedings, Eighth World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, San Francisco, 859-865. F. McClure and L. Wyllie, personal communication.

> In response to the 1975 seismic safety policy implemented by the University of California, a survey of buildings with area greater than 4,000 sq ft and with human occupancy was conducted by experienced structural engineers (Degenkolb Associates were consultants on this project). Based on structural, non-structural and life-safety judgments, a seismic rating of good, fair, poor, or very poor was assigned by observations of building exteriors and a review of design drawings and previous engineering reports. Two to four days were spent on each of 9 campuses, for a total review of 44 million sq ft, of which 21% rated poor or very poor. The effort was split between reviewing drawings and on-site inspection. There were no formal criteria in this study, as decisions were made on a building by building basis. A considerable amount of

14 Summary of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures

judgment and engineering experience was required to perform this survey.

Santa Rosa Study. Identification of Seismically Hazardous Buildings in Santa Rosa, 1971-present. W. E. Myers. personal communication. Also, Myers, W. E. (1981). "Identification and Abatement of Earthquake Hazards in Existing Buildings in the City of Santa Rosa." Proceedings, 50th Annual SEAOC Convention, Coronado, CA, 55-66.

> This study arose from an ordinance adopted by the Santa Rosa City Council in 1971 to review all buildings constructed before December 31, 1957 (one and two-story wood frame, single family dwellings were exempt from the review process). A preliminary review is performed by a city official (experienced structural engineer) to determine if further review is necessary, based on whether the building complies with the 1955 UBC. Any further review is the responsibility of the building owner and must be prepared by a structural or civil engineer. The initial screening consists of a half day (on average) detailed site inspection involving entry into the building, including the basement, attic, and other portions of the building, noting such features as wall ties, openings, and diaphragms. Fire as well as earthquakerelated hazards are usually identified. Data are collected using a handheld tape recorder, and later transcribed. Where possible, plans are examined, although in many cases they are unavailable. In a few cases rough calculations are performed. Subsequently a report is written (2 to 20 pages depending on the complexity of the structure) and submitted to the owner with a timeline for mitigation. The established priority of review was based on the number of occupants, buildings with the most occupants being reviewed first. Reviews began in 1972 on churches and other

buildings with assembly occupancy greater than 100 persons, and in 1987 the city was reviewing buildings with smaller occupancy such as office buildings and retail stores. Between 1972 and 1987, approximately 400 buildings were initially reviewed (out of approximately 600 in the city) with about 90 percent requiring further review. Due to the detailed nature of the visual inspection and the level of engineering expertise required, this does not fulfill the definition of an RSP. The level of effort expended was: 1 full-time engineer employed by the city for 15 years, and a cost of approximately \$500 per building.

Long Beach Study. Wiggins, J. H., and D. F. Moran (1971). Earthquake Safety in the City of Long Beach Based on the Concept of Balanced Risk. Report by J. H. Wiggins Co., Redondo Beach, California. Also E. O'Connor, personal communication.

> This study was developed as part of a model ordinance (Subdivision 80) for the City of Long Beach. It was a significant advancement in the techniques of rapid identification of seismically hazardous buildings. In the original methodology, five factors were scored and combined to form a hazard index: (a) framing system/walls, (b) diaphragm/bracing, (c) partitions, (d) special hazards, and (e) physical condition. A score of 0-50 indicated rehabilitation was not required; 51–100 indicated some strengthening was required; and 101-180 indicated a serious life hazard existed. This widely known method was not directly employed by Long Beach but was modified in the ordinance to score the following five structural resistance factors for unreinforced masonry: (a) wall stability, (b) wall anchorage, (c) diaphragm capacity, (d) shear connection capacity, and (e) shear or moment resisting element capacity. Occupancy,

importance and occupancy potential factors were also included. A survey of 928 pre-1934, type 1, 2 or 3 buildings was conducted by city building inspectors over several years. Deadlines for hazard mitigation depend on the ranking provided by the hazard index.

METHODS

Seismic Design Guidelines for Upgrading Existing Buildings (A Supplement to "Seismic Design Guidelines for Buildings") (1986). Dept. of the Army.

> This is a methodology developed for the Army that contains both a rapid visual component and a detailed structural analysis. The result of the visual survey is a list of buildings that should be further reviewed. The first step is to eliminate buildings from the survey inventory using eight prescribed criteria. The remaining buildings are then classified as (1) essential, (2) high risk or (3) all others. All available design criteria such as drawings, calculations, and specifications are compiled and pertinent information is transferred to the screening form (Appendix A). A field survey is then performed, allocating 10 to 30 minutes per building. Buildings are eliminated from the list if it would not be feasible or cost effective to upgrade them, or if they are identical to other structures that will be reviewed.

ATC-14, (ATC, 1987). Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings. Applied Technology Council, Redwood City, California.

> Although this extensive methodology contains no rapid visual screening aspect, it is included in this review because Section 4.2.2 and Appendix C of ATC-14 contain checklists of features that, if elaborated, could form the basis

for an RSP. Moreover, buildings identified by the ATC-21 methodology as seismically hazardous should be reviewed in detail with the methodology presented in the ATC-22 Handbook (in preparation), which is based on the ATC-14 methodology.

A Methodology for Seismic Evaluation of Existing Multistory Residential Buildings. U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development, 3 volumes. Pinkham, C. W., and G. C. Hart (1977).

> This method is based on NBS 61 (described below); however in this case only Masonry B (UBC 73, sections 2414, 2415 and 2418) and Masonry A (all other concrete or brick masonry) are targeted. This is essentially a rapid analysis procedure with a preliminary visual screening component. The data collection forms are the same as those for NBS 61. However, the criteria for preliminary screening are not well defined and therefore require a good deal of judgment.

NBS 61. Culver, C. G, Lew, H. S., Hart, G. C., and C. W. Pinkham (1975). Natural Hazards Evaluation of Existing Buildings, BSS 61, National Bureau of Standards, Washington, D.C.

> This is an extensively developed methodology, designed for building officials and engineers, to evaluate existing buildings for major natural hazards: earthquake, high wind, tornado, and hurricane. Evaluation of existing buildings is performed in three levels, the first of which is a simple visual procedure, providing input to several simple equations that result in a Capacity Rating (CR). This method has been widely referenced but not directly or explicitly applied to any region, as far as could be determined. Data collection forms and field evaluation forms are

included in Appendix A. It can be seen that the data collection forms are quite extensive and assume that the inspector will have access to the interior of the building and to soils and geologic reports; thus, this is not a true sidewalk survey. Bresler et al. (1975) point out that the weights employed and the algorithms or equations for determining the capacity ratio (see field evaluation

forms) are arbitrary and gave misleading results for a trial building they examined.

Not included in this list are earthquake loss estimation studies such as those prepared by the federal government for the Los Angeles area (NOAA, 1973), Salt Lake City area (USGS, 1976), San Francisco Bay area (NOAA, 1972), and Puget Sound, Washington, area (USGS, 1975).

ATC-21-1

Summary of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures 17
EVALUATION OF EXISTING RAPID SCREENING PROCEDURES

This section evaluates the previously discussed RSPs and studies according to several broad categories. Because each method/study reviewed was unique in some aspects, the following broad categories within which to compare and comment on the detailed aspects were defined:

- Organizational
- Structural
- Configuration
- Site and Non-structural
- Personnel

These five broad categories were selected as being of greatest interest to one or several segments of the target audience. To facilitate comparison, a tabular format has been used. Within each category specific items were noted, as were whether a specific RSP method or study addressed this issue, employed this data item, or simply noted this item. Where an entry is blank, no information was available.

Organizational—Refers to the general aspects of an RSP method or study that would be of interest to a person or organization implementing and managing a survey of a community. These include items such as the size of the survey defined by number of buildings, population and/or area; the types of buildings that were targeted; and whether graphic methods (sketches or photos) were used to record data.

Structural—Refers to structure-specific data items that would be of most interest and use to a structural engineer (e.g., age, structural material).

Configuration —Includes items such as whether an RSP method or study specifically

noted soft stories or irregular building configuration. This would be of interest and use to architects and engineers.

Site and Non-Structural—Includes items related to the site (e.g., soil conditions, potential for pounding), and to the nonstructural aspects of a building that may either pose a hazard (e.g., parapets) or may affect structural behavior (e.g., infill walls).

Personnel—Addresses two aspects regarding the qualifications of the personnel who would employ the specific RSP or study being evaluated: (1) What were the backgrounds or qualifications of the personnel who conducted the study or for whom the method was intended? (2) Could the method be applied by each or any segment of the target audience?

After reviewing all the existing surveys and available data, it becomes clear that there is currently relatively little statistical information relating damage to all types of structures under different levels of earthquake loading. Although general statements about the behavior of buildings in earthquakes can be made, it is difficult to quantify the damage. Even general statements about vulnerability based on building type are subject to question because so many other aspects such as configuration, connection detailing or local site conditions can contribute to poor structural performance. Reitherman (1985) noted that architectural configuration can be quite different from structural configuration and thus can be very misleading without access to structural drawings. Structural detailing, which can be so critical to good performance, is difficult to "score" from purely visual inspections. For these reasons, the results of an RSP cannot be regarded as definitive, and

structural adequacy or lack thereof can only be determined on the basis of detailed examination by a registered professional engineer.

4.1 Organizational Aspects

Table 1 presents the evaluation of the organizational aspects of the various methods/studies. Specific items considered are discussed below.

Building Groups Targeted: Most methods or studies begin by eliminating some building types as non-hazardous (e.g., woodframe construction), and limiting themselves to simply identifying that building type considered "most hazardous" (e.g., URM), or they have a well-defined list of structural types in their evaluation methodology. This report identifies those building types that were addressed.

Survey Area: In the case of studies where buildings in a community were actually screened, some measure of the size of the project, such as number of buildings, area, population, or other measure, is indicated.

Number of Hazardous Buildings Identified: As above, where available, the number of hazardous buildings actually identified for the particular study is indicated.

Method: A brief description of whether the method/study (i) simply employed a pass/fail measure (e.g., is or is not URM), or (ii) employed subjective measures and techniques (e.g., has a soft story, is irregular) without quantifying these items, or (iii) employed numerical scoring schemes and algorithms for combining information to arrive at a quantified measure (e.g., tension-only bracing or longspan diaphragms are given weights and these are "scored" in some fashion).

Supplemental Information Employed: Was non-visual off-site information employed, such as from building department, assessor files, Sanborn maps, or previous studies? Explicit Earthquake Definition: Was the "earthquake loading" explicitly defined? Many times a method/study determined that buildings were seismically hazardous without clearly defining what ground motions the building was being compared against. Admittedly, for a specific jurisdiction this might be implicitly clear (e.g., a repeat of the 1906 event for San Francisco), but this aspect would need clear definition for any general RSP.

Sketch or Photo: Sketches or photos as an integral part of the data recording are invaluable for later reference. Requiring sketches assures that the survey personnel methodically observe the building.

4.2 Structural Aspects

Table 2 presents an evaluation of the methods/studies for the structural aspects. Specific items considered are discussed below.

Age/Design Level/Building Practice: Building age is usually an explicit indicator of the design level or the code under which the building was designed, and the building practices prevalent at the time of construction.

State of Repair: Maintenance and general conditions are important aspects of structural adequacy since corrosion and deterioration decreases structural capacity.

Occupancy Factor Definition: Occupancy is not an explicit factor in structural adequacy, but is important in setting priorities.

Material Groups: Broad structural material groupings can be noted in a variety of ways, and are a basic measure of seismic capacity.

Number of Stories/Dimensions: Number of stories and/or the plan or other dimensions are a broad indicator of structural dynamic properties, as well as of value.

Symmetrical Lateral Force Resisting System: The degree of symmetry of the lateral force resisting systems (LFRS) is an important clue as to adequacy of load path. If this was an item of interest to the survey team, what guidelines were they given for identifying the LFRS? If noted, how was the degree of symmetry employed?

Member Proportions: Were these noted in any way? Relatively thin member proportions are a general indication of potential problems in connections and/or member stability and, for concrete members, usually indicate non-ductile detailing.

Sudden Changes in Member Dimensions: Drastic changes in column dimensions can sometimes be observed through windows, and would indicate upper story "softness." Were these noted?

Tension-only Bracing: Was this relatively non-ductile behaving system identified as an item to note if observed?

Connections Noted: Was any attention paid to connections, as for example whether special wall/diaphragm ties were present in bearing-wall systems (e.g., tilt-up, URM)?

Previous Earthquake Damage: In areas where previous earthquakes might have weakened a building, was any attempt made to look for indications of this damage?

Renovated: Was there any indication that the building had been renovated, either with regard to architectural (thus obscuring the age) or structural details?

4.3 Configuration Aspects

Table 3 presents an evaluation of the methods/studies for the configuration aspects. Specific items considered are discussed below.

Soft Story: Abrupt changes and/or decrease in stiffness in lower stories of a building lead to large story drifts that cannot be accommodated. Was this consideration incorporated into the determination of seismic hazard, or was it noted by survey personnel but not used? Similarly, were plan irregularity, vertical irregularity, excessive openings and aspect ratio of the building or its components (vertical or horizontal) considered?

Corner Building: Buildings on corners typically have potential torsional problems due to adjacency of two relatively infilled back walls, and two relatively open street facades.

4.4 Site and Non-structural Aspects

Table 4 presents an evaluation of the methods/studies for the site and non-structural aspects. Specific items considered are discussed below.

Site-Related: So-called "adjacency" problems of pounding and/or the potential for a neighboring building to collapse onto the subject building are important structural hazards. These are two aspects that can be easily observed from the street and that the 1985 Mexico City experience again emphasized as critical. These were placed under site-related rather than structural or configuration because they involve aspects that are more related to the site and adjacent buildings than to the subject building per se.

Soil conditions or potential for seismic hazards other than shaking, such as landslide or liquefaction, are also very significant factors related as much to the site as to the structure. Admittedly, these non-shaking hazards may more easily be defined on the basis of reference maps than in the field, but in the methods reviewed were these given any consideration at all? Were soft soil/tall building or stiff site/stiff building correlations attempted as a crude measure of resonance/long period potential?

Non-Structural: Were major infill walls and/or interior partitions and their potential effects on structural behavior, especially in light buildings, noted? Were the special and relatively obvious seismic hazards of cornices, parapets,

ATC-21-1

Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures 21

chimneys and other overhanging projections noted?

4.5 Personnel Aspects

Table 5 presents an evaluation of the methods/studies for the personnel aspects. For most projects, cost information was difficult to obtain and was usually based on criteria that are not easily compared. Some data provided included clerical and report production costs, others only the costs of survey personnel. This report provides personnel time per building reported for a particular RSP. By multiplying by labor cost, and including other expenses such as transportation and report production costs, the reader can estimate what a particular RSP would cost if applied to a particular community. Whether or not the particular RSP is appropriate for use by each segment of our target audience is indicated (by Y or N).

4.6 State of the Practice

Information provided by about a dozen practicing structural engineering firms, mostly in California, indicates that no rapid visual screening procedure is currently being used by practitioners. Typically, structural engineers have used visual screening procedures as a preliminary phase of a more detailed analysis. However, because most of the procedures involved entrance into buildings and detailed inventories of structural elements and nonstructural elements, these procedures do not fit the definition of "rapid visual screening" utilized herein.

"Subjective judgment" is the type of criteria used most extensively to classify seismically hazardous buildings; in only a few cases have quantitative criteria been developed. However, in most cases, studies have been for planning purposes, and engineers have tried to include some qualitative indicator of the degree of hazard of the building to assist in setting

priorities for mitigation procedures. In general, the surveys have been performed by experienced engineers or by entry-level engineers accompanied by a more experienced engineer. Most often, junior personnel have been given brief training as to what to look for and a checklist or data collection form, usually without detailed written guidelines. In some cases, a trial run through a building with the data collection forms was performed under the supervision of an experienced engineer. Usually there were no structured guidelines for identifying a building as one structural type or another, nor was there any consistent way to incorporate the uncertainty in the judgments that were made. Consequently, the variability in backgrounds and experience of the personnel and the lack of detailed guidelines can result in widely differing interpretations of the criteria for identifying hazardous buildings and hence produce inconsistent results.

4.7 Conclusions

The foregoing review indicates that no currently available RSP method or study addresses all of the major aspects fundamental to seismic hazard, and further that no really satisfactory RSP method or procedure exists. Most omit many of the described aspects, and/or are very subjective in their treatment of the data recorded. In many cases, too much reliance is placed on the experience of the survey personnel, with little attention paid to consistency among different personnel. Further, although the personnel may have been given some coaching or training in what to look for, this was usually unsystematic and omitted major aspects.

Most of the rapid visual screening procedures that were reviewed were developed for a particular municipality and thus were applied in only one geographic region. None addresses the issues of regional differences in construction practices and building code regulations. The multihazard study (Reitherman et al., 1984), NBS 61 (Culver et al., 1975) and the Navy Rapid Seismic Analysis Procedure are designed for nationwide application, but these procedures do not specifically discuss differences in building performance that might result from regional engineering and construction practices. In addition, they involve entrance into the building or calculations and thus are too detailed for an RSP.

From the studies that were reviewed and from experience with earthquake-related damage, a set of attributes of a satisfactory RSP method was developed:

- 1. The earthquake loading against which the building's capacity is being judged should be explicitly defined, preferably in physically based units (e.g., acceleration). The anticipated earthquake loading is defined in several of the studies such as NBS 61, the Stanford Project, the University of California Study, the OSA Hospital Survey, the New Madrid Study and the Multihazard Survey; however, non-physical units such as UBC zone or MMI are used. Only in Wiggins and Moran (1971), and Wiggins and Taylor (1986) is the use of maximum expected bedrock acceleration discussed. Because the decision of what ground motion a building should satisfactorily withstand involves not only geotechnical and seismological issues but also difficult questions of acceptable risk, the "acceptable earthquake" may often be decided in an iterative fashion. Thus, sufficient building-specific data should be clearly recorded to permit later calculations for the purposes of rescreening, given a different "earthquake loading."
- 2. As much as possible, supplemental information compiled from building department and assessor's files, Sanborn maps and other sources should be collated and taken into the field in a

usable format, such as computer listings or peel-off labels that can be affixed to the survey form, for verification as well as aiding the field personnel. Most of the methods that were reviewed use other sources of information to supplement the visually obtained data.

- 3. An RSP should have the capability to survey and identify hazardous buildings of all types. In some cases, jurisdictions may wish to use the RSP in a limited form for certain "high hazard" target buildings or areas. However, all building groups should receive at least an initial limited-sample-area test screening to verify assumptions of which building type is the most hazardous within the local building stock. If these assumptions are verified, then selected building groups/areas may be targeted for reasons of economy. However, the situation of having identified all URM buildings, and having no idea of the seismic hazards in the older non-ductile reinforced concrete building group, for example, or the older unbolted house-over-garage (HOG) building group, should be avoided.
- 4. A quantitative approach, as exemplified in the Long Beach study (Wiggins and Moran, 1971) or NBS61 (Culver et al., 1975), appears preferable, as it not only permits pass/fail decisions, but also allows prioritization within the "failed" category. However, the quantitative "scoring" should not be arbitrary but rather should be rationally based, as far as possible.

5. Sketches should be an integral part of the data recording to assure that the survey personnel methodically observe the building. Sketches and photos are invaluable for later reference, and ideally both should be part of the field data

recording because they are complementary. Several of the reviewed methods omitted a sketch or photo.

- 6. Age should be explicitly recorded. Although often unavailable, age can be estimated, usually to within a decade or two, on the basis of architectural style, and thus can indicate whether a building is pre or post a specific "benchmark" year in the development of that building type. For example, in San Francisco, wood-frame buildings were required to be bolted to their foundations only since 1948. If a wood-frame building is pre-1948, it is likely to be unbolted. Similarly, unreinforced masonry was not permitted after the adoption of the 1948 building code. Thus, in a survey of hazardous buildings in San Francisco, only pre-1950 buildings were considered. These benchmark years differ by jurisdiction, but are usually locally known or can be determined and should be included in training material for survey personnel.
- 7. State of repair should be explicitly noted, as it forces the survey personnel to look for cracks, rot, corrosion and lack of maintenance. Although the state of repair was noted in many of the methods reviewed, it was not formally used in identifying the seismically hazardous buildings.
- Occupancy (use) and number of occupants should be noted, using standardized occupancy categories. In the Los Angeles and Long Beach studies, occupancy was used to prioritize buildings for hazard abatement.
- 9. Specific observable details of structural members, structural hazards and foundation and site conditions should be itemized in a check-off format, to avoid omission.

- 10. Configuration issues should similarly be considered, but their contribution to seismic hazard must be quantified, at least on a weighting basis. Although some of the methods, such as NBS 61, have addressed configuration problems the scoring systems are subjective and are not based on actual damage-related data.
- 11. Site aspects of pounding, corner building and adjacencies, and nonstructural aspects, need to be similarly noted. Few of the methods have used pounding, corner buildings, or adjacencies as criteria for identifying hazardous buildings, although these problems were noted. Several studies (e.g., City of Redlands, Multihazard Survey, NBS 61) consider nonstructural hazards explicitly as part of their criteria.
- 12. Personnel should have adequate background and training to understand the earthquake behavior of buildings because many of the data they will be called upon to record will involve subjective decisions. In addition, the survey should be accompanied by detailed guidelines as to what to look for and how to interpret and indicate uncertain data to avoid inconsistencies in the data collection. The guidelines presented in the Multihazard Survey are useful examples.
- 13. Data recording should be complete and systematic. A field remote-entry electronic format (i.e., a "laptop" computer) should be considered, although for economic reasons a clipboard has many advantages.
- 14. Because information is often lacking, uncertainty considerations must be incorporated into the methodology, although it can be relatively "invisible." For example, building type may be
- 24 Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures

indicated as (circle as appropriate):

RCMRF	:	definite	likely	possible	unlikely
RCSW:		definite	likely	possible	unlikely
URM:		definite	likely	possible	unlikely

with weights assigned to each, on the basis of their "contribution" to seismic hazard. If it is likely that the building is an RCSW but possible that it is a URM, then the weighting would result in a higher seismic hazard than if the survey personnel were called upon to provide only one typing. The weighting and arithmetic do not need to be performed in the field, although it may be advantageous to have the weighting known to the field personnel.

*RCMRF:Reinforced concrete moment-
resisting frameRCSW:Reinforced concrete shear wallURM:Unreinforced masonry

ATC-21-1

Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures 25

5 *1	(
Fricting	
Ponid	
Sreening	
Proces	

PROCEDURE/ Source	Building Groups Targeted	Survey Area (Size, number of buildings, population)	Number of Hazardous Buildings Identified	Method: Pass/Fail, Subjective, Quantitative?	Supplemental Information Employed?	Explicit Earthquake Definition	Sketch or Photo?
CITY OF REDLANDS/ Mel Green & Assoc. (1986)	Bearing wall URM	Test survey approximately 200 buildings	Appoximately 160 buildings	Quantitative	Aerial photo Sanborn maps	N	Y
SAN FRANCISO/ Frank Lew	URM pre-1950 construction	Entire city, population 700,000	2100 from initial 6000	Pass/Fail	Assessors' files, Sanborn maps, Parapet Safety Program files, owner feedback	N	N
ABAG/ J. Perkins et al. (1986)	WF, URM, RM, LM, TU, MH	6,000 square miles, population 5.5 million	4700-5700	Subjective	Sanborn maps, Land use maps, interviews with local building office, previous studies	N	N
STANFORD PROJECT/ JABEEC TR 81, Thurston et al. (1986)	All 27 defined classes	Phase I Entire city population 50,000	Phase I 4 sub-areas of city identified as most hazardous	Subjective and Quantitative	Palo Alto Comprehensive Plan Building Depart- ment input	ММІ	Y, sketch
LOW-RISE/ Wiggins and Taylor (1986)	low rise	N/A	N/A	Quantitative	N	Maximum expected bedrock acceleration	Y
PALO ALTO/ F. Herman	URM, pre-1976, pre-1936, TU	2000 focus on older commercial	325	Pass/Fail	Sanborn maps building permits, previous study, owners	N	N

Table 1 ORGANIZATIONAL ASPECTS

26 Evaluation

lures

			(contin	ued)			
PROCEDURE/ Source	Building Groups Targeted	Survey Area (Size, number of buildings, population)	Number of Hazardous Buildings Identified	Method: Pass/Fail, Subjective, Quantitative?	Supplemental Information Employed?	Explicit Earthquake Definition	Sketch or Photo?
OAKLAND/ Arnold, Eisner (1980, 1984)	URM, WF ND-RC	Approximately 2000, Oakland Central Business District	377 approximately	Subjective, no clear definition of seismically suspicious	Y Sanborn maps, building permit, previous study, assessors' files	N	Photo, building plan, sketch
MULTIHAZARD/ FEMA & Reitherman et al. (1984)	Essential facilities, definition left to local jurisidiction All types	About 10,000 buildings since 1975	Unknown	Quantitative	Maps, construction drawings	UBC zone	Y
NEW MADRID/ Allen & Hoshall (1983)	All	Six couties population 1 million, approximately 2,400 buildings	N/A	Subjective, damage states	FEMA data	Y M = 7.6 & M = 8.6 MMI used for damage estimate	N
OSA HOSPITAL/ (1982)	Hospitals, all types of construction	1077	100 in classes E & F "low survive index"	Subjective	Building plans	UBC zone	Unknown
LOS ANGELES/ (1978-79)	URM	Entire city population 3 million, 490 square miles	8,000 approximately	Pass/Fail	Y Sanborn maps assessors' files, previous studies	Not explicit (large Ep.)	2 photos per building, sketch

ATC-21-1

Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures

27

))			•	Table (continue)	1 2d)			
	PROCEDURE/ Source	Building Groups Targeted	Survey Area (Size, number of buildings, population)	Number of Hazardous Buildings Identified	Method: Pass/Fail, Subjective, Quantitative?	Supplemental Information Employed?	Explicit Earthquake Definition	Sketch or Photo?
, •	UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA/ McClure (1984)	Area greater than 4,000 square feet, human occupancy	44,000 square feet, approximately 800 buildings	9,000 square feet of Poor or Very Poor	Subjective	Previous studies, design drawings	MMI > IX	Y
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	SANTA ROSA/ Myers (1981)	All types built before 1958	About 400 buildings since 1972	About 90% for further review	Subjective	Plans	N	Photos and sketches
	LONG BEACH/ Wiggins and Moran (1971)	Pre-1934 type 1, 2, 3	Entire city, population 500,000	938	Quantitative	Y Sanborn	N for LB study Y for Wiggins method	Y
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			·····	(maximum expected bedrock acceleration)	
	NBS 61/ Culver et al. (1975)	SB, DF, SW, CSF, RF, CSW, MSW, WF, 11 building frame types	N/A	N/A	Subjective and Quantitative (Capacity Ratio Rating) Structure Structure rating vs. MMI's	Suggest use of original drawings or soil reports, Sanborn maps	UBC zone, MMI levels > V	Building elevations and site plan with adjacencies, Photo suggested

28

					STRUCT	Table URAL	2 ASPEC	TS					•
PROCEDURE/ Source	Age/Design Level/ Building Practice	State of Repair	Occupancy Factor Definition	Material Groups	Number of Stories/ Dimensions	Symr LFRS	netrical	Member Propor- tions	Sudden Changes in Membe Dimension	Tension- only r Bracing	Connectio	ns Previous Earthquake Damage	er Renovated Start Startes Galaction Heidenstartes also
CITY OF REDLANDS/ Mel Green & Assoc. (1986)	Y	. Y . 2007 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997	Y	URM	Y	N	1929 1929 1929	N National Martin Anti-	N	* N - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	Y (2004) 2017 - 2017 - 2017 2017 - 2017 - 2017 2017 - 2017 - 2017	N (1977) (197)	Y Control States of sets and the state space of the states of the st
SAN FRANCISCO/ Frank Lew	Y	N	N	URM	Noted, from assessor file	N		N	N	N	Ň (2012) (2014) (2014)	алан (р. 1997) 1979 - Саран (р. 1997) 1979 - Саран (р. 1997) 1979 - Саран (р. 1977) 1979 - Саран (р. 1977)	N
ABAG/ J. Perkins et al. (1986)	N	N	Y noted for some	Concrete Steel Wood Masonry	Y 1973 - 1975	N	an tang Sarahar	N	N	N	N	N N	If available
STANFORD PROJECT/ JABEEC TR 81, Thurston et al (1986)	Y		Y essential facility or large number of occupants, residential, commercial or industrial	Steel Concerete Masonry Wood	Y noted number and dimensions	• Y		N	Y (2003) (2004) (200)	Y	Y	* Y * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	
LOW-RISE/ Wiggins and Taylor (1986)	Noted, implicit in some of rating criteria	Y	Noted	Concrete Steel Wood Masonry	Y	Y		N	N	Not explicit, noted inadequate or in- complete bracing	Y	Y noted unrepaired earthquake damage	N

ATC-21-1

Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures

29

Table 2 (continued)

PROCEDURE/ Source	Age/Design Level/ Building Practice	State of Repair	Occupancy Factor Definition	Material Groups	Number of Stories/ Dimensions	Symmetrical LFRS	Member Propor- tions	Sudden Changes in Membe r Dimensions	Tension- only Bracing	Connections	Previous Earthquake Damage	Renovated
PALO ALTO/ F. Herman	Y	Noted but not formally employed	Y (number persons) i	URM, TU	Noted but not formally employed	N	N	N	N	N	N	N
OAKLAND/ Lagorio, Arnold Eisner (BSD, 1984)	Y	Noted but not formally employed	Noted importance of structure d17 use codes	URM, TU ND-RC, mixed	Noted	N - · · · · · ·	N	Noted	N	N	N	Noted
MULTIHAZARD/ FEMA & Reitherman et al. (1984)	Y	Y	Noted use	Many classes	Y	Strong beam, weak columns	N	N	Y	Roof/wall and anchor bolts	N	Y
NEW MADRID/ Allan & Hoshall (1983)	Y	N	Ŷ	Steel Concrete Masonry Wood	Y	N	N	N	N	N	N	N
OSA HOSPITAL/ (1982)	Y Building code jurisdiction	Y	Y Noted building use, Not included in ranking	Concrete Steel Masonry Wood	Ŷ	Y	N	Y	Y	N accessed from plans	Not sure	Y
LOS ANGELES/ (1978-1979)	Y	Noted cracks & mortar condition	Y z Table 33A UBC n	URM	Y	Noted	N	N	Noted from parapet program	N	Noted	Noted from parapet program

					(Table 2 continued)						
PROCEDURE/ Source	Age/Design Level/ Building Practice	State of Repai r	Occupancy Factor Definition	Material Groups	Number of Stories/ Dimensions	Symmetrical LFRS	Member Propor- tiosn	Sudden Changes in Member Dimensions	Tension- only Bracing	Connections	Previous Earthquake Damage	Renovated
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA/ McClure (1984)	Y	Noted but not significar in rankin	N tt	Concrete Steel Wood Masonry	Number stories dimensions from plans	Y	Y	Y	Y, not much found	Sometimes	At a few campuses	Y
SANTA ROSA/ Myers (1981)	Y	Y	Noted but not included in decision	No formal groups defined All types examined	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
LONG BEACH/ Wiggins and Moran (1971)	N	Y	N, noted but not formally employed	RC, S, W, URM, RM	Y	Y	N	N	N	N	Y i.e., state of repair noted	N
NBS 61/ Culver et al. (1975)	Y noted but not formally employed employed	Y evidence of past damage repair noted	N noted but not formally employed	Concrete Masonry Steel Wood	Noted	Y	N	N	N	Y, if possible	N	Date noted

ATC-21-1

31

PROCEDURE/ Source	Soft Story	Plan Irregularity	Vertical Irregularity and Variation in Stiffness	Excessive Openings	Aspect (Vertical or Horizontal)	Corner Building
CITY OF REDLANDS/ Mel Green & Assoc. (1986)	N	N	N	N	N	Y can be inferred from site location sketch
SAN FRANCISCO/ Frank Lew	Noted	Noted	Noted	N	Ν	N
ABAG/ J. Perkins et. al. (1986)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N
STANFORD PROJECT/ JABEEC TR 81, Thurston et al. (1986)	Y	Y	Y	Noted	Y	N
LOW-RISE/ Wiggins and Taylor (1986)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N
PALO ALTO/ F. Herman	N	N	N	N	N	N
OAKLAND/ Arnold, Eisner (1984)	Y	Y	Ý	Y	N	N

Table 3 CONFIGURATION ASPECTS

			Table 3 (continued)			
PROCEDURE/ Source	Soft Story	Plan Irregularity	Vertical Irregularity and Variation in Stiffness	Excessive Openings	Aspect (Vertical or Horizontal)	Corner Building
MULTIHAZARD/ FEMA & Reitherman et al. (1984)	Y	Y	Y	Y large door width open side	N	Ν
NEW MADRID/ Allen & Hoshall (1983)	N	N	N	N	Ν	N
OSA HOSPITAL/ (1982)	Y	Y	Y	Y percent openings noted	Y	N
LOS ANGELES/ (1978-79)	Not specific percent openings	Y	Y	Y percent openings noted	Ν	N
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA/ McChure (1984)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A
SANTA ROSA/ Myers (1981)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
LONG BEACH/ Wiggins and Moran (1971)	N	Y	Y	Y	Y	N
NBS 61/ Culver et al. (1975)	Y, noted	N	Y, Noted	Y, noted	Ν	Street side noted

		SITE RE	LATED			NON-STRUCTUR	AL
PROCEDURE/ Source	Pounding	Neighboring Building Collapse	Soil Conditions	Potential for Other Geohazards	Infill Walls	Interior Partitions	Cornices, Overhang Parapets, Chimneys
CITY OF REDLANDS/ Mel Green & Assoc. (1986)	Noted abutting buildings	Noted abutting buildings	N	N	N	Noted type	Y cornice parapet
							signs ornament
SAN FRANCISCO/ Frank Lew	N	N	N	N	N	N	Noted
ABAG/ J. Perkins et al. (1986)	N	N	Not explicit, used map overlay	Not explicit, used map overlay	N	N	N
STANFORD PROJECT/ JABEEC TR 81, Thurston et al. (1986)	Y	Y, noted	Y, noted	Y	Y	Y	Y
LOW-RISE/ Wiggins and Taylor (1986)	N	Y Neighboring overhang collapse	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y
PALO ALTO/ F. Herman	N	N	N	N	N	N	N

Table 4
SITE AND NON-STRUCTURAL ASPECTS

Table 4 (continued)

$\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \left(\frac{1}{2}$		SITE RELA	ATED]	NON-STRUCTURA	L
PROCEDURE/ Source	Pounding	Neighboring Building Collapse	Soil Conditions	Potential for Other Geohazards	Infill Walls	Interior Partitions	Cornices, Overhang Parapets, Chimneys
OAKLAND/ Arnold, Eisner (1980, 1984)	N	N	N	N	Noted	N	Noted
MULTIHAZARD/ FEMA & Reitherman et al. (1984)	N	Ν	Y Soft or hard	Landslide liquefaction Settlement Surface faulting	Y noted	N	Braced or unbraced or not present
NEW MADRID/ Allen & Hoshall (1983)	N	N	Y	Liquefaction	N	N	Y
OSA HOSPITAL/ (1982)	Noted distance to nearest building	Noted distance to nearest building	N	Liquefaction Landslide	N	Y noted URM partitions	N
				Alquist-Priolo seismic zone			
LOS ANGELES/ (1978-79)	N	N	N	N	N	Y	Y, also from previous parapet program
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA/ McClure (1984)	Not a problem	N	N	Y Surface faulting in a few locations	N	Y	Y, noted but not significant in ranking

		SITE REI	ATED		N	ON-STRUCTURAL	
PROCEDURE/ Source	Pounding	Neighboring Building Collapse	Soil Conditions	Potential for Other Geohazards	Infill Walls	Interior Partitions	Cornices, Overhang Parapets, Chimneys
SANTA ROSA/ Myers (1981)	Y	N	Not explicit, all on alluvial fill	Not explicit, no potential for liquefaction or surface faulting	Y	Y	Y
LONG BEACH/ Wiggins and Moran (1971)	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	Y
NBS 61/ Culver et al. (1975)	Y, noted	Proximity to adjacent buildings noted, separation joints noted	Proximity to adjacent buildings noted	Y Fault rupture liquefaction (implicit fault location noted)	Y, noted and rated	Y, noted and rated	Y, noted and rated
							<u></u>

Table 4 (continued)

PROCEDURE/ Source	Survey personnel Approximate person-hours per building	Local Building Officials	Professional Engineers	Registered Architects	Building Owners	Emergency Managers	Intereste Citizens
CITY OF REDLANDS/ Mel Green & Assoc. (1986)	Not available	Y		Y	N	N	N
SAN FRANCISCO/ Frank Lew	15 min per building	Y	Y	Y	N	N	N
ABAG/ J. Perkins	5 min per building, Very little information noted				Y	Y	
STANFORD PROJECT/ JABEEC TR 81, Thurston et al. (1986)	Experienced structural engineer	Y	Y		N		N
LOW-RISE/ Wiggins and Taylor (1986)		* Y	Y	Y	N	N	N
PALO ALTO/ F. Herman	15 min per building	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N

Table 5

ATC-21-1

Procedures

37

			Table (continu	5 ed)			· · ·
PROCEDURE/ Source	Survey personnel Approximate person-hours per building	Local Building Officials	Professional Engineers	Registered Architects	Building Owners	Emergency Managers	Interested Citizens
OAKLAND/ Arnold, Eisner (1980, 1984)	20 min per building	Y	Y	Y	N	N	N
MULTIHAZARD/ FEMA & Reitherman et al. (1984)	1 hour to 3 days per building	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	N
NEW MADRID/ Allen & Hoshall (1983)		N	Y	N	N	N	N
OSA HOSPITAL/ (1982)	1-2 days per building	N	Y	Y	N	N	N
LOS ANGELES (1978-79)	40 min per building	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	N
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA/ McClure (1984)	20 min per building	N	Y	N	N	N	N
SANTA ROSA/ Myers (1981)	1/2 day (\$500) per building	Y	Y	Y	N	N	N
LONG BEACH/ Wiggins and Moran (1971)	Professional engineer	N	Y	N	N	N	N

38 **Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures**

ATC-21-I

7 7 7

			Table 5 (continued	1)			
PROCEDURE/ Source	Survey personnel Approximate person-hours per building	Local Building Officials	Professional Engineers	Registered Architects	Building Owners	Emergency Managers	Interested Citizens
NBS 61/ Culver et al. (1975)	1 hour per building	Y	Y	Y	N	N	N
						•	
a dharran an ann an Angela. Anns			• •				

ATC-21-I

Evaluation of Existing Rapid Screening Procedures 39

RECOMMENDED RAPID VISUAL SCREENING PROCEDURE

This section presents and discusses the elements of a recommended RSP, based on the results of the survey discussed above.

5.1 Elements of the Recommended RSP

In response to the conclusions (Section 4.7) reached from the survey of RSPs, an RSP employing the following elements is recommended:

- The Effective Peak Acceleration (EPA) values contained in the National Earthquake Hazards Reduction Program (NEHRP) Recommended Provisions for the Development of Seismic Regulations for New Buildings (BSSC, 1985), defined by Map Area, as an explicit measure of the ground motion.
- The building types contained in ATC-14 (i.e., wood frame, 5 steel types, 3 reinforced concrete, 2 pre-cast, 2 reinforced masonry, and 1 unreinforced masonry types).
- A systematic, simple structural hazard analysis scheme, based on a nonarbitrary measure of building performance for the specific building given the occurrence of the EPA. This scheme consists of a Basic Structural Hazard score, modified by penalties and bonuses to account for perceived deficiencies or strengths because of such factors as design level (inferred from age), condition, and configuration. The scheme involves only simple arithmetic, the score and penalties being added, to arrive at a final Structural Score S (A

high score corresponds to a low structural hazard, or is "good," and vice-versa.) The resulting S will relate back to the physical performance of the building, in terms of damage. (The basis for S is discussed further below).

- A simple clipboard data collection form, with space for:
 - a photograph of the building
 - a field sketch of the building
 - data from pre-field visit information (e.g., a summary from the Assessor's or other files, giving address, age, value, or owner's name, perhaps printed on a peel-off label that can be affixed directly to the data collection form)
 - a checklist of items (so that significant items are not omitted), with almost all input to be noted by circling of the appropriate item (so that standard notation is employed)

- the simple calculation for **S**

This form and process is to be accompanied by a handbook (ATC-21) explaining its use and providing

- information on how to determine which of the building types is most appropriate for the particular building being surveyed
- explanations and guidance as to the recognition of various significant factors, such as pounding, poor configuration, or soft stories

• a summary sheet of basic information, for quick reference in the field

5.2 Basis for Structural Hazard Scores

It has been emphasized in the above that the Structural Hazard score should be rationally based and physically meaningful. It is recommended that it should be *a measure of the probability of major seismic damage to the building*. Major damage is taken to be direct physical damage being 60% or greater of the building value. (Note: definitions of building value, and related terms are similar to those in report ATC-13, (ATC, 1985), "Earthquake Damage Evaluation Data for California").

Sixty percent as heavy damage is selected because (i) it is the lower end of the Major Damage State in ATC-13, (ii) if 60 percent of a building's value is damaged, experience has shown that demolition rather than repair often ensues, and (iii) if 60 percent damage is selected, then most buildings likely to collapse will be included in this category, so that lifesafety-related hazardous buildings (due to shaking) are probably all captured.

By employing NEHRP EPA values as the measure of ground motion, ATC-13 relations can be used to determine the probability of occurrence of 60 percent or greater damage, given that input ground motion (see Appendix B for details). The determination of the Basic Structural Hazard score then is:

Basic Structural Hazard score = -log (probability of damage >= 60%) (1)

If the probability of the damage exceeding 60%, given the NEHRP EPA value for the building's site, is, for example, .001, then the Basic Structural Hazard score is 3. If the probability is .01, then it is 2, and so on.

 Although quite simple, the Basic Structural Hazard score is thus intuitively satisfying. A relatively "safe" building would have values of 3 to 5 in

California, whereas the identical building would score approximately 7 to 10 in NEHRP Map Area 3, corresponding to New England or the South Carolina regions, as it is likely to experience less severe ground motion. Note, however, that because many buildings in less seismic areas are not designed for earthquake on the same basis as in California, when this is taken into account the resulting score is more consistent for the same building type in different NEHRP map areas (e.g., in the range of 3 to 5). Values of the Basic Structural Hazard score are provided in Table B1, Appendix B.

- The Basic Structural Hazard score can be easily and directly related back to the probability of major physical damage (i.e., damage exceeding 60 percent of building value).
- The Basic Structural Hazard score will likely prove of value in community costbenefit decision making because it can be directly related to physical damage.
- The ability to relate Basic Structural Hazard score to physical damage has the further virtue of providing a rational analytical basis for quantifying structural penalties for factors such as age, and configuration. If the impact of these factors on the likelihood (or probability) of major damage can be quantified, then the logarithm of this quantity is the modifier. Although lack of data and the present state of the art may preclude general quantification of the effect of a factor such as "soft story" at present, as new data emerge on the effect of this factor, its quantification can be directly related to a penalty on the Basic Structural Hazard score. In the interim. discussion and expert opinion/elicitation regarding the effect of this factor can take place within the framework of

trying to quantify the impact of this factor on the probability of major damage.

5.3 Data Collection Form

This section discusses the layout and use of data collection form, which is shown in Figure 1. The form would be carried in the field in a binder or clipboard.

Basic Information

Space is provided in the upper right of the form for basic information, much of which might be collated and printed out prior to the field visit. Information desired includes address, zip code (although often lacking from the studies reviewed, this is a useful item), the date of the survey, and identity of the surveyor. Additional useful information about the building such as age, construction type, soil type, and value is also desirable. Preferably, such information should either be computer-printed out directly onto the form, or onto a peel-off label applied by the field surveyor. This information would be quickly entered or affixed as the first item upon coming to the building.

Photograph

A general photo of the building should be taken, showing two sides of the building, if possible. (This would preferably be an "instant" type photo, to avoid the task of later collating photos with forms.)

Sketch

The surveyor would then sketch the building (plan and elevation, or oblique view) indicating dimensions, facade and structural materials, and observed special features such as cracks, lack of seismic separation between buildings, roof tanks, cornices, and other features. This sketch is important, as it requires the surveyor to carefully observe the building.

Building Information

Following this, the surveyor would fill in additional basic information specific to the building such as number of stories; an estimate of the building age (e.g., 1930's or late 1960's), the occupancy (e.g., residential, office, retail, wholesale/warehouse, light industrial, heavy industrial, public assembly such as auditoria or theaters, governmental); and an estimate of the number of persons typically in the building under normal occupancy. For example, for a residence, this would be the number of persons living there (not the daytime population); for an office this would be the daytime population; for a theater this would be the seating capacity.

Basic Structural Hazard Score

Next, based on observation, the surveyor would make a determination of the primary structural material (wood, steel, concrete, precast, reinforced masonry or unreinforced masonry) and circle the appropriate Basic Structural Hazard score. The basis for determination of Basic Structural Hazard scores are given in Appendix B. The building types follow the building category scheme of ATC-14 (ATC, 1987).

Wood

W = wood (low-rise (LR) only, W1 and W2 treated together)

Steel

- S1 = moment resisting frame
- S2 = steel frame with steel bracing
- S3 = light metal (LR only)
- S4 = steel frame with concrete shear walls
- S5 = steel frame with unreinforced masonry infill walls

Concrete

C1 = moment resisting frame

C2 = shear wall

C3 = concrete frame with unreinforced masonry infill walls

Precast

PC1 = tilt-up (LR only)

PC2 = precast concrete frames

Reinforced Masonry

RM = reinforced masonry buildings of all types, differentiated only by height

Unreinforced Masonry

URM = unreinforced masonry bearing wall (LR and mid-rise (MR) only).

Any specific jurisdiction corresponds to one NEHRP Map Area, and the form used in the field for that jurisdiction would have Structural Scores corresponding only to that Map Area/jurisdiction. All NEHRP Map Areas and corresponding Structural Scores would be furnished in the Handbook.

Confidence

If in doubt as to which category is most appropriate for a particular building, the surveyor should record the possible categories and mark them with an asterisk (*) to indicate the subjective evaluation.

If the surveyor cannot narrow the estimate to two alternates, DNK = Do Not Know should be indicated, signifying that the basic structural material or system cannot be identified from the street. DNK would also apply for a building of mixed construction, where no one category predominates. DNK constitutes a default, indicating that the building and drawings should be reviewed in detail.

Modifiers

Negative modifiers corresponding generally to deficiencies such as poor configuration, pounding, and potential for a neighboring building collapsing onto this building (this penalty would depend on the Basic Structural Hazard score for the neighboring building being sufficiently low as to indicate a potential for collapse, and the height and proximity of the neighboring building being such as to indicate that collapse might affect the subject building).

Soil Profile

Modifiers assigned for adverse soil conditions when the soil profile can be identified with some confidence. Soil profiles have been defined according to the NEHRP Recommended Provisions for the Development of Seismic Regulations for New Buildings (BSSC, 1985):

- SL1: Rock or stiff soils less than 200 feet deep overlying rock
- SL2: Deep, cohesionless soil or stiff clay conditions exceeding 200 feet depth
- SL3: Soft- to medium-stiff clays and sands, exceeding 30 feet in thickness

Structural Score S

Lastly, the Structural Score S is computed by simple addition of the modifiers to the Basic Structural Hazard score. The final Structural Score S is recorded.

5.4 Use of the Results

For any building, the final Structural Score S will typically be a number between 0 and 5 or more, depending on NEHRP Map Area. All buildings surveyed can thus be ranked according to S, and a decision made as to a "cut-off" S. Buildings that score below the cut-

44 Recommended Rapid Visual Screening Procedure

off would be subjected to more detailed review. Scoring above the cut-off does not signify a "safe" building, but instead indicates that for the particular community the building is assumed sufficiently safe, and no further review is required.

An appropriate value for the cut-off S is a complex decision, involving financial and ethical questions. Appendix C provides recommendations for a cut-off S. This

(a) a superior settion of the contract of the settion of the se

an an an Araban an Araban an Araban an Araban an Araban Araban an A

and a start of the second s Second second

r – silie der som en die statige aus der so erste ster en sier en siehen so

Leve and the state of the sta

and all a sub-sector de la construine tribuna parte a la construit La dela sector construint sector construine a construint de la construint de sector construint sector a la construint de la construint de la construint de setter a construint de la construint de la construint de la construint de setter a construint de la construint de la construint de la construint de setter a construint de la construint de la construint de la construint de setter a construint de la construint de la construint de la construint de la construint de setter a construint de la constr recommendation should be reviewed and, if necessary, modified by a jurisdiction, as the decision has cost implications. (That is, a relatively high cut-off involves detailed review of a large number of buildings, with increased costs and presumably eventual increased seismic safety, assuming buildings determined to be unsafe are cited and abated. A lower cutoff has lower costs for building review, but may involve lower resulting seismic safety.)

Recommended Rapid Visual Screening Procedure 45

A T	rc-	-21	/		(NE)	HRP	Mac	Are	9 as 5	i.6.7	Hio	h)	A	doress				*************			
Rapid \	/isua	al Sc	reer	ning o	t Se	ismi	cally	Haz	zardo	ius E	Build	ings		ther hi	ontiño	· •		an a	Zip	The California and and a second	-
····.					••••••						÷		Ň	o. Sto	ries	**********		Y	'ear Buit		
						·····	• •			•••••			l In	specto	v	- 1	ALL		Date		and and street
			:										Bu	uidina i	or ars Name	a (sq.	n)			an an an air an an Air an A	
			-										U	80	energenergenergenergenergenergenergener						
													Charles and the				(Pox	i∔off iø	bai)	an the state of th	
											<u>}</u>										
														~							
										••••									,		
						••••										1					
						•••••				•••••						N	ISTAN	t Pho	OTO		
		••••••																			
					·																
										•••••		1									
										•••••											
										••••••											
										•••••											
Scale:	:																				
								protective and		Mar In Galery											ayan kang kanan kalamin ya
0	CCU	PAP	VCY				3/ 0 T	VDC		Special	A			RAL S	CORE	S AND	MODI	FIERS			104
Commerc	lal rial	N	0. P	'ersoi	ns -		20.0					MRF)	(87)	<u>(LM)</u>	<u>RC SW</u>	(MRF)	(SW) (URM NF)	<u>(10)</u>		
Office	6-9GA1		0-1	0 100		Back - Joh F	e Sco Naa	X9		4	.5	4.5	3.0	5.5	3.5	2.0	3.0	1.5	2.0 1	.5 3.0	1.0 -0.5
Industrial			100	4		Poor	Condi	lion		- <u>o</u>	.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5 -0	.5 -0.5	-0.5
Pub. As: School	sem	•				Vert. Soft S	ntegi Nory	Janity	1	-1	.0	-0.8	-0.6	-0.5	-0.6	-1.0 -2.0	-0.5	-0.6 -1.0	-1.0 -1	.0 -2.0	-0.5 -1.0
Govt. B	dg.					Torsk Non t	31 Tarih	eritur		-1 -1	0	-2.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0 -0.5	-1.0 -1	0 -1.0	-1.0 -1.0
Emer. So	erv.					Jour	ing Line		n al allan ar	N	/A	-0.5	-0.5	NA	-0.5	-0.5	N/A	N/A	NVA -O	.5 N/A	N/A
HISTORIC E	wag.	·	- 1			Jar 90 Short	Colar	ny Cu nns	scong	N	VA VA	-2.U N/A	nva Nva	N/A N/A	NVA NVA	-1.0 -1.0	-1,0	-1.0	N/A -1	.0 N/A	N/A
ivon : Fallin	orui g Ha	ctura Bizar	di j		F	Post I	Bench	mark	Year	<u>*2</u>	.0	•2.0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	N/A	+2.0 +2	.0 +2.0	N/A
DAT	A CO	ONF	DEN	CE		x.Z XL3				-0. -0.	6	-0.6	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-0.3 -0	.6 -0.6	-0.6
12 a (2 04	stims r Unro	ited. S	Subje Date	cũve, 1	Ľ	<u>3L3 8</u>	1 8 to	20 s	toriea	N	A .	-0.8	-0.8	N/A	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	N/A -0	.8 -0.8	-0.8
DNK - D	ko No	t Kno	W		ľ	-NAL	. SCC	ARE .													
COMME	INT	3											and the second							Detail	ed
																				Evalua	tion
ATCOM									Fig	gure	1.	Data	Collec	ction F	Form					requir vec	
TO SCILLS		120000000000000000000000000000000000000	in concern					and the second		Section 12	14.00.000 Mag	of the second	n an an the state of the state	and a second data and	- argitisher Doktor			- HELLER MERCHANN		1 50	

CITED REFERENCES

- Allen & Hoshall (1983), An Assessment of Damage and Casualties for Six Cities in the Central United States Resulting from Two Earthquakes, M=7.6 and M=8.6, in the New Madrid Seismic Zone Report by Allen & Hoshall, Memphis, TN for FEMA.
- Angeletti, P. and V. Petrini (1985). *Vulnerability Assessment, Case Studies*. US-Italy Workshop on Seismic Hazard and Risk Analysis (Damage Assessment Methodologies), Varenna, Italy.
- Arnold, C. A., and R. K. Eisner (1984). Planning Information for Earthquake Hazard Response and Reduction. Bldg. Sys. Dev. Inc., San Mateo, CA.
- Amold, C. A., and R. Reitherman (1981). Building Configuration and Seismic Design, The Architecture of Earthquake Resistance. Building Systems Development, Inc., San Mateo, CA.
- A Survey of Unreinforced Masonry Buildings in San Francisco (1987). Report by Seismic Investigation & Hazards Survey Advisory Committee and Dept. of Pub. Works.
- ATC (1985). Earthquake Damage Evaluation Data for California. Applied Technology Council, ATC-13 Report, Redwood City, CA.
- ATC (1987). Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings. Applied Technology Council, ATC-14 Report, Redwood City, CA.
- ATC (1988). Rapid Visual Screening of Buildings for Potential Seismic Hazards: A Handbook, Applied Technology Council, ATC-21 Report, Redwood City, CA.
- ATC (in preparation). *Detailed Seismic Evaluation of Existing Buildings: A Handbook*, Applied Technology COuncil, ATC-22 Report, Redwood City, CA.
- Bresler, B., Okada, T., and D. Zisling (1975). Assessment of Earthquake Safety and of Hazard Abatement. Paper in EERC 77/06, U. California, Berkeley.
- BSSC (1985). NEHRP Recommended Provisions for the Development of Seismic Regulations for New Buildings Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 95, FEMA 96 and FEMA 97.

Culver, C. G, Lew, H. S., Hart, G. C., and C. W. Pinkham (1975). Natural Hazards Evaluation of Existing Buildings, BSS 61. National Bureau of Standards, Washington, D.C.

- *Earthquake Survivability Potential for General Acute Care Hospitals in the Southern California Uplift Area* (1982). Report by Office of the State Architect for Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, California.
- McClure, F. E. (1984). "Development and Implementation of the University of California Seismic Safety Policy." Proceedings, Eighth World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, San Francisco, CA, 859-865.

ATC-21-1

References 47

- Myers, W. E. (1981). "Identification and Abatement of Earthquake Hazards in Existing Buildings in the City of Santa Rosa." Proceedings, 50th Annual SEAOC Convention, Coronado, CA, 47-54.
- National Multihazard Survey (1987) Instructions, National Facility Survey, Reception and Care Survey, Natural Hazard Vulnerability Survey (Federal Emergency Management Agency, TR-84.
- NOAA (1972). A Study of Earthquake Losses in the San Francisco Bay Area: Data and Analysis. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Report prepared for the Office of Emergency Preparedness.
- NOAA (1973). A Study of Earthquake Losses in the Los Angeles, California Area: Data and Analysis. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Report prepared for the Federal Disaster Assistance Administration.
- Perkins, J. et al. (1986). Building Stock and Earthquake Losses The San Francisco Bay Area Example. Assoc. of Bay Area Governments, Oakland, CA.
- Pinkham, C. W. and G. C. Hart (1977). A Methodology for Seismic Evaluation of Existing Multistory Residential Buildings. U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development, 3 Volumes.
- Reitherman, R., Cuzner, G., and R. W. Hubenette (1984). *Multi-Hazard Survey Procedures*. Report by Scientific Service, Inc. Redwood City, CA for FEMA.
- Seismic Design Guidelines for Upgrading Existing Buildings (A Supplement to "Seismic Design Guidelines for Buildings") (1986). Final manuscript for the Department of the Army.
- Seismic Strengthening, Final Report and Handbooks (1987). Report published by the Department of Economic and Community Development, County of San Bernardino, California.
- Steinbrugge, K.V. (1982). Earthquake, Volcanos and Tsunamis. Skandia America Group, New York, NY.
- Thurston, H. M., Dong, W., Boissonnade, A. C., Neghabat, F., Gere, J. M., and H. C. Shah (1986). Risk Analysis and Seismic Safety of Existing Buildings. John A. Blume Eq. Eng. Ctr., TR-81, Stanford University, Stanford, CA.
- USGS (1975). A Study of Earthquake Losses in the Puget Sound, Washington Area: Data and Analysis. U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 75-375.
- USGS (1976). A Study of Earthquake Losses in the Salt Lake City, Utah Area: Data and Analysis. U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 76-89.
- Wiggins, J. H., and Moran, D. F. (1971). Earthquake Safety in the City of Long Beach Based on the Concept of Balanced Risk. Report by J.H. Wiggins Co., Redondo Beach, CA.
- Wiggins, J. H. and C. Taylor (1986). Damageability of Low rise Construction, Vol. II & IV. Report by the NTS Engineering for NSF, Long Beach, CA.

48 References

OTHER REFERENCES REVIEWED DURING RSP EVALUATION: (Annotated)

- An Earthquake Loss-Prediction Methodology for High technology Industries (1985). Report by EQE Inc. for NSF, San Francisco, CA. (The procedure in this report uses a detailed inventory of structural components such as beams, columns, and partitions for use with damage information. Too detailed for RSP.)
- Arnold, C. (1982). Earthquake Disaster Prevention Planning in Japan. Building Systems Development Inc., San Mateo, CA. (General discussion of disaster prevention planning in Japan. No RSP.)
- ATC (1982). An Investigation of the Correlation Between Earthquake Ground Motion and Building Performance, Applied Technology Council, ATC-10 Report, Palo Alto,CA. (An investigation of the correlation between earthquake ground motion and building performance, this work is cited only because its Table 2 (p. 10) provides a good summary of the general seismic capacity of typical building types.)
- Bouhafs, M. (1985). Evaluation of the Seismic Performance of Existing Buildings. College of Environmental Design, U.C. Berkeley, CA. (A detailed computer program, (ESP) for the evaluation of seismic performance, including soil modeling, static and dynamic analysis and damage analysis. No RSP.)
- Bresler, B. (1985). "State-of-the-Art Assessment". Proceedings, Workshop on Reducing Seismic Hazards of Existing Buildings, FEMA 91. (State-of-the-art review of methods for (a) identifying potentially hazardous buildings, (b) evaluating seismic performance of such buildings, and (c) developing criteria for seismic retrofit.)
- Eagling, D. G., ed. (1983). *Seismic Safety Guide*. Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, Berkeley, CA. (Evaluation of existing buildings includes complete drawings, soils reports, construction inspection reports, original calculations and alteration plans, and field test beyond the scope of an RSP.)
- *Earthquake Safety: Potentially Hazardous Buildings* (1985). Committee on Hazardous Buildings of the Seismic Safety Commission, SSC 85-04. (Contains description of types of potentially hazardous buildings in California and generalized philosophy for abatement. No RSP.)
- Earthquake Vulnerability Survey of Southern California Defense Contractors, Preliminary Assessment (1985). Defense Contract Administration Services Management Area. (No visual screening.)
- Freeman, S. A., Willsea, F. J., and A. T. Merovich (1979). *Evaluating Old Buildings for New Earthquake Criteria*. Preprint ASCE spring convention. (No explicit method for visual screening).
- Handbook for Identification and Analysis of Potentially Hazardous Unreinforced Masonry Bearing Wall Buildings (1987). Report by Southern California Earthquake Preparedness Project.

ATC-21-1

References 49

- Hasselman, T. K., Eguchi, R. T., and J. H. Wiggins (1980). Assessment of Damageability for Existing Buildings in a Natural Hazards Environment, Vol I: Methodology. J.H. Wiggins Co. for NSF. (Development of computer program "DAMAGE," a tool for local building officials to assess damageability of buildings exposed to earthquakes, severe winds and tornados. No RSP.)
- Heger, F. J. and R. W. Luft (1977). Structural Evaluation of Existing Buildings in Massachusetts for Seismic Resistance. Dept. of Civil Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, R77-44. (A short general discussion and comparison of three available methods of evaluating existing buildings but no specific RSP.)
- ISO (1983). Guide for Determination of Earthquake Classifications. Insurance Services Office (copyrighted). (A guide for use in the insurance industry, for determining the Rate Group, which then determines the applicable premium rate per the Commercial Lines Manual. A building is assigned to a Rate Group on the basis of a step-by-step procedure involving Building Classification Rating Points, BCRP. These points are assigned on the basis of framing system, walls, partitions, diaphragms, area, height, ornamentation, shape, equipment, design, and quality control. Penalties for site-dependent, geologic-related hazards, and exposure hazards such as pounding and overhanging elements, are noted. This information is presumably furnished by the insurance applicant, and may be supported by a full set of construction drawings and a statement by the design professional indicating the type of framing system and materials of construction, the level of seismic forces for which the building was designed, and a description of any special damage control measures taken. Explicit visual aspects are not discussed. The BCRP are perhaps useful for weighting various factors such as wall types, ornamentation, or foundation materials. The background for the numerical values of these is not presented, however. They may be derived from similar considerations as the modifiers in Steinbrugge, 1982.)
- Lev, O.E. (1980). "A System for Evaluation and Mitigation of Regional Earthquake Damage. Proceedings, Seventh World Conference on Earthquake Engineering, Istanbul, Turkey. (A computer program REDEEM for regional earthquake damage estimation. No RSP.)
- Lew, T. K. (1986). Historic Earthquake Damage for Buildings and Damage Estimated by the Rapid Seismic Analysis Procedure: A Comparison. Naval Civil Engineering Lab., R-918, Port Hueneme, CA. (Rapid seismic analysis procedure, not an RSP.)
- Lew, T. K., S. K. Takahashi, (1978). Rapid Seismic Analysis Procedure. Naval Facilities Eng. Command, Tech. Memo. 51-78-02, Naval Construction Battalion Center, Pt. Hueneme. (Initial screening of buildings is based solely on "mission important and/or major permanent buildings." All of these buildings are then examined via the Rapid Seismic Analysis Procedure, which is an abbreviated engineering analysis.)
- Liu, B.C., et al. (1981). Earthquake Risk and Damage Functions: Application to New Madrid. Westview Press, Boulder CO, 297 pp. (Does not involve site visits at all.)
- McClure, F. (1973). Survey and Evaluation of Existing Buildings. In NBS BSS 46, Building Practices for Disaster Mitigation, National Bur. Standards, Washington, DC. (Generally

50 References

concerned with post-earthquake damage evaluation.)

- McClure, F. E., Degenkolb, H. J., Steinbrugge, K. V., and R. A. Olson (1979). Evaluating the Seismic Hazard of State Owned Buildings. California Seismic Safety Commission, Sacramento, CA. (Cost-benefit analysis, no RSP.)
- Morton, D. T. and W. E. Myers (1981). "A Program for Rehabilitation of Commercial Buildings to Meet Earthquake Standards." Proceedings, 50th Annual SEAOC Convention, Coronado, CA, 5566.
- Nowak, A.S. and E.L.R. Morrison (1982). Earthquake Hazard Analysis for Commercial Buildings in Memphis. Dept. of Civil Engineering, U. Michigan, Ann Arbor, UMEE 82R2. (Damage predicted using structural analysis procedure. Although some sites were visited, this was not an RSP.)
- Pre-Earthquake Planning for Post-Earthquake Rebuilding (PEPPER), Summary Report of Structural Hazards and Damage Patterns (1984). William Spangle & Assoc. and H. J. Degenkolb Assoc. for NSF. (Inventory for damage estimation was taken from Land Use Planning and Management System File for the City of Los Angeles. No RSP.)
- Rehabilitating Hazardous Masonry Buildings: A Draft Model Ordinance (1985). California Seismic Safety Commission, SSC 85-06. (A model ordinance developed as a guideline for local governments planning seismic rehabilitation programs. Based on ordinance and survey performed in the City of Los Angeles.)
- Reitherman, R. (1985). A Review of Earthquake Damage Estimation Methods. Earthquake Spectra, Vol 1. No. 4, 805-847.

Richter, C.F. (1958). Elementary Seismology. W.H. Freeman and Co., Inc., San Francisco, CA.

- SCEPP (1983). San Bernardino County Pilot Project for Earthquake Hazard Assessment. Final Draft, Van Nuys, CA. (Pilot project to estimate damage did not involve site visit.)
- Scholl, R. (1979). Seismic Damage Assessment for High-Rise Buildings. Annual Technical Report to USGS. (The data collection in this report refers to building damage in past earthquakes for the purpose of developing damage functions for different types of structures.) Seismic Design for Buildings (1982). Depts. of Army, Navy, and Air Force, Tech. Man. 5-809-10. (Contains only discussions of design procedures for buildings. No discussion of existing buildings.)
- Seismic Design Guidelines for Essential Buildings (1984). Depts. of Army, Navy, and Air Force, Tech. Man. 5-809-10.1. (Contains only discussions of analysis and design of essential facilities. No discussion of existing buildings. No RSP.)
- Tandowsky, S., Hanson, C., and C. Beauvoir (1986). "Seismic Vulnerability Studies of Buildings at Military Facilities in the Southeastern United States." Proceedings, Third U.S. Conf. on Earthquake Engineering, Charleston, SC, pp. 1851-1861. (This is a three-phase evaluation of approximately 200 buildings at four Navy and Marine Corps facilities. The first phase involves a

review of existing construction documents and a physical inspection resulting in a four class vulnerability rating varying from "likely to incur severe damage" to "unlikely to receive observable damage to structure." The higher two classes were recommended for further review. The second phase is the Navy rapid seismic evaluation procedure, and the third a detailed analysis. After the first two phases, more than 80 percent had been recommended for phase three.)

- Tyrrell, J.V. and B. Curry (1986). "The U.S. Navy's Earthquake Safety Program." Proceedings, Third U.S. Conf. on Earthquake Engineering, Charleston, SC, pp. 1863-1872. (This is similar to the method described in Tandowsky et al. using an initial screening procedure, followed by the Navy rapid seismic analysis procedure. Before the visual screening, computer data were used to eliminate seven classes of structures, primarily smaller and less expensive structures, and structures scheduled to be replaced in the next five years.)
- UNESCO (1982). Earthquake Risk Reduction in the Balkans. Reports of Working Groups A-E, UNDP Proj. RER/79/014. (Basically, these reports deal with seismic hazard analysis, vulnerability and recent damage experience, model code development, dynamic behavior of soils, and of structures. No effort for rapid visual screening of hazardous buildings.)

Werner, S. D. (1987). *Rapid Analysis Procedure for Water Supply System Structures*. Memorandum, Wiss, Janney, Elstner Assoc., Emeryville, CA. (A two-phase procedure, the first being a walk-through of all structures to document structural information, building importance, and present condition to determine which structures need further evaluation. A second, more detailed survey is carried out for those buildings selected in the first previous step.

The Navy rapid analysis procedure is used to estimate damage for the building.)

Yao, J.T.P. (1985). Safety and Reliability of Existing Structures. Pitman, Boston, 130 pp. (SPERIL is a computer-based damage assessment system for evaluating the damage a building has sustained after an earthquake. It is a rule-based (i.e., expert) system incorporating data from loading tests pre- and post-earthquake, visual data, and accelerometer records during the strong motion, in a fuzzy set formulation. Not directly relevant but included herein because of its use of fuzzy sets and related aspects.)

ante en la contra porta de la contra de la con Contra de la contra El contra de la cont Contra de la contra d Contra de la contra

and the second second

APPENDIX A

SAMPLE DATA SHEETS

NBS 61

	DC-1
	DATA COLLECTION FORM NATURAL HAZARDS EFFECTS (Extreme Winds, Earthquakes)
A. <u>Gei</u>	IERAL DATA
*1.	Facility No 2. Building Name
3.	Address 4. City
5.	State 6. Zip Code 7. Year Built
8.	Date of Major Modifications or Additions, if any
9.	Building Code Jurisdiction: City County State Federal
*10.	Latitude *11. Longitude
12.	Current Bldg, Use Orig. Bldg. Use
13.	Basement Yes No Number of Basements
	No. of Stories Above Basement (See also Item A23)
14.	Height of First Story ft.
15.	Upper Story Height ft. Special Story Height ft.
16.	Is the exterior of first story different from upper stories?
	Street Front Side Yes No Other Sides Yes No
17.	Approximate Roof Overhang Distance Side
18.	Proximity to Adjacent Buildings: Sketch Below with North Arrow
	North Side South Side East Side West Side
	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides
*To	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
*To	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
*То	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
*Тс	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
*Тс	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
*To	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
oT* etch	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.
oI.* Sketch	North Side South Side East Side West Side Note Street or Alley Sides be filled in by Field Supervisor.

NBS 61

19.	Are	e plans	avail:	able?		_ If so,	where o	btainab	le		
					Are o	riginal	calculat	ions av	ailable	?	If so
	whe	re obt	ainable	<u> </u>				·			
	Nan	ne of:	Archit	lect _			Eng	gineer _			
			Contra	nctor	·					·	
			Regula	tory	Agency			- <u></u>			
20.	Bas	ic Bui	lding P	Plan							
	9	Sketc	h overe	11 .1	am						
	ь. Ь.	Locat	e shear	wall	ls, if a	any.					
	c. d.	Locat	e main e expan	trame sion	is. joints,	, if any.		•.			
	e.	Give Show	approxi street	mate	north a	arrow and	l label s	ides "A	", "B",	"C",	"D", et
	f. g.	Note If pl	any com an chan	mon o iges i	n upper	y walls. r floors,	sketch	this pl	an and	note	level of
			- .								
		Ū		files	additi	ionel che	or if no				
		Ū		(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary	')		
		Ū		(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary	·)		
		Ū		(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary	·)		
				(Use	addit:	ional she	et if ne	cessary)		
				(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary)		
				(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary)		
				(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary	•		
				(Use	addit:	ional she	et if ne	cessary	••		
				(Use	addit:	ional she	et if ne	cessary	••		
				(Use	addit:	ional she	et if ne	cessary)		
				(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	cessary	•		
				(Use	addit:	ional she	et if ne	cessary	••		
				(Use	addit	ional she	et if ne	Cessary	••		
21. Elevation of Exterior Walls.

- Sketch: a. All openings or note pattern of openings. b. Note exterior finish and appendages.

 - c. Note material of walls.
 d. Major cracks or other damage. (Note if cracks are larger at one end.)
 - e. Note previously repaired damage.

f. Note any evidence of damage to cladding or appendages.

(Use additional sheet if necessary)

Appendix A 57

DC-3

 (9 6 6 4 6 6 A 6		THEEL TO	r Snea	it walls	•						. *
Sketch:	a. b.	All open Major cu at one o	nings. racks end.)	or othe	er dam	age.	(Note	if	cracks	are	larger
•	C,	Note any	/ prev	viously	repai	red d	amage.				
			ж., ¹ .,			· · ·			•		
											11
											t
										Ļ	

58 Appendix A

NBS 61

			<i>9</i> 0°J
23.	Ada	ptability of Basement to Storm Shelter.	
	8.	Floor Over Basement - Concrete D Other	
	ь.	If concrete, give thickness	
	c.	Available Space (approximate) sq. ft.	
	d.	Dangerous Contents. Storage of Flammable Liquids	
		Presence of Transformers or Other Dangerous Equipment	
		Other Hazards	
		None	
24.	Is	this a Vault-like Structure? Yes 🗌 No 🗍	
· · ·			
÷			
			<u></u>

		· · ·	1	DC
EXTE	RIOR WALL S	SUMMARY SHI	ET	
Exterior Characteristics	Side A	Side B	Side C	Side D
Extensive Architectural Ornaments or Veneer				
WALLS			1	
Metal Curtain Wall				
Precast Concrete Curtain Wall				
Stone				
Brick				
Concrete Block				
Concrete				
Other				
For Concrete Block and Brick, indicate R for Running Bond S for Stacked Bond				
Condition of Wall*				
OPENINGS				
per Story	5 			
*1. No cracks, good mortar. 2. Few visible cracks. 3. Many cracks		<u></u>		
4. Evidence of minor repair 5. Evidence of many repairs	73.			
		•		
		a an	1 1 - 2	

60 Appendix A

NBS 61

			DC-7
B,	SIT	TE RELATED INFORMATION THE ASSAULT AND A SAULT	
	1.<	Exposure and the second s	
		a. Centers of large city b. Very rough hilly terrain	
		c. Suburban areas, found, fifty outskirts wood space or	_ _
		rolling terrain d. Flat, open country	
		e. Flat coastal belts f. Other	
	2.		
		a. Building on level ground b Building on sloping ground	 -1
		C Building loosted adjacent to mbachant	
		Comparison for a state of the s	
	*3.	Geologic formation	
	#4,	Location of known faults: Name Miles	
		Miles	
	*5.	Depth of water table ft. When measured:(Month) (You	
	*6.	Depth of bedrockft.	
	*7.	Soil type	·
	*8.	Bearing capacity p.s.f., or blows per	inch
	9.	Proximity to potential wind-blown debris - Type	
		Location Distance	·
	·		
	·	a a sua da su A sua da sua d	
		n en	
		a ser a ser a deserva de la serva de la La serva de la s	
*T0	be i	filled in by Field Supervisor.	

ATC-21-1

			DC-8
c.	<u>571</u>	RUCTURAL SYSTEMS	
	1.	Material	
		Concrete Masonry S	teel Wood
	2.	Vertical Load Resisting System	
		Frame Bearing Wall	Wall and Pilasters
		For frame system, check one for typica	l column cross-section
	3.	Lateral Load Resisting System	
		Masonry Shear Wall	Braced Frame
		Concrete Shear Wall	Moment Resisting Frame
		Plywood Shear Wall	Are resisting systems
	4.	Floor System	
		Frane	
		Concrete Beams	Wood Beams
		Steel Beams	No Framing Members
		Steel Ber Joist	Precast Concrete Beams
		Deck	
		Concrete Flat Plate	Straight Sheathing
		Concrete Flat Slab	Plywood Sheathing
		Concrete Waffle Slab	Diagonal Sheathing
		Steel Deck	Precast Concrete Deck
		Wood Joists	Concrete Joista
		Hood Plank	Concrete Plank
		Note if concrete topping slab is u plank.	ued over metal decks or concrete

		alan an a	in the second
		50-9	
	Connection Details Bolted Welded Metal Clips Wire Fastener No Connection Nailed Metal Hangers	Framing Decking To Framing	
	Inchorage Floor to Walls		
	Туре		
· · · · ·	Spacing		
5. R	oof System		
F	reme		:
	Concrete Beams	Steel Truss	
	Steel Beams	Wood Truss	
	Steel Bar Joist	No Framing Members	
<i>.</i>	Wood Beams	Precast Concrete Beams or Tees	
	Wood Rafters		
. De	eck		
	Concrete Flat Slab	Concrete Waffle Slab	
	Metal Decking	Plywood Sheathing	
	Concrete Slab	Disgonal Sheathing	•
	Concrete Joists	Straight Sheathing	
	Precast Decking	Concrete Fill Yes 🚺 No 🚺	i.
			, , ,

NBS 61

				DC-10	
	Connection Details	Framing	Decking to Framing		
	Bolted				
	Welded				
	Metal Clips				
	Wire Fastener				
	No Connection				
	Nailed				
	Metal Hangers				
	Anchorage Roof to Walls				
	Туре				
	Spacing		<u> </u>		
D.	NONSTRUCTURAL ELEMENTS				
	1. Partitions				
	Туре	Tunical	Corridor		
	Partial Height				
	Full Height Floor-To-Ceiling				
	Floor To Floor				
	Movable				
	Composition				
	Lath and Plaster				
	Gypsum Wallboard				
	Concrete Block				
*	Clay Tile				
	Metal Partitions				
		н - С			

64 Appendix A

÷ 1	DC-11
2.	Ceiling
	Typical Room
	Material Material
	Acoustical Tile Gypsum Board Plaster
	Method of Attachment
	Suspended Metal Channels Tee Bar Grid
	Attached Directly to Structural Elements
	Typical Corridor
	Material
	Acoustical Tile Gypsum Board Plaster
	Method of Attachment
	Suspended Metal Channels Tee Bar Grid
	Attached Directly to Structural Elements
3.	Light Fixtures
	Typical Room
	Recessed Surface Mounted Pendant (Suspended)
	Typical Corridor
	Recessed Surface Mounted Pendant (Suspended)
4.	Mechanical Equipment
	Location of Mechanical Equipment Room
	Basement Other Floor Which Floor
	Roof
	Is Equipment Anchored to Floor? No Yes
	Location of The Following Units
	Liquid Storage Tank
	Cooling Tower
	Air Conditioning Unit

NBS 61

	DC-12
5.	Roofing
	Description
	Flat 🚺 Arched 🛄 Gabled 🚺 If arched or gabled, sketch section.
	Pitched Slope (:12)
	Parapet No Yes Height (ftin.) Thickness (in.)
	Material Special Anchorage or Bracing Yes 🗍 No 🗍
	Туре
	Built-up gravel 🔲 Gravel 🗌 Asphalt or Wood Shingles 🗍
	Clay Tile D Other
6.	Windows
	Туре
	Fixed Movable
	Frame Material:
	Aluminum 🗌 Steel 🗌 Stainless Steel 🗍 Wood 🗍
	Size: Average Size of Casing (ft. x ft.)
	Average Size of Glazing (ft in. x ft in.)
	Now Casing is Attached to Structure
	Bolted Screwed Clipped Welded Nailed
	Glazing Attachment to Casing
	Elastomeric Gasket 🗌 Glazing Bead 🗋 Aluminum or Steel Retainer 🔲
	Other
7.	Gas Connection
	Flexible Connection to Building Rigid Connection to Building
	Automatic Shut-off 🚺 None 🗌 Unknown 🗍
	INSPECTED BY
	DATE
	FIELD SUPERVISOR

66 Appendix A

·							Form FMA
PACILITY	Y NO		of concernment of the second second	EXPECTED SI	ITE MODIFIED MER	CALLI INTENSI	TY
			FI	ELD EVALUATI	ION METHOD		
		STRU	CTURAL SYST	EMS - EARTHO	QUAKE AND WIND R	ATING	
an 201 an	And a state of the second s		VERT	ICAL RESISTI	ING ELEMENTS		
	Gen	eral]	Symmetry 1	Present	1
Туре	<u>Ratin</u> E	r (GR) W	Symmetry (S)	Quantity (Q)	Quantity Rating (SQR)	Condition (PC)	Sub-Rating (SR1)
			R	TRANSVERSE I	OADING		
	Analylianis in an argument						
			L.	ONGITUDINAL	LUADING	T	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
OOTNOTE	<u>s</u> :			(000) S	+ 0		
¥.	Symmet	ry-Quan	tity kating	(SQR) = =	2		
2.	Sub-rat	ting SR	$-1 = \frac{SQR + 1}{3}$	<u>_2PC</u>			
			TYPE			GENERAL	RATING (GR)
A 64-	- 7 M-		TYPE			<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu	RATING (GR) ake Wind
A Ste B Ste	el Mome	ent Res	TYPE istant Frame	es tance Capabi	lity Unknown	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2	. RATING (GR) ake <u>Wind</u> 1 2
A Ste B Ste C Con	el Mome el Fran icrete M	ent Res nes - M loment 1	TYPE istant Framo oment Resist Resistant F	es tance Capabi rames	lity Unknown	<u>GENERAL</u> <u>Earthqu</u> 1 2 1	RATING (GR ake Wind 1 2 1
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con	el Mome el Fran icrete M icrete H	ent Res mes - M foment l Tames	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Res	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap	lity Unknown ability Unknown	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 2	. RATING (GR ake Wind 1 2 1 2 2
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas	el Mome el Fran icrete M icrete H icrete H icrete St	ent Res pes - M foment 1 Tames lear Wa	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Res 118 - Unrein	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced	lity Unknown ability Unknown	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4	RATING (GR) ake <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or :
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas	el Mome el Fran icrete H icrete H icrete J ionry Sh ionry or	ent Res nes - M foment 1 Trames near Wa : Concre	TYPE istant Fram oment Resist Resistant F - Moment Res 11s - Unrein ete Shear W	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf	lity Unknown ability Unknown orced	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1	RATING (GR) ake <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 1
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Con	el Mome el Fran acrete H conry Sh onry or binatic	ent Res bes - Mi foment l frames lear Wa : Concre in - Un: Ref	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Res lls - Unrein ete Shear Wa reinforced S sistant Fram	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 2	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 1 2
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com	el Mome el Fran crete M crete F corry Sh corry or binatic binatic	ent Res nes - M foment 1 Frames near Wa c Concre on - Un Re Re n - Re:	TYPE istant Fram. oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Resistant F: lls - Unrein ete Shear Ware reinforced Shear inforced Shear Shear Shear inforced Shear	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls nes ear Walls an	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 2 2	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or : 1 2
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com	el Mome el Fran crete P crete P corry Sh corry Sh corry or binatic	ent Res bes - Ma foment 1 Frames lear Wa c Concre on - Un Res n - Res	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Resistant Fran ete Shear Wa reinforced Sh sistant Fran inforced Sho	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 2 2 or : 1 2 1
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com	el Mome el Fran acrete M corete H corry Sh corry or binatic binatic ced Fra	ent Res mes - Ma fonent 1 frames near Wa c Concre on - Un Res mes	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Resistant Fran ete Shear Wa reinforced Sh sistant Fran inforced Sho sistant Fran	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 1 1	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or : 1 2 1 1 1
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo	el Mome el Fran crete F conry Sh conry or binatic binatic binatic ced Frane d Frame	ent Res nes - M foment 1 Frames near Wa concre on - Un Res on - Res mes Build Build	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Resi lls - Unrein ete Shear Wa reinforced Sho sistant Fran inforced Sho sistant Fran ings, Walls ings, Walls	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an nes Sheathed or Without Woo	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 or 2	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 2 or : 1 2 2 or : 1 2 2 or :
A Ste B Ste C Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo	el Mome el Fran crete H sonry Sh onry or binatic binatic ced Fran d Frame r Plast	ent Res mes - M foment 1 Frames near Wa c Concre on - Un Res n - Res mes : Build : Build : er	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Resistant France ete Shear Wa reinforced Shear Fran inforced Sheat Fran inforced Sheat Fran ings, Walls ings, Walls	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 1 1 or 2 4	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 1 2 1 2 4
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo L Woo SYMMET	el Mond el Fran icrete H conry Sh onry or binatic binatic ced Fran d Frame r Plast RY (of	ent Res mes - M fonent i frames iear Wa r Concre on - Un Re: on - Re: Res iear Build : Build : Build	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F: - Moment Resis lls - Unrein ete Shear Wa reinforced Sh sistant Fram inforced Sh sistant Fram ings, Walls ings, Walls ing Elements	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s)	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (or	<u>GENERAL</u> Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 1 0 or 2 4 f Resisting E	<u>RATING (GR)</u> <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or : 1 2 1 2 1 2 4
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Noo O <u>SYMMET</u>	el Mone el Fran icrete H conry Sh onry or binatic binatic binatic ced Fra d Frame r Plast RY (of	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames hear Wa r Concre on - Un Res mes Build Build er Resist Syn	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis lls - Unrein ete Shear Wa reinforced Sh sistant Fram inforced Sh sistant Fram ings, Walls ings, Walls <u>ing Elements</u> metrical	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s)	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (of 1 Many Resis	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 1 or 2 4 f Resisting E sting Element	RATING (GR) <u>ake</u> <u>Wind</u> 1 2 1 2 2 or : 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 4 :lements) 5
A Ste B Ste C Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo L Woo C SYMMET 1 2 2	el Mone el Fran crete H corry St onry or binatic binatic binatic ced Fran d Frame r Plast RY (of	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames lear Wa Concr Concr Res Res mes Build er Resist Syr Fa:	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resi lls - Unrein ete Shear Wa reinforced She sistant Fram inforced She sistant Fram inforced She sistant Fram ings, Walls ings, Walls <u>ing Elements</u> mmetrical irly Symmetr	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s)	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (of 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 1 or 2 4 f Resisting E sting Element punt of Resis	RATING (GR) ake Wind 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 1 2 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 2 or 2 4 1 1 2 or 3 4 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 0 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 0 1 1 2 1 2 0 1 1 2 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 1 1 2 0 1 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo L Woo L Woo 2 Or 3 Or	eel Mome eel Fran acrete H conry Sh onry on binatic binatic binatic ced Frane d Frame r Plast RY (of 3	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames lear Wa c Concre on - Un Res n - Res mes build er Resist Syn Fa: Syn	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resi lis - Unrein ete Shear Wareinforced S sistant Fram inforced She sistant Fram inforced She sis	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo <u>s)</u> rical	lity Unknown pability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing <u>QUANTITY (of</u> 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Fee L	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 1 or 2 4 f Resisting E sting Elements bunt of Resisting Elements cing Elements	RATING (GR) ake Wind 1 2 2 or 1 2 2 or 1 2 1 2 1 2 or 4 1 2 1 2 5 ting Element ments
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Noo O <u>SYMMET</u> 1 2 2 or 3 or	el Mome el Fran acrete H sonry Sh onry or binatic binatic d Frane d Frane r Plast RY (of	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames hear Wa concre on - Un Res n - Res Res mes build er Resist Syn Fa: Syn Fa: Syn	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis lis - Unrein ete Shear Ware inforced Shear sistant Fram inforced Shear sistant Fram inforced Shear sistant Fram ings, Walls ing Elements ing Elements ing Symmetry metry Poor ry Unsymmetry	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s) rical	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (of 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Few F	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 5 6 Resisting E 5 1 or 2 4 5 6 Resisting E 5 1 or 2 4 5 6 Resisting E 5 1 or 2 4 5 6 Resisting E 5 7 8 8 8 1 or 2 9 1 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 1	RATING (GR) ake Wind 1 2 2 or 3 1 2 or 3 1 2 or 3 4 (lements) s ting Element ments alls are
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo L Woo SYMMET 1 2 2 or 3 or NOTE: rati: non-	el Mone el Fran acrete H conry Sh onry or binatic binatic binatic ced Frane d Frane r Plast RY (of 3 4 Add 1 ng if a uniform	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames hear Wa concr n - Un Res mes Build Build er Resist Syr Fa: Syr Ver (not to high c	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis lls - Unrein ete Shear Wa reinforced She sistant Fram inforced She sistant Fram inforced She sistant Fram ings, Walls ings, Walls <u>ing Elements</u> mmetrical irly Symmetr metry Poor ry Unsymmetr > exceed 4) legree of ve stiffness of	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s) rical rical to each ertical >ccurs.	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing <u>QUANTITY (of</u> 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Few F NOTE: If exte at least 757 this rating	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 1 or 2 4 f Resisting E sting Elements ting Elements	RATING (GR ake Wind 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 2 2 or 1 2 1 2 1 2 0 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 0 1 1 2 1 2 0 1 1 2 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
A Ste B Ste C Con D Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Noo SYMMET 1 2 2 or 3 or NOTE: rati: non- PRESEN	el Mome el Fran acrete H sonry Sh sonry or binatic binatic d Frame d Frame r Plast RY (of 3 4 Add 1 ng if a uniform T CONDI	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames hear Wa concre on - Un Res n - Res mes e Build er Resist Syn Fa: Syn Ven (not to high c ity in TION (concre Syn	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis lis - Unreis ete Shear Ware reinforced Share inforced Share i	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s) rical rical to each ertical >ccurs. g Elements)	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (of 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Few F NOTE: If exte at least 757 this rating	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 5 6 8 5 5 5 1 0 7 2 4 1 1 1 0 7 2 4 1 1 1 0 7 2 4 5 6 8 5 5 5 1 9 6 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7	RATING (GR ake Wind 1 2 2 2 or 1 2 2 or 1 2 2 or 4 (lements) s ting Element ments alls are length,
A Ste B Ste C Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo L Woo SYMMET 1 2 2 or 3 or NOTE: rati non- PRESEN 1	el Mome el Fran icrete H ionry Sh ionry or binatic binatic d Frame d Frame r Plast RY (of 3 4 Add 1 ng if a uniform <u>T CONDI</u>	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames hear Wa concre on - Un Re: on - Re: mes Build: Build: er Resist: Syr Fa: Syr Ver (not to high o ity in TION (corect	TYPE istant Framoment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis lis - Unrefi ete Shear Wa reinforced Sha sistant Fram inforced Sha sistant Fram ings, Walls ings, Walls ing Elements ing Symmetry poerry Unsymmetry concered 4) legree of ve stiffness co of Resisting as, No Damage	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo <u>s)</u> rical rical to each ertical >ccurs. <u>3 Elements)</u> 3e	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (of 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Few F NOTE: If exte at least 757 this rating	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 5 1 1 1 or 2 4 f Resisting E sting Elements ting Elements ting Elements Resisting Elements ting Elements ting Elements ting Elements ting Elements ting Elements ting Elements	RATING (GR) ake Wind 1 2 1 2 2 or : 1 2 2 or : 4 1 2 or : 4 1 1 2 or : 4 1 1 2 or : 5 5 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 1 2 or : 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
A Ste B Ste C Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo C SYMMET 1 2 2 or 3 or NOTE: rati non- PRESEN 1 2 2	el Mome el Fran crete H conry Sh conry or binatic binatic binatic ced Frane d Frame r Plast RY (of 3 4 Add 1 ng if a uniform T CONDI	ent Res mes - M Moment Frames hear Wa concre on - Un Re: on - Re: mes Build Build Build er Resist Syr Fa: Syr Ver (not to high o ity in TION (o	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis lis - Unreis ete Shear Ware reinforced Sha sistant Fram inforced Sha sistant Fram ings, Walls ings, Walls ing Elements metrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical istant Poor ry Unsymmetrical istants of the state of the stiffness of of Resisting (S, No Damago) or Cracks	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo s) rical rical to each ertical >ccurs. <u>2 Elements</u>) 3e	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment d Moment Plastered d Sheathing <u>QUANTITY (of</u> 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Few F NOTE: If exte at least 757 this rating	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 5 6 8 5 5 5 1 9 6 8 5 1 9 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	RATING (GR) ake Wind 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
A Ste B Ste C Con E Mas F Mas G Com H Com H Com J Bra K Woo L Woo SYMMET 1 2 2 or 3 or NOTE: rati non- PRESEN 1 2 3 4	el Mome el Fran crete H sonry Sh sonry or binatic binatic binatic ced Frane d Frame r Plast RY (of 3 4 Add 1 ng if a uniform T CONDI	ent Res mes - M foment Frames hear Wa t Concre on - Un: Re: on - Re: on - Re: mes build: Build: er Resist: Syn Fa: Syn Ver (not to high c ity in TION (c lany Min galor C	TYPE istant Fram oment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis Resistant F - Moment Resis inforced Sha sistant Fram inforced Sha sistant Fram inforced Sha sistant Fram ings, Walls ing Elements metrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Symmetrical irly Charles C of Resisting as, No Damagor or Cracks C	es tance Capabi rames sistance Cap nforced alls - Reinf Shear Walls mes ear Walls an mes Sheathed or Without Woo <u>s)</u> rical rical to each ertical >ccurs. <u>2 Elements)</u> ge	lity Unknown ability Unknown forced and Moment of Moment Plastered d Sheathing QUANTITY (of 1 Many Resis 2 Medium Amo 3 Few Resist 4 Very Few F NOTE: If exte at least 757 this rating NOTE: If man of mortar	GENERAL Earthqu 1 2 1 2 4 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 5 8 8 1 1 1 1 2 4 5 6 8 8 1 1 1 2 4 1 1 1 2 4 5 6 8 8 1 1 1 2 4 5 6 8 8 1 1 2 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 2 4 4 1 1 1 1	RATING (GR) ake Wind 1 2 1 2 2 or 1 1 2 2 or 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 2 or 1 4 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

ATC-21-1

NBS 61

			FIELD EVALUA	TION METHOD		
		STRUCTUR	AL SYSTEMS - EA	RTHQUAKE AND W	IND KAIING	
		HOR	IZONTAL RESIST	ING ELEMENTS		
		Distant	Anchorage &	Chords	(c)	Sub-Rating
Туре		(R)	Connections (A)	Longitudinal	Transverse	(SR2)
Roof					and the second	
Floors		······································			an san baran	
		1	1			
ote: Sub-ra	ating	SR2 = Larg	est of R, A or	С.		
-				Rigidity -	Ratings	
Diaphrag	10			1. Rigid		
Steel Ho	rizont	al Bracing		1.5 Semi-	rigid	
				2.0 Semi-	LIEXIDIE Die	
				4.2 E 2642		
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage	nd Con e conf e conf	irmed - ca	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp	puted, but prol puted, but prol	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse	irmed - ca irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt.	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp	puted, but pro puted, but pro	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. Ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt.	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp	puted, but prol puted, but prol	bably adequat bably inadequ	ε. aζε.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage bords - Rat	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse tings	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage bords - Rat Chords co Chords un	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present.	puted, but proputed, but proputed, but proputed.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords cu Chords un Chords un	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm nknown	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prop puted, but prop puted.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords or Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm aknown aknown aknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but proputed, but proputed, but probably point of the proba	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but proputed, but proputed.	bably adequat bably inadequ	E. ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage hords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd <u>Con</u> e conf e unkn e abse <u>tings</u> onfirm nknown nknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not presert	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rai Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	e. Ate.
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rai Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but proputed, but proputed.	bably adequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but proputed, but proputed.	bably adequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage hords - Rat Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not presert	puted, but proputed, but proputed. puted. nt.	bably sdequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords c Chords un Chords un Chords an	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably sdequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rat Chords c Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not preser	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	
Anchorage an Anchorage Anchorage Anchorage Chords - Rai Chords co Chords un Chords un Chords ab	nd Con e conf e conf e unkn e abse tings onfirm hknown hknown osent.	nections - irmed - ca irmed - ca own. nt. ed, but ca , but prob , but prob	Ratings pacity not comp pacity not comp ably present. ably not present	puted, but prol puted, but prol puted. nt.	bably adequat bably inadequ	

68 Appendix A

			EXIT	CORRIDO	<u>FIELD</u> R AND STAI	R ENCLOS	TION METHOD	<u>- EARTH</u>	QUAKE RAT	ING
[.]	TYPE	REI	NFORCEMENT			AN	ICHORAGE	· ·		
	OF WALL	Present	Not Present	Not Known	Mortar Only	Dowels	Screws or Bolts	Other	Not Known	WALI. RATING
	Brick									
	Brick									
···· ·	Concrete Block									
	Concrete Block									
	Reinforced Concrete									n an an an Arthur An Anna an An Anna An Anna An
	Tilt-up or Precast Concrete									
	Steel Studs & Plaster									
	Wood Studs & Plaster									
	Hollow Tile									
	Hollow Tile & Plaster									

 $\sim \infty$

NBS 61

FIELD EVALUATION METHOD		
OTHER LIFE HAZARDS - EARTHQUAKE F	ATING	_
TYPE OF RISK	RATING	Ratings
Partitions Other Than on Corridors or Stair EncloBures		A = Good B = Fair C = Poor X = Unknow
Glass Breakage		
Ceiling		
Light Fixtures		
Exterior Appendages and Wall Cladding [*]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

^{*}A description of some of the ratings for Exterior Appendages and Wall Cladding are:

Description	Rating
Spacing of anchors appears satisfactory	A
Size and embedment of anchors satisfactory	A
Spacing of anchors appears to be too great Size and embedment of anchors appears	B
unsatisfactory	С
Anchorage unknown	X
Anchorage corroded or obviously loose	С
No anchorage	С

EA	RTHQUAKE GAS CON	NECTION
Present	Not Present	Not Known

70 Appendix A

	<u>FIE</u> <u>Capacity</u> ratio	LD EVALUA S - EARTH	TION MET QUAKE AN	THOD TO WIND RATING	
	General Rating (GR)	Sub-R SR1	ating	Basic Structural Rating [*]	Capacity Ratio
EARTHQUAKE					
WIND					

** Capacity Ratio for wind shall be obtained from Form FMC-1. For earthquake, the ratio is obtained from the <u>Basic Structural Rating</u> divided by the <u>Intensity</u> <u>Level Factor</u> at the site as determined from the table below.

Modified Mercalli Scale	Intensity Level Factor
VIII or Greater	1
VII	2
VI	3
V or Less	- 4 - 11 - 11

A description of Modified Mercalli Scale is included on table 3.3.

Capec	ity Ratio Rating
Capacity Ratio	Rating (In Terms of Risk)
Less than 1.0 1 through 1.4 1.5 through 2.0 Over 2.0	Good Fair Poor Very Poor

ATC-21-1

72 Appendix

A

	an da a de catalan de la ca			N	ATUR	AL H	AZARD	VULNE	AGEWENT A RABILIT	SURVE	r				E (80 m)1 func	••1	
Ī	SECTION & : IDENTIFICATION													1. ME ARLST CR055 SIREET			است.
		ľ	DART SHEET	7 979 A 11	1 1 1 1 1	ed york			stew(two)	·· ENAM.E 115	tion, alcoso to	:			H CHIEFY		
ł		• -			a a	<u>î</u> 97		D. 78.		Stanpadş	LUCVING	f ACR. 119 000	<u>-</u>	LOIT DATE	114G #20049	Ques	
					Ι.				'	•							
t	B Dest Dest Dest				ي أحي	11 80	IL DHAT. BAT.	1	<mark>¦a la la</mark>		T HANG		╞╦└╸		inv		┢┻
l			_1_1_1		1.1		1_1_1			1		1 1 1 1	Ι.				١.
Į	SI ALL ASP Crapt	Ľ	0 01 08 08 0 1010 5 0 1111	stoonts	10101	48	H	37. PL OCE	10.	. 4111 yes	79 1.00054	1100	i in the Case	6 %A 82	i de la companya de La companya de la comp	a	· ['
ļ		4													-	- 144	••
	 A second state of the second stat								DIG	1914 MC	646	C2109 \$4EC				Π	Π
	╾┼╾┞╾┞╾┞╼┞╼┞╼┞╼┞╼┞╼┞╼┞				_اخار								1_1				
i	BICTION D: STRUCTURAL			11		1		14				n and be a local and a local state of a state of the		a and a state of the state of the			ar adam hidaa
	()+48 ()+48 ()+48			a " "	49 45.49 ()	L	FB4415	SHE AD	DIARI	<u> </u>		¢0	## 15 U O	41030			
	ILON, IN WERE AVERAND ILINES AND A TH	84480				<u></u>	14 IN 104			PLAN	MRAN DALL	1001468 60	1 n 1 1 1	A Superie	- 104 IS 104	5# 11487	01 A
1							i,	¥ (5)	漫藝	<u> </u>	ANHONAL	TRANSVL BM	20	355	200 C	1	
		_1	باللله	┶┥┲	11				LIL							<u>ال</u>	Ĺ
ł	Crissiel Crissies & BETALLERS			100204. A	1	C 1104	EI BARTH	HOUARE									
]		604 S	an (/11 ap	····· F	1 1.1.2	01.94 C 1004	Non C	6	K K	• •	A L	- <mark>4 - 1</mark> 6	<u>k.</u>	19 10 MINU 1 2 00 2 0 2 01	• • • •		ľ.,
١	and the General Construction Constant Const	60.0	KE BOOM	<u> </u>		ļ	<u> </u>	AND-119142- 191 1 41188	FALLY- 1	111 Clang A	PAMELS CAM	E Canada Canada	64.65	6 ELEY 2	45 Gam 6	84 PHIL 84 PHIL	
			a.	P	()					機							
	SECTION S: WIND	to the second			00200-000	-									186 9AB23		
•		\$10		158 4 4 14 14 14 14	10	<u> </u>		(##									
1	API QZ IFA BE CHANGE	.,				TATIA	THE CINNEL		11 CLAN	CONST UVHANG	NABAPES AM	CH LARGE BONG WOI	7. 40				
				·					1								
	SECTION S: TORMADO					- 1	ECTION 00	1 FL000						7			
1	1 110 0 0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0 00 0	14	LINDARY 841	a wi Mat	nu (5		17 × 1110		0013f 145*			1 (ma	-1			
Ř	wet time at the prest stand wet a matter sail and	n.t	848999 A88 0			5 * **	H 1100	1.6	A 10157A	LONGED (LON	SCB FLOOSE	B PLODUED	PL A 10	<u> </u>			
					ľ	1				1. Ale	福油						
•	<u>1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 </u>	L			ᆛᅶ	┶┿		╷┥╾┥╾					1	-			
									ougen en service	n de la marca d	and the state of the		taxa en la car		منط الأوحد المرجل وتركز والأراك المل		e a cita de avej a

MULTIHAZARD

Appendix

 \mathbf{A}

73

A. IDENTIFICATION

9. STRUCTURE TYPE (Enter Number)

- 1. Quonset, steel frame
- Wood frame 2.
- Wall bearing 1. Steel frame 4.
- Reinforced-concrete frame
- Steel/concrete frame
 - Typnels
- Mines .

1.

Type floor & roof

- Wood joist 1.
- 2 Wood/steel joist, shallow truss
- 1 Gluium
- 4. Precast concrete
- Reinforced concrete slab
- Flat plate 8.
- 7. Metal deck/steel frame
- Metal deck/open-web bar joist 8. Lightweight tension structure 1.

Type walls

- Masonry, unreinforced 1.
- Masonry, reinforced 2. 3. Reinforced concrete
- £. Precast concrete
- ٤. Infill mesonry
- Corrugated-metal ٤,
- 7. Arch cladding
- Wood sheathing ٤. 9. Stucce
- ٩. Glass

24. BASEMENT

- 8. No basement
- Wood
 - Wood joists 1. 2. Plywood 1-joist
 - Glulara
 - 4. Heavy timber

Concrete

- Onc-way joists or slab Fist plate Flat slab 7. Two-way slab
 - 8, 9. Walle slab
 - 10. Precast

Combination

- 11. Steel joist/concrete slab
- 12. Steel frame/concrete slab
- 13. Wood/steel joists

D. STRUCTURAL

- PRAMES (Enter Number) .
- a. Prame class
- Wood
 - 1. Timber/pole 2. Braced (rame
- Steel
 - 2 All metal
 - 4 Pinned
 - Moment-resistant
 - Ductile moment-resistant
 - 1. Braced frame
- Concrete
 - I. Finned
 - 1. Slab/plate
 - 10. Moment-resistant
 - 11. Ductile moment-resistant
 - 12. Braced frame
- Lightweight tension structure
 - 13. Tension structure
- b. Infill class
 - 6. Not infilled
 - 1. Infill/partial Infill wereinforced or partially reinforced masonry
 - 2. Infili/partial infill reinforced masonry
- 8. SHEAR WALLS (Enter Number)

Wood

- Hywood
- Non-plywood 2 Steel

1. Plate

- Mesonry
 - Ordinery unreinforced
 - Nonumental unreinforced
 - Partially reinforced Reinforced 1.
- Concrete
- I. Poured-in-place
- 1. Precast
- Mobile/Temporary
 - 18. Mobile/Temp Mooule

6. DIAPHRAGMS (Enter Number)

Vood

1. Plywood

2. Non-plywood Steel

- 1. Metal decking or diagonally braced
- Concrete
 - Reinforced Ł
 - Precest ۶.
 - Unreinforced £.
 - Lightweight tension structure 1.

- 1. CONFIGURATION (Yes/No/0 = does not apply)
- CONNECTIONS AND DETAILING ۰. (Yes/No/0 = does not apply)

1. MASONRY TYPE

c.

9. INFILL

18 ROOF

(Enter Letter)

a. Clay brick

Concrete block

d. Concrete brick

(Enter Number)

(Enter Number)

Precast

(Enter Number)

No data

X. No connection

Non-plywood

Reinforced

Metal decking

Precast concrete

Unreinforced concrete

Non-plywood

Metal deciding

11. ROOP/WALL CONNECTION

Reinforced concrete

Unreinforced concrete

Lightweight tension structure

1. Plywood

1

٤.

£.,

7.

1. Plywood

2

1.

4.

٤.

٤.

đ,

12. APPENDAGES

(Enter Letter)

a. Glass (%)

b. Overhang (ft)

c. Parapet height (ft)

14. WIND EMERGENCY PLAN

G. TORNADO SIIELTER

1 * lower risk

Z = higher risk

(Yes/No/0 = no data)

e. Large door width (ft)

L TORNADO ZONE (Enter Number)

Arch panels (Yes/No)

MULTIHAZARD

• = no iafill

1 = pertial 2 = infili

b. Clay tile

e. Adobe

f. Stone

- 8. CONDITION (Enter Number)
- 1 = good 2 = slight deterioration 3 = major deterioration

E. EARTHQUAKE

4

£

L GEOLOGIC

0 = no data

3 = high

1. APPENDAGES

1 = low hezard

NONSTRUCTURAL

= no data

U = unbraced

T. EARTHQUAKE PLAN

(Yes/No/8 = no data)

B = braced

P. WIND

1. EXPOSURE

(A or B)

B. Open

2. DESIGN BASIS

4

A. Protected

(Enter Number)

1. No wind design

2. Some wind design

3. Code, 1961-1975

Code, 1976+

X = not present

2 = intermediate

(Yes/No/2 = no data)

3. SOIL

2. BUILDING CODE (Enter Number)

Above average criteria

- No seismie design Some seismie design 2
- UBC 1949-1970 ١. UBC 1973+

(8 = soft, H = hard)

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	······································
		n An an	
CONSTRUCTION	OCCUPANCY :	CONFIGURATION	CONTENTS:
F-RC-HITYPE	03/15 USE CODE	4 # STORIES	X HAZARDOUS
PRE 1939	VITAL	65 x 200 SIZE	IMPORTANT
PRE 1973	HIGH DENSITY	CMPLX PLAN	
1920 DATE	VULNERABLE	CMPLX ELEV	DECORATION :
RENOVATED	🗙 вам-брм	SOFT STORY	HEAVY
 Date	6PM-MDNT	OPEN FRONT	OVERHANGING
	MDNT-8AM	H=46 '	PUBLIC WAY
CONSTRUCTION		· ·	
EXT. WALLS: FA	CADE	SIDES 6"	RC
INT. WAILS: BE	ARING	PARTITIONS)
DIAPHRAGMS: FL	00R	ROOF	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
FRAME: BRAC	ED: MOMENT RESIS	STING ; OTHER :	
MISC. F	RE PROOF CON	sT	
CONFICUEATON		······································	<u> </u>
CONFIGURATION	DT DUMT ON .	PLAN SKETCH. 6	5
DIAN 1-SH	ATBOILDN'S	ITTUI DUPLONI.	
FLAN		· · ·	
ETENANTON IPR	EGIJLAR		50
ELEVATION_ IN		- 8	
MIGC	<u></u>		
MISC.			
BUNGETON AND O	COUPANCY		
FUNCTION AND U		ILSE AFEICE	
FLOORS -			
FLOORS 1	USES:		
F LOOKS !	0000		
		A.	
	E Provincia de la companya de	A REAL	
	E. Third	Ser al and a ser al	
	3		
		1 1.	· .
		FIGURE A1-2.	
		Sample Buildi	ng Information Sheet.
		· · · ·	

74 Appendix A



FIGURE A1-3. Key to sample Building Information Sheet.

ATC-21-1

06

07

08

09

10 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Theatre

Auditorium

Gymnasium

Hospital

Warehouse

Car Servicing

Manufacturing

Public facility

Public utility

Parking

Church School NEW MADRID

CRITI	ICAL FACILITIES
FIELD INSPECTI	ON BUILDING DATA SHEET
NAME OF BUILDING	Census Tract
BLDG. ADDRESS	CITYCOUNTY
No. of Occupants	DAYNIGHT
Year Built	5. BLDG. SIZE (SQUARE FEET)
No. of Stories/Floor	7. BASEMENT? YES NO
PRIMARY STRUCTURAL SYSTEM	
A. STEEL FRAME	INFORCED CONCRETE SHEAR WALL AROUND CEN
C. WALL BEARING	
D. PRECAST COLUMN E. REINFORCED CONC	AND BEAM Rete Frame
F. REINFORCED CONC	RETE FRAME (REINFORCED CONCRETE SHEAR W. AROUND CENTRAL CORE)
G. FLAT PLATE CONC	RETE SLAB
I. PLANK AND BEAM J. PRE-ENGINEERED	FRAME METAL BUILDING
K. OTHER STRUCTURA	L TYPES DESCRIBE
FOUNDATION TYPE	<u>an an a</u>
FOUNDATION TYPE	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES C. PILES	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND E. SLAB ON GROUND	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE EL DOB (POODE TYPE	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOB/ROOF.TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES	
FOUNDATION TYPEA. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOB/ROOF: TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOR/ROOF.TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES SPECIAL SOIL CONDITIONS	
FOUNDATION TYPE A. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOE/ROOF TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES SPECIAL SOIL CONDITIONS	
FOUNDATION TYPEA. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOE/ROOF.TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES SPECIAL SOIL CONDITIONS	
FOUNDATION TYPEA. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONSE. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOB/ROOF:JYPE SPECIAL FEATURES SPECIAL SOIL CONDITIONS	
FOUNDATION TYPEA. SPREADB. STRIPC. PILESD. CAISSONSE. SLAB ON GROUNDF. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOR/ROOF.TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES SPECIAL SOIL CONDITIONS	
FOUNDATION TYPEA. SPREAD B. STRIP C. PILES D. CAISSONS E. SLAB ON GROUND F. OTHER WALL TYPE FLOOE/ROOF.TYPE SPECIAL FEATURES SPECIAL SOIL CONDITIONS	

76 Appendix A

NEW MADRID

CCH3U3	TRACT (DISTRICT) _		
ITY		COUNTY	
A. SIN	GLE FAMILY RESIDEN	CES and an and a second sec	
an e se an D ara Se e se an D ara Se e se e se e se e se	PREDOMINATE FOUND A. B. C. D.	ATION TYPES SLAB ON GROUND POURED CONCRETE OR MASONRY BLOCK FOUNDATION STONE FOUNDATION WALLS OTHER	WAL
2)	PREDOMINATE EXTER A B C D	IOR WALL, VENEER OR FINISH BRICK/MASONRY STONE WOOD-SIDING OR SHINGLES STUCCO	
3) 3)	E. Chimneys, parapet	OTHER S, ORNAMENTATION OR OTHER FALLING HAZARDS	
4)	AGE	5) HEIGHT	
	NO. OF OCCUPANTS	DAY NIGHT	
B. MUL	<u>TI-FAMILY RESTDENC</u>	ES and the second part of the part of the second parts of the seco	
1)	PREDOMINANT STRUC	TURAL TYPE	
	A B C D E F	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM	
2)	A. B. C. D. E. F. NO. OF OCCUPANTS	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM DAYNIGHT	
2) 3)	A B D E F NO. OF OCCUPANTS AGE	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM DAY	
2) 3) 5)	A B D E F NO. OF OCCUPANTS AGE STORIES/FLOORS	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM DAYNIGHT 4) HEIGHT	
2) 3) 5)	A. B. C. D. E. F. F. NO. OF OCCUPANTS AGE STORIES/FLOORS	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM DAY	
2) 3) 5)	A B C D F NO. OF OCCUPANTS AGE STORIES/FLOORS	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM DAY	
2) 3) 5)	A: B: C: D F NO. OF OCCUPANTS AGE STORIES/FLOORS	STEEL FRAME WALL BEARING CONCRETE FRAME FLAT PLATE WOOD FRAME PLANK AND BEAM DAY	

CE	INSUS TI	VACT					
COMMERCIAL	HIGH SERVICE THE	unit in the	INDUSTRIAL	EIIICATION			
NO. OF BLDGS.	k					L	
STEEL FRAME							
WALL-BEARING							
CONCRETE FRAME						j	
FLAT PLATE				-			
WOOD FRAME							
PLANK AND BEAM						Ī	
PRE-ENGINEERED METAL			-				
1 STORY/FLOOR							
2-5 STORIES/FLOORS							
6-10 STORIES/FLOORS							
OVER 10 STORIES/FLOORS							
AGE PRIOR 1900							
1900-1929							
1930-1949							
1950-1969							
1970-PRESENT							
					· .		

78 Appendix A

PALO ALTO

BUILDING ADDRESS:	BUILDING LOCATION (APR) :
NAME OF BUSINESS TENANTS:	OWNERS NAME & ADDRESS:
TYPE OF USE:	NO. OF STORIES:
	BASEMENT:
TYPE OF STRUCTURAL SYSTEM:	
BUILDING SIZE: Square Footage per floor:	OCCUPANT LOAD: (UBC-Table 33-A)
Total:	
TOTAL: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF SUBSEQUENT REMOD./REPAIR AFFECTING THE S	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:
Total: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF SUBSEQUENT REMOD./REPAIR AFFECTING THE S NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER:	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:
Total: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF SUBSEQUENT REMOD./REPAIR AFFECTING THE S NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER: NAME OF ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR:	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:
Total: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF SUBSEQUENT REMOD./REPAIR AFFECTING THE S NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER: NAME OF ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR: COMPANY RESPONSIBLE FOR SUBSEQUENT STRUCTURAL MC	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:
Total: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF SUBSEQUENT REMOD./REPAIR AFFECTING THE S NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER: NAME OF ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR: COMPANY RESPONSIBLE FOR SUBSEQUENT STRUCTURAL MAN HISTORIC BUILDING CATEGORY: YES MO	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:
Total: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER: NAME OF ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR: COMPANY RESPONSIBLE FOR SUBSEQUENT STRUCTURAL MC HISTORIC BUILDING CATEGORY: DO YES NO REMARKS:	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:
Total: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER: NAME OF ORIGINAL CONTRACTOR: COMPANY RESPONSIBLE FOR SUBSEQUENT STRUCTURAL MC HISTORIC BUILDING CATEGORY: DO YES NO REMARKS:	TRUCTURAL SYSTEM:

ATC-21-1

PALO ALTO

BUILDING ADDRESS: 550 Exemple * 552	BUILDING LOCATION (APN): 120 - 15-084
rame of business tenants: 556 * 552 *	GNNERS NAME & ADDRESS:
TTPE OF USE: 550 Cotton House 2014 552 Retail Store 320	BO. OF STORIES: _/ BASEMENT: _A'C
TYPE OF STRUCTURAL SYSTEM: C.B. E R. Flat Loct	C. Beams & Cols.
BUILDING SIZE: Square Footage per floor: Total: 7725	OCCUPANT LOAD: (UBC-Table 33-A) ≈ 100 $\frac{1}{12}(5475) + \frac{1}{12}(5475) + \frac{3}{20} = \frac{3}{100}$
DATE OF ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION: 1951 DATE OF SUBSEQUENT REMOD./REPAIR AFTECTING THE ST	RUCTURAL SYSTEM:
NAME OF ORIGINAL DESIGNER:	DIFICATION:
MISTORIC BUILDING CATEGORY:	
REMARKS :	
Star constant in	

80 Appendix A

INSPECTORS NAME: _	DATE: 5/9/85
IDENTIFICATION OF	STRUCTURE: Bldg, #4
10049701	J JONES URL A
LOURI LON:	SPECIFIED INTENSITY (MMI): 7X
Adjacency F	actor:
	The structure endangers another structure: 465
and the state of the	The structure is endangered by another structure: 465
n de la constante de la constante la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante la constante de la constante d	The structure may be supported by another structure:
STRUCTURES USE:	Residential Commercial Industrial
and and a second se	Special Facility <u>no</u>
Importance	Factor:
	Impact of structures' use in the regions' economy in the
n an an an Araba an Araba. An Araba an Araba an Araba	event of an earthquake. <u>negligible</u>
MISC. DATA:	Year Structure Built /290-1900 No. of Stories
	Floor area per story 4950 (Square Feet)(w/pen
en de la construction de la constru La construction de la construction d	No. of Occupants: Day 15 Night O
	Potential no. of victims
	Is there a SANITARY crawl space?
BUILDING	REGULAR Elevation Regularity 485
CONFIGURATION:	Plan Symmetry
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	IRREGULAR Offset center of rigidity mayb Discontinuity yes
and a second second Second second	SETBACKS <u>465</u>
	GENERAL OF BUILDING (ALLACH SKELCHES SHOWING
	and sizes): Elevation View
	Plan View 45' × 110'
	Exterior Wall View
	DALCELOU HOLE VIEW
	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) MRM
	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) <u>LIRA</u> NO. OF SEPARATION JUINTS:
	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) <u>LIRM</u> NO. OF SEPARATION JUINTS: In Elevation <u>home</u> In Plan of Superstructure <u>home</u>
	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) <u>LIRM</u> NO. OF SEPARATION JUINTS: In Elevation <u>hene</u> In Plan of Superstructure <u>none</u>
EVALUATION	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) <u>LIRM</u> NO. OF SEPARATION JUINTS: In Elevation <u>hene</u> In Plan of Superstructure <u>Mone</u> Transverse Direction Longitudinal Direction good Average poor good Average poor
EVALUATION Plan Symmetry Elevation Regula	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) <u>LIRM</u> NO. OF SEPARATION JUINTS: In Elevation <u>here</u> In Plan of Superstructure <u>Mone</u> Transverse Direction Longitudinal Direction good <u>Average</u> poor good <u>Average</u> poor rity good <u>Average</u> poor good <u>Average</u> poor
EVALUATION Plan Symmetry Elevation Regula Redundancy of Br	Typical Shear Wall (core of corner) <u>LIRM</u> NO. OF SEPARATION JUINTS: In Elevation <u>here</u> In Plan of Superstructure <u>Mere</u> Transverse Direction Longitudinal Direction good <u>average</u> poor good <u>average</u> poor writy good <u>average</u> poor good <u>average</u> poor

ATC-21-1

STANFORD

	TERISTICS:		1.00		
BUIL	DING CLASSIFICATION	ON SYSTEM <u>2.1.1.a</u>			
STRU	CTURAL REDUNDANCI	ES: Frame Line <u>no</u> Plan <u>no</u>			
QUALITY	OF CONSTRUCTION:		Good	Avg.	Poor
	Workmanship:	Visual Observation		-	
	······································	Review of Documentat	ion -	-	~
		Analytical Studies	-	-	-
	Overload Histo	bry Weakening Structural	Resistan	ce:	
		2 Due to Karthquake	-	-	
		Due to Extreme Envir	onmental	-	-
		Conditions		. 1	-
QUALITY	OF DESIGN:	*masonry cracks	G mos	rtar	soin
			. 1		œ
,	Is design	regular or special?	regula	<u></u>	
internet in the second s	rroper co Te it doe	nsideration of Boll Conn	Atag?	in Know	<u></u>
	Structure	ductility? masse		10	
	Does as-b	wilt structure conform t	o design	? . 10	······································
	Original	designed base shear (kip	s)? n/a		
	Computed	existing base shear (kip	s)? _n/c	2	
CONSTRUC	Ratio of TION MATERIALS:	existing to original?	nknowr	<u>)</u>	
CONSTRUC	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced?	age specs?	<u>n la</u>	
CONSTRUC	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced?	nknowr age specs?	nle	دان سال کر در این می این م این می این می می این این می
CONSTRUC	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrate	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill?	age specs?	nla	
CONSTRUC	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrate Large hea	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill? vy pre-cast structural e	age specs?	nle	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>M</u>	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill? vy pre-cast structural e asonry piloster_ and	age specs? lements?	n]a 	
Construc Superstructure	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>M</u>	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? d or non-reinforced? es concrete wall? columns with infill? <u></u> columns with infill? <u></u> columns with infill? <u></u> wy pre-cast structural e <u>asonry piloster an</u> Any signs of	age Bpecs? lements? d_inFil distress	n]a ?	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>M</u>	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? es concrete wall? columns with infill? columns with infill? vy pre-cast structural e <u>asonry piloster an</u> Any signs of	nknowr specs? lements? d.inFil distress	, n/a 	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrate Large hea Others <u>Ma</u> s soil strength a	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? es concrete wall? columns with infill? columns with infill? desuate? desuate?	age specs? lements? d_inFil distress	<u>nla</u>	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>Ma</u> s soil strength a Identify loose sa	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? es concrete wall? columns with infill? columns with infill? deguste?	age specs? lements? distress proba	nIa na na i bly comente	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE POUNDATION: T I (Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>Ma</u> s poil strength a Identify loose sa sands <u>CIA4</u>	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill? columns with infill? mass structural e Any signs of dequate? nds, sensitive clays, or	age specs? lements? distress preba highly	nie nie ? bly_ cemente	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T I (P	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>Ma</u> soil strength a Identify loose sa sands <u>Clar</u> ossibility of lan	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill? columns with infill? mass structural e Any signs of dequate? defuste? delide?	age specs? lements? distress proba	nla na 1 1 6 1 comente	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T I (P P	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>M</u> ype? <u>Spread</u> s soil strength a Identify loose sa sands <u>Clay</u> ossibility of lan ossibility of set	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? <u>no</u> columns with infill? <u>no</u> dequate? <u>unknown</u> - nds, sensitive clays, or delide? <u>no</u> tlement? <u>no</u> - has a	age specs? lements? distruss highly lreedy	nla nla 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T I (P P P	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrate Large hea Others <u>M</u> s soil strength a Identify loose sa sands <u>Clar</u> ossibility of lan ossibility of set	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? <u>Mo</u> columns with infill? <u>Mo</u> dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of the sensitive clays, or delide? <u>Mo</u> - <u>has a</u> ding? <u>Mo</u></u>	age specs? lements? distress proba highly lready	nla nla 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T I ((P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrate Large hea Others <u>M</u> s soil strength a Identify loose sa sands <u>Clay</u> ossibility of lan ossibility of set ossibility of set	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill? <u>no</u> columns with infill? <u>no</u> vy pre-cast structural e <u>asonry piloster an</u> . Any signs of dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of</u> dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>any signs of</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>any signs of</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>any signs of</u> <u>any signs of</u></u></u></u></u></u>	age specs? lements? <u>d_inFil</u> distress <u>proba</u> highly <u>lreedy</u>	nla nla 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	ed
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE YOUNDATION: T I ((P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrete Large hea Others <u>Mason</u> s soil strength a Identify loose sa sands <u>Clay</u> ossibility of lan ossibility of sli ossibility of sli ossibility of up	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? s concrete wall? columns with infill? <u>no</u> columns with infill? <u>no</u> columns with infill? <u>no</u> columns with infill? <u>no</u> columns with infill? <u>no</u> dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of a</u> <u>Any signs of a</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of a</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of a</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of a</u> <u>dequate? <u></u> <u>Any signs of a</u> <u>alide? <u></u> <u>rturning? <u>no</u> uefaction? <u>no</u> ift? <u>no</u></u></u></u></u></u></u>	nknown age specs? lements? distruss proba highly lready	nla na 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	ed
CONSTRUC SUPERSTRUCTURE FOUNDATION: T I ((P P P P P P P P P P P P	Ratio of TION MATERIALS: Quality o Compariso Masonry o Reinforce Continuou Concrate Large hea Others <u>Ma</u> Spil strength a Identify loose sa Sands <u>Clard</u> ossibility of lan ossibility of sli ossibility of sli ossibility of upl	existing to original? of materials used? on with original material or non-masonry? d or non-reinforced? es concrete wall? columns with infill? columns with infill? motion and the second dequate? fill de? ding? uefaction? ift?	nknowr age specs? lements? d.inFil distress proba highly lreedy	n Ia na i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	

82 Appendix A

STANFORD

PRIMARY ST	RUCTURAL SYSTEM	OR ELEMENT	ſs:	
	W			- Inda an
	Lateral load o	carrying e	lements? <u>URM st</u>	reac walls
	INTERIOR ENVEL	lope :	VERTICAL	NON-VERTICAL
		Walls Doors, Others	ayosum Windows wood fold	Floors on grade Ceilings aupsum Others
	EXTERIOR ENVEL	LOPE:	VERTICAL	NON-VERTICAL
· · · ·		Walls Doors,	masonry. Windows wood feld	Roofs <u>fin built-ip</u> Slabs <u>concrete</u> on
	EVALUATION:			J' ALLE
Some columns to lower tru	s added ss chord.	Possibili Excessive roofs, etc	ty of buckling of x- deflections of long c.? No	-bracings? <u>po</u> g span floors and
A second Fl	loor (attic)	Presence C Excessive	of cracks? <u>yes - m</u> compressive force	Possibility of
sas then p	placed	crushing)	ne ne and/or p	- Poetrations? Mo
n the true	ss chord.	Possibili	ty of weak column si	trong beam? no
		Additiona	alaguran (nortiti	
			L CLOBULES (PALLICLO	
		Shear wall Is suspend	type and thickness ded ceiling braced?	<u>B" UEM</u> <u>NO</u>
SECONDARY N Archite	NON-STRUCTURAL !	Shear wall Is suspend	COMPONENTS:	<u>B</u> ? <u><u>B</u><u>U</u><u>E</u><u>M</u></u>
SECONDARY N Archite	NON-STRUCTURAL : CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEME!	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY M ARCHITE Lights	NON-STRUCTURAL : ECTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS	COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY M ARCHITE Lights Ornamen	NON-STRUCTURAL S ECTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f Interions much	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS uoreșcen	COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Finishe	NON-STRUCTURAL S ECTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f htations <u>much</u>	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS Uorescent	COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti	NON-STRUCTURAL S COTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f htations much ss no lons gypsum	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS	COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shairwa Shairwa	NON-STRUCTURAL S COTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS <i>uoreșcen</i> D	COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Uights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS uoreșcen D	COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY M ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Finishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS <i>uoreșcen</i> D	COMPONENTS: Parapets COMPONENTS:	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY M ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S ECTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hatations <u>much</u> ss <u>no</u> lons <u>gupsum</u> by <u>timber f</u> s <u>gupsum</u>	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS uorescent	COMPONENTS: Parapets COMPONENTS: Parapets Ornamentation Marquees Overhangs Balconies Chimneys Railings Roofing Siding	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Finishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS Uoreșcen	COMPONENTS: Parapets 4 Ornamentatio Marquees Overhangs Ralconies Chimneys Railings Roofing 4 Siding 4 Cladding 5	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS 105 105 105 105 105 100 100 100
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S ECTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS Uoreșcen:	A parapets [A parapets] A parapets] COMPONENTS: COMPONENTS: A parapets] Ornamentatic Marquees Overhangs Ralconies Chimneys Railings Roofing _m Siding _m Fire Escape Canopies	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS 105 105 105 105 105 100 100 100
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS Uoreșcen D	COMPONENTS: Parapets COMPONENTS: COMPONENTS: COMPONENTS: Parapets Ornamentation Marquees Overhangs Railings Railings Roofing Siding Fire Escape Canopies Veneers	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS des me me me me me me me me me me
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS Uoreșcen D	COMPONENTS: Parapets COMPONENTS: COMPONENTS: Parapets Ornamentation Marquees Overhangs Railings Roofing Siding Fire Escape Canopies Veneers Others	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS $\frac{e^{5}}{m^{0}}$ $\frac{m^{0}}{m^{0}}$
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Uights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS uoreșcen Did	COMPONENTS: Parapets COMPONENTS: Parapets Ornamentatio Marquees Overhangs Ralconies Chimneys Railings Roofing Siding Fire Escape Canopies Veneers Others	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS $\frac{gs}{g} \underline{w} \underline{w} \underline{w} \underline{w} \underline{w} \underline{w} \underline{w} w$
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Finishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS <i>uoreșcen</i> old	Parapets Parapets Parapets Ornamentatio Marquees Overhangs Railings Roofing Riding Siding Cladding	EXTERIOR ELEMENTS $\frac{g^{s}}{g^{s}} \frac{g^{s}}{g^{s}} \frac{g^{s}}{$
SECONDARY N ARCHITE Lights Ornamen Pinishe Partiti Stairwa Shaftwa Ceiling Others	NON-STRUCTURAL S CCTURAL: INTERIOR ELEMEN hanging f hanging f	Shear wall Is suspend SYSTEM OR (NTS <i>uoreșcen</i> bid	Parapets Parapets Parapets Ornamentation Marquees Overhangs Railings Roofing Siding Siding Fire Escape Canopies Others	B? B? URM MD MD MD <t< td=""></t<>

ATC-21-1

STANFORD

•	ELEVATORS: <u>no</u>
	Possibility of cage falling?
	Adequacy of cage guides and motor mountings
	MECHANICAL forced air gas
·	ELECTRICAL old
	SPRINKLER MONE
	FIRE CURIRUL SISTER MONE
	PUEL (NVC) MATURAI gas
	Are service systems adequate? 405
	Are service systems adequately mounted? Mo
	Will they provide service after an earthquake? no
	Possibility of failure in fuel system causing fire? Slight
	Adequacy of fire control system? no
	Possibility of explosion? no
	Possibility of release of toxic chemicals? no
andar Pilayan alam siya ang sagar	
CONNECT IONS	 A second s
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Adequacy of connections between primary structural elements
	to develop shear resistance? <u>Door</u>
	Adequacy of connections between secondary non-structural
	elements to develop shear resistance? <u>poor</u>
	Adequacy of connections between primary structural elements
	and secondary non-structural components to
	develop shear resistance? Door
	Adequacy of foundations connections? unknewn
(general	Kemarks:
a old	UEM building with timber root trusses
64. 010	
and	sheet metal root.
	11 . L. C. Clark card
b. Rea	sonably open interior from Floor to 1001
. 6	il c labilanación
fru	sses with a tew wood study gypsum
	1. Line
par	titions.
	1 11 1 - 1 to maganery
6. Tro	isses poorly attached to masoning
nile nile	acters

84 Appendix A

CITY OF REDLANDS



ADDRESS: AREA: TARGET AREA I BUILDING NAME: OWNER: OCCUPANCY TYPE: B-2 AND R-3 TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION: URM, STUCCO NUMBER OF STORIES: 2 BUILDING HEIGHT: 24 FERT CONSTRUCTION: 1912 PLANS AVAILABLE: NONE

SUMMARIZE FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS HERE:

PRESENTLY VACANT. OWNER IS PRESENTLY IN PROCESS OF GUTTING THE BUILDING IN ORDER TO DO SELSMIC RETROFIT AND REMODELING TO OFFICE/COMMERCIAL USESES. INTERIOR WALLS ON SECOND PLOOR REMOVED SHOWIG STRUCTURAL LUMBER AND INTERIOR SIDE OF WALLS. OLD WOOD IN GOOD SHAPE. SECOND STORY FLOOR IS DIAGONALLY SHEATTHED. NO MAJOR CRACKS OR OTHER STRUCTURAL WEAKNESSES NOTED.

SAMPLE

ATC-21-1

CITY OF REDLANDS

FIELD DATA
ROOF: FLAT
COVERING HOT-MOPPRO TAR
PARAPETS: FRONT - MATERIAL: <u>BRICK</u> QUALITY <u>GOOD</u> MORTAR QUAL. <u>GOOD</u> THICKNESS_ <u>S"</u> HEIGHT <u>2-3</u> BRACED OR BOND BEAM: OTHER REINF: <u>NONE</u> 7'AF FRONT
ARCHITECTURAL IMPORTANCE: POTRATML - UNIQUE STAR
SIDE AND REAR WALLS: URM STUCCO COVERED
CORNICES: MATERIAL: <u>NONE</u> PROJECTION: <u>—</u> OTHER OBSERVATIONS: ROOF TILE <u>—</u> COPING <u>—</u> TOWERS/CHINNEYS — SIGNS 3'X 7' PROJECTED OVER SIDEMALK TANKS —
ATTIC:HEIGHT:
INTERIOR: FLOORS: WOOD INTERIOR WALLS: LATH & PLASTER FRAMING: Z''X 6''
EXTERIOR: ABUTTING BUILDINGS: SOUTH SIDE ONLY THE STORE
STREET FRONT CONSTRUCTION: 4 LANE BOULEMAD
ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE: POTENITAL
LINTELS: ARCHED FRONT
THIN FACING OVER FRANTNG:
SIGNS OR OTHER HAZARDS: ONE SIGN CANTILEVANED OVER FRONT SIDENALK OTHER OBSERVATIONS:
EASTOSED ISRICK ALONG BACK SDE
SAMPLE

86 Appendix A

SUMMARY OF CONSTRUCTION Exterior Walls: N BRICK E BRICK ABUTS OTHER 2 LACOR S BUILDING W WINDONS Notes: ROOT: FLAT Floor(s): WOOD AND CONCERTE Interior Walls BEING REMODELED FROM LATH AND PLASTRE Frame Lintels ARCHED Other: MEZZANENE 2 STORE FRONTS WINDOWS POSSIBLE HAZARDS X Parapets Walls Gables X Signs Roof Tile Coping Facing Towers Marquees Cornices Ornamentation Chimneys Tanks OTHER NOTES OR REMARKS: SAMPLE

ATC-21-1

CITY OF REDLANDS



88 Appendix A

CRITICAL FACILITIES BUILDING STRUCTURE CLASSIFICATION FORM

Name of building Address	بو ب
Census tract	
Primary function	of building
Year built	Year remodeled or rehabilited

Plan sketch and dimensions:

Building length(parallel to street)Building depth(perpendicular to street)Building height(ground level to roof)Building size(L\$D)Aspect ratioMAX(H/L,H/D)	L = feet D = feet H = feet A = sq ft
Number of floors (ground floor and above) Number of basements) N 15
1984 Replacement value *	۲ ده دو ه (۹) (۹) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱) (۱
Amount of earthquake insurance \$	23 tab ca ey 45 ta ta
Underwriter's building classification	***************************************
[] Other System:	23 45 to th th th
SURVEY BUILDING CLASSIFICATION:	

ATC-21-1

STRUCTURAL SYSTEM GENERAL TYPE: [] (1) Mobile Home [] (1) Wood frame [] (2) All metal [] (3) Steel frame [] Simple [] Moment resisting [] One-way frame [] Two-way frame [] Ductile moment resisting [] One-way frame [] Two-way frame [] Poured-in-place concrete fire-proofing [] Shear walls [] (4) Concrete frame [] Precast elements [] Moment resisting [] One-way frame [] Two-way frame [] Ductile moment resisting [] One-way frame [] Two-way frame [] Shear walls [] (5) Mixed construction [] Unreinforced masonry [] Reinforced masonry [] Tilt-up [] (6) Special earthquake resistant (Requires written justification) EMERGENCY SYSTEMS: [] Fire alarms [] Heat and/or smoke detectors [] Fire doors [] Self closing [] Automatic closing (Fusable link)

90 Appendix A

EXTERIOR WALLS:		
Locations	story	an
The second	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
: Abei	L J Non-bearing	
	[] Curtain	
	[] Panel	
	[] In-filled	
Materials	[] Adobæ	
	[] Wood	
	[] Cripple studs	
	[] Brick voneer	
	[] Stucco	
	[] Other Type:	
	[] Masonry	
	[] Hollow	
	L J 50110	
	l] Rainforceg	
	I] Brick	
	[] Cmu	
	[] Concrete	
	L J Glass F 1 Gtarl receir	
	[] Precast concrete pan	el 5
	[] Other Type:	කා කාෂ අත ආලංකා කො අත අත අත අත කො කො කා ඇත කො කො කො
Barran & al	averates wall examinent	
	areater ware chausidet i	
		Bouth
—		Hest
Thickness:	~~~ 1 n	
Through-wall tigg:		
	ر میں دی میں دی میں میں میں میں دی میں میں میں میں میں میں میں میں میں می	
INTEDIOD WALLS.		
SCHENN NULFIEISING		
Locations	seres story	
Shear Walls:		
van - y d⊒ tant		
Туре:	[] None	
	[] Isolated	
	Es el Estadi Var	
Material:	[] Masonry	
	[] Hollow	

ATC-21-1

[] Solid [] Unreinforced [] Reinforced [] Brick [] Tile C 3 CMU [] Concrete [] Other Types Thickness: in Partitions Type: [] Non-moveable [] Moveable Material: [] Wood studs [] Plaster [] Gypsum board [] Plywood panel Types _ [] Other [] Metal studs [] Plaster [] Gypsum board [] Plywood panel [] Other Types . [] Plaster [] Masonry [] Brick C] Tile C J CMU [] Non-reinforced [] Reinforced Top: [] Below celling [] At celling [] At underside of upper floor/roof Anchorage: [] None [] Poor [] Good [] Excellent Thickness: _____ in

92 Appendix A
FLOOR FRAMING: Locations story Type: [] Concrete slab on grade [] Joists [] Wood [] Steel [] Concrete [] Not anchored [] Anchored [] Beam/girder [] Timber [] Steel [] Concrete [] Wood trussed joists [] Concrete slab [] Poured-in-place [] Precast [] Reinforced J Prestressed £ [] Solid [] Hollow [] Ribbed [] Waffel [] Flat slab [] Slab w/drops [] Slab w/capitals [] Slab w/drops and capitals [] Precast elements Type: _ Deck: [] Wood [] Steel [] Concrete planks [] Light concrete deck slab (LEQ 3") [] Heavy concrete deck slab (GTR 3") [] Other Туреі 🔤 Diaphragm: [] No [] Poor [] Good [] Excellent Diaphragm shear transfer connection: [] None [] Poor [] Good [] Excellent

ATC-21-1

Appendix A 93

ROOF FRAMING: Surface: [] Flat [] Sloped [] Curved Type: [] Joists [] Wood [] Steel [] Concrete [] Not anchored [] Anchorød [] Beam/girder [] Timber [] Steel [] Concrete [] Wood trussed rafters [] Truss/purlin [] Timber [] Steel [] Concrete slab [] Poured-in-place [] Precast [] Reinforced [] Prestressed [] Solid [] Hollow [] Ribbed [] Waffel [] Flat slab [] Slab w/drops [] Slab w/capitals [] Slab w/drops and capitals [] Precast elements Type: Deck: [] Wood [] Steel [] Concrete planks [] Light concrete deck slab (LEQ 3") [] Heavy concrete deck slab (GTR 3") [] Other Туре: Diaphragm: [] No [] Poor [] Good [] Excellent Diaphragm shear transfer connection: [] None [] Poor [] Good [] Excellent

94 Appendix A

Exteriors	Inadequately anchored ornamentation and/or
	veneer above the first story
	Stone coping on parapets. stone or pre-
	cast ledges, or sculptered sills and key- stones
Interiors	[] Suspended ceilings
	E] Tie wires
	[] Not looped
	[] Looped
	[] Lateral bracing
	L J NONW 7 1 Wirms
	E 3 Metal channels
	[] Suspended light fixtures
	[] Chain [] Pendant (pipe / conduit)
	[] Poorly anchored chandeliers and/or other ceiling appurtanacies
	[] Drop-in fluorescent light fixtures
	[] Bracket-mounted television sets
	[] Floor coverings
MECHANICAL/ELECTRICAL:	
	Heating Equipment:
Electrical Generation	and Distribution Equipments
	Escalators:
	Miscellaneous Equipment:
Anchorage:	(All equipment)

ATC-21-1

Appendix A

95

UNUSUAL CONDITIONS:	
Previous EQ damage:	ch c
Settlement:	(Differential settlement, cracking, bowing, leaning of walls)
Chear waller	Summetric or app-summetric)
	ter
Lateral bracing:	(lype) (Symmetric or non-symmetric)
Building shape:	[] Rectangular [] Triangular/L-shape/T-shape/H-shape [] "Open front" (U-shape)
Columns:	(Continuous, non-continuous)
Foundations	[] Above grade concrete piers or pedestals [] Unreinforced [] Reinforced [] Above grade masonry piers or pedestals [] Unreinforced [] Reinforced [] Tiedowns [] Cross-bracing
Floors	(Cracking or sagging)
Swimming Pools:	(On roofs)
Aspect ratio:	R # mmmmmmmm
Øthers	중 중 수 위 주 한 차 다 다 다 날 다 하 는 다 날 도 막 차 도 다 가 나 다 가 나 다 드 다 다 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가 가
HAZARDOUS EXPOSURES:	
Roof tanks:	Number: Purpose: Size: Bracing/anchorage:
Roof signs:	
Parapet walls:	[] None [] Unreinforced masonry [] Reinforced masonry [] Other Type:

96 Appendix A

Overhanning walles	[]	undræced Braced	
คงสเบชบอิรมอิ พชรา 28		*****	Liv 00-
Chimneys:	Heiç	ght above roof: Material:	-
	Ancl	horage/bracing:	**
Poundings	(1)) (1))		
FOUNDATION:			
Турез	C 3	Strip footings	
	[] []	Isolated footings Mat foundation	
	[]	Piles [] Wood	
		[] Steel [] Concrete	
	[] []	Caissons Dther Type:	
	ائے دی		(3) CD-
SOIL TYPE/CONDITION:	נ כ	Rock or firm alluvium or well-	
	° C 3	engineered man-made fill	
		GOLP GTTRATGH	
	Č 3	Pogr (natural or man-made)	
	Č J	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	82 62 10 67
	Ĵ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	Ĩ Ĵ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
		Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Poçr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
		Poçr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	č 3	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
		Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	č 3	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
	ĒĴ	Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
		Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	
		Pogr (natural or man-made) Remarks:	

ATC-21-1

Appendix A 97

					• •
BUILDING: _		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Class PML =	يري جوا حك
MODIFICATIO	IN FACTOR =	[1.0 + (SI	JM OF MODIFIE	RS)/1003	°
BUILDING PM	IL = (CLASS	PML) \$ (MOD)	FICATION FAC	TOR)	•
MODIFIERS					
1. Occupanc	v type				
(1) Dffic@,	Habitationa	al, Hospital,		
		-3) Low da	mageability		
	E J Č	0) Averaç	e damageabil	ity	
	[](+5) High c	lamageability		
(2) Mercanti	le, Restaur	ant, Church		
	[](-10)			
		0)			
(3) Manufartı	irino. Wara	bousing. Par	kina	
	structure	e, Stadium			
	[](-15)			
	[][[][][-10)			
	6 - 4 - V	07			
. Walls		0 2 9 6 9	a e e e e e e		
A. Exteri	ior walls				
(1)) Concrete,	poured or	precast		
(2)	Masonry,	reinforced	solid or hol	low	
(3)) Metal				
(4)) Stucca or	n studs			
		-5)			
	[](0)			
(4)		+5)	ed solid		
(8)		0)	ar briin		
	ĒĴ(+5)			
	C] (4	+10)			
(7)	Masonry,	unreinforc	ed hollow		
	5. J 1	¥7			

98 Appendix A

```
B. Interior walls and partitions

    Concrete, poured or precast
    Masonry, reinforced solid or hollow

          (3) Plaster or gypsumboard on metal or wood studs
                  () (-5)
                  [](0)
                 [] ( +5)
          (4) Masonry, unreinforced solid or hollow
          (5) Tile, hollow clay
[ ] ( 0)
[ ] ( +5)
[ ] (+10)
3. Diaphragms .
   A. Floors
          (1) Concrete, poured
          (2) Metal deck with concrete fill
          (3) Metal
                  [](-5)
                  [] ( O)
                  [] ( +5)
          (4) Concrete, precast
          (5) Wood: maximum ratio LEG 2:1 w/ length LEG 150'
                  E ] ( O)
                  C) ( +5)
                  [] (+10)
          (6) Wood: maximum ratio GTR 2:1
                  (O) []
                  [ ] (+10)
                  [] (+20)
   B. Roof (Null modifier when building GTR 5 stories)
          (1) Concrete, poured
          (2) Metal deck with concrete fill
          (3) Metal
                  [](-5)
[](0)
                  [] (+5)
          (4) Concrete, precast
          (5) Wood or gypsum: maximum ratio LEQ 2:1 w/ length LEQ 150'
[ ] ( 0)
[ ] ( +5)
                  [] (+10)
          (6) Wood or gypsum: maximum ratio GTR 2:1
[ ] ( 0)
                  £ ] (+10)
                  [] (+20)
   C. Purlin anchors lacking (+10)
```

ATC-21-1

Appendix A 99

```
A. Exterior
       []( -5)
[]( 0)
[](+5,+10)
  B. Interior (includes ceilings and floor covers)
       []( -5)
       C ] (
              0)
       [] ( +5,+10)
[ ] (-10, -5)
[ ] ( 0)
[ ] ( +5,+10)
Include previous earthquake damage and repairs
       [] (-10, -5)
       []( +5)
       [] (+10,+25)
7. Hazardous exposures . . . .
    "Average" means "No exposure"
  A. Roof tanks
      [ ] Null
       C ) (
              o)
       C ] (
             +25)
  B. Roof signs and overhanging walls
      [] Null
       C ] (
               O)
       [] ( +5,+10)
  C. Founding of adjacent buildings
      [ ] Null
      [](
[](
               0)
              45)
A. Foundation materials
      [] ( O) Rock or firm alluvium or
               well-engineered man-made
               ∮ill
      [] (+10) Soft alluvium
      [] (+25) Poor (natural or man-made)
                        SUM OF MODIFIERS:
```

100 Appendix A

ARMY EXISTING BUILDINGS

(PER INSPECTAL DATA)	
BUILDING NO. 55 INSPECTED BY SAF DATE 1/15/86	
DESCRIPTIVE TITLE HOSPITAL BUILDING (Current Doe)	
GASSIFICATION ESSENTTAL	
AVAILABILITY OF DESIGN DATA DEALINGS AND CAR LULATIONS ADE AVAILABLE	
BULLDING DATA:	
Sumber of Stories 3	
Beight 35' Plan (Show Dimensions) 48' x 192'	
CORSTRUCTION:	
Structural System Structural Steel Frame	
BOOL METAL DECK WITH LILATWERLAT FIL	
Intervediate Ploore METRE DECK WITH CONC. FILL	
Ground Placers SLAR OID CRAME	. •
Poredations	
Spector Wells	
Successor Halls	,
LATERAL PORCE RESISTING FISTEN DMESF TEBUSU	
BALED PRANE LOUTIT.	
BVALDATION:	
Gaseral Coadition	
Zerthquake Damage Potential	
Banace observed:	
concents:	
	<u></u>

ATC-21-1

Appendix A 101

APPENDIX B

DETERMINATION OF BASIC STRUCTURAL HAZARD SCORES AND MODIFIERS

This Appendix presents the derivation of the Basic Structural Hazard score and discusses modifications to account for building specific problems and to extend this score to areas outside of California. Sample calculations of probabilities of damage and resulting Basic Structural Hazard scores are included for several building types. A summary of Basic Structural Hazard scores for all structural types and for all regions is found in Table B1.

B.1 Determination of Structural Score S

The Basic Structural Hazard (BSH) is defined for a type or class of building as the negative of the logarithm (base 10) of the probability of damage (D) exceeding 60 percent of building value for a specified NEHRP Effective Peak Acceleration (EPA) loading (reflecting seismic hazard) as:

$$BSH = -\log_{10} [Pr(D \ge 60\%)]$$
 (B1a)

The BSH is a generic score for a type or class of building, and is modified for a specific building by Performance Modification Factors (PMFs) specific to that building, to arrive at a Structural Score, S. That is,

$$BSH \pm PMF = S$$
 (B1b)

where the

Structural Score $S = \log_{10} [Pr (D \ge 60\%)]$ (B1c)

is the measure of the probability or likelihood of damage being greater than 60 percent of building value for the *specific* building.

Sixty percent damage was selected as the generally accepted threshold of major damage,

ATC-21-1

the point at about which many structures are demolished rather than repaired (i.e., structures damaged to 60 percent of their value are often a "total loss"), and the approximate lower bound at which there begins to be a significant potential for building collapse (and hence a significant life safety threat). Value is used as defined in ATC-13 (ATC, 1985), which may be taken to mean replacement value for the building.

The determination of the probability of damage exceeding 60 percent for a class of buildings or structures for a given ground motion defined in terms of Modified Mercalli Intensity (MMI), Peak Ground Acceleration (PGA) or Effective Peak Ground Acceleration is a difficult task for which insufficient data or methods presently exist. In order to fill this gap, earthquake engineering expert opinion was elicited in a structured manner in the ATC-13 project, as to the likelihood of various levels of damage given a specified level of ground motion (ATC, 1985).

The Basic Structural Hazard scores herein were developed from earthquake damage related information, using damage factors (DF) from ATC-13 (ATC, 1985), wherein damage factor is defined as the ratio of dollar loss to replacement value. It is assumed in ATC-13 that, depending on the building class, both modern code and older non-code buildings may be included, and that the damage data are applicable to buildings throughout the state of California. Inasmuch as ATC-13 was intended for large scale economic studies and not for studies of individual structures, damage factors apply to "average" buildings in each class. ATC-13 damage factors were chosen as the

	Duilding Identifier	(N low (1.2)	Seismic Area IEHRP MAP AREAS) moderate	high
	Bunding Identifier	(1,2)	(3,4)	(3,0,7)
W	WOOD FRAME	8.5	6.0	4.5
S 1	STEEL MRF	3.5	4.0	4.5
S2	BRACED STEEL FRAME	2.5	3.0	3.0
S 3	LIGHT METAL	6.5	6.0	5.5
S4	STEEL FRAME W/CONCRETE SW	4.5	4.0	3.5
C1	RC MRF	4.0	3.0	2.0
C2	RCSW NO MRF	4.0	3.5	3.0
C3/S5	URM INFILL	3.0	2.0	1.5
PC1	TILT-UP	3.5	3.5	2.0
PC2	PC FRAME	2.5	2.0	1.5
RM	REINFORCED MASONRY	4.0	3.5	3.0
URM	UNREINFORCED MASONRY	2.5	2.0	1.0

Table B1: Basic Structural Hazard Scores for all Building Classes and NEHRP Areas

104 Appendix B

basis for the handbook scores because, at the present time, this is the most complete and systematically compiled source of earthquake damage related information available. Appendix G of ATC-13 contains summaries of experts' opinions of DFs for 78 facility classes (designed in California) due to 6 different levels of input motion. Each ATC-13 expert was asked to provide a low, best and high estimate of the damage factor at Modified Mercalli Intensities VI through XII. The low and high estimates were defined to be the 90% probability bounds of the damage factor distribution. The best estimate was defined for the experts as the DF most likely to be observed for a given MMI and facility class (Appendix E and equation 7.10, ATC-13). This relationship is illustrated in Figure B1.

To incorporate the inherent variability in structural response due to earthquake input and variations in building design and construction, the DF is treated as a random variable-that is, it is recognized that there is uncertainty in the DF, for a given ground motion. This uncertainty is due to a number of factors including variation of structural properties within the category of structure under consideration and variation in ground motion. In ATC-13, DF uncertainty about the mean was examined and found to be acceptably modeled by a Beta distribution although differences between the Beta, lognormal and normal probabilities were very small (see for example ATC-13, Fig. 7.9). For convenience herein, the lognormal rather than Beta distribution was chosen to represent the DF. The lognormal distribution offers the advantage of easier calculation using well-known polynomial approximations. Ideally a truncated lognormal distribution should be used to account for the fact that the DF can be no larger than 100. In the worst case this would have only changed the resulting hazard score by 5%. It should be noted that the lognormal distribution was the ATC-21 subcontractor's preference, and the Beta or other probability distributions could be used in developing structural scores.

For specified building classes (as defined in ATC-13) and for load levels ranging from MMI VI to XII, parameters of damage probability distributions were estimated from the "weighted statistics of the damage factor" given in Appendix G of ATC-13. Weights based on experience level and confidence of the experts were factored into the mean values of the low, best and high estimates (ML, MB, MH) found in that Appendix. For the development of hazard scores, the mean low and mean high estimates of the DF were taken as the 90% probability bounds on the damage factor distribution. The mean best estimate was interpreted as the median DF. Major damage was defined as a DF > .60 (greater than 60 percent damage).

For any lognormally distributed random variable, X, a related random variable, Y=ln(X), is normally distributed. The normal distribution is characterized by two parameters, its mean and standard deviation. The mean value of the normal distribution, m, can be equated to the median value of the lognormal distribution, x_m , by

$$m = \ln(x_{\rm m}) \tag{B2}$$

(Ang and Tang, 1975). Thus if it is assumed that the DF is lognormally distributed with the median = MB, the $\ln(DF)$ is normally distributed with mean $m = \ln(MB)$. The additional information needed to find the standard deviation, s, is provided by knowing that 90% of the probability distribution lies between ML and MH. Thus approximately 95% of the distribution is below the MH damage factor. From tables of the cumulative standard normal distribution, F(x), where x is the standard normal variate defined by x=(y-m)/s, it can be seen that F(x=1.64)=0.95. Therefore (y-m)/s = 1.64, where in this case $y=\ln(MH)$. The standard deviation may then be calculated from $s = (\ln(MH) - m)/1.64$. A similar calculation could be performed using the ML and the 5% cutoff. An average of these two values results in the following equation:



106 Appendix B

$s = (\ln(MH) - \ln(ML))/3.28$

A FORTRAN program was used to calculate the parameters *m* and *s* for various ATC-13 facility classes and all MMI levels.

To estimate probabilities of exceeding a 60% DF for various NEHRP areas, MMI was converted to EPA according to:

$$PGA = 10^{(MMI-1)/3}$$
 (B4)

where PGA is in gals (cm/sec2), and

$$EPA = .75 PGA \tag{B5}$$

Equation B4 is a modification of the standard conversion given in Richter (1958) to arrive at PGA at the mid-point of the MMI value (rather than at the threshold, as given by Richter). Equation B5 is an approximate conversion (N. C. Donovan, personal communication). Only MMI VI to IX were considered, as this is the equivalent range of EPA under consideration in NEHRP Areas 1 to 7.

It was found that large uncertainty in DF for MMI VI and sometimes VII could lead to inconsistencies in the calculated probabilities of damage. To smooth these inconsistencies, $log_{10}(s)$ was regressed against $log_{10}(EPA)$. The standard deviations of the damage probability distributions for various EPA levels were calculated from the resulting regression.

Once the parameters of the normal distribution were found, the probability of the DF being greater than 60%, Q, was calculated from the following polynomial approximation of the normal distribution (NBS 55, 1964). For the derivation of structural hazard scores, the standard variate $x = (\ln(60)-m)/s$:

$$Q(x) = Z(x)[b_1t + b_2t^2 + b_3t^3 + b_4t^4 + b_5t^5] \quad (B6)$$

where

 $Z(x) = (2\pi)^{-5} \exp(-x^2/2)$ and t = 1/(1+px)

ATC-21-1

and the constants are

(B3)

$$\begin{array}{ll} b_1 = .319381530 & b_2 = -.356563782 \\ b_3 = 1.781477937 & b_4 = -1.821255978 \\ b_5 = 1.330274429 & p = .2316419 \end{array}$$

The resulting values of $\log_{10}(Q)$ (i.e. $\log_{10}[\Pr(D \ge 60\%)]$) corresponded to initial values of the Basic Structural Hazard score defined in Equation B1. These Structural Hazard scores are presented in Table B2 under NEHRP Map Area 7. These scores for the ATC-13 building classification were then used to determine the scores for the building classifications of ATC-14 (ATC, 1987), which are also employed here in ATC-21 (see left column, Table B1). In many cases, the correspondence of ATC-13 and ATC-14 is one-to-one (e.g., light metal). In some cases, several building types of ATC-13 correspond to one in ATC-14, and were therefore averaged to determine the ATC-21 score. In a few instances, due to inconsistencies still remaining despite the smoothing discussed above, these initial Basic Structural Hazard scores were adjusted on the basis of judgment, by consensus of the Project Engineering Panel. In order to extend the Structural Hazard scores for buildings constructed according to California building practices (which was all that ATC-13 considered) to other NEHRP Map Areas, two factors must be incorporated in the determination of the Structural Hazard score:

- 1. The seismic environment (i.e., lower EPA values) for NEHRP Map Areas 1 through 6 must be considered.
- Buildings constructed in places other than the high seismicity portions of California, which probably have not been designed for the same seismic loadings and with the same seismic detailing as in California, must be considered. This latter aspect is termed the "non-California building" factor.

Table B2: Structural Hazard Score Values After Modification for
Non-California Buildings (prior to rounding)
(Follows ATC-13 (ATC, 1985) building classifications)

EPA (g) NEHRP Area	.05 1	.05 2	.10 3	.15 4	.20 5	.30 6	.40 7	LOW 1,2	MOD 3,4	HIGH 5,6,7
WOOD FRAME -LR	8.3	8.3	6.5	5.6	5.3	4.7	4.0	8.5	6.0	4.5
LIGHT METAL	6.6	6.6	6.4	5.8	5.5	5.3	5.7	6.5	6.0	5.5
URM - LR	3.1	3.1	2.0	2.0	1.7	1.4	1.2	3.0	2.0	1.5
URM - MR	2.5	2.5	1.9	1.5	1.3	1.1	1.0	2.5	1.5	1.0
TILT UP	4.8	4.8	4.9	3.1	2.9	1.9	2.4	5.0	3.5	2.0
BR STL FRAME - LR	3.2	3.2	3.7	3.1	3.4	3.0	3.1	3.0	3.5	3.0
BR STL FRAME - MR	2.1	2.1	2.7	2.3	2.8	2.6	2.9	2.0	2.5	3.0
BR STL FRAME - HR	2.3	2.3	2.6	1.9	2.3	1.9	2.0	2.5	2.5	2.0
STL PERIM. MRF - LR	4.3	4.3	5.4	4.7	4.9	5.5	5.4	4.5	5.0	5.5
STL PERIM. MRF - MR	3.7	3.7	4.5	3.7	3.8	4.1	3.9	3.5	4.0	4.0
STL PERIM. MRF - HR	3.6	3.6	3.5	2.7	2.6	2.7	2.4	3.5	3.0	2.5
STL DISTRIB MRF - LR	3.1	3.1	3.8	3.5	3.8	4.4	4.5	3.0	3.5	4.5
STL DISTRIB MRF - MR	3.0	3.0	3.8	3.3	3.5	3.8	3.7	3.0	3.5	4.0
STL DISTRIB MRF - HR	3.0	3.0	3.4	2.8	2.8	2.8	2.5	3.0	3.0	2.5
RCSW NO MRF - LR	5.4	5.4	5.4	3.9	4.6	4.0	3.5	5.5	4.5	4.0
RCSW NO MRF - MR	4.6	4.6	4.1	2.7	3.4	2.9	2.5	4.5	3.5	2.5
RCSW NO MRF - HR	3.5	3.5	3.2	2.1	2.5	2.1	1.8	3.5	2.5	2.0
URM INFILL - LR	2.8	2.8	2.1	1.6	1.3	1.2	1.1	3.0	1.5	1.0
URM INFILL - MR	2.5	2.5	1.7	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.1	2.5	1.5	1.0
URM INFILL - HR	2.3	2.3	1.5	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.1	2.5	1.0	1.0
ND RC MRF - LR	4.2	4.2	4.2	2.4	2.9	2.7	2.2	4.0	3.0	2.5
ND RC MRF - MR	3.9	3.9	3.7	2.3	2.2	2.0	1.7	4.0	2.5	2.0
ND RC MRF - HR	3.4	3.4	3.5	2.1	2.2	2.1	1.8	3.5	2.5	2.0
D RC MRF - LR	7.6	7.6	8.7	6.6	7.0	6.5	5.7	7.5	7.5	6.0
D RC MRF - MR	5.0	5.0	6.3	4.8	5.4	5.4	4.9	5.0	5.5	5.0
D RC MRF - HR	5.7	5.7	5.9	4.0	4.3	3.8	3.2	5.5	4.5	3.5
PC FRAME - LR	3.0	3.0	3.8	2.3	2.0	1.4	1.6	3.0	2.5	1.5
PC FRAME - MR	1.8	1.8	2.2	1.7	2.2	1.8	1.2	2.0	2.0	1.5
PC FRAME - HR	1.6	1.6	2.3	1.4	1.7	1.4	1.0	1.5	2.0	1.0
RM SW W/O MRF - LR	3.9	3.9	5.4	4.5	4.1	3.5	2.9	4.0	4.5	3.0
RM SW W/O MRF - MR	3.4	3.4	4.3	3.4	3.1	2.6	2.2	3.5	3.5	2.5
RM SW W/O MRF - HR	2.7	2.7	3.4	2.6	2.3	1.9	1.7	2.5	3.0	2.0
RM SW W/ MRF - LR	4.0	4.0	5.8	5.0	4.7	4.1	3.6	4.0	5.0	4.0
RM SW W/ MRF - MR	5.7	5.7	7.6 [.]	5.8	5.1	3.9	3.1	5.5	6.0	3.5
RM SW W/ MRF - HR	5.9	5.9	8.1	6.2	5.5	4.3	3.4	6.0	6.5	4.0
LONG SPAN	4.2	4.2	3.9	3.2	3.3	3.5	3.2	4.0	3.5	3.5

108 Appendix B

With regard to the first of these factors, to facilitate calculating the final Structural Hazard scores for the EPA loadings in NEHRP Areas 1 through 6, $\log_{10}[\log_{10}(Structural Hazard Score)]$ was regressed against EPA and scores were calculated from the resulting regression. These values represent the values for a "California building" (i.e., designed and built according to standard California seismic practices) in a different NEHRP Map Area. The extension of the scoring system to structures outside of California (i.e., "non-California buildings") is discussed below.

B.2 Extension to Non-California Building Construction

Due to the nature of data compiled in ATC-13, the above Structural Hazard scores are appropriate for "average" buildings designed and built in California, subjected to seismic loadings appropriate for NEHRP Map Area 7. In regions where building practices differ significantly from California (i.e., NEHRP Map Area 7) building practices, the Structural Hazard score should be modified. It would be expected that in regions where seismic loading does not control the design, this would lead to an increase in the value of the Structural Hazard score.

An example of this "non-California building" effect might be a reinforced masonry (RM) building in NEHRP Map Area 3, where local building codes typically may not have required any design for seismic loading until recently, if at all. This is not to say that buildings in NEHRP Map Area have no lateral load (and hence seismic) capacity. Design for wind loads would provide some lateral load capacity, although lack of special details might result in relatively little ductility. However, interior masonry partitions (e.g., interior walls built of concrete masonry units, CMU) might typically be unreinforced, with ungrouted cells, for example. Although the building structure could thus be fairly classified as RM, failure and probable collapse of most of the interior walls would be a major life-safety hazard, as well as resulting in major property damage. Although the exterior walls are reinforced, they will likely lack details required in UBC Seismic Zones 3 and 4, and thus will likely have less ductility. Therefore, the Structural Hazard score in NEHRP Map Area 3 for this building type should be lower than it would be for a "California" building, if the seismic loading were the same. Given that the seismic loading in NEHRP Map Area 3 is less than in most of California, the actual resulting score may be higher or lower, depending on the seismic capacity/demand ratio.

Some building types, on the other hand, such as older unreinforced masonry (URM) may be no different in California than in most other parts of the United States, so that the seismic capacity is the same in many NEHRP areas. Since the seismic loading is less for most non-California map areas (e.g., NEHRP Map Areas 1, 2, 3), the seismic capacity/demand ratio increases for these type of buildings for NEHRP Map Areas 1, 2, 3. Similarly, building types whose seismic capacity is the same will have higher Basic Structural Hazard scores in the lower seismicity NEHRP Map Areas.

Quantification of the change in Structural Hazard score due to variations in regional seismicity can be treated in a rather straightforward manner, as outlined above. Changes in the Structural Hazard score due to variations in local design or building practices, as discussed above, however, is difficult because seismic experience for these regions is less, and expert opinion data similar to ATC-13 did not exist for non-California buildings. In the course of the development of the ATC-21 Handbook therefore, expert opinion was sought in order to extend the ATC-13 information to non-California building construction. Information was sought in a structured manner from experienced engineers in NEHRP Areas 1 to 6, asking them to compare the performance of specific building types in their regions to

California-designed buildings of the same type. After reviewing and comparing the responses, a composite of all responses for a region was sent to the experts, who were then asked, based on these composite results, for their final estimate of the seismic performance for each building type for their region.

Generally, for the same level of loading, the experts expected higher damage for buildings in their regions than for similar structures built in California, as might be expected. For a given NEHRP Map Area, although there was substantial scatter in these experts' responses, in most cases the responses could be interpreted such that the non-California building DF could be considered to differ by a constant multiple from the corresponding "California building" DF. That is, responses from all experts in each region were averaged and used to estimate the modification constant for each building type.

These modification constants (MC), presented in Table B3, were used to change the value of the mean best estimate from ATC-13 (MB) to a best estimate for each NEHRP Map Area (BENA) according to the following equation:

$$BENA = MC^*MB \tag{B7}$$

Keeping the standard deviation constant (as calculated in equation B3) and using the best estimate of the DF (BENA) from equation B7, Structural Hazard scores were calculated for each region using the methodology described in Section B.1. These structural scores are presented in Table B2, for each NEHRP Map Area.

Because the derived scores were based on expert opinion, and involved several approximations as discussed above, it was felt that the precision inherent in the Structural Hazard scores only warranted expressing these values to the nearest 0.5 (i.e., all were rounded to the nearest one half: .3 rounded to .5, 1.2 to 1.0 and so on). A comparison of scores for low rise (1 to 3 stories) and medium rise (4 to 7 stories) structures after rounding showed little or no difference for most building classes. Therefore, these values (before rounding) were averaged for low- and medium-rise buildings. This value, appropriate for low- and mediumrise buildings, is designated as the Basic Structural Hazard score. For high-rise construction (8+ stories), this is modified by a high-rise Performance Modification Factor (PMF). This high-rise PMF is a function of building class and was calculated by subtracting the Basic Structural Hazard score for low- and mid-rise buildings from that determined for high-rise buildings.

Lastly, a comparison of scores for different NEHRP Map Areas revealed very little difference of Structural Hazard scores for certain levels of seismicity. The scoring process was therefore simplified by grouping high, moderate, and low seismicity NEHRP areas together as follows:

Seismicity	NEHRP Areas	-
High Moderate Low	5, 6, 7 3, 4 1, 2	

B.3 Sample Calculation of Basic Structural Hazard Scores

A sample calculation is presented here for ATC-13 facility class 1 (wood frame), based on data taken from Appendix G in ATC-13 (ATC, 1985), shown in Table B4. Although ATC-13 provided data for MMI VI to XII, the data for MMI greater than X do not correspond to the NEHRP Map effective peak accelerations. Therefore they were not included in developing the scores for this Rapid Screening Procedure (RSP).

	NEHF	RP Map Are	a	
1,2	3	4	5	б
1.0	1.3	1.3	1.2	1.0
1.9	1.2	1.4	1.3	1.0
1.9	1.2	1.4	1.1	1.1
1.1	1.1	1.3	1.3	1.2
1.2	1.2	1.3	1.3	1.2
2.2	1.3	1.5	1.2	1.0
1.7	1.3	1.5	1.1	1.0
2.0	1.2	1.5	1.3	1.4
2.9	1.1	1.8	1.2	1.3
2.9	1.1	1.3	1.1	1.0
1.1	1.2	1.0	1.0	1.0
	1,2 1.0 1.9 1.9 1.1 1.2 2.2 1.7 2.0 2.9 2.9 1.1	NEHI 1,2 3 1.0 1.3 1.9 1.2 1.9 1.2 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 2.2 1.3 1.7 1.3 2.0 1.2 2.9 1.1 2.9 1.1 1.1 1.2	NEHRP Map Are 1,2 3 4 1,0 1.3 1.3 1.9 1.2 1.4 1.9 1.2 1.4 1.9 1.2 1.4 1.1 1.1 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.4 1.1 1.1 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.3 1.5 2.0 1.2 1.5 2.9 1.1 1.8 2.9 1.1 1.3 1.1 1.2 1.0	NEHRP Map Area51,23451.01.31.31.21.91.21.41.31.91.21.41.11.11.11.31.31.21.41.11.11.11.31.31.21.31.51.21.71.31.51.12.01.21.51.32.91.11.81.22.91.11.31.11.11.21.01.0

Table B3: ATC-21 Round 2 Damage Factor Modification Constants

The mean and standard deviation of the Normal distribution are calculated from equations B2 and B3 with the results shown in Table B5.

A regression of $\log_{10}(s)$ versus $\log_{10}(EPA)$ yields the following equation:

 $\log_{10}(s) = -0.409 - 0.192*\log_{10}(\text{EPA})$

Using values of s obtained from the above equation and the polynomial approximation of the normal distribution given in Equation B6, probabilities of exceeding 60 percent damage were calculated for EPA values of .35 and lower. The resulting probabilities and hazard scores are shown in Table B6.

Finally $log_{10}[log_{10}(BSH)]$ was regressed against EPA resulting in the following equation:

 $\log_{10}[\log_{10}(BSH)] = -0.0101 - 0.532*EPA$

Values of the Basic Structural Hazard score for California buildings calculated from the above equation for specified EPA are shown below:

	and the second discovery the second	
EPA(g)	<u>BSH</u>	
0.05	8.30	
0.10	7.32	
0.15	6.50	
0.20	5.82	۰.
0.30	4.75	
0.40	3.97	

BSH = 3.97 corresponding to an EPA of 0.4g is the score for NEHRP Map Area 7. To calculate BSH for other NEHRP Map Areas the same process must be used with the modified mean damage factor described in Section B.2. For wood-frame structures the modification constants developed from the questionnaires are:

NEHRP Map Area	1	2	3	4	5	6
Modification Constant	1	1	1.3	1.3	1.2	1

Using these constants, the modified median damage factors for NEHRP Map Area 3, for example, are (see Equation B7):

		`		
MMI	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Median DF	1.0	1.9	5.9	11.5

Repeating the same procedure using the natural log of these median DF to calculate the mean of the normal distribution and the same standard deviations shown above, the Structural Hazard score is calculated for each NEHRP Map Area. The final values for the example given here (wood-frame buildings), before and after rounding to the nearest half, are shown in Table B7 for this example of wood buildings and in Table B2 for all building types.

Finally, because there appeared to be little variation between some NEHRP Map Areas, these were grouped together into three areas, with corresponding BSH values (see Table B1). For the example of wood-frame buildings, resulting values are:

a de la compañía de l	NEHRP	
	Map Areas	<u>BSH</u>
LOW	1, 2	8.5
MODERATE	3, 4	6.0
HIGH	5, 6, 7	4.5

			· ·	Table H	34				
				2754			; ·		
					· · · · · ·	Damage	Fact	or (%)	
MN	<u>11</u>	PGA (g)	EPA (g)	-	Mean Low (ML)	Mea (1	n Best MB)	Mean I (MH	High 1)
V VI VII D		0.05 0.10 0.22 0.47	0.04 0.08 0.16 0.35		0.2 0.7 1.8 4.5	0. 1. 4. 9.	8 5 7 2	2.0 4.1 11.0 19.1	5 3 0 7
	· · · · · · · · ·					.			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				Table E	35		· · ·		
EPA	<u>(g)</u>	<u>ln (ML)</u>	n in the General Super-	<u>ln (MH)</u>		s (std. dev.)		m (mean=ln{]	<u>MB})</u>
0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3	4 8 - ²¹ - 22 - 23 5 - ²¹ - 24 - 24 5 - 21 - 24 - 24 - 21 - 24 - 24 - 24	-1.609 -0.356 0.588 1.504		0.956 1.569 2.398 2.981		0.782 0.587 0.552 0.450		-0.223 0.405 1.548 2.219	; ; ;
	n de la casta A seguera	natelo estrupe in a La construcción de		Table E	6				
	<u>EPA</u>	elo Polizio di Polizio Antonio di Polizio Antonio di Polizio di Polizio Antonio di Polizio di Polizio di Polizio	i . Li stitu	<u>Pr(I</u>	<u>0 ≥ 60)</u>		<u>BSH</u>		
	0.04 0.08 0.16 0.35	tional de la composition l'actual articles l'actual de la composition de la composition de la composition la composition de la composition la composition de la composition de la composition la composition de la composition de la composition la composition de la composition de la composition de la composition la composition de la composition de la composition de la composition de la composition la composition de la composition de la composition de la composition la composition de la composition de la composition de la composition		2.69 X 3.80 X 1.91 X 4.07 X	10 ⁻⁹ 10-9 10-6 10-5 10		8.57 8.42 5.72 4.39		
		n an						ill _{en en e}	
				Table B	7				
N	EHRP	EPA	(g)	Fi	nal Values		<u>BSH</u>		
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7	0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4)5 5 0 5 5 5 0 0 0		8.3 8.3 6.45 5.6 5.26 4.75 3.97		8.5 8.5 6.50 5.5 5.5 5.0 4.0		

ATC-21-1

The final resulting values of Basic Structural Hazard score presented in Table B1 are intended for use nationwide. However, local building officials may feel that building practice in their community differs significantly from the conditions typified by the Modification Constants (MCs) in Table B3. The computer source code and data employed for this study is therefore furnished (Figure B2) so that alternative MCs may be employed to generate BSH scores based on an alternative set of MCs. An alternative computation might be conducted, for example, if a community in NEHRP Map Area 5 (e.g., Memphis, TN) felt that the MCs for Map Area 4 were more appropriate. Example resulting BSH scores would then be:

Wood	5.0
Light Metal	5.5
URM	1.5
Tilt-up	2.5

Note that if non-standard BSH scores are thus computed, PMFs should be reevaluated. In most cases, however, the BSH scores in Table B1 should be appropriate.

The interpretation of these values is rather straightforward—a value of 8.5 in Low seismicity areas indicates that on average wood-frame buildings, when subjected to EPA of 0.05g, have a probability of sustaining major damage (i.e., damage greater than 60 percent of their replacement value) of $10^{-8.5}$. In High seismicity areas, where the EPA is 0.3g to 0.4g, the probability of sustaining major damage is $10^{-4.5}$.

Thus, BSH has a straightforward interpretation: <u>if BSH is 1. the</u> <u>probability of major damage is 1 in 10</u>, if BSH is 2, the probability of major damage is 1 in 100, if BSH is 3, the probability of major damage is 1 in 1000, and so on. It should be noted that BSH as defined and used here is similar to the structural reliability index, Beta (Hasofer and Lind, 1974), which can be thought of as the standard variate of the probability of failure (if the basic variables are normally distributed, which is often a good approximation). For values of BSH between about 0 and 5 (typically the range of interest herein), Beta and BSH are approximately equal. Further, it should be noted that research into the Beta values inherent in present building codes (NBS 577, 1980) indicates that Beta (or BSH) values of 3 for gravity loads and about 1.75 for earthquake loads are typical.

B.4 Performance Modification Factors

There are a number of factors that can modify the seismic performance of a structure causing the performance of an individual building to differ from the average. These factors basically are related to significant deviations from the normal structural practice or conditions, or have to do with the effects of soil amplification on the expected ground motion.

Deviations from the normal structural practice or conditions, in the case of wood frame buildings for example, can include deterioration of the basic wood material, due to pests (e.g., termites) or rot, or basic structural layout, such as unbraced cripple walls or lack of bolting of the wood structure to the foundation. The number and variety of such performance modification factors, for all types of buildings, is very large, and many of these cannot be detected from the street on the basis of a rapid visual inspection. Because of this, based on querying of experts and checklists from ATC-14, a limited number of the most significant factors were identified. Factors considered for this RSP were limited to those having an especially severe impact on seismic performance. Those that could not be readily observed from the street were eliminated. The performance modification factors were assigned values, based on judgment, such that when

114 Appendix B

```
C THIS PROGRAM FINDS THE STRUCTURAL SCORES FOR THE ATC21 HANDBOOK
C
 USING DATA FROM ATC13
C A LOGNORMAL DISTRIBUTION FOR DAMAGE IS ASSUMED
C T. Anagnos and C. Scawthorn 1987,1988
C-
С
С
     dimension x(10),y(10),epa(7)
     open(5, file='atcs.dat', status='old')
     open(6,file='outputcs',status='old')
     data epa /.05,.05,.1,.15,.2,.3,.4/
     write(6,200) (epa(i),i=1,7)
write(6,210) (i,i=1,7)
format('EPA',17x,7(f5.2),'
                                                             M2
                                     LOW MOD
                                                HIGH
200
H2')
      format('NEHRP Area
                                     ',7(15))
 210
         FORMAT ('')
 202
         WRITE (6,202)
      read(5,*) ntype
      do 1 i=1, ntype
           call dfread
 1
      continue
      end
C----
subroutine dfread
dimension pga(7), s(7), p(7), stvar(7), sigma(7), x(7), y(7)
DIMENSION dmodfy(7), dbest(7), sfinal(7), bldg(10)
      real lnlow(7),lnbest(7),lnhigh(7),epa(10)
      read(5,100) (bldg(i), i=1,6)
100
      format(6a4)
C READ MODIFICATION FACTORS FOR EACH NEHRP AREA
      read(5,*) (dmodfy(j),j=1,7)
C CONVERT MMI TO PGA
      do 2 i=1,7
        read(5,*) xmmi,dlow,dbest(i),dhigh
        pga(i)=10**(((xmmi+0.5)/3.)-0.5)/981.
         lnlow(i) = alog(dlow)
      lnhigh(i)=alog(dhigh)
 2
      continue
      do 50 nehrp=1,7
      do 7 i=1,7
      temp=dbest(i)/dmodfy(nehrp)
      if (temp.gt.100.) temp=100.
         lnbest(i) = alog(temp)
         x(i) = alog10(pga(i))
 7
      continue
      do 3 i=1,7
 3
      continue
      format(' ',4(f10.5,lx))
 201
C COMPUTE STANDARD DEVIATION OF THE LOGNORMAL DISTRIBUTION
      do 4 i=1.7
         sigma(i)=(lnhigh(i)-lnlow(i))/3.28
        y(i)=alogl0(sigma(i))
 4
      continue
```

Figure B2

ATC-21-1

```
FORTRAN PROGRAM NEHRP. FOR
     PAGE 2
C REGRESS LOG(SIGMA) AGAINST LOG(PGA)
       n=7
       call regres(x,y,n,a,b)
       format( a=', f8.3, b= ', f8.3)
 202
C COMPUTE PROBABILITIES OF EXCEEDANCE USING AN APPROXIMATION
C OF THE LOGNORMAL DISTRIBUTION
C STVAR = STANDARD VARIATE
      cl=.31938153
      c2=-.356563782
       c3=1.781477937
       c4=-1.821255978
       c5=1.330274429
      do 5 i=1,7
       stvar(i) = (alog(60.) - lnbest(i)) / 10**(a+b*x(i))
       t=1./(1.+stvar(i)*0.2316419)
c Approximation is invalid for large negative standard
c variates
       if(stvar(i).lt.-3.) p(i)=1.0
       if(stvar(i).lt.-3.) goto 8
      ctot=c1*t+c2*t**2+c3*t**3+c4*t**4+c5*t**5
      p(i)=exp(-.5*stvar(i)**2)/sqrt(6.283185308)*ctot
C ACCOUNT FOR ROUND OFF ERROR IN THE APPROXIMATION
       continue
       if(p(i).gt.1.0) p(i)=1.0
       if(p(i).lt.0.0) p(i)=0.0
C CALCULATE THE STRUCTURAL SCORE "S"
       s(i) = -1.*aloglo(p(i))
 5
      continue
C FIND WHERE STRUCTURAL SCORE BECOMES NEGATIVE
        marker=0
      do 6 j=1,4
      temp=alog10(s(j))
        if(temp.le.0.0) marker=j
       if (temp.le.0.0) goto 10
       y(j)=alog10(temp)
 6
       continue
       goto 11
 10
       continue
 11
       continue
       n=4
       if(marker.ne.0) n=marker-1
C REGRESS LOG(S) AGAINST PGA
      call regress(pga,y,n,ascor,bscor)
       call finscr(ascor, bscor, nehrp, score)
       sfinal(nehrp)=score
       format(' a=',f10.3,'b= ',f10.3)
format(' x=',f8.5,'p=',f8.5,'s=',f8.5)
 510
 204
 50
       continue
       xl=.5*nint((sfinal(1)+sfinal(2))/(2*.5))
       xm=.5*nint((sfinal(3)+sfinal(4)+sfinal(5))/(3*.5))
       xh=.5*nint((sfinal(6)+sfinal(7))/(2*.5))
       xm2=.5*nint((sfinal(3)+sfinal(4))/(2*.5))
       xh2=.5*nint((sfinal(5)+sfinal(6)+sfinal(7))/(3*.5))
200
     format(' ',10a4)
```

Figure B2

116 Appendix B

```
FORTRAN PROGRAM NEHRP.FOR
     PAGE 3
     format(' ',5A4,7(f5.1),3x,3f5.1,3x,2f5.1)
210
     write(6,210)
      (bldg(i), i=1,5), (sfinal(i), i=1,7), x1, xm, xh, xm2, xh2
     return
     end
C---
C SUBROUTINE TO CALCULATE THE FINAL SCORE FOR EA NEHRP AREA
C----
      subroutine finscr(a,b,narea,score)
      dimension epa(7), s(7)
      data epa/.05,.05,.1,.15,.2,.3,.4/
      do 1 i=1,7
       s(i)=10**(10**(a+b*epa(i)*4/3))
   1
      continue
      score=s(narea)
     format(' nehrp area',7(i5,lx))
format(' score ',7(f5.2,lx))
 200
 210
      return
       end
C----
C SUBROUTINE TO PERFORM LINEAR REGRESSION AND PROVIDE THE
C RESULTING CONSTANTS
C----
        ________
      subroutine regres(x,y,n,a,b)
      dimension x(10),y(10)
 500 format(' x',10f10.6)
501 format(' y',10f10.6)
      sumx=0.0
      sumxy=0.0
      sumy=0.0
      sum x 2=0.0
      do 1 i=1,n
      sumx=sumx+x(i)
      sumx2=sumx2+x(i)**2
      sumy=sumy+y(i)
      sumxy=sumxy+x(i)*y(i)
1
      continue
      b=(sumxy-sumx*sumy/n)/(sumx2-sumx*sumx/n)
      a=(sumy-b*sumx)/n
      return
      end
```

Figure B2

811

Appendix 8

> Figure B

36 WOOD FRAME - LR RM SW W/O MRF - MR BR STL FRAME -MR STL DISTRIB MRF-MR URM INFILL - MR D RC MRF - MR .45 .45 .8 .65 .83 .97 1 11.8.8.8711 .53 .53 .85 .7 .91 .87 1 .5 .5 .85 .7 .8 1 1 .83 .83 .82 .78 .77 .85 1 .35 .35 .9 .85 .91 .97 1 6 0.20 1.20 3.20 6 0.20 0.80 2.60 6 0.01 0.80 2.70 6 0.40 1.30 3.30 6 0.01 0.80 2.90 6 0.60 3.40 10.30 0.70 1.50 4.80 7 1.30 3.40 6.90 1.50 3.50 8.90 7 0.40 5.80 6.50 7 0.30 1.70 4.80 7 1.80 8.20 23.20 7 7 8 1.80 4.70 11.00 8 2.20 7.00 13.50 8 1.50 4.30 9.60 8 7.20 20.60 40.30 8 2.30 5.80 12.60 8 2.90 9.90 20.20 4.50 9.20 19.70 9 6.20 11.90 22.10 5.40 10.80 20.10 6.60 17.90 32.70 9 9 3.20 7.10 14.80 9 14.50 33.60 58.80 0 9 10 8.80 19.80 39.70 10 10.50 20.40 32.80 10 25.60 47.30 80.40 10 8.60 16.90 26.30 10 15,80 30,50 51,60 10 5.50 12.60 19.30 11 14.40 24.40 47.30 11 17.00 30.10 49.60 11 8.40 19.60 33.70 11 41.60 68.00 94.80 11 16.80 28.40 40.40 11 26.90 46.10 73.60 12 23.70 37.30 61.30 12 23.00 41.80 62.40 12 11.50 30.30 42.10 12 60.30 80.70 99.20 12 24.10 37.10 51.50 12 38,50 59,70 89,50 STL DISTRIB MRF-HR LIGHT METAL BR STL FRAME . HR URM INFILL - HR D RC MRF - HR RM SW W/O MRF - HR .9 .9 .9 .8 .77 .83 1 .45 .45 .8 .65 .83 .97 1 .35 .35 .9 .85 .91 .97 1 .53 .53 .85 .7 .91 .87 1 .5 .5 .85 .7 .8 1 1 .83 .83 .82 .78 .77 .85 1 6 0.01 0.40 1.60 6 0.01 0.90 4.90 6 0.01 0.50 2.70 6 1.30 4.80 14.70 6 0.50 1.80 3.90 6 0.30 1.20 4.00 7 1.60 5.10 12.50 7 1.50 3.20 7.80 7 0.50 1.10 2.70 7 0.70 5.40 10.20 7 0.40 2.40 6.50 7 2.30 11.00 28.00 0.90 2.10 5.70 8 3.90 10.20 21.80 8 1.70 4.90 12.70 8 8.70 23.50 48.40 8 3.10 6.90 17.50 8 3.40 13.30 25.90 8 6.10 13.70 24.70 9 11.10 22.50 44.10 0 2.10 5.60 10.50 9 10.00 17.70 26.10 9 3.30 9.60 18.60 9 18.70 43.90 67.40 0 10 6.00 12.90 23.50 10 14.40 22.80 40.30 10 33.60 56.20 89.80 10 10.90 21.50 33.60 10 19.20 36.80 65.40 10 6.60 16.30 26.40 11 9.80 22.30 34.40 11 20.60 37.80 61.20 11 8.40 24.20 41.40 11 44.80 68.90 99.99 11 14.80 31.80 47.20 11 31.30 55.00 82.80 12 17.60 31.30 44.00 12 60.40 76.90 99.99 12 19.50 38.60 56.80 12 44.00 70.50 97.20 12 27.60 50.50 77.50 12 11.80 32.30 50.20 PC FRAME -LR RM SW W/ MRF - LR URM - LR STL PERIM. MRF -LR RCSH NO MRF - LR ND RC MRF - LR .35 .35 .9 .57 .83 .8 1 .35 .35 .9 .85 .91 .97 1 .9.9.821111 .5 .5 .85 .7 .8 1 1 .45 .45 .8 .65 .83 .97 1 .6 .6 .8 .65 .91 .97 1 6 0.90 3.10 7.50 6 0.10 1.10 4.20 6 0.10 1.00 2.40 6 0.01 0.70 2.20 6 0.20 1.30 3.60 6 0.10 0.50 1.90 7 0.80 2.80 8.40 7 1.90 4.20 10.10 7 0.80 2.40 7.60 3.30 10.10 26.40 7 0.50 1.70 3.90 7 7 0.80 2.80 6.30 8 3.20 8.00 18.90 8 8.90 22.50 48.50 8 3.10 5.90 12.40 8 2.00 3.80 7.90 2.60 6.60 12.50 8 5.40 12.10 21.80 8 9 6.50 11.90 20.10 9 22.10 41.60 74.90 3.70 7.20 11.50 9 12.80 21.10 38.20 9 10.00 23.20 33.90 9 5.60 13.00 22.00 9 10 41.90 64.60 93.60 10 6.90 13.90 20.90 10 17.50 31.80 50.80 10 18.90 37.60 56.90 10 10.70 18.40 33.40 10 11.50 23.60 34.10 11 24.20 48.70 68.60 11 19.80 30.90 59.00 11 57.20 78.30 97.30 11 10.10 22.20 32.20 11 27.20 47.50 65.60 11 20.20 35.50 51.20 12 32.10 60.00 83.90 12 29.40 51.30 79.20 12 72.70 89.60 100.0 12 16.80 31.40 44.10 12 31.30 47.60 61.90 12 42.40 62.00 81.40 URM - MR ND RC MRF - MR PC FRAME .MR RM SW W/ MRF - MR STL PERIM. MRF -MR RCSW NO MRF - MR .9.9.821 111 .35 .35 .9 .57 .83 .8 1 .35 .35 .9 .85 .91 .97 1 .5 .5 .85 .7 .8 1 1 .6 .6 .8 .65 .91 .97 1 .45 .45 .8 .65 .83 .97 1 6 0.60 1.40 2.90 1.20 4.60 10.90 6 0.01 0.70 2.50 6 0.20 1.00 2.80 6 0.40 1.70 3.90 6 .001 1.10 4.90 6 7 2.60 11.40 31.30 7 0.70 2.10 5.10 0.60 3.70 7.80 7 2.50 5.10 14.80 7 1.10 3.40 10.10 7 1.60 3.50 8.00 7 Ñ 8 12.70 28.80 55.00 3.30 8.80 16.10 8 5.70 13.00 25.70 8 3.30 8.40 21.60 8 3.70 8.80 16.80 8 1.60 4.40 9.80 8 9 28.80 51.40 77.30 9 13.70 26.50 45.50 9 10.50 27.20 34.50 9 8.10 15.20 27.20 9 4.30 8.90 15.80 9 8.00 17.50 29.50 10 13.00 23.70 45.00 10 45.80 71.70 94.80 10 21.40 35.70 58.00 10 24.20 43.10 62.90 10 8.00 15.70 24.60 10 16.40 28.90 44.70 11 22.80 39.40 69.40 11 62.00 83.00 98.30 11 33.50 51.90 74.20 11 29.30 53.70 78.30 11 12.00 28.20 40.30 11 22.60 39.50 57.90 12 35,70 68.70 93.70 12 37.00 57.80 87.50 12 74.90 91.10 100.0 12 17.10 36.40 51.10 12 47.80 67.40 92.60 12 33.10 49.80 70.40 RM SW W/ MRF - HR STL PERIM. MRF -HR ND RC MRF - HR PC FRAME - HR TILT UP RCSW NO MRF - HR .35 .35 .9 .57 .83 .8 1 .35 .35 .9 .85 .91 .97 1 .5 .5 .85 .68 .77 .7 1 .5 .5 .85 .7 .8 1 1 .6 .6 .8 .65 .91 .97 1 .45 .45 .8 .65 .83 .97 1 6 .001 1.10 5.00 6 0.80 1.60 3.20 6 0.40 1.50 4.20 6 0.01 0.70 3.50 6 0.20 1.20 3.00 6 0.40 1.70 3.50 1.80 4.20 9.60 7 1.00 4.10 9.80 7 1.20 2.90 7.10 7 7 0.90 2.40 7.30 7 1.00 5.60 10.90 7 1.70 5.40 13.40 8 3.30 10.10 24.60 8 3.10 7.10 14.80 8 4.00 10.60 18.20 8 2.30 6.20 14.20 8 4.10 11.80 21.40 8 6.00 13.30 28.00 9 9.10 18.50 31.60 9 5.30 14.50 24.50 9 10.50 24.80 39.00 9 12.60 25.30 44.90 9 11.90 29.60 39.70 9 6.80 13.20 25.20 10 24.70 44.30 63.90 10 11.20 24.30 47.40 10 15.20 28.70 49.20 10 9.60 19.80 31.50 10 26.10 37.70 57.70 10 23.70 40.50 65.20 11 25.60 45.00 69.40 11 17.00 36.70 50.50 11 33.70 55.30 80.30 11 29.90 54.60 79.60 11 19.40 40.10 69.70 11 36.90 54.00 75.00 12 35.60 62.50 80.20 12 54.00 75.80 94.90 12 35.00 69.70 99.50 12 36.00 66.50 89.90 12 23.40 44.50 59.10 12 48.30 67.10 88.20 RM SH W/O MRF - LR LONG SPAN BR STL FRAME -LR STL DISTRIB MRF-LR D RC MRF - LR URM INFILL . LR .53 .53 .85 .7 .91 .87 1 .45 .45 .8 .65 .83 .97 1 .35 .35 .9 .85 .91 .97 1 11.9.7.8311 .83 .83 .82 .78 .77 .85 1 .5 .5 .85 .7 .8 1 1 6 0.01 0.30 1.60 0.01 0.60 2.40 6 0.20 0.40 1.50 6 0.20 0.80 2.30 6 0.01 0.40 1.90 6 6 0.20 1.70 6.80 7 0.90 2.90 7.10 7 0.20 1.10 5.50 0.40 1.80 5.00 7 0.70 1.70 4.70 7 7 0.10 1.40 4.20 7 1.70 5.80 18.90 8 2.20 6.00 14.20 8 1.00 4.00 10.60 1.20 5.10 10.30 8 3.60 14.10 36.60 8 2.10 4.10 10.40 8 8 1.10 2.90 7.60 4.60 10.10 18.70 9 4.60 13.50 27.20 9 3.60 9.00 17.20 9 4.00 9.20 16.90 9 **Q** 2.80 5.80 12.10 9 11.60 28.50 58.40 7.90 15.80 27.40 10 8.70 17.50 26.60 10 11.90 23.20 40.50 10 7.60 16.10 33.00 4.70 10.80 20.10 10 21.50 44.00 79.40 10 10 11 16.00 29.70 45.90 11 21.50 41.90 62.20 11 13.90 27.00 43.40 11 7.10 19.70 31.00 11 32.60 60.20 95.40 11 15.30 25.90 36.30 12 31.80 52.30 72.90 12 27.50 45.70 62.50 12 19.60 38.80 53.90 12 18.60 32.50 44.10 12 47.20 76.10 99.99 12 28.30 41.90 51.70

added to the Basic Structural Hazard scores above, (or subtracted, depending on whether their effect was to decrease or increase the probability of major damage) the resulting modified score would approximate the probability of major damage given the presence of that factor.

The final list of performance modification factors applicable to the rapid visual screening methodology is:

<u>Poor condition</u>: deterioration of structural materials

<u>Plan irregularities</u>: buildings with reentrant corners and long narrow wings such as L, H, or E-shaped buildings

<u>Vertical irregularities</u>: buildings with major cantilevers, major setbacks, or other structural features that would cause a significant change in stiffness in the upper stories of the building

<u>Soft story</u>: structural features that would result in a major decrease in the lateral load resisting system's stiffness at one floor - typically at the ground floor due to large openings or tall stories for commercial purposes

<u>Pounding</u>: inadequate seismic clearance between adjacent buildings - to be applied only when adjacent building floor heights differ so that building A's floors will impact building B's columns at locations away from B's floor levels and thus weaken the columns..

Large heavy cladding: precast concrete or stone panels that might be inadequately anchored to the outside of a building and thus cause a falling hazard (only applies to buildings designed prior to the adoption of the local ordinances requiring improved seismic anchorage). Short columns: columns designed as having a full story height but which because of wall sections or deep spandrel beams between the columns have an effective height much less than the full story height. This causes brittle failure of the columns and potential collapse.

<u>Torsion</u>: corner or wedge buildings or any type of building in which the lateral load resisting system is highly nonsymmetric or concentrated at some distance from the center of gravity of the building.

Soil profile: soil effects were treated by employing the UBC and NEHRP classification of "standard" soil profiles SL1, SL2 and SL3, where SL1 is rock, or stable soil deposits of sands, gravels or stiff clays less than 200 ft. in thickness; SL2 is deep cohesionless or stiff clay conditions exceeding 200 ft. in thickness; and SL3 is soft to medium stiff clays or sands, greater than 30 ft. in thickness. Present building code practice is to apply an increase in lateral load of 20% for SL2 profiles and 50% for SL3 profiles, over the basic design lateral load. This approach was used herein, and these factors were applied to the EPA for each NEHRP Map Area to determine the impact on the Basic Structural Hazard score. It was determined that this impact could generally be accounted for by a PMF of 0.3 for SL2 profiles, and 0.6 for SL3 profiles. Further, to account for resonance type effects, based on judgment the 0.6 PMF for SL3 profiles was increased to 0.8 if the building in questions was 8 to 20 stories in height.

<u>Benchmark Year</u>: year in which modern seismic design revisions were enforced by the local jurisdiction. Buildings built after this year are assumed to be

seismically adequate unless exhibiting a major defect as discussed above.

Unbraced parapets, overhangs, chimneys and other non-structural falling hazards, while potentially posing life safety problems, do not cause structural collapse and therefore have not been assigned performance modifiers. Similarly, weak masonry foundations, unbraced cripple walls and houses not bolted to their foundations will cause significant structural damage but will probably not lead to structural collapse. Therefore the data collection form contains a section where this type of information may be noted, and the owner notified.

It was also determined that certain building types were not significantly affected by some of the factors. Therefore the modifiers do not apply to all building types. The actual values of the PMFs, specific to each NEHRP Map Area, may be seen on the data collection forms, Figures B3a,b,c.

ATC-21/ (NE	HRP Map Areas 1,2 Low)	Address
Rapid Visual Screening of S	sismically Hazardous Buildings	Other Identifiers
		No. Stories Year Built
		inspector Date
		Bulding Name
		Use
		(Peci-off label)
		e dage se se glaste gebra de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la con
	terre de la seconda de la s	
		INSTANT PHOTO
Scale:		
OCCUPANCY	STF	UCTURAL SCORES AND MODIFIERS
Residential No. Persons	BUILDING TYPE W S1 (MRF)	S2 S3 S4 C1 C2 C3/S5 PC1 PC2 RM URM (BR) (LM) (RC SW) (MRF) (SW) (URM NF) (TU)
Office 0-10	Basic Score 8.5 3.5	2.5 6.5 4.5 4.0 4.0 3.0 3.5 2.5 4.0 2.5
Industrial 100+	High Rise N/A 0 Poor Condition -0,5 -0.5	0 N/A -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 N/A -1.0 -1.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5
Pub. Assem.	Vert. Irregularity -0.5 -0.5	-0.5 -0.5 -1.0 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -0.5 -1.0
School Govt Bida	Torsion -1.0 -2.0	-1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0
Emer. Serv.	Plan irregularity -1.0 -0.5 Pounding N/A -0.5	-0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -0.5 N/A _0.5 -0.5 N/A N/A N/A _0.5 N/A N/A
Historic Bldg.	Large Heavy Cladding N/A -2.0	NA NA -1.0 NA NA -1.0 NA NA -1.0 NA NA
	Poet Benchmark Year +2.0 +2.0	+2.0 +2.0 +2.0 +2.0 +2.0 NA +2.0 +2.0 +2.0 NA
	SL2 -0.3 -0.3	-0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3
*= Estimated Subjective	SL3 & 8 to 20 stories N/A -0.8	-0.8 V/A -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 V/A -0.8 -0.8 -0.8
or Unreliable Data	FINAL SCORE	
COMMENTS		Detailed Evaluation
		Required?
ATC 18L00/		YES NO

A	TC	21	/	(N	e-r	ΡM	ap A	reas	3,4,	Mod	era	ate)	A	dores	8		alaanii tariidaa	6 44 7 <u>2 8696</u> , 473, 4937 2037				erente anela la respeta
Rapid	Visua	I Sci	1961	ning	of S	leisn	ricall	y Ha	zardo	NIS E	3uk	dings	C	ther k	dentifie	 M'S				۷p		
								:			<u>.</u>		N	o. St	ories _				Year B			
			·····										In	spect	or		64.)		Da	te		
							1							NGI FR Jana	Nama	ea (sq	. π)	·				
													υ	se						· · ·		
																	(P	sel-off l	abel)		-	
			•••••••															A Management of the Part				
				.							·											
					ļ																	
																	NSTA	NT PH	oto			
					ļ																	
					<u> </u>																	
					.		-					••••										
					<u>.</u>																	
								ļ														
				•••••		1																
Scale:	: :																					
C	CCU	PAN	CY		l	and a strend		n Stanio a Stan		O Hall Harrison and Harrison	an es ar	STR	UCTU	RAL S	CORE	S AN		AFIERS	3			
lesiden	tial	No	. P	97S(хля	BUAL	DING	TYPE	an a	A	V	S1 MRD	S2 (BR)	53 (LM)	S4 IRC SW		C2 (SW)	C3/S	5 PC1	PC2	RM	URM
	rcial		0-1	0		Bas	le Se	ore	<u>مسنس</u> ہ	8.	.0	4.0	3.0	6.0	4.0	3.0	3.5	5 2.0	3.5	2.0	3.5	2.0
Jrnce ndustria	1		11-	100		High	Rise			N	/A E	-1.0	-0.5	N/A	-1.0	-0.5	-1.0	-1.0	N/A	0	-0.5	-0.5
ub. As	sem.		100)+		Vort	. Treç	ndarity Naarity	1	-0. -0.	5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-1.0	-1.0	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5
school					8 mm	Soft	Story			-1. _1	0	-2.0	-2.0	-1.0	-2.0	-2.0	-2.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-2.0	-1.0
Bovt. E	ldg.					Plan	Inegu	larity		-1.	ŏ	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0
:mer. : liotorio	SELA.				descrife a "	Poun	oáng a Haa	w Ci	adoba	N/	'A 'A	-0.5	-0.5	N/A M/A	-0.5	-0.5	N/A	N/A	N/A N/A	-0.5	N/A	N/A N/A
NICE	oruy .					Short	t Colu	nns	9900 N	N	A	NA	N/A	N/A	N/A	-1.0	-1.0	-1.0	N/A	-1.0	N/A	N/A
Non Falli	ng Ha	urai zard				Post	Bencl	mark	Year	. +2.	0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	N/A	+2.0	+2.0	+2.0	N/A
DAT	A CO	NFIC	Ж.N	CE		SL2 SL3				-0. -0.	3 6	-0.8	-0.3 -0.6	-0.8	-0.3 -0.8	-0.3 -0.6	-0.3 -0.8	-0.3	-0.3 -0.6	-0.3	-0.3 -0.8	-0.3 -0.6
***	Estinat	ed S	ubjec	tive,		SL3	8810	20 8	tories	N	A	-0.8	-0.8	N/A	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	N/A	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8
DNK =	or Unrel Do Not	kadisi Know	uata 1	1		FINA	LSC	ORE				·										
		in a second s	S. C. CAND		1		194 M 197	na ognand						n han ann an taire ann	talega et ar kine et	and a subject of the		an a		1	Datail	ed
COMM	ENTS																					and the second se
COMM	ENTS																				Evalua	ation
COMM	ENTS																				Evalua Reguin	ation red?

ATC-	21/	(NEHRP Map Areas 5	5.6.7 High)	Address
Rapid Visua	I Screening of	f Seismically Hazardo	us Buildings	Other Identifiers
				No. Stories Year Built
			ļ	Inspector Date
				Building Name
				Use
				(Peel-off label)
			†	
			••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
		·····	·····	
				INSTANT PHOTO
Scale:				
OCCU			eto	
Residential	No Persor	BUILDING TYPE	W S1	S2 S3 S4 C1 C2 C3/S5 PC1 PC2 RM URM
Commercial	0-10		(MRF)	<u></u>
Office	11-100	High Rise	4.5 4.5 N/A -2.0	3.0 5.5 3.5 2.0 3.0 1.5 2.0 1.5 3.0 1.0 -1.0 N/A -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -0.5 N/A -0.5 -1.0 -0.5
Pub. Assem	100+	Poor Condition	-0.5 -0.5	-0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5
School		Soft Story	-1.0 -2.5	-2.0 -1.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -1.0 -1.0 -2.0 -2.0 -1.0
Govt. Bldg.		Plan Irregularity	-1.0 -2.0	-1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0
Historic Blda		Pounding Large Heavy Cladding	N/A -0.5	-0.5 N/A -0.5 -0.5 N/A N/A N/A -0.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -1.0 N/A N/A N/A -1.0 N/A N/A
Non Strue	ctural —		NA NA	NA NA NA -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 NA -1.0 NA NA
Falling Ha	azard	SL2	+2.0 +2.0	-0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3
DATA CO	ONFIDENCE	SL3	-0.6 -0.6	-0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6 -0.6
* • Estima or Unre	ned, Subjective, Blable Data	STAL SCOPE	5 IVA -U.8	
DNK = Do Not	t Know	PINAL SCORE		
COMMENTS	3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Detailed
	÷		•	Evaluation Required?
ATCEN4 30032.01				YES NO
	and the second second second	and we have been a start of the	na ta statut da ana ang sana ata an	

REFERENCES

- Ang, A. H-S. and W.H Tang (1975). Probability Concepts in Engineering Planning and Design, Wiley and Sons, New York.
- ATC (1985). Earthquake Damage Evaluation Data for California, Applied Technology Council, ATC-13 Report, Redwood City CA.
- ATC (1987). Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings. Applied Technology Council, ATC-14 Report, Redwood City, CA.
- Hasofer, A.M., and N.C. Lind (1974). An Exact and Invariant First Order Reliability Format, Proc. A.S.C.E., J. Eng. Mech., pp 111-213.

- NBS 55 (1964). Handbook of Mathematical Functions, National Bureau of Standards, Applied Mathematics Series 55, Washington, DC.
- NBS 577 (1980). Development of a Probability Based Load Criterion for American National Standard A58, Bruce Ellingwood, T.V. Galambos, J.G. MacGregor, C. Allin Cornell, National Bureau of Standards, Washington, DC.
- Richter, Charles F. (1958). *Elementary* Seismology, W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco.

124 Appendix B

APPENDIX C

CRITERIA FOR SELECTION OF A CUT-OFF SCORE

Because the final Structural Score S can be directly related to the probability of major damage, the field survey building S scores can be employed in an approximate cost-benefit analysis of costs of detailed review versus benefits of increased seismic safety, as a guide for selection of a cut-off S appropriate for a particular jurisdiction.

As a preliminary guide to an appropriate cut-off value of S, note that an S of 1 indicates a probability of major damage of 1 in 10, given the occurrence of ground motions equivalent to the Effective Peak Acceleration (EPA) for the particular NEHRP Map Area. S =2 corresponds to a probability of 1 in 100, S =3 is 1 in 1000, and so on. As a simple example, take a jurisdiction with a population of 10,000 and a corresponding building inventory of 3,000 wood frame houses and 100 tilt-up, 100 LR URM, and 10 mid-rise steel-framed buildings. Assume the jurisdiction is in NEHRP Map Area 6, and the Basic Structural Hazard scores of Appendix B, High seismic area, apply. Assume for the example that no penalties apply (in actuality, the penalties of course would discriminate the good structures from the bad). The building inventories, probabilities of major damage and corresponding mean number of buildings sustaining major damage are shown in Table C1.

		Tabl	e C1	
Type	No. Bldgs.	<u>S</u>	Prob. <u>Major Damage</u>	Expected No. Bldgs. With Major Damage
Wood	3,000	4.5	1/31,600	Approx. 0
Tilt-up	100	2.0	1/100	Approx. 1
URM	100	1.0	1/10	Approx. 10
Br. Steel Fr.	100	3.0	1/1000	Approx. 0

Given these results, this example jurisdiction might decide that a cut-off S of between 1 and 2 is appropriate. A jurisdiction ten times larger (i.e., 100,000 population, everything else in proportion) in the same Map Area might decide that the potential life loss in a steel-framed mid-rise (1,000 mid-rise buildings instead of 10) warrants the cut-off S being between 2 and 3. Different cut-off S values for different building or occupancy types might be warranted. Ideally, each community should engage in some consideration of the costs and benefits of seismic safety, and decide what S is an appropriate "cut-off" for their situation. Because this is not always possible, the observation that research has indicated (NBS, 1980; see references in Appendix B) that:

"In selecting the target reliability it was decided, after carefully examining the resulting reliability indices for the many design situations, that $\beta = 3$ is a

representative average value for many frequently used structural elements when they are subjected to gravity loading, while $\beta = 2.5$ and $\beta = 1.75$ are representative values for loads which include wind and earthquake, respectively".

(where β , the structural reliability index, as used in the National Bureau of Standards study, is approximately equivalent to S as used herein) is provided.

That is, present design practice is such that an S of about 3 is appropriate for day-to-day loadings, and a value of about 2 or somewhat less is appropriate for infrequent but possible earthquake loadings.

It is possible that communities may decide to assign a higher cut-off score for more important structures such as hospitals, fire and police stations and other buildings housing emergency services. However, social function has not been discussed in the development of the scoring system for this RSP. This will be addressed in a future FEMA publication tentatively entitled "Handbook for Establishing Priorities for Seismic Retrofit of Buildings." Until and unless a community considers the cost-benefit aspects of seismic safety for itself, a preliminary value to use in an RSP, would be an S of about 2.0.

APPENDIX D

ATC-21 PROJECT PARTICIPANTS

ATC MANAGEMENT

Mr. Christopher Rojahn (PI) Applied Technology Council 3 Twin Dolphin Drive, Suite 275 Redwood City, CA 94065

FEMA

Mr. Ugo Morelli (Project Officer) Federal Emergency Management Agency 500 "C" Street, S.W., Room 625 Washington, DC 20472

Mr. Christopher Arnold Building Systems Development Inc. 3130 La Selva, Suite 308 San Mateo, CA 94403

Mr. Maurice R. Harlan Lindbergh & Associates 7515 Northside Drive, Auite 204 Charleston, SC 29418

Mr. Fred Herman City of Palo Alto 250 Hamilton Avenue Palo Alto, CA 94303

Mr. William T. Holmes Rutherford and Chekene 487 Bryant Street San Francisco, CA 94107

Dr. H. S. Lew (FEMA Technical Monitor) National Bureau of Standards Center for Building Technology, Bldg. 226 Gaithersburg, MD 20899

Mr. Bruce C. Olsen Consulting Engineer 1411 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1420 Seattle, WA 98101 Mr. Chris D. Poland (Co-PI) Degenkolb Associates 350 Sansome Street, Suite 900 San Francisco, CA 94104

SUBCONTRACTOR

Dr. Charles Scawthorn, Consultant to Dames & Moore EQE Engineering, Inc., 595 Market St. San Francisco, CA 94105

PROJECT ENGINEERING PANEL

Dr. Lawrence D. Reaveley Reaveley Engineers & Associates 1515 South 1100 East Salt Lake City, UT 84105

Ms. Claire B. Rubin Natural Disaster Resource Referral Service 1751 B. South Hayes Arlington, VA 22202

Dr. Howard Simpson Simpson Gumpertz & Heger, Inc. 297 Broadway Arlington, MA 02174

Mr. Ted Winstead Allen and Hoshall 2430 Poplar Avenue Memphis, TN 38112

Mr. Domenic A. Zigant Naval Facilities Engineering Command P.O. Box 727 San Bruno, CA 94066

TECHNICAL COMMUNICATION CONSULTANT

Dr. Joann T. Dennett RDD Consultants 1206 Crestmoor Drive Boulder, CO 80303

CONSULTANT TO SUBCONTRACTOR

Prof. Thalia Anagnos Dept. of Civil Engineering San Jose State University San Jose, California 95192

ATC-21 TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Dr. John L. Aho CH2M Hill Denali Towers 2550 Denali Street, 8th Floor Anchorage, Alaska 99503

Mr. Brent Ballif Ballif Engineering P.O. Box 4052 Pocatello, ID 83205

Mr. Richard V. Bettinger 1370 Orange Avenue San Carlos, CA 94070

Dr. Patricia A. Bolton Battelle Seattle Research Center 4000 NE 41st Street Seattle, WA 98105

Mr. Don Campi Rutherford & Chekene 487 Bryant Street San Francisco, CA 94017

Ms. Laurie Friedman Federal Emergency Management Agency Presidio of San Francisco, Building 105 San Francisco, CA 94129 Mr. Terry Hughes Deputy Administrator/Building Official Memphis and Shelby County Office of Construction Code Enforcement 160 North Mid America Mall Memphis, TN 38103-1874

Mr. Donald K. Jephcott Consulting Structural Engineer 126 East Yale Loop Irvine, CA 92714

Mr. Bill R. Manning Southern Building Code Congress 900 Montclair Road Birmingham, AL 35213

Mr. Guy Nordenson Consultant to Ove Arup & Partners, Intl. 116 East 27th Street, 12th Floor New York, NY 10016

Dr. Richard A. Parmalee Alfred Benesch & Co. 233 N. Michigan Chicago, IL 60601

Mr. Earl Schwartz Deputy Superintendent of Building Dept. of Building and Safety 111 E. First Street, Room 700 City Hall South Los Angeles, CA 90012 Mr. William Sommers Dept. of Public Works City of Cambridge 147 Hampshire Cambridge, MA 02139

Mr. Delbert Ward Consulting Architect 1356 Harvard Avenue Salt Lake City, UT 84015

Mr. Dot Y. Yee City and County of San Francisco Bureau of Building Inspection 450 McAllister Street San Francisco, CA 94102

Systems (Systems) and (System) (System)

And Specific States of Specific States of Sciences
 States of Sciences

Appendix D 129
APPENDIX E

ATC PROJECT AND REPORT INFORMATION

One of the primary purposes of Applied Technology Council is to develop resource documents that translate and summarize research information into forms useful to practicing engineers. This includes the development of guidelines and manuals, as well as the development of research recommendations for specific areas determined by the profession. ATC is not a code development organization, although several of the ATC project reports serve as resource documents for the development of codes, standards and specifications.

A brief description of several major completed and ongoing projects is given in the following section. Funding for projects is obtained from government agencies and tax-deductible contributions from the private sector.

ATC-1: This project resulted in five papers which were published as part of *Building Practices for Disaster Mitigation*, Building Science Series 46, proceedings of a workshop sponsored by the National Science Foundation (NSF) and the National Bureau of Standards (NBS). Available through the National Technical Information Service (NTIS), 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22151, as NTIS report No. COM-73-50188.

ATC-2: The report, An Evaluation of a Response Spectrum Approach to Seismic Design of Buildings, was funded by NSF and NBS and was conducted as part of the Cooperative Federal Program in Building Practices for Disaster Mitigation. Available through the ATC office. (270 pages)

Abstract: This study evaluated the applicability and cost of the response spectrum approach to seismic analysis and design that was proposed by various segments of the engineering profession.

Specific building designs, design procedures and parameter values were evaluated for future application. Eleven existing buildings of varying dimensions were redesigned according to the procedures.

ATC-3: The report, *Tentative Provisions for the Development of Seismic Regulations for Buildings* (ATC-3-06), was funded by NSF and NBS. The second printing of this report, which included proposed amendments, is available through the ATC office. (505 pages plus proposed amendments)

Abstract: The tentative provisions in this document represent the result of a concerted effort by a multidisciplinary team of 85 nationally recognized experts in earthquake engineering. The project involved representation from all sections of the United States and had wide review by affected building industry and regulatory groups. The provisions embodied several new concepts that were significant departures from existing seismic design provisions. The second printing of this document contains proposed amendments prepared by a joint committee of the Building Seismic Safety Council (BSSC) and the NBS; the proposed amendments were published separately by BSSC and NBS in 1982.

ATC-3-2: The project, Comparative Test Designs of Buildings Using ATC-3-06 Tentative Provisions, was funded by NSF. The project consisted of a study to develop and plan a program for making comparative test designs of the ATC-3-06 Tentative Provisions. The project report was written to be used by the Building Seismic Safety Council in its refinement of the ATC-3-06 Tentative Provisions. ATC-3-4: The report, Redesign of Three Multistory Buildings: A Comparison Using ATC-3-06 and 1982 Uniform Building Code Design Provisions, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office (112 pages)

Abstract: This report evaluates the cost and technical impact of using the 1978 ATC-3-06 report, Tentative Provisions for the Development of Seismic Regulations for Buildings, as amended by a joint committee of the Building Seismic Safety Council and the National Bureau of Standards in 1982. The evaluations are based on studies of three existing California buildings redesigned in accordance with the ATC-3-06 Tentative Provisions and the 1982 Uniform Building Code. Included in the report are recommendations to code implementing bodies.

ATC-3-5: This project, Assistance for First Phase of ATC-3-06 Trail Design Program Being Conducted by the Building Seismic Safety Council, was funded by the Building Seismic Safety Council and provided the services of the ATC Senior Consultant and other ATC personnel to assist the BSSC in the conduct of the first phase of its Trial Design Program. The first phase provided for trial designs conducted for buildings in Los Angeles, Seattle, Phoenix, and Memphis.

ATC-3-6: This project, Assistance for Second Phase of ATC-3-06 Trial Design Program Being Conducted by the Building Seismic Safety Council, was funded by the Building Seismic Safety Council and provided the services of the ATC Senior Consultant and other ATC personnel to assist the BSSC in the conduct of the second phase of its Trial Design Program. The second phase provided for trial designs conducted for buildings in New York, Chicago, St. Louis, Charleston, and Fort Worth. ATC-4: The report, A Methodology for Seismic Design and Construction of Single-Family Dwellings, was published under a contract with the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). Available through HUD. 451 7th Street S.W., Washington, DC 20410, as Report No. HUD-PDR-248-1. (576 pages)

Abstract: This report presents the results of an in-depth effort to develop design and construction details for single-family residences that minimize the potential economic loss and life-loss risk associated with earthquakes. The report: (1) discusses the ways structures behave when subjected to seismic forces, (2) sets forth suggested design criteria for conventional layouts of dwellings constructed with conventional materials, (3) presents construction details that do not require the designer to perform analytical calculations, (4) suggests procedures for efficient plan-checking, and (5) presents recommendations including details and schedules for use in the field by construction personnel and building inspectors.

ATC-4-1: The report, *The Home Builders Guide for Earthquake Design* (June 1980), was published under a contract with HUD. Available through the ATC office. (57 pages)

Abstract: This report is a 57-page abridged version of the ATC-4 report. The concise, easily understood text of the Guide is supplemented with illustrations and 46 construction details. The details are provided to ensure that houses contain structural features which are properly positioned, dimensioned and constructed to resist earthquake forces. A brief description is included on how earthquake forces impact on houses and some precautionary constraints are given with respect to site selection and architectural designs.

ATC-5: The report, Guidelines for Seismic

Design and Construction of Single-Story Masonry Dwellings in Seismic Zone 2, was developed under a contract with HUD. Available through the ATC office.

Abstract: The report offers a concise methodology for the earthquake design and construction of single-story masonry dwellings in Seismic Zone 2 of the United States, as defined by the 1973 Uniform Building Code. The guidelines are based in part on shaking table tests of masonry construction conducted at the University of California at Berkeley Earthquake Engineering Research Center. The report is written in simple language and includes basic house plans, wall evaluations, detail drawings, and material specifications.

ATC-6: The report, Seismic Design Guidelines for Highway Bridges, was published under a contract with the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). Available through the ATC office. (210 pages)

Abstract: The Guidelines are the recommendations of a team of sixteen nationally recognized experts that included consulting engineers, academics, state and federal agency representatives from throughout the United States. The Guidelines embody several new concepts that are significant departures from existing design provisions. An extensive commentary and an example demonstrating the use of the Guidelines are included. A draft of the Guidelines was used to seismically redesign 21 bridges and a summary of the redesigns is also included.

ATC-6-1: The report, *Proceedings of a Workshop on Earthquake Resistance of Highway Bridges*, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office. (625 pages)

Abstract: The report includes 23 state-ofthe-art and state-of-practice papers on earthquake resistance of highway bridges. Seven of the twenty-three papers were authored by participants from Japan, New Zealand and Portugal. The Proceedings also contain recommendations for future research that were developed by the 45 workshop participants.

ATC-6-2: The report, Seismic Retrofitting Guidelines for Highway Bridges, was published under a contract with FHWA. Available through the ATC office. (220 pages)

Abstract: The Guidelines are the recommendations of a team of thirteen nationally recognized experts that included consulting engineers, academics, state highway engineers, and federal agency representatives. The Guidelines, applicable for use in all parts of the U.S., include a preliminary screening procedure, methods for evaluating an existing bridge in detail, and potential retrofitting measures for the most common seismic deficiencies. Also included are special design requirements for various retrofitting measures.

ATC-7: The report, *Guidelines for the Design* of Horizontal Wood Diaphragms, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office. (190 pages)

Abstract: Guidelines are presented for designing roof and floor systems so these can function as horizontal diaphragms in a lateral force resisting system. Analytical procedures, connection details and design examples are included in the Guidelines.

ATC-7-1: The report, *Proceedings of a Workshop on Design of Horizontal Wood Diaphragms*, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office. (302 pages)

Abstract: The report includes seven papers on state-of-the practice and two papers on recent research. Also included are recommendations for future research that were developed by the 35 participants.

ATC-8: This project, Workshop on the Design of Prefabricated Concrete Buildings for Earthquake Loads, was funded by NSF. Project report available through the ATC office. (400 pages)

Abstract: The report includes eighteen stateof-the-art papers and six summary papers. Also included are recommendations for future research that were developed by the 43 workshop participants.

ATC-9: The report, An Evaluation of the Imperial County Services Building Earthquake Response and Associated Damage, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC Office. (231 pages)

Abstract: The report presents the results of an in-depth evaluation of the Imperial County Services Building, a 6-story reinforced concrete frame and shear wall building severely damaged by the October 15, 1979 Imperial Valley, California, earthquake. The report contains a review and evaluation of earthquake damage to the building; a review and evaluation of the seismic design; a comparison of the requirements of various building codes as they relate to the building; and conclusions and recommendations pertaining to future building code provisions and future research needs.

ATC-10: This report, An Investigation of the Correlation Between Earthquake Ground Motion and Building Performance, was funded by the U.S. Geological Survey. Available through the ATC office. (114 pages)

Abstract: The report contains an in-depth analytical evaluation of the ultimate or limit capacity of selected representative building framing types, a discussion of the factors affecting the seismic performance of buildings, and a summary and comparison of seismic design and seismic risk parameters currently in widespread use.

ATC-10-1: This report, *Critical Aspects of Earthquake Ground Motion and Building Damage Potential*, was co-funded by the USGS and the NSF. Available through the ATC office. (259 pages)

Abstract: This document contains 19 stateof-the-art papers on ground motion, structural response, and structural design issues presented by prominent engineers and earth scientists in an ATC seminar. The main theme of the papers is to identify the critical aspects of ground motion and building performance that should be considered in building design but currently are not. The report also contains conclusions and recommendations of working groups convened after the Seminar.

ATC-11: The report, Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Shear Walls and Frame Joints: Implications of Recent Research for Design Engineers, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office. (184 pages)

Abstract: This document presents the results of an in-depth review and synthesis of research reports pertaining to cyclic loading of reinforced concrete shear walls and cyclic loading of joints in reinforced concrete frames. More than 125 research reports published since 1971 are reviewed and evaluated in this report, which was prepared via a consensus process that involved numerous experienced design professionals from throughout the U.S. The report contains reviews of current and past design practices, summaries of research developments, and in-depth discussions of design implications of recent research results.

ATC-12: This report, Comparison of United States and New Zealand Seismic Design Practices for Highway Bridges, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office (270 pages).

Abstract: The report contains summaries of all aspects and innovative design procedures used in New Zealand as well as comparisons of United States and New Zealand design practice. Also included are research recommendations developed at a 3-day workshop in New Zealand attended by 16 U.S. and 35 New Zealand bridge design engineers and researchers.

ATC-12-1: This report, Proceedings of Second Joint U.S.-New Zealand Workshop on Seismic Resistance of Highway Bridges, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office (272 pages).

Abstract: This report contains written versions of the papers presented at this 1985 Workshop as well as a list and prioritization of workshop recommendations. Included are summaries of research projects currently being conducted in both countries as well as state-of-the-practice papers on various aspects of design practice. Topics discussed include bridge design philosophy and loadings, design of columns, footings, piles, abutments and retaining structures, geotechnical aspects of foundation design, seismic analysis techniques, seismic retrofitting, case studies using base isolation, strong-motion data acquisition and interpretation, and testing of bridge components and bridge systems.

ATC-13: The report, *Earthquake Damage Evaluation Data for California*, was developed under a contract with the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Available through the ATC office (492 pages).

Abstract: This report presents expertopinion earthquake damage and loss estimates for existing industrial, commercial, residential, utility and transportation facilities in California. Included are damage probability matrices for 78 classes of structures and estimates of time required to restore damaged facilities to pre-earthquake usability. The report also describes the inventory information essential for estimating economic losses and the methodology used to develop the required data.

ATC-14: The report, *Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings*, was developed under a grant from the National Science Foundation. Available through the ATC office (370 pages).

Abstract: This report, written for practicing structural engineers, describes a methodology for performing preliminary and detailed building seismic evaluations. The report contains a state-of-practice review; seismic loading criteria; data collection procedures; a detailed description of the building classification system; preliminary and detailed analysis procedures; and example case studies, including non-structural considerations.

ATC-15: This report, Comparison of Seismic Design Practices in the United States and Japan, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office (317 pages).

Abstract: The report contains detailed technical papers describing current design practices in the United States and Japan as well as recommendations emanating from a joint U.S.-Japan workshop held in Hawaii in March, 1984. Included are detailed descriptions of new seismic design methods for buildings in Japan and case studies of the design of specific buildings (in both countries). The report also contains an overview of the history and objectives of the Japan Structural Consultants Association.

ATC-21-1

ATC-15-1: The report, Proceedings of Second U.S.-Japan Workshop on Improvement of Building Seismic Design and Construction Practices, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through ATC office (412 pages).

Abstract: This report contains 23 technical papers presented at this San Francisco workshop in August of 1986 by practitioners and researchers from the U.S. and Japan. Included are state-of-the-practice papers and case studies of actual building designs and information on regulatory, contractual, and licensing issues.

ATC-16: This project, Development of a 5-Year Plan for Reducing the Earthquake Hazards Posed by Existing Nonfederal Buildings, was funded by FEMA and was conducted by a joint venture of ATC, the Building Seismic Safety Council and the Earthquake Engineering Research Institute. The project involved a workshop in Phoenix, Arizona, where approximately 50 earthquake specialists met to identify the major tasks and goals for a 5-year plan for reducing the earthquake hazards posed by existing nonfederal buildings nationwide. The plan was developed on the basis of nine issue papers presented at the workshop and workshop working group discussions. The Workshop Proceedings and Five-Year Plan are available through the Federal Emergency

Management Agency, 500 "C" Street, S. W., Washington, D.C. 20472.

ATC-17: This report, Proceedings of a Seminar and Workshop on Base Isolation and Passive Energy Dissipation, was published under a grant from NSF. Available through the ATC office (478 pages).

Abstract: The report contains 42 papers describing the state-of-the-art and state-ofthe-practice in base-isolation and passive energy-dissipation technology. Included are papers describing case studies in the Untied States, applications and developments worldwide, recent innovations in technology development, and structural and ground motion design issues. Also included is a proposed 5-year research agenda that addresses the following specific issues: (1) strong ground motion; (2) design criteria; (3) materials, quality control, and long-term reliability; (4) life cycle cost methodology; and (5) system response.

the states of the second

Contraction "

ATC-21-1

ATC BOARD DIRECTORS (1973-1988)

	이 사람은 승규는 가슴을 가슴을 가슴을 가슴을 가슴을 가슴을 가슴을 가슴을 가슴다.		
Milton A. Abel	(1979-85)	David L. Messinger	(1980-83)
James C. Anderson	(1978–81)	Stephen McReavy	(1973)
Albert J. Blaylock	(1976–77)	William W. Moore*	(1973–76)
Robert K. Burkett	(1984-88)	Gary Morrison	(1973)
Anil Chopra	(1973–74) - contract	Robert Morrison	(1981–84)
Richard Christopherson	(1976–80)	Joseph P. Nicoletti*	(1975–79)
Lee H. Cliff	(1973)	Bruce C. Olsen*	(1978-82)
John M. Coil	(1986–87)	Gerard C. Pardoen	(1987–90)
Eugene E. Cole	(1985–86)	Norman D. Perkins	(1973–76)
Edward F. Diekmann	(1978-81)	Sherril Pitkin	(1984-87)
Burke A. Draheim	(1973–74)	Edward V. Podlack	(1973)
John E. Droeger	(1973)	Chris D. Poland	(1984-87)
Sigmund A. Freeman	(1986–89)	Egor P. Popov	(1976–79)
Barry J. Goodno	(1986–89)	Robert F. Preece	(1987–90)
Mark R. Gorman	(1984-87)	Lawrence D. Reaveley	(1985–88)
Gerald H. Haines	(1981-82, 1984-85)	Philip J. Richter*	(1986–89)
William J. Hall	(1985–86)	John M. Roberts	(1973)
Gary C. Hart	(1975–78)	Arthur E. Ross	(1985–88)
Lyman Henry	(1973)	Walter D. Saunders*	(1974–79)
Ernest C. Hillman, Jr.	(1973–74)	Lawrence G. Selna	(1981–84)
Ephraim G. Hirsch	(1983–84)	Samuel Schultz*	(1980–84)
William T. Holmes*	(1983-87)	Daniel Shapiro*	(1977–81)
Warner Howe	(1977–80)	Howard Simpson*	(1980–84)
Paul C. Jennings	(1973–75)	Donald R. Strand	(1982–83)
Carl B. Johnson	(1974–76)	James L. Stratta	(1975–79)
Stephen E. Johnston*	(1973–75, 1979–80)	Edward J. Teal	(1976–79)
Joseph Kallaby*	(1973–75)	W. Martin Tellegen	(1973)
T. Robert Kealey*	(1984-88)	James L. Tipton	(1973)
H. S. (Pete) Kellam	(1975–76)	Ivan Viest	(1975–77)
Helmut Krawinkler	(1979–82)	Ajit S. Virdee*	(1977-80, 1981-85)
James S. Lai	(1982–85)	J. John Walsh	(1987–90)
Gerald D. Lehmar	(1973–74)	James A. Willis*	(1980-81, 1982-86)
R. Bruce Linderman	(1983–86)	Thomas D. Wosser	(1974–77)
L. W. Lu	(1987–90)	Loring A. Wyllie, Jr.	(1987–88)
Walter B. Lum	(1975–78)	Edwin G. Zacher	(1981–84)
Melvyn H. Mark	(1979–82)	Theodore C. Zsutty	(1982–85)
John A. Martin	(1978–82)		
John F. Meehan*	(1973–78)	*President	

ATC EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (1973-1988)

Ronald L. Mayes	(1979-81)	Roland L. Sharpe	(1973–79)
Christopher Rojahn	(1981–1988)		

Appendix E 137